Planning Commission

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA

Date: 8/25/2025

Time: 7:00 p.m.
Ty oF Location: Zoom.us/join — ID# 846 9472 6242 and
MENLO PARK City Council Chambers

751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025

Commissioner Behroozi will be participating from:
Marlboro Music Festival Campus Center

(Health Care Office)

2472 South Road

Marlboro, VT 05344

Members of the public can listen to the meeting and participate using the following methods.
How to participate in the meeting

o Access the live meeting, in-person, at the City Council Chambers
e Access the meeting real-time online at:
zoom.us/join — Meeting ID# 846 9472 6242
e Access the meeting real-time via telephone (listen only mode) at:
(669) 900-6833
Regular Meeting ID # 846 9472 6242
Press *9 to raise hand to speak
e  Submit a written comment online up to 1-hour before the meeting start time:
planning.commission@menlopark.gov*
Please include the agenda item number related to your comment.

*Written comments are accepted up to 1 hour before the meeting start time. Written messages are
provided to the Planning Commission at the appropriate time in their meeting.

Subject to change: The format of this meeting may be altered or the meeting may be canceled. You may
check on the status of the meeting by visiting the city website menlopark.gov. The instructions for logging on
to the webinar and/or the access code is subject to change. If you have difficulty accessing the webinar,
please check the latest online edition of the posted agenda for updated information
(menlopark.gov/agendas).

Regular Meeting
A. Call To Order
B. Roll Call

C. Reports and Announcements

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov
4909-5232-7008 v1


https://zoom.us/join
https://zoom.us/join
http://menlopark.gov/
http://menlopark.gov/agendas

Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda
August 25, 2025

Page 2

F1.

Public Comment

Under “Public Comment,” the public may address the Commission on any subject not listed on the
agenda. Each speaker may address the Commission once under public comment for a limit of three
minutes. You are not required to provide your name or City of residence, but it is helpful. The
Commission cannot act on items not listed on the agenda and, therefore, the Commission cannot
respond to non-agenda issues brought up under Public Comment other than to provide general
information.

Consent Calendar

None
Public Hearing Items

Consider and adopt a resolution recommending the City Council certify the Final environmental
impact report, adopt CEQA findings and statement of overriding considerations for significant
environmental effects, adopt a mitigation monitoring and report program; amend the General Plan
Land Use Element and amend the General Plan Land Use Map to change the land use
designation for the property at 201 Ravenswood Ave. to Commercial (Professional and
Administrative Offices); amend the Zoning Ordinance and zoning map to create a new C-1-S
(Administrative and Professional District, (Restrictive)) zoning district; rezone the project site from
C-1(X) (Administrative and Professional District, (Restrictive)), R-1-S (Residential Single Family,
Suburban), and P (Parking) to the proposed C-1-S district and include the “X” Conditional
Development combining district overlay; approve a conditional development permit; approve a
vesting tentative map; approve a development agreement; and approve a below market rate
housing agreement for the proposed Parkline Master Plan Project located at 201, 301 and 333
Ravenswood Ave. and 555 and 565 Middlefield Rd. (Staff Report #25-038-PC)

The Parkline Master Plan Project, proposed by LPGS Menlo, LLC commonly referred to as “Lane
Partners” would redevelop the project site with a mix of uses consisting of primarily residential and
office/research and development (R&D) uses, with small restaurant and potentially retail
components. The proposed project includes the following components:

e 646 residential dwelling units, inclusive of 97 below market rate units, (46 townhome-style units
in two components and 600 apartments in two multifamily buildings);

e An approximately 1.6-acre portion of land, to be dedicated to an affordable housing developer
for the future construction of a 100% affordable housing development project of up to 154
dwelling units;

e Retaining three existing buildings (approximately 287,000 SF) for the continued operation of
SRI International (“SRI”) in Menlo Park;

¢ Demolition of two buildings at 201 Ravenswood Ave. and approximately 1.1 million square feet
within 35 buildings on the SRI campus, to be replaced with up to five office/R&D/life science
buildings, a new amenity building and three parking structures;

e Alimit of 1 million square feet of non-residential square footage, inclusive of the three buildings
to be retained (Buildings P, S, and T), new office/R&D space, and commercial retail space;

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda
August 25, 2025
Page 3

o Decommissioning of the existing 6-megawatt natural gas power plant;

¢ Inclusion of community-serving space within the 100 percent affordable building; and

o Dedication of an approximately 2.6-acre public park along Ravenswood Avenue, to be built
and operated by the City of Menlo Park, with the potential for the City to locate a below-grade
emergency water storage reservoir and well below it.

The requested City actions and entitiements for the proposed project include General Plan text
and land use map amendments, Zoning Ordinance and zoning map amendments, rezoning,
conditional development permit, development agreement, vesting tentative map, below market
rate (BMR) housing agreement, and environmental review.

The proposed project would include approximately 29.9 acres of private and publicly accessible
open space would be developed at the project site, including a network of publicly accessible
bicycle and pedestrian trails, open spaces, and active/passive recreational areas. The proposed
project would remove 264 heritage trees, including 202 trees for development-related reasons and
62 for nondevelopment-related reasons (i.e., declining health, invasiveness, etc.).

The proposed conditional development permit includes modifications to the development
regulations in the proposed C-1-S zoning district, and establishes project specific design
standards, signage requirements, transportation demand management (TDM) requirements,
regulations for hazardous materials, and the process for future architectural reviews for building
and site design. The proposed project also includes a request for the use and storage of
hazardous materials (diesel fuel) for back-up emergency generators. A development agreement
would be entered into between the City and the applicant for the provision of community benefits,
development controls, and vested rights.

The project site is currently zoned “C-1(X)” (Administrative and Professional District, Restrictive),
“P” (Parking) and R-1-S (Single Family Suburban Residential) and aside from 201 Ravenswood
Avenue, is governed by a Conditional Development Permit (CDP) approved in 1975, and
subsequently amended in 1978, 1997, and 2004.

The Final EIR pursuant to CEQA was released on Monday, July 7, 2025. The Final EIR identifies
significant and unavoidable impacts from the proposed project and project variant in the following
topic areas: construction noise, construction vibration, cumulative construction noise, and historical
resources. The proposed project and the project variant would result in potentially significant
impacts related to air quality, cultural resources, tribal cultural resources, biological resources,
geology and soils, hydrology and water quality, and hazards and hazardous materials, but these
impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level with implementation of identified
mitigation measures. Impacts related to land use and planning, transportation, energy, greenhouse
gas emissions, population and housing, public services and recreation, and utilities and service
systems would be less than significant.

The project site contains a toxic release site, per §6596.2 (“Cortese List”) of the California

Government Code. The Cortese List is a compilation of several different lists of hazardous material
release sites that meet the criteria specified in §65962.5 of the California Government Code. Two

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda
August 25, 2025

Page 4

G1.

listings were identified within the State Water Resources Control Board’s leaking underground
storage tank (UST) database; a third listing was identified as a Department of Toxic Substances
Control (DTSC) military evaluation site. All three listings meet the criteria specified in §65962.5
and were identified as being within the project site. Both USTs were granted case closure by the
Regional Water Quality Control Boards (RWQCB) in 1995 and 1999, respectively. The third listing
was granted “No Further Action” status as of December 2013.

Informational Items

Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule — The upcoming Planning Commission meetings
are listed here, for reference. No action will be taken on the meeting schedule, although individual
Commissioners may notify staff of planned absences.

e Regular Meeting: September 8, 2025
e Regular Meeting: September 29, 2025

Adjournment

At every regular meeting of the Planning Commission, in addition to the public comment period where the
public shall have the right to address the Planning Commission on any matters of public interest not listed on
the agenda, members of the public have the right to directly address the Planning Commission on any item
listed on the agenda at a time designated by the chair, either before or during the Planning Commission’s
consideration of the item.

At every special meeting of the Planning Commission, members of the public have the right to directly address
the Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by the chair, either before or
during consideration of the item. For appeal hearings, appellant and applicant shall each have 10 minutes for
presentations.

If you challenge any of the items listed on this agenda in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues
you or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence
delivered to the City of Menlo Park at, or before, the public hearing.

Any writing that is distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission by any person in connection with an
agenda item is a public record (subject to any exemption under the Public Records Act) and is available by
request by emailing the city clerk at jaherren@menlopark.gov. Persons with disabilities, who require auxiliary
aids or services in attending or participating in Planning Commission meetings, may call the City Clerk’s Office
at 650-330-6620.

Agendas are posted in accordance with Cal. Gov. Code §54954.2(a) or §54956. Members of the public can
view electronic agendas and staff reports by accessing the city website at menlopark.gov/agendas and can
receive email notifications of agenda postings by subscribing at menlopark.gov/subscribe. Agendas and staff
reports may also be obtained by contacting City Clerk at 650-330-6620. (Posted: 8/19/2025)

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov


mailto:jaherren@menlopark.gov
https://menlopark.gov/agendas
https://menlopark.gov/susbscribe

Community Development

STAFF REPORT

Planning Commission

P Meeting Date: 8/25/2025
MENLO PARK Staff Report Number: 25-038-PC
Public Hearing: Consider and adopt a resolution recommending the

City Council: 1) adopt a resolution certifying the
final environmental impact report (Final EIR),
making California Environmental Quality Act
(CEQA) Findings, adopting a Statement of
Overriding Considerations for significant and
unavoidable impacts, and adopting a Mitigation
Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP); 2)
adopt a resolution amending the General Plan Land
Use Element and Land Use Map; 3) adopt an
ordinance amending the Zoning Ordinance to add
the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional, and
Research District, Special) district, amending the
Zoning Map to rezone the project site to the C-1-S
district and incorporate a new “X” overlay district,
and approving the conditional development permit
(CDP); 4) adopt a resolution approving the below
market rate (BMR) housing agreement; 5) adopt a
resolution approving the vesting tentative map; and
6) adopt an ordinance approving the development
agreement (DA) for the Parkline Master Plan
development project located at 201, 301 and 333
Ravenswood Ave. and 555 and 565 Middlefield Rd.

Recommendation

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution (Attachment A) recommending

approval to the City Council of the following:

e Certification of the Final Environmental Impact Report that analyzes the potential environmental impacts
of the proposed project and adopt the CEQA findings to address impacts, including a statement of
overriding considerations for significant and unavoidable environmental effects that would result from the
proposed project (draft City Council resolution included as Attachment A, Exhibit A), and approval of the
mitigation monitoring and reporting program for the proposed project to mitigate impacts to less than
significant with mitigation or reduce significant impacts;

e Amendments to the General Plan Land Use Element to allow for the proposed land uses (intensity and
density) in the Commercial land use designation and amendments to the General Plan land use map to
change the land use designation for the property at 201 Ravenswood Ave. to Commercial (Professional
and Administrative offices) (draft City Council resolution included as Attachment A, Exhibit B);

e Zoning Ordinance and zoning map amendments to allow for the proposed land uses (intensity and
density) and establish development regulations and standards for the project;

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 2

e Rezone the project site from C-1(X) (Administrative and Professional District, (Restrictive)), R-1-S
(Residential Single Family, Suburban), and P (Parking) to the proposed C-1-S (Administrative,
Professional and Research, Special) district and to include the “X” Conditional Development combining
district overlay (draft City Council ordinance included as Attachment A, Exhibit C);

e A CDP to develop the proposed project through a masterplan, and outline the performance standards,
development regulations (e.g. open space, design controls), project requirements for the implementation
of the master plan (e.g. project phasing, operational requirements), and other project conditions that
address site-specific topics (draft City Council ordinance included as Attachment A, Exhibit C);

e Below market rate housing agreement for on-site BMR units (inclusionary units) in accordance with the
City’s BMR Ordinance and to dedicate an approximately 1.6-acre parcel to a non-profit affordable
housing developer to provide up to 154 BMR units in a 100% affordable component (draft City Council
resolution included as Attachment A, Exhibit D);

e Approval of a vesting tentative map to manage parcelization to implement the masterplan, abandon
existing easements and future reserved rights-of-way, identify new public access and utility easements,
and site infrastructure (draft City Council resolution included as Attachment A, Exhibit E); and

e A development agreement (DA) between the City and the project applicant for vested rights in exchange
for community benefits and assurances on the timing and phasing of the proposed project (draft City
Council ordinance included as Attachment A, Exhibit F).

As part of the project 264 heritage trees at the project site would be removed, including 202 trees for
development-related reasons and 62 for nondevelopment-related reasons (i.e., declining health,
invasiveness, etc.).

Policy Issues

The proposed project requires the Planning Commission and City Council to consider the merits of the
project, including project consistency with the City’s current general plan and municipal code, proposed
amendments to the general plan and municipal code, including a newly proposed C-1-S zoning district, and
adopted City policies and programs. The proposed conditional development permit (CDP), including specific
design regulations for the project, will also need to be considered. As part of the project review, the
Commission and Council will need to make findings that the merits of the project and the community
benefits associated with the development agreement (DA) balance the significant and unavoidable
environmental impacts as described in the environmental impact report by adopting a statement of
overriding considerations. The Planning Commission is a recommending body on these policy issues. The
policy issues summarized here are discussed in detail in the staff report. Attachment B includes a chart
showing consistency with applicable general plan policies.

In addition, the City prepared the following documents to analyze the proposed project and inform review by
community members, the Planning Commission, and the City Council:

e Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) (Attachment OO) and a follow-up memo (Attachment PP);
e Fiscal Impact Analysis (FIA) to inform decision makers and the public of the potential fiscal impacts of the
proposed project (Attachment LL) and a follow-up memo (Attachment MM),

These reports are not subject to specific City action, but provide background information for the CDP, DA,
and other land use entitlements.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 3

Background

SRI International (formerly known as the Stanford Research Institute) is an independent, nonprofit research
institute located on an approximately 63-acre campus at 301 and 333 Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and
565 Middlefield Road (SRI campus). In addition to the SRI campus the project site includes an
approximately one-acre parcel at 201 Ravenswood Avenue, developed with the First Church of Christ,
Scientist and Alpha Kids Academy (FCCS site). The total project site area is approximately 64 acres.

Existing Conditions

The existing CDP, approved in 1975, and most recently amended in 2004, allows professional, executive
and administrative offices and research and development facilities on the SRI campus. The majority of the
SRI campus has an underlying zoning of C-1 (Administrative and Professional, Restrictive), although a
small portion is zoned “P” (Parking). The C-1 zoning limits nonresidential development to a floor area ratio
of 30%, which would allow for approximately 826,000 square feet for the SRI campus. However, the existing
CDP, developed before floor area ratio maximums, allows a maximum square footage of 1,494,774 square
feet and a maximum employee count of 3,308. The applicant indicates approximately 1,100 people are
currently employed at the SRI campus, although SRI's headcount has fluctuated between approximately
1,400 and 2,000 workers since 2003.

The property at 201 Ravenswood is currently zoned R-1-S (Single Family Suburban Residential). Table 1
below shows the current uses, zoning and general plan land use designations by parcel.

Table 1: Existing uses, zoning & general plan designations

Land use designation

201 Ravenswood Ave. | Church & childcare | R-1-S Residential, low density

301 Ravenswood Ave. | R&D (SRI) C-1(X) Commercial, Professional & Administrative Offices

333 Ravenswood Ave. | R&D (SRI) C-1(X) and P Commercial, Professional & Administrative Offices

555 Middlefield Rd. R&D (SRI) C-1(X) Commercial, Professional & Administrative Offices

565 Middlefield Rd. R&D (SRI) C-1(X) Commercial, Professional & Administrative Offices
Site location

For purposes of this staff report, Ravenswood Avenue is oriented east to west. The project site is generally
bound by Laurel Street to the west, Ravenswood Avenue to the north, Middlefield Road to the east and
Seminary Drive, Burgess Drive and the USGS campus to the south. Across Middlefield Road from the
project site is Menlo Atherton High School. The Menlo Park Civic Center Campus and Burgess Park are
located across Laurel Street from the project site.

SRI's campus contains 38 buildings, totaling approximately 1.38 million square feet, which include research
and development (R&D) and ancillary support services. The FCCS site is developed with a church, a multi-
use building, and a surface parking lot. The Menlo Park Caltrain station is approximately one-third of a mile
from the Project site. Attachment C includes a location map depicting the project site and nearby landmarks.

Project milestones
A table summarizing the previous project milestones and meetings is included in Attachment D.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 4

Project variant and current master plan project

The applicant submitted the initial application in October 2021 pertaining solely to the SRI campus and
subsequently submitted a revised iteration of the project in early 2024 to incorporate the FCCS site,
increase the residential component by 250 dwelling units to a total of 800 units, and include a potential
below-grade emergency water storage reservoir and emergency well for the benefit of Menlo Park Municipal
Water (MPMW) (referred to as the project variant in the Final EIR).

In response to community feedback regarding the project variant and as part of the DA negotiations, the
applicant further modified the project variant by reducing the amount of non-residential development
(primarily office/R&D building space) to a maximum of 1 million square feet, inclusive of the 287,000 square
feet comprising existing Buildings P, S and T, and up to 45,000 square feet of commercial/retail uses. The
City and applicant have adjusted the draft governing documents accordingly, with the exception of the
project plans.

Aside from the sections discussing the fiscal impact analysis (FIA), housing needs assessment (HNA) and
the CEQA review, this staff report describes the modified project variant as the proposed project, as it is the
project the applicant is pursuing.

Analysis

Project description

The applicant (LPGS Menlo, LLC commonly referred to as “Lane Partners”) is proposing to
comprehensively redevelop the project site through the masterplan process, by utilizing a CDP and entering
into a DA, to provide community benefits and secure vested rights, with the City. The masterplan process
allows a project to aggregate development potential across the entire site, including square footage, open
space requirements, parking, etc. The applicant’s proposal includes a mix of uses consisting of primarily
residential and office/R&D uses, with small restaurant and potentially retail components. Primary
development program elements include:

e Six hundred and forty-six (646) residential dwelling units, comprised of 46 townhome-style units in two
components (TH1 — 19 detached townhomes; TH2 — 27 attached townhomes) and 600 apartments in
two multifamily buildings (R1 and R2 each with approximately 300 units) with 15% (97 units) affordable to
low-income or low-income equivalent households (the 46 townhomes may be converted to for-sale units,
in which case the seven BMR units would be affordable to moderate-income households);

e An approximately 1.6-acre parcel, to be dedicated to an affordable housing developer for the future
construction of a 100% affordable housing development project of up to 154 dwelling units;

e Retention of three existing buildings (Buildings P, S and T of approximately 286,730 square feet) for
SRI's continued use;

e Demolition of two buildings at 201 Ravenswood Avenue and approximately 1.1 million square feet within
35 buildings on the SRI campus, to be replaced with up to five office/R&D/life science buildings, a new
amenity building and three parking structures;

e Alimit of 1 million square feet of non-residential square footage, inclusive of the three buildings to be
retained (Buildings P, S, and T), new office/R&D space, and commercial retail space;

e Decommissioning of the existing 6-megawatt natural gas power plant;

¢ Inclusion of community-serving space within the 100% affordable building; and

e Dedication of an approximately 2.6-acre public park along Ravenswood Avenue, to be built and operated

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 5

by the City of Menlo Park, with the potential for the City to locate a below-grade emergency water
storage reservoir and well below it.

The applicant has reduced the non-residential square footage to 1 million square feet and the City adjusted
the draft governing documents accordingly, with the exception of the project plans. The project plans
identify a total of approximately 1.38 million square feet of non-residential development in five new buildings
and three existing to remain buildings (Buildings P, S and T); however, the draft CDP, DA, and other
governing documents would limit the non-residential development to 1 million square feet. The project plans
were developed prior to this negotiated reduction in non-residential square footage. Table 2 below highlights
the key project data.

Table 2: Proposed project data

Proposed project* C-1-S zoning district Proposed CDP
Residential dwelling units 800 units 1,926 units 800 units
Dwelling units per acre 12.5** 12 du/acre to 30 du/acre Lo 0 0l grEling Wills
(approx. 12.5 per acre)

. . 1,119,118 sf if developed at .
Residential square footage 1,096,000 sf the proposed 12.5 dulac Per C-1-S zoning

. . . 40% for 12 du/ac to .

0, ==

Residential floor area ratio (FAR) 39% 100% for 30 du/ac Per C-1-S zoning
Total non-residential square footage 1,000,000 sf 1,398,276 sf 1,000,000 sf
Non-residential floor area ratio (FAR) 35.74% 50% 35.74%
Total open space 29.9 acres (47%) 19.3 acres (30%) Per C-1-S zoning
Publicly accessible open space 12 acres (18.7%) 9.7 acres (15%) 12 acres

*Numbers for proposed project are approximate; density and intensity calculated across the entire project site.

** The draft proposed zoning allows up to 30 du/acre calculated in the aggregate across the entire project site. If calculated using
the acreage of the project site devoted to residential development (approximately 13.8 acres), the resulting residential density would
be approximately 58 du/acre.

Proposed site layout

The SRI campus is currently a secured site with no public access. The proposed project site layout would
remove the secure perimeter and incorporate publicly accessible open space, pathways and trails. Portions
of the project site associated with the office/R&D buildings may include access restrictions; however, the
majority of the project site would be accessible and provide new connections between Middlefield Road and
Burgess Park/Menlo Park Civic Center complex. The proposed site plan is included as Attachment E, the
full masterplan plan set is included as Attachment F, and the project description letter is included as
Attachment G.

The majority of the residential buildings would be located along Laurel Street and at the corner of Laurel
Street and Ravenswood Avenue. Nineteen (19) detached townhomes (TH1) are proposed in the southwest
corner of the project site, adjacent to the Burgess Classics community. Two multifamily residential buildings
(R1 and R2), each with approximately 300 units, are proposed to the north of TH1.

A second cluster of residential uses are proposed along Middlefield Road between Ravenswood Avenue

and Ringwood Avenue. The 100% affordable building with up to 154 multifamily units (R3) would be located
at the northeast corner of the project site and would include community serving uses that could provide for

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 6

potential small retail uses (e.g., bicycle repair shop, juice bar, coffee shop), comprising approximately 2,000
square feet. Twenty-seven (27) attached townhomes (TH2) would be located south of the 100% affordable
building along Middlefield Road near the intersection with Ringwood Avenue.

The up to five proposed office/R&D buildings and an office amenity building (including a café or restaurant
open to the public) would be located near the center of the site, surrounded by publicly accessible open
space. Existing Buildings S and T, located to the west of the USGS site, and Building P, located to the east
of the proposed new residential buildings along Laurel Street, would be retained for SRI's continued
operations.

Three parking structures would be located along the perimeter of the project site. The office amenity
building would be next to Parking Garage 3 and include a publicly accessible restaurant or café, oriented
toward the interior of the site and located near public open space. Vehicular access to the project site would
be primarily from Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road, with an internal loop road that would connect
the residential buildings, office/R&D buildings, and parking structures.

General Plan and Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map amendments

A text amendment to the General Plan Commercial designation in the Land Use Element would be required
to increase the non-residential FAR from 40% to 50% to comport with the maximum FAR allowed in the
proposed C-1-S zoning district. Additionally, the General Plan Land Use Designations map (Figure 5) would
be amended to change the land use designation of the parcel at 201 Ravenswood Avenue from Residential
to Commercial and update the acreages and percentages for the Residential and Commercial land use
designations. The description of “Professional and Administrative Office” would be revised to add
“neighborhood-serving retail and services” as a compatible use and to add that for large, master-planned
developments involving multiple contiguous parcels, residential density and non-residential FAR may be
aggregated across the project area, as identified in the applicable zoning district. The proposed General
Plan Land Use Element and Land Use Map amendment are attached as Attachment H and I.

A Zoning Ordinance amendment would create a new C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research,
Special) zoning district (Attachment J) that would allow up to 30 dwelling units per acre (consistent with the
current allowance in the C-1 district) and a residential FAR between 40% and 100% based on density (see
Table 2). The proposed zoning would allow for a maximum non-residential floor area ratio of 50%. The new
district establishes discrete development regulations including permitted uses, density, building height and
open space. The zoning would also regulate components such as transportation demand management
(TDM) requirements, LEED standards, use of renewable energy, water efficiency, waste management, and
bird-friendly design. Because the C-1-S zoning district was developed to potentially apply to other parcels
within a half mile radius of a major transit stop, the development regulations are not specific to the project,
but the district includes a requirement for a CDP to set specific design standards for a project. A Zoning
Map amendment is required to rezone the project site to C-1-S and add a conditional development (“X”)
combining district thereby allowing special regulations and conditions. The proposed Zoning Map
amendment is included as Attachment K.

Conditional development permit

The conditional development district (or “X” district), also referred to as combining district, is a zoning district
specifically established for the purpose of combining special regulations or conditions with one of the zoning
districts through a CDP. CDPs allow for customization and modifications to Zoning Ordinance and Municipal
Code requirements, provided the proposed project complies with the maximum density and floor area ratio
(FAR) for the site. The new CDP would enable development of the master plan, set permitted and
conditionally permitted uses for the project site, include project-specific modifications to development

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 7

regulations of the proposed C-1-S zoning district, identify typical construction hours, and include phasing,
operational requirements and other project-specific conditions of approval to carry out the proposed project.
The CDP would identify project specific design standards, as required by the proposed C-1-S zoning
district. Modifications to the development regulations in the C-1-S zoning would include, among others:
increased height, increased parking maximums, decreased minimum lot sizes and setbacks, and increased
open space minimums, for both publicly-accessible open space and private open space. The CDP would
also modify Menlo Park Municipal Code (MPMC) signage requirements by allowing a project-specific
signage master plan. The CDP would become effective on the effective date of the ordinance approving the
CDP. The proposed CDP is included as Attachment L.

Development regulations and design standards

The proposed CDP identifies project specific development regulations and design standards (Attachment
M). The development regulations and design standards identify project-specific requirements for the
residential and non-residential components. Within the residential component, the regulations and
standards are broken into multifamily, attached townhomes, and detached townhomes, and within the non-
residential component the regulations and standards are broken into office/R&D, parking structures, and
amenity building.

Density, floor area ratio (FAR), and gross floor area (GFA)

The proposed project would comply with the maximum density and intensity permitted by the proposed C-1-
S zoning district. Table 2 summarizes the proposed project density (dwelling units) and intensity (residential
and non-residential FAR and associated gross floor area). The proposed project would reduce the non-
residential FAR from existing conditions by approximately 380,000 square feet for a total limit of 1 million
square feet of gross floor area.

Lot size, lot dimensions, and setbacks

The draft development regulations and design standards would modify the minimum lot size and lot
dimensions from the C-1-S zoning district (which were drafted for general consistency with similar zoning
districts). The modifications would remove the minimum lot size requirement and instead require minimum
dimensions for each specific residential land use. Additionally, building setbacks are proposed to be
modified to identify minimum setbacks and maximum setbacks at public streets (the edge of the project
site), and minimum setbacks from private streets, interior side/rear property lines, and from adjacent off-site
parcels. The intent of these modifications is to ensure that the attached and detached townhome units
interact with the public realm and that the multifamily buildings are appropriately sited from the public streets
given the scale of those buildings. The non-residential development regulations would also be modified,
with a key consideration being the setbacks of the non-residential buildings and parking structures from the
internal private streets.

Height

Attachment N (conceptual building heights) identifies the conceptual building heights for the proposed
project. The proposed C-1-S zoning district and the existing C-1 zoning district limit the height of non-
residential structures to 35 feet and the height of residential or residential and non-residential mixed-use
structures to 40 feet. The R-1-S zoning district limits height to 28 feet for lots less than 20,000 square feet in
area and 30 feet for lots with 20,000 or more square feet of area. The current CDP limits structures to 50
feet and the proposed CDP modifies the C-1-S zoning height limitations to allow for the proposed project
(Table 3).

The massing of the two multifamily buildings along Laurel Street would be minimized by including three- and
four-story facades along the street. Portions of these buildings further away from the public rights-of-way

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 8

would increase to five and six stories. The tallest residential building would be the 100% affordable building
near the intersection of Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road.

Table 3: Proposed maximum building heights

Building Conceptual height  Number of stories mag-;;?ght mafl?:ight
Office/R&D Bldg. 1 75 feet 4 stories 35 feet 95 feet
Office/R&D Bldg. 2 91 feet 5 stories 35 feet 95 feet
Office/R&D Bldg. 3 91 feet 5 stories 35 feet 95 feet
Office/R&D Bldg. 4 91 feet 5 stories 35 feet 95 feet
Office/R&D Bldg. 5 75 feet 4 stories 35 feet 95 feet
Office Amenity Bldg. 41 feet 2 stories 35 feet 55 feet
Parking Garage 1 65.5 feet 5 stories 35 feet 70 feet
Parking Garage 2 65.5 feet 5 stories 35 feet 70 feet
Parking Garage 3 44.5 feet 3 stories 35 feet 70 feet
Residential Bldg. 1 72 feet 4-6 stories 40 feet 75 feet
Residential Bldg. 2 62 feet 3-5 stories 40 feet 75 feet
Townhomes 1 35 feet 2 stories 40 feet 35 feet
100% affordable bldg. | 75 feet 6 stories 40 feet 75 feet
Townhomes 2* 45 feet 3 stories 40 feet 40 feet

*The proposed heights show in the plans for the Townhome 2 component would need to be modified through the
architectural control plan review process to comply with the height limitations.

Parking Garages 1 and 2 would be located proximate to the eastern edge of the project site. The tallest
office buildings would be interior buildings. The project plans (Attachment F) include proposed streetscapes,
showing views of the proposed buildings and neighboring buildings along the public rights-of-way. The
proposed height regulations in the CDP allow for mechanical equipment screening and elevator and stair
towers to exceed the maximum heights by up to 20 feet (25 feet if 40 feet back from fagade) for office/R&D
buildings and 14 feet for residential buildings. For parking garages, elevator and stair towers may exceed
the maximum heights by 14 feet. The City and the applicant collaborated on the modifications to the project-
specific height limitations and allowable exceedances; however, the City believes that the 40-foot height
limit for attached townhomes is more appropriate than the applicant’s proposed 45-foot limit.

Site sighage and outdoor advertising

The maximum signage for the site is approximately 450 square feet based on the existing site parcelization
per the requirements of MPMC Chapter 16.92. Since future parcelization is unknown, the CDP authorizes
signage on the project site to exceed 450 square feet pursuant to a master sign program that would identify
the maximum permitted signage by parcel/building and/or land use and outline the design guidelines for site

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 9

signage. The Planning Commission would review and act on the master sign program prior to the
installation of any signage. Wayfinding signage (e.g. street signs, bike route signage, etc.) would be
incorporated into the master sign program. The use of a master sign program would allow for signage to be
comprehensively reviewed and incorporated into the masterplan instead of reviewed individually for each
tenant or residential component.

Construction hours and noise compliance

Construction activities may take place outside of the typical construction hours of 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m.
Monday through Friday, provided the construction activities comply with the noise limitations set forth in
MPMC Chapter 8.06 (Noise) and the MMRP (Attachment O), unless determined by the Building and
Planning Divisions that an exception for specific activities is necessary. Examples of activities that would not
be able to take place during the noise ordinance exempt hours and would require exceptions include
concrete pours and drilling for City well. Prior to the issuance of a building permit for each individual phase,
the applicant would be required to submit a construction work plan and acoustical analysis to the City
documenting the expected work hours and compliance with the MPMC Chapter 8.06 (Noise), the MMRP,
and any noise ordinance exceptions subject to review and approval of the Building and Planning Divisions.

Mitigation Measure NOI-1.3 in the MMRP would reduce noise levels from construction activities by requiring
a noise reduction plan and noise barrier; however, this mitigation measure may not be able to ensure that
noise would be below the applicable thresholds in all circumstances. NOI-1.3 incorporates measures to
address the construction of the emergency water storage reservoir, and the associated emergency well and
pump house, which would require construction 24 hours per day for 10 days. The construction noise
reduction plan and noise barrier would reduce noise, but noise levels could temporarily be as high as 97
dBA Leq, which, even with measures to reduce noise, would likely still result in a substantial temporary
increase in noise. Accordingly, the Final EIR identifies a significant adverse environmental impact related to
construction noise that cannot be avoided even with implementation of feasible mitigation measures, such
as NOI-1.3.

Development regulations and design standards

The CDP establishes project specific development regulations and design standards (Attachment M).
Regarding the residential components of the proposed project, the development regulations and design
standards include the following key topics: frontage landscaping, private/common open space, massing and
modulation, design and materials (e.g., stucco standards), building projections, building entrances and
ground floor transparency, surface parking, awnings and canopies, and trash, storage, and utility equipment
enclosures. The regulations and standards are differentiated between multifamily residential, attached
townhomes, and detached townhomes. The development regulations and design standards also identify a
minimum percentage of total units by bedroom count to ensure the full build out provides the mix of unit
sizes evaluated by the City through the entitlement and environmental review process.

Similar to the residential component, the development regulations and design standards for the non-
residential component address the following key topics: frontage landscaping, surface parking, projections
and modulations, fagade articulation, building entrances and ground floor transparency, signs and canopies,
materials (i.e., stucco percentage limitations), and trash, storage, and utility enclosures. The standards are
differentiated between the office/R&D buildings, amenity building, and parking structures. The development
regulation and design standards, also identify the vehicle and bicycle parking ratios for the proposed
Project.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 10

Project phasing

Project build out would be phased and the applicant provided conceptual phasing plans as part of the
master plan (Attachment F) that identify four phases (Phases 1A, 1B, 2, and 3). The vesting tentative map
includes more details on project-serving improvements and identifies two larger phases (Phase 1 and Full
Build Out), which could be further phased provided the required infrastructure is completed to support
specific buildings. It should be noted, the phasing is conceptual at this point and could change, although the
CDP requires specific improvements, such as the multi-use bike and pedestrian pathways, at specific points
in the development of the project.

Phase 1A would include 600 multi-family residential units within R1 and R2, 15% of which would be
affordable for rent to low-income households; Phase 1B, labeled as Phase 1 on the plans, would include 19
detached townhomes (TH1) and 27 attached townhomes (TH2) components, 15% of which would be
available and affordable for rent to low income households, or if for-sale to moderate income households;
Phase 2 would include the office/R&D (research and development) buildings, the office amenity building,
and the three parking garages; and Phase 3 would include 154 multi-family residential units within R3, all of
which would be affordable for rent to low-income households.

Phase 1A

Phase 1A would encompass demolition of the structures shown on the Phase 1A demolition plan in the
project plans (attachment F), construction of the western portions of the loop road, and other surface and
utility improvements to allow for R1 and R2. Phase 1A would also encompass street improvements along
Laurel Street and a portion of Ravenswood Avenue, including intersection upgrades, utility connections, a
future recycled water connection, new driveway approaches, new curb, gutter, and sidewalk, and a new
crosswalk at Pine Street.

Phase 1B

Phase 1B would encompass structure demolition, surface improvements, and utility improvements to allow
for TH1, TH2 and the public park. Specifically, Phase 1B would include construction of the loop road
adjacent to the Ravenswood Parklet towards Middlefield Road, necessary vehicular connections to
Ravenswood Avenue at two locations, and the Ringwood Avenue intersection. Phase 1B would also include
street improvements along Ravenswood Avenue, Middlefield Road, and Laurel Street including utility
upgrades, future recycled water connection, intersection upgrades at Ravenswood Avenue/Middlefield
Road and Ringwood Avenue/Middlefield Road, curb, gutter, sidewalk installation, storm drain connections,
new street lighting, landscaping, and new driveway approaches.

Phase 2

Phase 2 would encompass construction of the office/R&D buildings, the office amenity building, and the
three parking structures. Site improvements during Phase 2 would include completion of the loop road,
utilities, the Central Commons, sidewalks, permanent street lighting, bioretention ponds, bike and walking
paths, and landscaping of the adjacent structures. Frontage and offsite improvements during Phase 2 would
include the Seminary Drive intersection, including construction of forced-turn islands, signal modifications,
and restriping, and upgrades to the intersection at Durham Street/Hospital Plaza and Willow Road,
identified in the Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA) for the proposed Project.

It should be noted that the DA constrains the applicant’s ability to develop non-residential uses until certain
development milestones for the project’s residential uses are satisfied.

Phase 3
In this phase, building R3 would be constructed by the affordable housing developer, although the delivery
of the R3 could occur at the same time as Phase 1 or Phase 2 with timing dependent on financing.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 11

Open space, trees and landscaping

The proposed project includes approximately 29.9 acres of open space, including 12 acres of publicly

accessible open space and supporting amenities, including bicycle and pedestrian paths and surrounding

landscaping. (Attachment P includes the conceptual open space plan). Publicly-accessible open space

features would include:

¢ Ravenswood Avenue parklet, approximately 0.95 acre on the northern edge of the site with a shared use
path and small-scale public spaces;

e Central Commons, approximately 4.7 acres in the center of the site consisting of flexible-use
lawn area, multi-use plaza and an event pavilion;

e An approximately 2.6-acre public park along Ravenswood Avenue, proximate to the 100% affordable
housing parcel, to be dedicated to the City that could be actively or passively programmed; and

e Bicycle and pedestrian connections and a smaller open space area between R1 and R2.

Although it would be dedicated to the City, the public park along Ravenswood Avenue is considered part of
the 12-acre minimum publicly accessible open space requirement outlined in the CDP.

Heritage tree removals

The project site contains 1,342 trees, of which 600 are heritage-size. The arborist report prepared by the
project arborist is included as Attachment Q. As part of the project, 546 non-heritage trees would be
removed and 264 heritage trees would be removed. The City Arborist initially issued an intent to approve a
heritage tree removal permit on October 24, 2024 for 271 heritage trees at the project site for development
(209 trees) and non-development (62 trees) (i.e., declining health, invasiveness, etc.) related reasons, with
53 of the development-based removals requiring further review at the architectural control or improvement
plan stage.

After the City Arborist issued the intent to approve the heritage tree removal permit, two appeals were filed.
The applicant worked with the appellants and committed to retaining seven heritage trees that were
proposed for removal due to development. These seven were part of the 53 trees requiring further review,
resulting in 46 requiring further review. As a result of working with the appellants, the applicant was able to
move two trees from the list of development-based removals not requiring further review to the list requiring
further review. Meaning, in total, 264 heritage trees would be approved for removal due to development
under the heritage tree removal permit, with 202 of those for development-related reasons, 62 for
nondevelopment-related reasons, and 48 of the 202 development-based removals requiring further review
as discussed below. The appeals were subsequently dropped.

The CDP requires an updated arborist report and tree preservation feasibility analysis for the 48 trees
requiring further review concurrent with the submittal of each architectural control permit or improvement
plans (e.g. roadways, sidewalks, bicycle paths, street lights, utilities etc.). The analysis would evaluate
affected trees within the scope of each permit application for review and recommendation by the City
Arborist to the Planning Commission for architectural control permits or the Public Works Director for
improvement plans on whether minor design changes could accommodate tree preservation. If the Planning
Commission or Public Works Director determines, based on the recommendation of the City Arborist, that
tree preservation is not possible with minor changes to the relevant architectural control or improvement
plans, the trees could be removed under the heritage tree removal permit for the project. In no case will
heritage tree removals be permitted prior to the issuance of demolition plans or site improvement plans.

As part of the project, 860 new trees are proposed, for a total of 1,392 trees. The minimum required value of

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 12

the heritage tree replacements is $2,053,100. This value may change once the total number of trees is
updated following the tree preservation feasibility analysis for each architectural control permit application
and improvement plans application. The master plans include the preliminary tree palette. All future
landscaping would be reviewed by the City Arborist for site suitability and if intended as a heritage tree
replacement for consistency with the City’s guidelines and the minimum replacement value.

Green and sustainable building regulations

The proposed Project would, at a minimum, comply with the green and sustainable building requirements of

the proposed C-1-S zoning district and EV charging requirements of Title 12 of the MPMC. The CDP and

DA require compliance with the City’s Reach Code and all new buildings would be all-electric and would not

utilize natural gas, with a limited exception for emergency backup generators. The summary below includes

the City’s requirements for the proposed project and compliance would be ensured through the CDP and
future architectural control permits:

e Meet 100 percent of its energy demand through any combination of on-site energy generation, purchase
of 100 percent renewable electricity, and/or purchase of certified renewable energy credits;

e LEED certification (Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design) Gold BD+C (Building Design +
Construction) for buildings greater than 20,000 square feet and LEED Silver BD+C for buildings
between 10,000 and 20,000 square feet;

o Comply with the current electric vehicle (EV) charger requirements adopted by the City Council;

o Meet water use efficiency requirements and dual plumb all new buildings for future use of recycled
water;

e Plan for waste management during the demolition, construction, and occupancy phases of the Project
(including the preparation of the required documentation of zero waste plans); and

e Incorporate bird friendly design in the placement of the building and use bird friendly exterior glazing and
lighting controls.

Future recycled water

West Bay Sanitary District (WBSD) began construction of its Bayfront recycled water facility in late 2024.
WBSD’s North Bay Road and Ringwood Avenue Capital Improvement Project installed a 0.5-mile recycled
water line on Ringwood Avenue from Bay Road to Toyon Road (in the town of Atherton) for future use.
Separately, a recycled water line was installed within Chilco Street in the Bayfront Area. These recycled
water line segments could eventually connect the project site to the Bayfront recycled water facility. As part
of the project and as a requirement under the DA, the applicant would install recycled water infrastructure
within the project’s loop roads and provide off-site points of connection. The connections through the project
site would enable the City to utilize future recycled water at Burgess Park, the City’s Corporation Yard, and
the Civic Center Complex.

Hazardous materials and biosafety levels

There are six existing generators along with a cogeneration power facility on the SRI campus. The project
would remove three of the six existing SRI generators along with the cogeneration power facility and would
install 13 new generators onsite, yielding a total of 16 generators at project buildout. The 13 new generators
were analyzed in the EIR and the general locations and sizing are included in Attachment R. The applicant
submitted documentation on the generators, including the hazardous materials information forms and the
generator supplemental forms (Attachment S) which were reviewed by the San Mateo County Health
Department, West Bay Sanitary District, Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and the City Building and
Planning Divisions. Each reviewer has conditionally approved the generators, pending review prior to
building permit issuance to ensure compliance with all relevant requirements. The agency referral forms are
included as Attachment T. Any additional diesel generators would require an administrative permit.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 13

Additionally, any research and development uses requiring hazardous material review would be required to
obtain a use permit from the Planning Commission.

As described in the EIR, laboratories that handle biological agents are categorized as BSL-1 through BSL-4,
based on the types of materials handled and the potential infectivity, severity of disease, transmissibility,
and nature of the work being conducted. SRI currently maintains two small laboratories, occupying less than
2,000 square feet combined in Building P and Building T that are permitted to conduct BSL-3 level research.
The CDP would prohibit new or expanded BSL-3 and 4 labs and the DA requires that the applicant cause
SRI to complete the decertification process for the BSL-3 lab located in Building T no later than January 1,
2027 and the lab in Building P prior to issuance of the first certificate of occupancy for the first residential
component of the proposed project.

Site access, circulation, parking, and transportation demand management

Vehicular access and circulation

Vehicular access to the project site would be primarily from Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road,
with an internal loop road that would connect the residential buildings, office/R&D buildings, and parking
structures. Attachment U includes an excerpt of the conceptual vehicular circulation. Limited vehicular
access from Laurel Street would be provided for the TH1 component (with no internal connection to the on-
site circulation), for vehicles entering the R2 parking garage, and a small surface parking lot near the
entrance to R2. Vehicles could also enter this garage using the loop road but only vehicles using the
surface parking lot and a few prospective tenant parking spaces within the garage would be able to exit onto
Laurel Street. These restrictions are included as a condition in the CDP. The primary vehicular access for
R1 would be located on Ravenswood Avenue and via the internal road that connects to the loop road.
Because of the proposed site circulation, residential trips associated with R1 and R2 would primarily use the
driveways on Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road.

Several points of access along Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road (at Ringwood Avenue and
Seminary Drive) would provide access to the non-residential buildings and surface and structured parking
garages via the internal loop road. Loading and trash staging areas for each office/R&D building would be
accessed from the loop road.

Bicycle and pedestrian circulation

A Class | multi-use bicycle and pedestrian path would be located on the north side of the site along
Ravenswood Avenue, connecting to the Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road intersection. This
pathway would be in addition to bike lanes along Ravenswood Avenue. The path would split before the
recreation area, allowing users the option to loop southward into the project site toward the east and then
cross Middlefield Road at Ringwood Avenue. Class IV separated bike lanes would be located along Laurel
Street from Burgess Park to Ravenswood Avenue.

Additionally, a Class | multi-use bicycle and pedestrian path would extend along the majority of the south
side of the project site from the end of Burgess Drive and then looping north, providing a second connection
through the project site to the Middlefield Road and Ringwood Avenue intersection. This path would connect
through the site and replace the Burgess Drive reserved future right-of-way, which would be abandoned
upon completion of the pathway pursuant to the VTM conditions. Additionally, bicyclists and pedestrians
could access the residential and non-residential buildings from Laurel Street through paseo-like pathways
between the residential buildings. The internal project site circulation includes multiple pedestrian pathways
through the publicly accessible open space. Pedestrian connections from the project site to the Civic Center
include crosswalks at Laurel Street that connect to the pathways between the residential buildings.
Attachments V and W include exhibits showing proposed bicycle and pedestrian circulation through the

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 14

project site.

Linking Burgess Drive to Ringwood Avenue would provide a connection through the project site that would
link to the City’s proposed Middle Avenue Caltrain undercrossing. This cross-site connection, in conjunction
with the City’s Middle Avenue undercrossing effort, would ultimately provide a direct bicycle route from the
Bay Trail to Middle Avenue and the Allied Arts neighborhood and beyond.

Vehicle and bicycle parking

Table 4 provides a comparison of non-residential parking rates, including the parking ratios in the City’s Life
Sciences and Office zoning districts. Since the majority of the 1 million square feet of non-residential uses
would be office/R&D, 2,000 parking spaces would be the maximum permitted.

Table 4: Non-residential Parking spaces and ratios

Proposed | Existing C-1 district Proposed LS district O district
project SRI campus C-1-S district*
Office/R&D
spaces, including . 1,500 (min.) 2,000 (min.)
restaurant/retail** 2,800 3,000 5,000 2,000 2,500 (max.) 3,000 (max.)
components
Office/R&D . .
spaces per 1,000 2 2.3 5 2 2155 ((rr:;:(.)) g Em;;))
of . . .

* The Project plans show a total of 2,800 parking spaces for non-residential uses, including 2,330 spaces in the parking garages;

however, with the reduction in non-residential square footage the parking would be reduced commensurably.

** In the C-1-S, parking for eating and drinking establishments and retail uses is limited to 2.5 spaces per 1,000 square feet.

The proposed residential component includes 919 parking spaces, or approximately 1.15 space per unit.
Table 5 provides additional information on the residential parking rates and comparable zoning districts.

Table 5: Residential parking spaces and ratios

::gjiz?ed zir:tfﬁfed €15 1 ea zoning district R-MU zoning | R-3 zoning district
. 1.25 spaces . 1 space per du
m::g;anr?ig)l/ per unit + .33 1 space per du 1 gpsa;aecggrpc;l; ((:ITm.) (min.) 2 spaces per units*
(R1 &R2) per unit guest | unit (max) (rﬁax)
parking
.. | 1 space per du (min.)
(TTolylv1ngo1r_n:25) 3nsi{)aces per (2 ms:f)ces per unit (1.5 s;;aces per du ; LJS(fnp‘;":\;:)es per | ¢ paces per units*
max
100% 1 space per du (min.) | 1 space per du
affordable h5nistpace per lnsif?r:’\zger du 1.5 spaces per du (min.) 2 spaces per units*
building (R3) (max)

*For R-3 lots around the EI Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan, up to 1 bedroom units require 1 parking space and 2 or more

bedroom units require 1.5 spaces

Building R3 would have the lowest parking rate, but with the option to utilize parking spaces within the
adjacent parking garages during nights and weekends.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov




Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 15

Maximum parking ratios

Given the project site is within one-half-mile of a transit station, state law precludes the City from imposing a
minimum parking requirement. The development regulations and design standards (Attachment M) include
maximum parking ratios for the proposed project. The Metropolitan Transportation Commission’s (MTC)
Transit-Oriented Communities Policy (TOC Policy) supports the region’s transit investments by creating
communities around transit stations and along transit corridors. The TOC Policy applies to the half-mile area
around existing and planned transit stops and stations and areas subject to the TOC Policy are categorized
by tier based on level of transit service. Menlo Park’s Caltrain station is considered a Tier 3 station. The
TOC Policy identifies an average parking maximum of 1 space per residential unit for residential
development in a Tier 3 area.

Compliance with the TOC Policy is voluntary; however, compliance enhances eligibility and/or
competitiveness for some MTC discretionary funding. The development regulations and design standards
(Attachment M), which are part of the CDP, include the residential parking rates proposed by the applicant;
however, the Planning Commission may wish to consider a lower parking rate of one space per unit in
alignment with MTC policy and the proposed C-1-S zoning district.

Parking locations are identified in Attachment X. The proposed parking would include electric-vehicle
spaces and bicycle parking spaces in compliance with the proposed C-1-S zoning district.

Transportation demand management (TDM)

The City’s Transportation Division implements the City’s adopted TDM Guidelines for development projects.
The Guidelines include a list of measures to reduce trips (i.e. congestion) generated by a project but do not
identify a specific trip reduction goal. The EIR analyzed a minimum trip reduction of 25% for the residential
uses and a minimum trip reduction of 28% for the non-residential uses, from typical Institute of
Transportation Engineers’ (ITE) rates for this type of development project. These percentages were based
on the applicant’s initial TDM plan. The current C-1 zoning does not include a TDM plan or trip reduction
requirement; however, given the project site’s proximity to the Menlo Park Caltrain station, the proposed C-
1-S zoning includes a requirement to reduce trips by 35% through a TDM plan, which the project’s current
TDM plan (Attachment Y) meets. For reference, the City’s R-MU, O, and L-S zoning districts in the Bayfront
Area include a requirement that projects reduce trips by a minimum of 20% from standard ITE rates.

The City is also subject to the Transportation Demand Management Policy Update Approach and
Transportation Demand Management Policy Implementation Guide adopted by the City/County Association
of Governments of San Mateo County (C/CAG), which require reductions from average daily trips. Given
the site’s proximity to a high quality transit station, C/CAG requires a minimum 25% reduction in trips from
active TDM measures. C/CAG acknowledges in its policy documents that projects within 0.5 mile of a high
quality transit station would also see passive reductions given the proximity to transit of 10%. The proposed
C-1-S zoning includes a 35% reduction target given the proximity to the Caltrain station.

C/CAG does not require active trip count monitoring but rather documents compliance through tenant and
property owner surveys. In the Bayfront Area (R-MU, L-S, and O zoning districts) the City requires annual
trip monitoring (i.e. driveway counts) for a multi-day period once a year to document compliance with the trip
reduction targets and has required annual monitoring for the 1305 O’Brien Dr. and Menlo Gateway
development projects, as part of the project conditions. The Meta East and West Campuses include trip
caps with real time monitoring and reporting requirements. The Meta Campuses include penalties for trip
cap exceedances. The Menlo Gateway project also includes a penalty for exceeding its trip limits.

The proposed TDM monitoring plan (Attachment Z) includes trip thresholds that reflect a 35% reduction in

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 16

trips from standard ITE trip generation rates after accounting for a trip reduction from internalization at the
project site. Starting one year after occupancy for either the first residential or commercial component of the
project, and annually thereafter, the applicant would be required to conduct annual trip counts and submit a
report prepared by its transportation consultant, documenting compliance with the trip thresholds.

If the project is found to exceed the trip thresholds, additional transportation demand management
measures to bring the number of trips attributable to the project into compliance would be required. If a
second, consecutive annual traffic count shows that trips exceed the trip thresholds, then additional analysis
would be conducted to determine whether the exceedances are being contributed by the residential
component or the office/R&D component of the project. If the office/R&D components are determined to
exceed their portion of the trip thresholds allocated in the trip thresholds table of the TDM monitoring plan,
then the property owner(s) of the office/R&D component would be required to pay a penalty per excess
office/R&D ftrip.

The penalties only apply to the non-residential components of the project; however, if one or more of the
residential components of the project are found to exceed their portion of the trip thresholds, then the
homeowners’ association for the applicable residential component of the project would be required to
submit a detailed mitigation and monitoring plan identifying actions to bring their component of the project
into compliance with the maximum daily, AM and PM trips. The detached townhomes (TH1) would be
exempt from TDM monitoring requirements.

Level of service or roadway congestion analysis (non-CEQA transportation analysis)

Level of service (LOS) is not a CEQA threshold of significance; however, the City’s TIA Guidelines require
that the TIA also analyze LOS for planning purposes. The LOS analysis determines whether project traffic
would cause an intersection LOS to be potentially noncompliant with local policy if it degrades the LOS
operational level or increases delay under near term and cumulative conditions. The TIA (Attachment AA)
further explains the LOS thresholds, identified deficiencies, and recommended improvement measures.

A micro-simulation analysis (Attachment BB) was also conducted for study intersections on Middlefield
Road and Ravenswood Avenue in the project vicinity to identify potential project effects and improvements
along these corridors. The analysis identified improvements at the following intersections and roadway
segments that would generally improve deficiencies created by the proposed project:

e Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road intersection

e Middlefield Road and Ringwood Avenue intersection

e Middlefield Road and Seminary Drive intersection

e Seminary Drive roadway segment (from Middlefield Road to the Project site entrance)
e Ravenswood Avenue corridor (Laurel Street to Middlefield Road)

e Willow Road and Hospital Plaza/Durham Street intersection

The recommended improvement measures in the TIA and microsimulation are included as conditions in the
CDP. The transportation analyses conducted for the project and the recommended improvement measures
were based on 1.38 million square feet of non-residential space instead of the current proposal of 1 million
square feet. The reduction in square footage would reduce project trips and could reduce LOS impacts at
the study intersections. An analysis was not prepared to determine if the reduced non-residential square
footage of 1 million square feet still requires the improvement measures in the draft CDP.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 17

Vesting tentative map

The vesting tentative map (VTM) (Attachment CC) would modify the existing parcelization to enable the
proposed project, including proposed residential and non-residential buildings and park open space parcels.
The vesting tentative map would abandon all easements and the future Burgess Drive reserved ROW and
then create new easements. In lieu of a future vehicle connection between Burgess Drive and Seminary
Drive, a bike/ped connection would be provided. The map would be conditioned so that this abandonment
would not occur until a certain milestone to ensure the City would retain the ability to use the ROW for
purposes such as a bike/ped path if the project does not move forward. The VTM also includes details on
the on-site and off-site infrastructure to support the proposed project. Multiple final maps may be submitted
to match the proposed phasing. The draft VTM conditions are included as Attachment XX.

Below market rate (BMR) ordinance

The City’s BMR Housing Program Guidelines requires a minimum of 15 percent of the proposed dwelling
units for residential development projects with 20 or more units be set aside for low-income households or
an equivalent alternative. Since the proposed total non-residential square footage would be less than
existing square footage, there is no commercial linkage BMR requirement for the proposed project.

The applicant proposes to provide 97 BMR inclusionary units to comply with the City’s BMR Ordinance and
BMR Guidelines. In addition to the inclusionary requirement, the applicant is proposing to donate an
approximately 1.6-acre parcel to an affordable housing developer to build up to 154 units affordable to
households with incomes up to 60% AMI, which would be in addition to the City’s inclusionary requirement
(i.e. the land donation to an affordable housing developer is not required to comply with the City’s BMR
Ordinance and BMR Guidelines). The applicant’'s BMR proposal is included in Attachment DD.

Of the 97 BMR inclusionary units, 90 would be rental apartment units and seven would be rental townhome
units affordable to low-income households or low-income equivalent. As shown in Table 6, in addition to the
100% affordable building, the applicant is proposing to provide 15% of the units within each unit type or
building as BMR units.

Table 6: Proposed BMR units

Total units
R1 (rental apartments) 300 45
R2 (rental apartments) 300 45
R3 (100% affordable bldg./rental apartments) up to 154 up to 154
TH 1 (detached townhomes) 19 3
TH 2 (attached townhomes) 27 4
Total up to 800 up to 251

Inclusionary BMR units

The unit types of the BMR units within the R1 and R2 buildings would be proportional with the overall unit
type mix of the market rates units and would be distributed throughout each building, as required by the
BMR Guidelines. Given the conceptual nature of the masterplan at this time, the location of the BMR units
within each building or project component is not known. The applicant is also requesting flexibility on the

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 18

income mix for the BMR units, with a final mix that achieves an average equivalent to low-income. If the
TH1 and TH2 units are converted to for-sale units, the units would be affordable to moderate-income
households. Additionally, as required by the BMR Guidelines, BMR rents would not exceed 75% of the
market rate rent.

The applicant would be required to sign and record the project wide BMR agreement for the 97 inclusionary
units and the 154 units in R3 concurrent with the recordation of the CDP and DA. If the masterplan is
approved by City Council, each building or project component would require architectural control approval
by the Planning Commission, at which time the specific location, size, and affordability levels of the BMR
units for that building or component would be determined. If the applicant opts for a mix of incomes with an
average equivalent to low income, each building/component would be required to meet low-income
equivalency independently. The applicant would be required to sign and record the BMR agreement for
each building prior to building permit issuance, and construction of the BMR units would be concurrent with
construction of market rate units.

Table 7 shows the proposed BMR units per unit type for an all low-income scenario, not including the 100%
affordable building.

Table 7: Proposed residential unit types

Total number of BMR units

Square feet

units (low income)

Studio 550 - 650 46 7
1 bedroom/1 bath (R1 &R2) 700 - 900 253 38
2 bedroom/2 bath (R1 & R2) 1,000 - 1,250 257 39
3 bedroom/ 2 bath (R1 & R2) 1,300 - 1,450 44

4 bedroom/3 bath townhouse (TH2) 2,000 - 2,500 46 4
4 bedroom/3 bath townhouse (TH1) 2,500 - 3,000 70 3
Total 646 97

Land donation and future 100% affordable building

The applicant is proposing to dedicate an approximately 1.6-acre parcel to an affordable housing developer,
in connection with the recording of the first final subdivision map. The applicant would provide only the land
and the affordable housing developer would need to separately secure funding and construct the units. As a
result, the number of units is uncertain though CEQA clearance and land use entitlements provide for up to
154 units. As mentioned previously, the land donation is not required to comply with the minimum
requirements of the BMR Ordinance and BMR Guidelines. However, the project-wide BMR agreement
includes these units.

The draft BMR Agreement is included in Attachment EE. On March 5, 2025 the Housing Commission
reviewed the BMR proposal and voted 4-0-2 (with Commissioners Merriman and Trempont absent) to
recommend approval of the applicant's BMR proposal. The March 5 Housing Commission meeting minutes
are included in Attachment FF.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 19

Development Agreement

A development agreement (DA) is a negotiated contract between an applicant and a city that allows the city
to impose conditions on development projects beyond the city’s municipal code requirements and provides
certainty to the developer through vested rights, generally by limiting the city’s ability to apply changes to
regulatory standards and impact fees to the project for a certain period of time. The draft DA with the
applicant (Lane Partners) would be for a term of 20 years, with an initial eight-year term and the potential for
two six-year extensions, provided the applicant meets certain milestones. The DA includes negotiated
community benefits, as well as timelines for the applicant to deliver those community benefits, in exchange
for vested rights for the applicant. The draft DA is included in Attachment GG.

Initial draft development agreement terms

On May 27, 2025, the City Council held a study session on the initial draft terms, including the following:

e Project phasing: A sequencing (or “metering”) for the non-residential buildings via a “point system”, which
would control the way in which the non-residential components of the project are phased in connection
with the development of the residential components.

o Affordable housing: Applicant would dedicate the approximately 1.6-acre parcel at the corner of
Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road (Building R3) to a non-profit affordable housing developer
and facilitate the actual development by committing to specific milestones.

e Parkland dedication: Applicant would dedicate a 2.6-acre parcel for a future park and recreational area
for the City. Applicant would provide funding for a City-led community outreach process to determine
programming, pay a fixed amount toward the design and construction process and contribute annual
funding for maintenance costs.

e Sustainability benefits: Applicant would install recycled water infrastructure within the project site and
provide points of connection at Middlefield Road, Laurel Street, and Burgess Drive, commit to all new
buildings being all-electric, and utilize non-diesel backup generators if reliable technology becomes
available and is not cost-prohibitive.

¢ Transportation/City shuttle: Applicant would contribute $2 million to the City to be used at the City’s
discretion for transportation-related improvements within a half mile of the project site. The initial terms
included the continued discussion of a funding commitment toward the City’s shuttle program in lieu of
applicant providing its own commuter shuttle between the project site and the Menlo Park Caltrain
station.

e PILOT agreement: Applicant would enter into a PILOT (payment in-lieu of property taxes) agreement
with the City to require the continued payment of property taxes if the residential units and new non-
residential buildings are owned or leased by a tax-exempt entity with exceptions for the 100% affordable
parcel and a one-time exception to allow SRI to occupy one new building.

e Other benefits: commitment from applicant to consider future abandonment of water and sewer line
easements benefitting SRI’s property and encumbering the City’s Corporation Yard and the use of union
labor for the non-residential component of the proposed project.

A more detailed explanation and analysis of the initial draft DA terms is included in the May 27, 2025 City
Council staff report (Attachment HH). At the City Council study session, individual Councilmembers
provided feedback indicating the point system is reasonable for the project, expressed a need to define
commencement of construction, and indicated building pads and evidence of financing is not sufficient to
meet the definition of TCO for the townhome units. The City Council also expressed interest in increasing
the project’s financial contributions towards the City’s shuttle system and the impact of the shuttle on the

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 20

TDM plan, maintenance of the public park, and public outreach on the programming of the park. The May
27 City Council meeting minutes are included in Attachment I1.

Updated draft development agreement terms

Since the study session, City staff and the applicant utilized the City Council’s feedback to guide
negotiations on the draft DA. In general, the initial draft DA terms have been maintained and
modified/expanded. The applicant’'s community benefits brochure is included as Attachment JJ. The section
below analyzes the updated topic areas of the draft DA. There were no material modifications to the
sustainability benefits, affordable housing land dedication, or PILOT agreement, and an analysis of these
terms is included in the May 27 staff report.

Non-residential square footage cap

During the study session some Councilmembers raised concerns that the current employee cap at the site
would be removed and the proposed project would not include an employee cap. The applicant stated it is
unable to commit to an employee cap, and instead proposed to cap the amount of non-residential space
that could be built to 1 million square feet, inclusive of the existing approximately 287,000 square feet in
Buildings P, S and T. This would reduce the proposed non-residential square footage by approximately
380,000 square feet or 28%. It should also be noted that the TDM Plan contains a trip cap, which if
exceeded can result in the imposition of penalties, and thus seeks to address the same desired result that
an employee cap might achieve, namely a reduction in trips. In exchange, applicant requests flexibility and
certainty under the DA, related to future changes in the Parkline master plan that could result in an increase
in housing supply at the project site.

Capping the non-residential square footage at 1 million square feet will impact the site plan for the non-
residential portion of the project site. Further, it is possible that buildings P or S and T may no longer be
needed by SRI during the term of the DA. Therefore, during the initial 8 year term of the draft DA, the DA
provides vested rights for future changes in the Parkline master plan if it is modified in the future (subject to
CEQA review and other required City analyses (e.g., TIA, FIA)), inclusive of any necessary modifications to
the CDP and VTM. These changes would be limited to changes to the site plan to accommodate the
reduced 1 million square foot non-residential cap or the removal of buildings P or S and T and would be
required to meet the following conditions:

e The changes primarily involve increasing the amount of housing units;

e The amount of non-residential square footage shall not exceed the 1 million square foot cap and the
amount of non-residential square footage provided for in the modified CDP shall constitute the new cap
on non-residential development;

¢ All buildings will be all electric and comply with the green building provisions of the C-1-S zoning and the
Reach Code; and

e There are no material changes or reductions to the community benefits.

Related to the reduction in non-residential square footage or removal of Buildings P or S and T, the draft DA
includes a commitment that during the initial 8 year term the City will streamline the review and approval
process for any future discretionary approvals that are necessary to accommodate an increase in the
number of housing units. The streamlined process would require the City to (1) use best efforts to process
any necessary entitlement approvals (e.g., an amended CDP) within 12 months of a substantially complete
application being submitted, and (2) restrict the number of public hearings that can be held regarding the
application to a maximum of five.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 21

Updated project phasing plan

With the reduction in non-residential square footage the phasing plan has been updated to conform with the

reduced square footage. The updated phasing plan (Attachment KK) continues to utilize the point system

and is generally consistent with the plan presented at the May City Council study session with the following

modifications:

e Change the non-residential component to square footage instead of buildings and modify the phasing to
identify four non-residential components of up to 250,000 square feet each;

e Add a roof framing milestone for the third and fourth non-residential component; and

e Require all five points for the fourth and final non-residential phase.

For reference, the phasing plan allocated the following points for each residential component:

Table 8: Point system

Assigned points at
commencement of construction

Residential component

R1 — 300 Apartment units (15% BMR) 1
R2 — 300 Apartment units (15% BMR) 1
TH 1 — 19 Detached townhomes (15% BMR) 0.5
TH 2 — 27 Attached townhomes (15% BMR) 0.5
R3 — 154 Affordable units (100% BMR) 2

- 77 Units (assuming phased delivery) 1

- 77 Units (assuming phased delivery) 1

The updated phasing plan did not modify the point allocation from the draft DA terms reviewed by the City
Council in May 2025. The table below documents the updated phasing and provides an illustrative example.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 22

Table 9: Project phasing

Building permit issuance for
non-residential component

Required # of points and

residential TCO, if

lllustrative example

1-250,000 SF of New Non-
Residential

applicable

1 point

Building permit has been issued for R1 or R2.

250,001-500,000 SF of New Non-
Residential

2 points

Building permits have been issued for R1 and R2.

500,001-750,000 SF of New Non-
Residential

Requires 3 points and
TCO for one residential
component and roof
framing complete for one
residential component.

R1 has achieved TCO (i.e., R1 is substantially
complete and can be occupied), roof framing has
been completed for R2, and building permits have
been issued for TH 1 and TH 2;

or

R1 has achieved TCO (i.e., R1 is substantially
complete and can be occupied) and building
permits have been issued for R2 and at least 77
units on the 100% affordable site (R3).

751,000-1,000,000 SF of New
Non-Residential

Requires 5 points and
TCO for three residential
components and roof
framing complete for one
residential component.

R1, R2 and TH-1 have achieved TCO and
building permits have been issued for all
residential components including all units on the
100% affordable site (R3) with at least 77 units
complete to roof framing.

Additionally, in the event the applicant proposes to construct all of the available non-residential square
footage of 713,000 square feet, with existing Buildings P, S and T remaining, then 4 points are required,
along with the issuance of a TCO for one residential component and roof framing complete for one
additional residential component. This provision helps to ensure a balanced development of residential and
non-residential components. The phasing plan continues to include a one-time exception for an additional
non-residential building to advance if the applicant delivers a fully executed lease and has achieved at least
two points.

Additional clarifications

The definition of “commence construction” is now defined for the multifamily buildings as the issuance of a
building permit for vertical improvements, mobilization of construction equipment and workers on-site, and
commencement of actual vertical construction thereon (i.e., not just pouring slabs and foundations) and for
the detached and attached townhome units, issuance of building permits. Lastly, the definition of temporary
certificate of occupancy now applies equally to all residential components without any exceptions for the
townhome units.

Parkland dedication and funding

With the reduction in non-residential square footage, the draft DA includes a reduced payment to the City
for park improvements from $5 million to $4 million. The draft DA includes the dedication of the
approximately 2.6 acre parcel to the City for a future park as well as $100,000 for community engagement
on the design of the park improvements, $600,000 for development of design and construction plans, and
$4 million for the construction of park improvements, for a total of $4.7 million in addition to the parkland
dedication. The DA identifies the timing for these payments to the City. These payments and the parkland
would be credited against the project’s Quimby Act obligation (rec In-lieu fee). The draft DA also identifies

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 23

additional credits for the proposed publicly accessible open space in excess of the minimum required by the
zoning ordinance (approximately 2 acres).

The applicant would also provide a public restroom within Parking Garage 1 and dedicate an easement to
the City for the continued operation of the restroom; the applicant would be responsible for ongoing
maintenance and repair of the restroom. This location would be generally accessible to the public park as
well as the other publicly accessible open space within the project site. Additionally, the draft DA includes
an annual payment of $70,000 to the City to maintain the public park for a period of 20 years following
completion of the park; the annual fee would be subject to an increase in accordance with the increase in
the consumer price index.

No new biosafety level (BSL) 3 or 4 Labs; phasing out of existing BSL 3 labs

SRI currently maintains two small laboratories, occupying less than 2,000 square feet combined within
Building P and Building T that are permitted to conduct BSL-3 level research. The draft DA requires the
applicant to ensure SRI does not seek to expand the size of either facility and to complete the decertification
process of the BSL-3 facility located in Building T no later than January 1, 2027 and the BSL-3 facility
located in Building P prior to the issuance of the first certificate of occupancy for the first residential
component of the project. Additionally, applicant would not construct or operate any BSL-3 or BSL-4
capable labs as part of the proposed project.

Transportation/city shuttle

The applicant would provide a shuttle between the project site and the Caltrain station commencing no later
than the issuance of the first certificate of occupancy for the first non-residential building. In lieu of a project
shuttle, the applicant may elect to pay $50,000 annually to the City to fund its shuttles that serve the Project
site; the $50,000 annual payment, if elected by the applicant, would also be subject to an annual increase
based on the increase in the consumer price index. If the applicant elects to provide an independent shuttle
it shall use 100% electric vehicles, coordinate outreach with the City on the shuttle routing, frequency, and
design to avoid duplicating shuttle service, and prepare an annual report on the shuttle ridership.
Regardless of whether the applicant provides their own shuttle, the draft DA requires the applicant to
provide publicly operated buses (e.g., Willow Road Shuttle, Menlo Park Midday, commute.org, SamTrans)
access to the project site and provide bus stops and signage at reasonable locations within the project site.
The applicant would also be required to participate in the City’s shuttle study as a stakeholder. The payment
for transportation improvements has not changed from the previous $2 million.

Publicly accessible event area

As part of the non-residential component of the project, the applicant would design and construct a publicly
accessible open space event area with a multi-use plaza. The event area would be available from time to
time for community programming or public events, such as farmers markets, food truck festivals, or movie
nights. Additionally, the City would have the right to use the event area for one public event per month.

Other benefits
In addition to the previously identified other benefits, four additional items were added to the draft DA.

e Buildings S and T and City Corporation yard: Any subsequent approval related to redevelopment of the
land comprising Buildings S and T requires the applicant to cooperate and coordinate with the City in
relation to the design and planning for potential redevelopment of the land adjacent to the City
Corporation yard. This would also include coordination with the USGS site if it has not already been
redeveloped. This term helps to ensure a collaborative effort between the two private property owners

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 24

and the City in relation to the City’s corporation yard.

e Applicant agrees to collaborate with City on broader traffic mitigation strategies designed to reduce single
occupancy vehicle trips and traffic anticipated to arise from redevelopment of the proposed project and
other sites in proximity. The applicant would not be required to provide funding for this effort.

e Encourage union labor for residential components: The draft DA requires union labor for the vertical
(core and shell) components of the non- residential buildings but not the residential components. The
applicant agrees to encourage residential developers to utilize union labor, but residential developers are
not required to use union labor.

e Sales tax point of sale designation: Applicant shall use commercially reasonable efforts to the extent
allowed by law to require all persons and entities providing bulk lumber, concrete, structural steel and
pre-fabricated building components to (a) obtain a use tax direct payment permit; (b) elect to obtain a
subcontractor permit for the job site of a contract valued at $5 million or more; or (c) otherwise designate
the property as the place of use of material used in the construction of the project to have the local
portion of the sales and use tax distributed directly to City instead of through the county-wide pool.

The DA benefits further a number of City Council priorities and related policies. The project phasing, which
prioritizes housing, and the dedication of land to an affordable housing developer, further housing, a City
Council priority for fiscal year 2025-26, as well as General Plan Housing Element policies. Housing Element
Policy H4.2 encourages opportunities for new housing development to meet the City's share of its Regional
Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA), including an adequate supply and variety of housing opportunities to
meet Menlo Park's workforce and special needs populations. Housing Element Policy H4.4 encourages
residential mixed-use developments in proximity to transit and services, such as shopping centers.

Strategy #4 of City’s Climate Action plan includes the reduction of vehicle miles traveled and higher density
housing near transit. The proposed housing near the Menlo Park Caltrain station and the prioritization of
housing in the phasing plan, both help support this strategy. The applicant’s shuttle or annual contribution to
the City’s shuttle service would support General Plan Circulation Element Policy CIRC-6.3, which
encourages increased shuttle service between employment centers and the Downtown Menlo Park Caltrain
station.

The parkland dedication, and the additional publicly-accessible open space, would further Guidelines in the
City’s Park and Recreation Facilities Master Plan Update, including Guideline G.2.2.1 to provide a broad
range of active and passive park and recreation elements and Guideline G.2.3.2 to prioritize incorporation of
natural landscapes and trees.

The parkland dedication would also accommodate the potential for installation of an emergency water
reservoir and well as part of Menlo Park Municipal Water's (MPMW) Emergency Water Storage/Supply
Project. The MPMW Emergency Water Storage/Supply Project is intended to provide a backup water supply
to the portion of MPMW'’s service area located east of El Camino Real, in the event water from the SFPUC
Regional Water System is reduced or unavailable, and supports emergency and disaster preparedness, a
City Council priority for fiscal year 2025-26.

The proposed new buildings would be all electric, supporting a City Council priority of climate action for
fiscal year 2025-26, and supporting strategies from the City’s Climate Action Plan.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 25

Fiscal impact analysis and housing needs assessment

Although the previous sections of the staff report referred to the modified project variant as the proposed
project, since that is the version of the project the applicant is seeking entitlements for, the sections on the
fiscal impact analysis (FIA), housing needs assessment (HNA) and the CEQA review below call the initial
project the “proposed project” and the second iteration of the project the “project variant” to be consistent
with the two versions of the project that were analyzed in the FIA, HNA, and EIR.

Fiscal impact analysis (FIA)

An FIA (Attachment LL) analyzes two potential build-out scenarios for both the proposed project and project
variant evaluated in the Final EIR, one where 100% of the office/R&D buildings are used for office and one
where 100% are used for R&D. The FIA estimates that the proposed project and project variant evaluated in
the Final EIR would have a positive net fiscal impact on the City of Menlo Park’s annual general fund
operating budget, for both the 100% office and 100% R&D scenarios.

A supplemental memo (Attachment MM) to the FIA was prepared to analyze the impacts of modifying the
project variant to limit non-residential square footage to 1 million square feet, which found the modified
project variant (the currently proposed project) would have a negative net fiscal impact on the City of Menlo
Park’s annual general fund operating budget for the 100% office scenario and a positive net fiscal impact for
the 100% R&D scenario. Both the project variant and the modified project variant would generate a net
positive fiscal impact for the Menlo Park Fire Protection District, Sequoia Union High School District, and the
Menlo Park City Elementary School District, for both 100% office and 100% R&D scenarios although the net
positive impacts would be less than under the project variant. Attachment NN provides more detailed
information on the net fiscal impact findings for both scenarios, under both the project variant and the
modified project variant (the currently proposed project). The FIA does not account for any financial
contributions included in the DA.

Housing needs assessment (HNA)

A housing needs assessment (HNA) (Attachment OO) was prepared that analyzes two potential build-out
scenarios for both the proposed project and project variant evaluated in the Final EIR: one where 100% of
the non-residential buildings are used for office and one where 100% are used for R&D.

A supplemental memo (Attachment PP) to the HNA was also prepared to analyze the impacts of modifying
the project variant to limit non-residential square footage to 1 million square feet. Based on current
commute patterns, both the project variant and the modified project variant (the currently proposed project),
would increase the available housing supply in Menlo Park but also increase the regional housing demand.
However, as shown in Table 10, the increase in the regional housing demand would be lower for the
currently proposed project as fewer employees would work at the project site.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC

Page 26
Table 10: Housing demand and supply *
Office scenario — R&D scenario — Office scenario - R&D scenario -
additional employee additional employee | additional housing additional housing
regional housing regional housing units available in units available in
demand demand Menlo Park Menlo Park
Project variant 2,284 units 1,642 units 679 units 713 units
Currently
proposed 1,062 units 1,062 units 722 units 744 units
project
Net change
under Regional demand Regional demand s . " .
currently decreased by 1,222 decreased by 580 43 additional units in | 31 additional units in
. . Menlo Park Menlo Park
proposed units units
project

*Assuming current commute share

The currently proposed project would further increase housing available within Menlo Park due to the
reduction in employees at the site, as shown in Table 10.

CEQA review

As stated in the CEQA Guidelines, an EIR is an informational document that is intended to provide the City,
responsible and trustee agencies, other public agencies, and community members with detailed information
about the potential environmental effects that could result from implementing the proposed project, examine
and implement mitigation measures to reduce or avoid potentially significant physical environmental impacts
if the proposed Project is approved, and consider feasible alternatives to the proposed Project, including a
required No Project Alternative. The Final EIR, which includes the Draft EIR by reference, is included
through the hyperlink in Attachment QQ and the appendices are included as Attachment RR.

The City released the Draft EIR for public review and comment on June 20, 2024. The comment period
closed on August 5, 2024. Most CEQA topic areas were included in the Draft EIR, including the following,
with the impact levels, discussed later in this report, in parenthesis:

e Air Quality (LTS/M) e Land Use and Planning (LTS)

e Biological Resources (LTS/M) e Noise (SU)

e Cultural Resources (SU) e Population and Housing (LTS)

e Energy (LTS) e Public Services (LTS)

e Geology and Soils (LTS/M) e Recreation (LTS)

e Greenhouse Gas Emissions (LTS) e Transportation (LTS)

e Hazards and Hazardous Materials (LTS/M) e Tribal Cultural Resources (LTS/M)

e Hydrology and Water Quality (LTS/M) o Utilities and Service Systems (LTS)

Section 15128 of the CEQA Guidelines states that “an EIR shall contain a statement briefly indicating the
reasons that various possible significant effects of a project were determined not to be significant and were
therefore not discussed in detail in the EIR.” Implementation of the proposed project would not result in
significant environmental impacts on agricultural and forestry resources or mineral resources. These issues
are not analyzed in the EIR. Additionally, the Draft EIR does not include an aesthetics topic area in

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 27

accordance with Senate Bill (SB) 743, but a memo was prepared for informational purposes and included in
Appendix 3.1-1.

The current iteration of the project, which reduces the approximately 1.38 million square feet of non-
residential square footage to 1 million square feet, was not specifically studied in the Final EIR. However,
the remaining components of the modified project variant remain the same as the project variant. Therefore,
staff believes the environmental analysis provided in the Final EIR provides a conservative analysis of the
impacts of the proposed project, and no new significant environmental impacts and no substantial increases
in the severity of previously identified impacts have resulted as a result of this reduction in non-residential
building space after the release of the Final EIR.

Impact analysis

For each of the analyzed topic areas, the Final EIR describes the existing conditions (including regulatory
and environmental settings) and analyzes the potential environmental impacts (noting the thresholds of
significance and applicable methods of analysis). Impacts are considered both for the proposed project and
project variant individually, as well as cumulatively in combination with other reasonably foreseeable
probable future projects and cumulative growth. The Final EIR identifies and classifies the potential
environmental impacts as:

No Impact (NI)
Less than Significant (LTS)
Significant (S)
Potentially Significant (PS)

Where a significant or potentially significant impact is identified, mitigation measures are considered to
reduce, eliminate, or avoid the adverse effects (less than significant with mitigation). If a mitigation measure
cannot eliminate/avoid an impact, or reduce the impact below the threshold of significance, it is considered
a significant and unavoidable impact. The following determinations are then applied to the impact.

e Less than Significant with Mitigation (LTS/M)
¢ Significant and Unavoidable (SU)

The EIR prepared for the proposed project and project variant identifies less than significant effects and
effects that can be mitigated to a less-than-significant level in all topic areas except noise (i.e. construction
noise, construction vibration, cumulative construction noise), and historical resources, which the Final EIR
identified would result in significant and unavoidable impacts. The project variant would result in generally
the same impacts in these topic areas as the proposed project. The proposed project and the project variant
would result in potentially significant impacts related to air quality, cultural resources, tribal cultural
resources, biological resources, geology and soils, hydrology and water quality, and hazards and hazardous
materials, but these impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level with implementation of
identified mitigation measures. Impacts related to land use and planning, transportation, energy,
greenhouse gas emissions, population and housing, public services and recreation, and utilities and service
systems would be less than significant. The mitigation monitoring and reporting program (Attachment O)
includes the impacts and mitigation measures for the proposed project, including mitigation measures for
the significant and unavoidable impacts to reduce the impact but not to a less than significant level. A more
detailed analysis of the proposed project’s impacts and associated mitigation measures by topic area is
provided in the Final EIR.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 28

Response to comments and Final EIR

The Final EIR (Attachment QQ) comprises a response to comments chapter that responds to each unique
comment on the environmental analysis received during the 45-day Draft EIR comment period, text edits to
the Draft EIR, and the Draft EIR that is incorporated by reference. The comments on the Draft EIR and the
responses thereto did not result in any previously unidentified impacts. No new significant environmental
impacts and no substantial increases in the severity of previously identified impacts have resulted after
responding to comments. In addition, there are no feasible alternatives or mitigation measures that are
considerably different from others previously analyzed that would clearly lessen the environmental impacts
of the proposed project or project variant that the project proponent has declined to adopt. Therefore, any
changes to the text of the Final EIR were limited to corrections and clarifications that do not alter the
environmental analysis.

Significant and unavoidable impacts

While identified impacts for most topic areas can be mitigated to a less than significant level, impacts
related to construction noise, construction vibration, cumulative construction noise, and historical resources
remain significant and unavoidable even with the application of mitigation measures. CEQA Guidelines
Section 15126.2(c) requires EIRs to include a discussion of the significant environmental effects that cannot
be avoided if a project is implemented. More detailed analysis for each impact and associated mitigation
measures (applied even if unable to fully reduce the impact to less than significant) for the proposed project
are included in noise (Chapter 3.7), and historical resources (Chapter 3.8). These same impacts are
discussed for the project variant in Chapter 4. Therefore, this staff report does not separately summarize the
findings of Chapter 4 pertaining to the project variant.

Noise Impacts
Impact NOI-1: Construction Noise

Construction of the proposed project or project variant would generate a substantial temporary increase in
ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the project in excess of standards established in a local general plan
or noise ordinance or applicable standards of other agencies even with implementation of Mitigation
Measure NOI-1.1. The project variant would also include an emergency well and thus Mitigation Measure
NOI-1.3 for the project variant (similar to Mitigation Measure NOI-1.1 for the proposed project) would be
incorporated to reduce the noise levels from construction activities for the project variant; however, the plan
may not be able to ensure that noise would be below the applicable thresholds in all circumstances.
Mitigation Measure NOI-1.3 for the project variant would be comparable to Mitigation Measure NOI-1.1 for
the proposed project, but would incorporate additional measures to address the construction of the
emergency water storage reservoir, and the associated emergency well and pump house. As with the
proposed project, implementation of mitigation measures during project variant construction would reduce
noise by requiring a noise barrier in addition to other noise reducing measures. However, these mitigation
measures may not be able to ensure that noise would be below the applicable thresholds in all
circumstances. The construction noise reduction plan and noise barrier would reduce noise, but noise levels
could temporarily be as high as 97 dBA Leq, which, even with measures to reduce noise, would very likely
still result in a substantial temporary increase in noise.

Impact NOI-3: Ground-borne Vibration

The proposed project and project variant would generate excessive ground-borne vibration or ground-borne
noise levels. Implementation of Mitigation Measure NOI-3.1 would reduce vibration levels from construction
activity during daytime and early-morning hours by requiring larger equipment to operate no closer than 50
feet from residential and other sensitive land uses to the extent feasible, no closer than 30 feet to sensitive
land uses for jackhammers, along with appointment of a vibration coordinator to address any vibration-
related complaints received. However, it may not be possible to ensure that vibration levels at all times and

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 29

at all locations would be reduced to a level below the “strongly perceptible” level or below the threshold
identified in the ConnectMenlo EIR, which the City determined is applicable to this Draft EIR, because larger
equipment may need to operate at closer distances to sensitive land uses.

Impact C-NOI-1: Cumulative Construction Noise

Cumulative development would result in a significant environmental impact related to construction noise; the
proposed project or project variant would be a cumulatively considerable contributor to a significant
environmental impact. Because the proposed project, or project variant, on its own would result in a
significant impact, its contribution would be cumulatively considerable. Although implementation of
mitigation measures would reduce the proposed project’s or project variant’s construction noise impacts,
such impacts were determined to be significant and unavoidable.

Impacts to cultural and tribal resources

The SRI International campus was determined to be eligible for listing as a historic district in the California
Register of Historical Resources (CRHR) under Criterion 1 (Events) for association with SRI International as
an innovative research and development institution that has contributed numerous advancements in a
variety of fields including computing, business and economics, health and medicine, and physical sciences.
The eligible historic district has 26 contributing buildings, and two contributing landscape features.

As discussed further below, Page & Turnbull’s evaluation also found three buildings within the SRI
International campus to be individually eligible for listing in the CRHR: Building A, under Criterion 1 (Events)
and Criterion 3 (Architecture); Building E, under Criterion 1 and Criterion 2 (Persons); and Building 100,
under Criterion 1. The property at 201 Ravenswood Avenue was also evaluated by Page & Turnbull and the
chapel was found to be individually eligible for listing in the CRHR as a distinctive local example of Late
Modernist architecture under Criterion 3 (Architecture).

Building A, built in two phases in 1958 and 1961, is individually significant because it is associated with
events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history. Building A was the first
building built for SRI International. Today, Building A serves as the institution’s administrative center and
most-public facing building. Building A was designed by master architects of regional significance, Stanton
& Stockwell, in the Midcentury Modern style. The building is the most prominent example of the Los
Angeles-based firm’s work in Northern California and is representative of their best work in the Midcentury
Modern style.

Building E is individually significant because it is associated with events that have made a significant
contribution to the broad patterns of our history. Building E appears to be the building most closely
associated with innovations in early computing and internetworking in the late 1960s and early 1970s.
Building E also appears to be the building most closely associated with the innovative computing and
internetworking research of Dr. Douglas Carl Engelbart and Donald Nielson. Among many
accomplishments, Engelbart is widely recognized for his contributions to early personal computing including
the patent for the first computer mouse, and Nielson led the teams that made the first connection between
three dissimilar networks, often considered the “birth of the internet”, in 1977.

Building 100 was originally constructed during World War Il, and served as Dibble General Hospital’s
Administration Building. In 1947, Building 100 was adapted to serve as the first permanent home of
Stanford Research Institute (SRI), which had previously been temporarily located for several months at the
Physics Building on the Stanford University campus. Building 100 is individually significant for its
association with the origination of SRI, as the building served as the first headquarters location for the
institute.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 30

The First Church of Christ Scientist chapel at 201 Ravenswood Avenue, built in 1966 by architects Inwood
& Hoover, was found to be eligible at the local level under Criterion 3 as it embodies the distinctive
characteristics of the Late Modern style. Page and Turnbull’s analysis is included as Appendix 3.8-1 of the
Draft EIR.

Impact CR-1: Historical Resources

The proposed project or project variant would cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of
historical resources, pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5. As noted above, the CRHR-eligible
SRI International Campus Historic District includes 26 contributing buildings and two contributing landscape
features. The proposed project or project variant would demolish 23 of the 26 contributing buildings and one
of the two contributing landscape features. The three buildings that contribute to the historic district and
would remain are Building P, Building S, and Building T. The one landscape feature that contributes to the
historic district and would remain is the SRI International Monument. The monument is proposed to be
relocated onsite. Additionally, the project variant would demolish the chapel at 201 Ravenswood Avenue,
which is also individually eligible for listing in the CRHR.

The number of buildings and landscape features that would be demolished as part of the proposed project
or project variant would cause the historic district to lose its historic integrity. The three buildings and one
landscape feature proposed to be retained are not sufficiently representative of the significance of SRI
International’s contributions as an R&D institution and are not clustered in a manner that would allow them
to be eligible as a historic district. The siting of the buildings and spatial relationships, which convey a sense
of a large institutional campus, would be lost, and the site would no longer be eligible for listing in the
California Register of Historical Resources (CRHR) as a historic district. Implementation of Mitigation
Measures CR-1.1: Documentation, CR-1-1.a: Digital Photography, CR-1.1.b: Historical Report, CR-1.1.c:
Site Plan and Drawings, CR-1.2: Interpretive Program, CR-1.3: Relocation of SRI Monument, and CR-1.4:
Documentation of the Chapel (Project Variant) would reduce the potential level of impact on the three
individually CRHR-eligible historical resources, or on the four CRHR-eligible resources under the project
variant, and the potential impact on the CRHR-eligible SRI International Campus Historic District by
requiring documentation and interpretation and/or commemoration of the resources to be demolished and
the relocation of a contributing landscape feature of the historic district. However, the demolition of historical
resources cannot be mitigated to a less-than-significant level.

Project alternatives

The CEQA Guidelines require study of a reasonable range of alternatives to a project; a “reasonable range”
includes alternatives that could feasibly attain most of a project’s basic objectives, while avoiding or
substantially lessening any of the significant adverse environmental effects of the project. An EIR does not
need to consider every conceivable alternative to a project, but it must consider a reasonable range of
potentially feasible alternatives that will foster informed decision-making and public participation. Section
15126.6(e) of the State CEQA Guidelines requires the evaluation of a No Project Alternative. The Draft EIR
alternatives analysis focused on potential alternatives to reduce the significant and unavoidable impacts
discussed above. The proposed project and the project variant have their own separate set of alternatives,
which are analyzed separately in the Draft EIR but combined below for brevity. Table 6-1 of the Draft EIR
(Comparative Description of the Proposed Project Alternatives) and Table 6-3 (Comparative Description of
the Project Variant Alternatives) provide additional details on the project alternatives and are included in this
staff report as Attachments SS and TT. For a summary and list of the alternatives considered but rejected,
please review Chapter 6: Alternatives of the Draft EIR.

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 31

1. No-Project Alternative. The no-project alternative would continue the existing uses on SRI
International’s research campus, which consists of 38 buildings with approximately 1.38 million
square feet of mostly R&D space and areas for supporting uses. The existing cogeneration plant
would continue to operate. Under the no-project alternative, 3,308 employees could work within the
existing buildings at the SRI campus, which is the maximum number of employees allowed under
the current CDP. This would amount to a net increase in 2,208 employees compared to existing
conditions. No new construction would occur and no housing would be provided at the project site.
However, this alternative could include renovations and tenant improvements to the existing
buildings, as needed, to ensure modern seismic safety features to meet all standards set forth by the
California Building Standards Code, address hazards, and remediate known hazardous materials.
The no-project alternative analyzed for the project variant would be the same as analyzed for the
proposed project, and would also include the continued use of 201 Ravenswood Avenue by the
Christian Science Church and Alpha Kids Academy.

2. Preservation Alternative 1 (Retain Building 100, and the chapel under the project variant).
Figure 6-1 of the Draft EIR provides a diagram of the site plan implications with implementation of
this alternative. This alternative would retain the existing office Building 100 (located near the
property line with the McCandless office buildings), which is a historic resource that is individually
eligible for the CRHR and as a district contributor. Historic districts may have contributing and non-
contributing buildings, sites, structures, objects, or open spaces. A contributor, like Building 100,
adds to the historic associations, historic architectural qualities, or archeological values for which a
property is significant. Under this alternative, individually eligible Buildings A and E would be
demolished, as would all other contributing buildings proposed for demolition under the proposed
project. All new office and residential buildings included in the proposed project or project variant
would be built. Under the project variant, all buildings at 201 Ravenswood Avenue would be retained
and repurposed, including the chapel, which is individually eligible for the CRHR. The emergency
water storage reservoir and associated facilities would be built under the project variant.

3. Preservation Alternative 2 (Retain Buildings 100, A, and E, and the chapel under the project
variant). This alternative would retain all three individually CRHR eligible buildings on the SRI site:
Buildings 100, A, and E. Figure 6-2 of the Draft EIR provides a diagram of the site plan implications
with implementation of this alternative. Buildings A and E would continue to be used for office and
R&D space but would need to be upgraded. Building 100 would be used for support
functions/amenity space. Because the footprints of Buildings A and E are on the site of several
proposed office/R&D and residential buildings, the siting, footprint, and massing of several of the
new buildings would need to be altered to accommodate the retention of Buildings A and E, and
several proposed buildings would not be constructed, resulting in a reduction in office/R&D square
footage from existing conditions. Additionally, for the project variant, all buildings at 201
Ravenswood Avenue would be retained and repurposed, including the chapel, which is individually
eligible for CRHR. The project variant would continue to accommodate the potential emergency
water storage reservoir.

4. Preservation Alternative 3 (Retain Buildings 100, A, E, and B, and the chapel under the
project variant). This alternative would retain the three buildings that are individually eligible for the
CRHR as well as district contributor Building B. Figure 6-3 of the Draft EIR provides a diagram of the
site plan implications with implementation of this alternative. Buildings A, E, and B would continue to
be used for office and R&D space but would need to be upgraded. Building 100 would be used for
support functions/amenity space. Because the footprints of Buildings A, B, and E are on the site of
several proposed office/R&D and residential buildings, the siting, footprint, and massing of several of

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 32

the proposed new buildings would need to be altered to accommodate the retention of Buildings A
and E, and several proposed buildings would not be constructed, resulting in a reduction in
office/R&D square footage from existing conditions. Project variant attributes would be consistent
with Alternative #3.

As shown in Tables 6-12 (Comparison of Impacts among Proposed Project Alternatives) and 6-13
(Comparison of Impacts among Project Variant Alternatives) of the Draft EIR, included as Attachments UU
and VV, which summarize the impacts of the preservation alternatives compared to the impacts of the
proposed project and project variant, all topics would result in the same significance conclusions under the
build alternatives.

Preservation Alternatives 2 and 3 for both the proposed project and the project variant would retain all three,
or four under the project variant, individually eligible resources. Therefore, these alternatives would result in
a less-than-significant impact on individually eligible historic resources, compared to the significant and
unavoidable impacts under the proposed project and project variant. Because Preservation Alternative 3
would result in slightly less construction than Preservation Alternative 2, slightly fewer construction-related
impacts would occur under Preservation Alternative 3. For these reasons, Preservation Alternative 3 would
be the environmentally superior alternative for both the proposed project and the project variant.

Statement of Overriding Considerations and Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP)

As part of its consideration of the merits of the project, the Planning Commission and City Council will need
to review and consider the Statement of Overriding Considerations (SOC) along with the Mitigation
Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP). The draft resolution for the CEQA findings, SOC and the
MMRRP is included in Attachment A, Exhibit A. The Planning Commission is a recommending body on the
certification of the Final EIR, making the CEQA findings, and adopting the SOC and the MMRP.

The draft SOC outlines the following benefits of the project, inclusive of economic, environmental and social
community benefits derived from the development agreement, such as additional funding for transportation
improvements, a shuttle to transport residents and workers to and from the Project Site or funding for the
City’s commuter shuttles, land dedication to an affordable housing developer for up to 154 below market
rate units, funding for maintenance of future City park, along with the construction, dedication, and
maintenance of a public restroom to serve the park, commitment to use union labor for the core and shell
for the non-residential buildings and encourage residential developers to use union labor, and community
use of open space within the project, including the event area within the Parkline Commons. The DA also
includes an agreement to enter into a Payment In Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) to ensure the City receives
expected revenue and a sales tax point of sale designation during construction to increase tax revenue for
the City. Additionally, the Development Agreement includes several sustainability benefits, including all-
electric buildings, installation of recycled water distribution infrastructure for future connections to planned
recycled water, and the use of non-diesel backup generators provided specific operational and cost criteria
are met.

The MMRP includes the feasible mitigation measures identified in the Final EIR. The Mitigation Monitoring
and Reporting Program (MMRP) is designed to aid the City in its implementation and monitoring of
measures adopted from the certified Final EIR. The MMRP would be incorporated into the CDP as part of
the project specific conditions of approval for the project.

Correspondence

Correspondence is included as Attachment WW and includes eleven emails. (These do not include emails
sent to the City Council on the project.) Three of the emails express a desire for a full-size soccer field at the

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 33

project site. One email expresses concerns about the location of the 100% affordable building and the lower
parking rate for that building. Two emails are from representatives of the McCandless property, expressing
concerns related to construction and operational impacts of the project on their property. One email
expresses concerns about the transportation analysis in the EIR and that the project was not reviewed by
the Complete Street Commission. One email expresses concerns about the impact of the non-residential
space on the City’s future regional housing needs allocation and suggests more housing and more
affordable housing on the project site. One email expresses concerns about the time available to review
project documents, traffic congestion resulting from the project, the jobs/housing balance, and concerns
about the environmental analysis. One email expresses concerns about the proposed number of heritage
tree removals, and additional email provides general support for the project.

Conclusion

The Planning Commission is a recommending body to the City Council on whether to certify the Final EIR
and approve the requested land use entitlements. The draft Planning Commission resolution recommending
these actions is included in Attachment A. The Planning Commission will need to consider the
environmental analysis, the merits of the proposed project, the comprehensive redevelopment through the
CDP, the provision of BMR units, the General Plan, Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map amendments, the
VTM, and the community benefits in the DA. Attachment B includes a chart showing the project’s
consistency with applicable general plan policies. Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt
the draft resolution in Attachment A. The Planning Commission’s recommendation would be forwarded to
the City Council for review, which is tentatively scheduled for the September 30 meeting.

Impact on City Resources

The project sponsor is required to pay planning, building and public works permit fees, based on the City’s
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. The applicant is
also required to fully cover the cost of work by consultants performing environmental review and additional
analyses to evaluate potential impacts of the proposed project.

Public Notice

Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 20
days in advance of the public hearing, notification by mail to owners and occupants within a %2 miles radius
of the subject property and an article in the City’s Weekly Digest. Following publication of the staff report, a
link to the report was sent to project page subscribers.

Attachments

A. Planning Commission Resolution recommending the City Council 1) adopt a resolution certifying the
final environmental impact report (Final EIR), making California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)
Findings, and adopting a Statement of Overriding Considerations for significant and unavoidable
impacts and the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program, 2) adopt a resolution amending the
General Plan Land Use Element and Land Use Map, 3) adopt an ordinance amending the Zoning
Ordinance to add the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional, and Research District, Special) and Zoning

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 34

Map to rezone the project site to C-1-S district and incorporate a new “X” overlay district, and
approving the conditional development permit (CDP), 4) adopt a resolution approving the below
market rate (BMR) housing agreement, 5) adopt a resolution approving the vesting tentative map, and
6) adopt an ordinance approving the development agreement (DA) for the Parkline Master Plan
development.

Exhibits to Attachment A

A. Draft Resolution Certifying the Final EIR, Adopting Findings, a Statement of Overriding
Considerations and a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP)

Draft Resolution Approving Amendments to the Land Use Element and Land Use Map

Draft Ordinance Amending Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code, Amending the Zoning Map,
and Approving a Conditional Development Permit (CDP) for the Project

Draft Resolution Approving the Below Market Rate (BMR) Agreement

Draft Resolution Approving the Vesting Tentative Map (VTM)

Draft Ordinance Approving the Development Agreement (DA)

mTmo 0w

General Plan consistency chart
Location map
Project milestones and meeting summary
Master plan site plan
Full master plan project plans: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/map20250703/project-variant-master-plan-
set_0703.pdf
Project description letter: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/updated-master-plan-project-narrative-august-
2025.pdf
Draft General Plan Land Use Element text amendment
Draft General Plan Land Use Element map amendment
Draft C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special) zoning district
Draft Zoning Map amendment
Draft Conditional Development Permit (CDP)
Draft Development Regulations and Design Standards
Conceptual building heights plan sheet
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP)
Conceptual open space plan sheet
Arborist report: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-arborist-report.pdf
Conceptual emergency generator locations plan sheet
Hazardous Materials Information Forms (HMIF) and generator supplemental forms
Agency referral forms
Conceptual vehicular circulation plan sheet
Conceptual bicycle circulation plan sheet
Conceptual pedestrian circulation plan sheet
Conceptual parking plan sheet
Draft Transportation Demand Management (TDM) Plan
Draft Transportation Demand Management (TDM) monitoring plan
Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA): https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-tia_2024-07-11-w-appendices.pdf
BB. Microsimulation: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-

nmmoow

©

PNXXS<CHOD OPUOZICAR-TI

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov


https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/map20250703/project-variant-master-plan-set_0703.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/map20250703/project-variant-master-plan-set_0703.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/map20250703/project-variant-master-plan-set_0703.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/updated-master-plan-project-narrative-august-2025.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/updated-master-plan-project-narrative-august-2025.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/updated-master-plan-project-narrative-august-2025.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-arborist-report.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-arborist-report.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-tia_2024-07-11-w-appendices.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-tia_2024-07-11-w-appendices.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-simulation-analysis-memo-20240710.pdf

Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 35

development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-simulation-analysis-memo-20240710.pdf

CC. Vesting Tentative Map: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-simulation-analysis-memo-20240710.pdf

DD. Applicant’s Below Market Rate (BMR) housing proposal

EE. Draft Below Market Rate (BMR) housing agreement

FF. March 5, 2025 Housing Commission meeting minutes:
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/2/agendas-and-minutes/housing-commission/2025-
meetings/minutes/20250305-housing-commission-regular-meeting-minutes.pdf

GG. Draft Development Agreement (DA)

HH. May 27, 2025 City Council staff report on draft Development Agreement (DA):
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/agendas-and-minutes/city-council/2025-
meetings/20250527/k1-20250527-cc-parkline-review.pdf

II.  May 27, 2025 City Council meeting minutes:
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/agendas-and-minutes/city-council/2025-
meetings/minutes/20250527-city-council-special-and-regular-minutes-approved.pdf

JJ.  Applicant’s community benefits brochure:
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-community-benefits-august-2025.pdf

KK. Draft Development Agreement (DA) Phasing Plan

LL. Fiscal Impact Analysis (FIA): https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/deir_20240620/parkline-master-plan-fia-
report-06-19-2024.pdf

MM. Supplemental memo to Fiscal Impact Analysis (FIA):
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/development-
downtown-parking/parkline-fia-august-2025.pdf

NN. Summary of net fiscal impact under project variant and modified project variant

OO. Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) (Appendix 3.14-1 of the Draft Environmental Impact Report):
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-
development/documents/projects/under-
review/parkline/deir_20240620/parkline_deir_appendices web 06172024 .pdf

PP. Supplemental memo to the Housing Needs Assessment (HNA):
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/development-
downtown-parking/parkline-housing-needs-assessment-hna-supplemental-memo.pdf

QQ. Final Environmental Impact Report (EIR):
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/2/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline_feir_07012025.pdf

RR. Final Environmental Impact Report (EIR) appendices:
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/2/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline_feir_appendices_07012025.pdf

SS. Table 6-1 of the Draft EIR (Comparative Description of the Proposed Project Alternatives)

TT. Table 6-3 of the Draft EIR (Comparative Description of the Project Variant Alternatives)

UU. Table 6-12 of the Draft EIR (Comparison of Impacts among Proposed Project Alternatives)

VV. Table 6-13 of the Draft EIR (Comparison of Impacts among Project Variant Alternatives)

WW. Correspondence

XX. Draft Vesting Tentative Map conditions

Report prepared by:
Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov


https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-simulation-analysis-memo-20240710.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-simulation-analysis-memo-20240710.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-simulation-analysis-memo-20240710.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/2/agendas-and-minutes/housing-commission/2025-meetings/minutes/20250305-housing-commission-regular-meeting-minutes.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/2/agendas-and-minutes/housing-commission/2025-meetings/minutes/20250305-housing-commission-regular-meeting-minutes.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/agendas-and-minutes/city-council/2025-meetings/20250527/k1-20250527-cc-parkline-review.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/agendas-and-minutes/city-council/2025-meetings/20250527/k1-20250527-cc-parkline-review.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/agendas-and-minutes/city-council/2025-meetings/minutes/20250527-city-council-special-and-regular-minutes-approved.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/agendas-and-minutes/city-council/2025-meetings/minutes/20250527-city-council-special-and-regular-minutes-approved.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-community-benefits-august-2025.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-community-benefits-august-2025.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/deir_20240620/parkline-master-plan-fia-report-06-19-2024.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/deir_20240620/parkline-master-plan-fia-report-06-19-2024.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/deir_20240620/parkline-master-plan-fia-report-06-19-2024.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/development-downtown-parking/parkline-fia-august-2025.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/development-downtown-parking/parkline-fia-august-2025.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/deir_20240620/parkline_deir_appendices_web_06172024.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/deir_20240620/parkline_deir_appendices_web_06172024.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/deir_20240620/parkline_deir_appendices_web_06172024.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/development-downtown-parking/parkline-housing-needs-assessment-hna-supplemental-memo.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/development-downtown-parking/parkline-housing-needs-assessment-hna-supplemental-memo.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/2/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline_feir_07012025.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/2/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline_feir_07012025.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/2/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline_feir_appendices_07012025.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/2/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline_feir_appendices_07012025.pdf

Staff Report #: 25-038-PC
Page 36

Report reviewed by:
Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director

City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov



Al

ATTACHMENT A

Resolution No. 2025-0xx
PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2025-00x

RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF MENLO PARK
RECOMMENDING THAT THE CITY COUNCIL: ADOPT A RESOLUTION
CERTIFYING THE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT, MAKING CEQA
FINDINGS OF FACT, ADOPTING A STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING
CONSIDERATIONS, AND ADOPTING THE MITIGATION MONITORING AND
REPORTING PROGRAM; ADOPT A RESOLUTION APPROVING AMENDMENTS
TO THE LAND USE ELEMENT AND LAND USE MAP OF THE GENERAL PLAN;
ADOPT AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 16 OF THE MENLO PARK
MUNICIPAL CODE TO ADD A NEW CHAPTER 16.35 AND THEREBY CREATE
THE C-1-S (ADMINISTRATIVE, PROFESSIONAL AND RESEARCH, SPECIAL)
ZONING DISTRICT, APPROVING A ZONING MAP AMENDMENT TO REZONE
CERTAIN PROPERTIES C-1-S AND TO ADD A CONDITIONAL DEVELOPMENT
(“*X") COMBINING DISTRICT, AND APPROVING A CONDITIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PERMIT; ADOPT A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PARKLINE
PROJECT WIDE AFFORDABLE HOUSING AGREEMENT; ADOPT A
RESOLUTION APPROVING A VESTING TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION MAP; AND
ADOPT AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE
PARKLINE MASTER PLAN PROJECT CONSISTING OF NON-RESIDENTIAL
DEVELOPMENT OFFICE/R&D BUILDINGS OF APPROXIMATELY 1,000,000
SQUARE FEET, INCLUSIVE OF APPROXIMATELY 287,000 SQUARE FEET IN
EXISTING BUILDINGS P, S AND T, AND UP TO 45,000 SQUARE FEET OF
COMMERCIAL/RETAIL SPACE, DEVELOPMENT OF UP TO 800 RESIDENTIAL
DWELLING UNITS, AND ASSOCIATED OPEN SPACE AND INFRASTRUCTURE

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application from LPGS Menlo, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“Applicant”) to redevelop the approximately 64.3 acre site
commonly known as 201, 301 and 333 Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road,
Menlo Park, California, Assessor Parcels Nos. 062-390-050, 062-390-660, 062-390-670, 062-390-
730, 062-390-760, 062-390-780 (the “Project Site”); and

WHEREAS, the Applicant proposes to demolish 35 existing buildings and a church and associated
multi-use building on the Project Site, excepting existing Buildings P, S and T, and redevelop the
Project Site with the subsequent construction of a mix of uses consisting of non-residential office/R&D
buildings of approximately 1,000,000 square feet (SF), inclusive of approximately 287,000 SF in
existing Buildings P, S and T, and up to 45,000 SF of commercial/retail space; development of up to
800 residential dwelling units within five (5) different groupings of which 251 will be affordable housing
units; provision of surface and structured parking spaces in accordance with the provisions of the
zoning for the Project Site; decommissioning and demolition of a 6-megawatt natural gas
cogeneration plant; removal of heritage trees and planting of replacement trees; and potential
development by the City of an underground emergency water reservoir with a capacity of
approximately 2 to 3 million gallons beneath public recreational facilities, provision of publicly
accessible open space across the campus, and related infrastructure improvements comprising
utilities, roadways, pedestrian and bicycle pathways, lighting, and landscaping (the “Project”); and

WHEREAS, the City, as lead agency, prepared an Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”) pursuant to
the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) that examined the environmental impacts of the
Project; and

WHEREAS, Applicant has requested an amendment to the Zoning Ordinance to add an
Administrative, Professional and Research, Special (C-1-S) zoning district and to rezone the entirety
of the Project Site to C-1-S; and



A2

WHEREAS, amendments to the General Plan Land Use Element are necessary to (1) add the
Administrative, Professional and Research Special (C-1-S) Zoning District to the
Commercial/Professional and Administrative Offices General Plan Land Use Designation in Table 1;
(2) revise the description of “Professional and Administrative Office” to add “neighborhood-serving
retail and services” as a compatible use, revise the maximum FAR for non-residential uses from 40%
to 50%, and add that for large, master-planned developments involving multiple contiguous parcels,
residential density and non-residential FAR may be aggregated across the project area, as identified
in the applicable zoning district; and (3) update the acreage totals and percentages in Table 1
including removing 1 acre from the Residential Land Use Designation and adding it to the Commercial
Land Use Designation; and

WHEREAS, an amendment to the General Plan Land Use Map, Figure 5 (General Plan Land Use
Designation), in the Land Use Element, is necessary to change the Land Use Designation for the
parcel at 201 Ravenswood Ave. (APN 062-390-050) from Residential to Commercial; and

WHEREAS, the requested amendments would further the goals of the General Plan; and

WHEREAS, an amendment to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code is necessary to add a new
Chapter 16.35 and thereby create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special)
zoning district; and

WHEREAS, rezoning of the Project Site is necessary to change the zoning of the Project Site to C-
1-S and to add a conditional development (“X”) combining district, thereby allowing special
regulations and conditions to be added at the Project Site (combined with the base C-1-S regulations)
as part of the proposed Project; and

WHEREAS, the Project is eligible for a Conditional Development Permit under Menlo Park Municipal
Code section 16.82.055(1) in that the Project Site is more than one acre and is not located in the SP-
ECR/D district; and

WHEREAS, a Conditional Development Permit is hecessary to authorize development of the Project
on the Project Site to comply with Menlo Park Municipal Code section 16.35.055, being adopted as
part of the amendment to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code, which requires a Conditional
Development Permit to set the design standards, including building relationship to the street, building
mass and scale, exterior materials, building design, and access and parking, and to allow for
modifications to the development regulations in the C-1-S zoning district, with the exception of
residential density and intensity (residential and non-residential floor area ratio); and

WHEREAS, the proposed amendment to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to add a new
Chapter 16.35 and thereby create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special)
zoning district, the proposed amendment of the City zoning map and rezoning of the Project Site, and
approval of the Conditional Development Permit, would promote a comprehensive redevelopment of
the Project Site through the inclusion of multiple housing options (i.e., multifamily, attached
townhome-style, and detached single-family style units), including affordable residential units, along
with office, research and development, retail, and recreational uses at the density and intensity
envisioned in the General Plan; and

WHEREAS, the proposed amendment to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to add a new
Chapter 16.35 and thereby create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special)
zoning district, the proposed amendment of the City zoning map and rezoning of the Project Site, and
the Conditional Development Permit are consistent with the General Plan, including the land use
designations for the Project Site, as set forth in the General Plan Consistency Table, Exhibit G; and

WHEREAS, General Plan Policy LU-4.7 requires proposed mixed-use and nonresidential
development of a certain minimum scale to be evaluated for its fiscal impacts on the City and the
community; and

2



A3

WHEREAS, the City had its consultant, BAE Urban Economics, prepare a fiscal impact analysis
pursuant to General Plan Policy LU-4.7 that the Community Development Director reviewed and
determined was prepared pursuant to professional standards and based on correct data and
assumptions and which showed that the Project would have a negative fiscal impact on the City and
community if the non-residential square footage is fully occupied by office uses and a positive fiscal
impact on the City and community if the non-residential square footage is fully occupied by research
and development uses. The fiscal impact analysis did not evaluate the fiscal effects of the
Development Agreement for the Project; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the requirements of Menlo Park Municipal Code Chapter 16.96 (“BMR
Ordinance”) and the Below Market Rate Program Guidelines (“Guidelines”), the City and Applicant
have prepared that certain Parkline Project Wide Affordable Housing Agreement (the “BMR
Agreement), for the Project by and between the City and Applicant, a copy of which is attached
hereto as Exhibit 1 to Exhibit D, specifically including Exhibits C and D thereto, containing the form
of Below Market Rate Housing Agreement and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants for BMR Rental
Units and BMR Ownership Units, respectively; and

WHEREAS, on March 5, 2025, after a duly noticed public hearing, the Housing Commission
recommended approval of the BMR Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has read and considered the BMR Agreement and finds that the
BMR Agreement is consistent with the primary objective of the BMR Housing Program, which is to create
actual housing units; and

WHEREAS, a Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map for a subdivision is proposed for the Project
(“Parkline VTM”); and

WHEREAS, the Project would be developed subject to a Development Agreement that will result in
the provision of community benefits by the Applicant, such as additional funding for transportation
improvements, a shuttle to transport residents and workers to and from the Project Site or funding
for the City’s commuter shuttles, land dedication to an affordable housing developer for up to 154
below market rate units, funding for maintenance of future City park, along with the construction,
dedication, and maintenance of a public restroom to serve the park, commitment to use union labor
for the core and shell for the non-residential buildings and encourage residential developers to use
union labor, and community use of open space within the Project, including the Event Area within
the Parkline Commons; and

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement also includes an agreement to enter into a Payment In
Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) to ensure the City receives expected revenue and a sales tax point of sale
designation during construction to increase tax revenue for the City; and several sustainability
benefits, including all-electric buildings, installation of recycled water distribution infrastructure for
future connections to planned recycled water, and the use of non-diesel backup generators provided
specific operational and cost criteria are met; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code section 65864 et seq. and City Resolution No. 4159, the
Planning Commission has reviewed the Development Agreement; and

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held according to
law; and

WHEREAS, after notice having been lawfully given, a duly noticed public hearing was held before
the City Planning Commission on August 25, 2025, at which all persons interested had the
opportunity to appear and comment; and



A4

WHEREAS, after closing the public hearing, the Planning Commission considered all public and
written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans and all other evidence in the public
record on the Project; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the Final
Environmental Impact Report for the Project (State Clearinghouse No. 2022120058) (“Final EIR”),
along with all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans prior to
recommending that the City Council approve an amendment to the General Plan Land Use Element
and General Plan Land Use Map, an amendment to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to
add a new Chapter 16.35 and thereby create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research,
Special) zoning district, a zoning map amendment to rezone the Project Site to C-1-S and to add a
Conditional Development (“X”) Combining District, a Conditional Development Permit, the BMR
Agreement, the Parkline VTM, and the Development Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission finds the foregoing recitals
are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference into this Resolution, along with
all Exhibits to this Resolution and any exhibits thereto.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Planning Commission finds that the above recitals together
with the staff report and the application materials, including without limitation, the Final EIR, and all
other documents, reports, studies, memoranda, maps, oral and written testimony, and materials in
the City’s file for the applications and the Project, and all adopted and applicable City planning
documents related to the Project and the Project Site and all associated approved or certified
environmental documents, have together served as an adequate and appropriate evidentiary basis
for the recommendations set forth in this Resolution.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Planning Commission makes the following findings and
recommendations:

1. CEQA. The Planning Commission, having fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated
all the testimony and evidence submitted in this matter, finds:

a. The Final EIR was prepared in compliance with CEQA and provides adequate,
good faith, and reasoned responses to the comments.

b. Pursuant to Public Resources Code section 21082.1(c)(3), the Final EIR reflects
the City's independent judgment as the lead agency for the Project and is
supported by substantial evidence.

C. Where more than one reason for approving the Project and rejecting alternatives
is given in its findings or in the record, and where more than one reason is given
for adopting the Statement of Overriding Considerations, the Planning Commission
would have made its recommendation on the basis of any one of those reasons.

d. Based on the findings in Exhibit A for the reasons stated therein and incorporated
fully herein, despite the potential for significant environmental effects that cannot
be substantially lessened or avoided through the adoption of feasible mitigation
measures or feasible alternatives, there exist certain overriding economic, social,
and other considerations for approving the Project that justify the occurrence of
those impacts.

Having fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated all the testimony and evidence
submitted in this matter, the Planning Commission recommends that the City Council
vote to adopt a resolution to certify the Final EIR, make the findings required by CEQA,
adopt the Statement of Overriding Considerations and the Mitigation Monitoring and

4



A5

Reporting Program (“MMRP”) (Exhibit 1 to Exhibit A) all in a form substantially
consistent with Exhibit A, including Exhibit 1 to Exhibit A, and approve the Project.

General Plan Amendment. The proposed amendments to the General Plan Land Use
Element (Exhibit 2 to Exhibit B) and General Plan Land Use Map (Exhibit 3 to Exhibit
B) are consistent with the General Plan goals, policies, and programs as demonstrated
in Exhibit G.

The Planning Commission thus recommends that the City Council adopt a resolution
approving the amendments to the General Plan Land Use Element (Exhibit 2 to Exhibit
B) and General Plan Land Use Map (Exhibit 3 to Exhibit B) all in a form substantially
consistent with Exhibit B, including Exhibits 2 and 3 to Exhibit B.

Zoning Ordinance Amendment, Zoning Map Amendment and Rezoning. The amendment
to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to add a new Chapter 16.35 and thereby
create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special) zoning district
(Exhibit 1 to Exhibit C), the zoning map amendment to rezone the Project Site C-1-S
and the proposed X Combining District (Exhibit 2 to Exhibit C) are consistent with the
General Plan as demonstrated in Exhibit G, which allows the uses permitted in the
combining district at the density and intensity proposed and encourages the type of
comprehensive redevelopment promoted by the X combining district. The Planning
Commission thus recommends that the City Council adopt an ordinance amending
Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to add a new Chapter 16.35 and thereby
create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special) zoning district
(Exhibit 1 to Exhibit C) and approving the Zoning Map Amendment and X Combining
District to rezone the Project Site C-1-S X (Exhibit 2 to Exhibit C) all in a form
substantially consistent with Exhibit C, including Exhibits 1 and 2 to Exhibit C.

Conditional Development Permit. In accordance with Municipal Code Section
16.82.090 the Planning Commission has considered the effect of the Project upon the
immediate neighborhood and the city and finds that the Project serves the health,
safety, and general welfare of the city. Thus, the Planning Commission recommends
that the City Council adopt an ordinance approving the Conditional Development
Permit (Exhibit 3 to Exhibit C) all in a form substantially consistent with Exhibit C
including Exhibit 3 to Exhibit C.

BMR Agreement. The BMR Agreement satisfies the requirements in Chapter 16.96 of
the City’s Municipal Code and the applicable BMR Housing Program Guidelines. The
Planning Commission recommends that the City Council adopt a resolution to approve
the BMR Agreement (Exhibit 1 to Exhibit D) all in a form substantially consistent with
Exhibit D, including Exhibit 1 to Exhibit D, and direct the City Manager to execute the
BMR Agreement on behalf of the City.

Parkline VTM. The Parkline VTM meets the requirements of the Subdivision Map Act
and City of Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 15.20.050:

a. The Parkline VTM is technically correct and in compliance with all applicable State
regulations, City General Plan, Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances, and the State
Subdivision Map Act.

b. The proposed Parkline VTM, including the contemplated design and
improvements, is consistent with applicable General Plan goals and policies as
demonstrated in Exhibit G. The Project is consistent with the land use designations
described in the General Plan and is consistent with City General Plan policies as
well as City Zoning Ordinance requirements for master-planned projects at the
proposed density and for the types of use.

5



A6

The Project Site is physically suitable for the proposed master-planned
development, including the proposed density of development, and the design of
the subdivision or the proposed improvements are not likely to cause substantial
environmental damage or substantially injure fish or wildlife or their habitat. The
Project is consistent with the density and uses for the site set forth in the General
Plan. The Project Site is in a heavily urbanized area of the City currently occupied
by developed/landscaped areas that include various urban uses and does not
include any aquatic habitat. The Project would not cause substantial environmental
damage to the already disturbed Project Site and would not substantially injure the
limited urban wildlife that access the site or their habitat.

The design of the subdivision or types of improvements is not likely to cause
serious public health or safety problems. The Project would comply with General
Plan goals and policies, City Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances, and other
applicable regulations designed to prevent serious health or safety problems.

The design of the subdivision or the type of improvements does not conflict with
easements, acquired by the public at large, for access through or use of property
within the proposed subdivision because alternate easements for access or use
will be provided that are substantially equivalent to ones previously acquired by the
public.

The Project Site is outside of the Federal Emergency Management Agency
(FEMA) flood zone. The Project Site is within FEMA Flood Zone X, an area with
minimal flood risk and above the limits of the 500-year flood, which means that, in
any given year, the risk of flooding is 0.2 percent. The Project Site is not subject to
landslides.

Based on the above findings, the Planning Commission recommends that the City
Council adopt a resolution and approve the Parkline VTM (Exhibit 1 to Exhibit E) all in
a form substantially consistent with Exhibit E, including Exhibit 1 to Exhibit E., which
is incorporated herein by reference.

Development Agreement. The Planning Commission has reviewed and considered the

draft Development Agreement, attached as Exhibit 1 to Exhibit F, which is
incorporated herein by reference, as well as the analysis and facts set forth above, the
staff report, EIR, other supporting documents, and public testimony and based on this
information makes the following findings:

a.

The Development Agreement is consistent with the objectives, policies, general
land uses and programs specified in the General Plan. As described in the EIR,
the Project will be consistent with the land use designations and the goals and
polices of the General Plan.

The Development Agreement is compatible with the uses authorized in and the
regulations prescribed for the C-1-S-X zoning district in which the Project Site will
be located because the Project Site creates opportunities for housing and
employment within ¥2 mile of a major transit stop (e.g. Caltrain station), includes
guality residential development at a range of densities in conjunction with
commercial development; creates opportunities for research and development
(R&D), including life science and laboratory uses, appropriately conditioned to
ensure compatibility with office, residential and other allowable uses; blends with
and complements existing neighborhoods through site development regulations
and design standards that minimize impacts to adjacent uses; provides a quality
and sustainable living environment for residents, workers, and visitors; creates
housing opportunities emphasizing housing diversity, affordability, and ownership

6



A7

for families and other household compositions through mixed sized housing unit
sizes, variation in building types, and variation in housing unit designs; creates
integrated site development and open space planning with the inclusion of public
use open space amenities.

C. The Development Agreement is in conformity with public convenience, general
welfare and good land use practices because the Project is consistent with the
General Plan and zoning designations for the Project Site and appropriate utilities
and services can be provided for the Project.

d. The Development Agreement will not be detrimental to the health, safety and
general welfare of the City or the region surrounding the City.

e. The Development Agreement will not adversely affect the orderly development of
property or the preservation of property values within the City.

f. The Development Agreement will promote and encourage the development of the
Project by providing a greater degree of certainty with respect thereto by
establishing the regulations concerning land use development, timing and
sequencing of Project development and the payment of fees.

g. The Development Agreement will result in the provision of community benefits by
the Applicant, such as additional funding for transportation improvements, a shuttle
to transport residents and workers to and from the Project Site or funding for the
City’s commuter shuttles, land dedication to an affordable housing developer for
up to 154 below market rate units, funding for maintenance of future City park,
along with the construction, dedication, and maintenance of a public restroom to
serve the park, commitment to use union labor for the core and shell for the non-
residential buildings and encourage residential developers to use union labor, and
community use of open space within the Project, including the Event Area within
the Parkline Commons. The Development Agreement also includes an agreement
to enter into a Payment In Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) to ensure the City receives
expected revenue and a sales tax point of sale designation during construction to
increase tax revenue for the City. Additionally, the Development Agreement
includes several sustainability benefits, including all-electric buildings, installation
of recycled water distribution infrastructure for future connections to planned
recycled water, and the use of non-diesel backup generators provided specific
operational and cost criteria are met.

The Planning Commission thus recommends that the City Council adopt an ordinance
and approve the Development Agreement (Exhibit 1 to Exhibit F) all substantially in
the form set forth in Exhibit F, including Exhibit 1 to Exhibit F, and direct the City
Manager to execute the Development Agreement on behalf of the City.

SEVERABILITY

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a particular
situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of these
findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall continue in full force and
effect unless amended or modified by the City.

11
11

111



A8

Iy

Iy

I, Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner of the City of Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above
and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a
meeting by said Planning Commission on August 25, 2025, by the following votes:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

IN WITNESS THEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said City on
this day of August, 2025.

PC Liaison Signature

Corinna Sandmeier
Principal Planner
City of Menlo Park

Exhibit A Resolution Certifying the Final EIR, Adopting Findings, a Statement of Overriding
Considerations and a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP)
Exhibit 1 to Exhibit A— MMRP (Attachment O to Staff Report)

Exhibit B Resolution Approving Amendments to the Land Use Element and Land Use Map
Exhibit 1 to Exhibit B — General Plan Consistency Table (Attachment B to Staff
Report)
Exhibit 2 to Exhibit B - Land Use Element Amendment (Attachment H to Staff
Report)
Exhibit 3 to Exhibit B - Land Use Map Amendment (Attachment | to Staff Report)

Exhibit C  Ordinance Amending Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code, Amending the
Zoning Map, and Approving a CDP for the Project
Exhibit 1 to Exhibit C - Chapter 16.35 C-1-S District (Attachment J to Staff Report)
Exhibit 2 to Exhibit C - Zoning Map Plat and Legal — C-1-S(X) (Attachment K to Staff
Report)
Exhibit 3 to Exhibit C — Conditional Development Permit (Attachment L to Staff
Report)
Exhibit 4 to Exhibit C — General Plan Consistency Table (Attachment B to Staff
Report)

Exhibit D  Resolution Approving the BMR Agreement
Exhibit 1 to Exhibit D - BMR Agreement (Attachment EE to Staff Report)

Exhibit E  Resolution Approving the VTM
Exhibit 1 to Exhibit E — VTM (Attachment CC to Staff Report)
Exhibit 2 to Exhibit E — General Plan Consistency Table (Attachment B to Staff
Report)

Exhibit F  Ordinance Approving the Development Agreement
Exhibit 1 to Exhibit F — Development Agreement (Attachment GG to Staff Report)



A9

Exhibit G General Plan Consistency Table (Attachment B to Staff Report)



EXHIBIT A

RESOLUTION NO.

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO PARK,
CERTIFYING THE FINAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT FOR THE
PARKLINE MASTER PLAN PROJECT, MAKING FINDINGS, AND ADOPTING A
STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS AND A MITIGATION
MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM, ALL PURSUANT TO THE
CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT, FOR THE PARKLINE MASTER
PLAN PROJECT LOCATED AT 201, 301 AND 333 RAVENSWOOD AVENUE
AND 555 and 565 MIDDLEFIELD ROAD, MENLO PARK, CALIFORNIA, ALSO
IDENTIFIED AS ASSESSOR’S PARCEL NUMBERS 062-390-050, 062-390-660,
062-390-670, 062-390-730, 062-390-760, and 062-390-780

WHEREAS, LPGS Menlo, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Project Sponsor”)
submitted an application requesting approval of a General Plan Amendment, both to the text of the
land use element and the land use map, Zoning Text Amendment, Zoning Map Amendment,
Conditional Development Permit, Below Market Rate Housing Agreement, Vesting Tentative Map,
and a Development Agreement to redevelop SRI International’'s existing approximately 63.2-acre
research campus with up to 800 units of housing; approximately 1,093,602 square feet (SF) of
office/research-and-development (R&D) uses, commercial amenities, open space improvements,
and on- and offsite infrastructure improvements for the Parkline Master Plan Project (“Proposed
Project” or “Parkline Master Plan Project”) which was later revised to limit the amount of non-
residential square footage to 1,000,000 SF, primarily consisting of office/R&D uses, inclusive of
approximately 287,000 SF in existing Buildings P, S and T, and up to 45,000 SF of commercial/retail
space, located at 301 and 333 Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road in the City
of Menlo Park (“City”) (APNs: 062-390-660, 062-390-670, 062-390-730, 062-390-760, 062-390-
780)(the “SRI Site”), and which was later revised to include the approximately 1-acre First Church of
Christ, Scientist property at 201 Ravenswood Avenue (APN: 062-390-050) (together with the SRI
Site, the “Project Site”); and

WHEREAS, approval of the Project Sponsor's proposal is considered a “project” for
purposes of the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”"), Public Resources Code Section
21000 et seq., and California Code of Regulations Title 14, Section 15000 et seq. (“CEQA
Guidelines”) because it requires discretionary actions by the City; and

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency for the Parkline Master Plan Project, as defined in
CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, and therefore is responsible for the preparation, consideration,
certification, and approval of environmental documents for the Parkline Master Plan Project; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with CEQA the City determined that an Environmental Impact
Report (“EIR”) was required to evaluate the impacts of the Parkline Master Plan Project; and

WHEREAS, the City released a Notice of Preparation (NOP) for the Parkline Master Plan
Project EIR (EIR) on December 2, 2022, for a 30-day public review period. The City held a public
scoping meeting on December 12, 2022, before the City’s Planning Commission. Written comments
received by the City on the NOP, as well as oral comments at the public scoping meeting, regarding
the potential environmental impacts of the Parkline Master Plan Project, were taken into account
during preparation of the Draft Environmental Impact Report (“Draft EIR” or “DEIR"); and

WHEREAS, during preparation of the Draft EIR, Project Sponsor was able to obtain site
control of the 201 Ravenswood Avenue parcel, which allowed for certain site plan revisions, including
an increase of 250 total housing units (for a total of up to 800 units) as compared to the initial

4920-9560-2261 v4 1
Al10



All

Resolution No. XXX

Proposed Project to be studied under the Draft EIR. The revised site plan is studied under the Draft
EIR as an “Increased Development Variant” or “Project Variant”; and

WHEREAS, the EIR includes a description and evaluation of environmental impacts of
both the “Proposed Project” and the “Project Variant,” which is evaluated in Chapter 4 of the Draft
EIR. The Project Variant is a variation of the Proposed Project at the Project Site generally with
the same objectives, background, and development controls, with the following differences: (1)
the Project Site was slightly expanded to include the approximately 1-acre 201 Ravenswood
Avenue property), (2) the Project Variant would include up to 250 additional residential rental
dwelling units compared to the Proposed Project (an increase from 550 to 800 units, including
251 below-market-rate (BMR) units inclusive of up to 154 units to be developed by an affordable
housing developer in a standalone building); (3) the Project Variant would reduce the underground
parking footprint within the Project Site, but would increase the area and height of structured
parking garages; (4) the Project Variant would potentially include an approximately 2- to 3-million-
gallon emergency water reservoir to be built and operated by the City of Menlo Park that would
be buried below grade in the northeast area of the Project Site, which would include a small pump
station, an emergency well, and related improvements that would be built at or below grade (i.e.,
emergency generator, disinfection system, surge tank). The Project Variant would not differ from
many of the other basic characteristics of the Proposed Project, particularly with respect to the
commercial component; and

WHEREAS, the Draft EIR (State Clearinghouse No. 2022120058) was released on June
20, 2024, for a 45-day review period that ended on August 5, 2024. On June 20, 2024, Notices of
Completion and Availability of the Draft EIR were posted to the San Mateo County Clerk’s Office,
mailed to property owners and tenants within a 0.25-mile radius of the Project Site, noticed to the
state, regional and local agencies and cities, and circulated through the State Clearinghouse. The
public review period included one duly-noticed Planning Commission hearing on July 22, 2024,
which was open to the public. Comments on the Draft EIR were received from 5 agencies, 2
organizations, 18 individuals, and oral comments provided by community members and Planning
Commissioners at the July 22, 2024 Planning Commission Draft EIR public hearing; and

WHEREAS, the City determined that the comments submitted during the comment period
did not result in new significant information requiring recirculation of the Draft EIR; and

WHEREAS, on July 7, 2025, the City released a response-to-comments document
responding to comments on the Draft EIR, and a Final EIR for circulation, which consists of the
Draft EIR (incorporated by reference), all comments received on the Draft EIR, written responses
to comments received on the Draft EIR in a response-to-comments document, and revisions to
the Draft EIR (collectively the “Final EIR"); and

WHEREAS, in response to community feedback regarding the Project Variant, the Project
Sponsor further modified the Project Variant by reducing the amount of non-residential
development (primarily office/R&D building space) to a maximum of 1,000,000 SF, inclusive of
the 287,000 SF comprising existing Buildings P, S and T, and up to 45,000 SF of commercial/retail
uses. Accordingly, the Project Variant has been revised further to encompass: (i) construction of
office/R&D buildings of approximately 1,000,000 SF, inclusive of approximately 287,000 SF in
existing Buildings P, S and T, which may be replaced in the future, and up to 45,000 SF of
commercial/retail space to replace 35 buildings of approximately 1,093,602 SF that would be
demolished along with the demolition of a church and associated multi-use building on the 201
Ravenswood Avenue parcel ; (ii) development of up to 800 residential dwelling units within five
(5) different groupings of which 251 will be affordable housing units; (iii) provision of parking



Al2

Resolution No. XXX

spaces (surface spaces and within no more than three parking garages) in accordance with the
provisions of the Zoning Amendments for the Project; (iv) decommissioning and demolition of a
6-megawatt natural gas cogeneration plant; (v) removal of heritage trees and planting of
replacement trees; and (vi) potential development by the City of an underground emergency water
reservoir with a capacity of approximately 2 to 3 million gallons beneath public recreational
facilities, provision of publicly accessible open space across the campus, and related
infrastructure improvements comprising utilities, roadways, pedestrian and bicycle pathways,
lighting, and landscaping (hereinafter, the “Parkline Master Plan Project” or “Project”), and
represents the Project for which the Project Sponsor is seeking entitlements from the City; and

WHEREAS, the Parkline Master Plan Project reduces the amount of the new office/R&D
building space by approximately 380,000 SF in comparison to the Project Variant, and the
remaining components of the Project remain the same as the Project Variant. Therefore, the
environmental analysis provided in the EIR for the Project Variant provides a conservative
analysis of the impacts of the Parkline Master Plan Project, and no new significant environmental
impacts and no substantial increases in the severity of previously identified impacts have resulted
as a result of this reduction in office/R&D building space after the release of the EIR; and

WHEREAS, the City has reviewed and considered the Final EIR, which in the City’s view,
supports the approval of Project; and

WHEREAS, where feasible, mitigation measures have been incorporated into the Project
to reduce identified impacts to a less-than-significant level; and

WHEREAS, the City has prepared a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program
(MMRP) pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21081.6 and CEQA Guidelines Section
15097; and,

WHEREAS, the City has determined that no feasible mitigation exists for certain
significant and unavoidable impacts related to construction noise, construction vibration, and
historic resources impacts of the Project that would reduce the impacts to a less-than-significant
level and significant and unavoidable cumulative impacts related to construction noise; and

WHEREAS, under applicable provisions of CEQA Guidelines Section 15092(b), the
Project may not be approved or carried out unless the City has eliminated or substantially
lessened all significant effects on the environment where feasible, or determined that any
remaining significant effects on the environment found to be unavoidable are acceptable due to
overriding concerns; and

WHEREAS, a Statement of Overriding Considerations for the Project has been prepared
pursuant to Public Resources Code sections 21002 and 21081, and
CEQA Guidelines sections 15092 (b) and 15903, which evaluates the benefits of the Project
against each of its unavoidable impacts and sets forth specific economic, legal, social,
technological or other considerations which make infeasible the mitigation measures or
alternatives identified in the EIR and that specific overriding economic, legal, social,
technological or other benefits of the Project outweigh the significant effects on the environment;
and

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held
according to law; and



Al3

Resolution No. XXX

WHEREAS, after notice having been lawfully given, a duly noticed public hearing was held
before the City Planning Commission on August 25, 2025, where all persons interested therein
might appear and be heard; and

WHEREAS, at that same hearing, the City Planning Commission, having fully reviewed,
considered, and evaluated all testimony and evidence submitted in this matter, voted affirmatively
to adopt Planning Commission Resolution No. recommending the City Council certify the
EIR, make the findings required by CEQA, and adopt the MMRP and statement of overriding
consideration; and

WHEREAS, after notice having been lawfully given, a duly noticed public hearing was held
before the City Council on __, 2025, whereat all persons interested therein might appear
and be heard and at which the City Council considered the Final EIR and the merits of the Parkline
Master Plan Project; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed and considered the Final EIR, all staff reports
pertaining to the Final EIR, the Planning Commission hearing minutes and reports, and all
evidence received by the City, including at the Planning Commission and City Council public
hearings, and found that the Final EIR was prepared in compliance with CEQA; and

WHEREAS, the City Council certifies that it has reviewed the comments received and the
responses thereto and finds that the Final EIR provides adequate, good faith, and reasoned
responses to the comments. Pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21082.1(c)(3), the City
also finds that the Final EIR reflects the City’s independent judgment as the lead agency for the
Parkline Master Plan Project and is supported by substantial evidence; and

WHEREAS, the Final EIR identified certain potentially significant adverse effects on the
environment caused by the Project; and

WHEREAS, the City Council specifically finds that where more than one reason for
approving the Project and rejecting alternatives is given in its findings or in the record, and where
more than one reason is given for adopting the Statement of Overriding Considerations, the City
Council would have made its decision on the basis of any one of those reasons; and

WHEREAS, the City Council desires, in accordance with CEQA, to declare that, despite
the potential for significant environmental effects that cannot be substantially lessened or avoided
through the adoption of feasible mitigation measures or feasible alternatives, there exist certain
overriding economic, social, and other considerations for approving the Project that the City
Council believes justify the occurrence of those impacts; and

WHEREAS, the City Council, has fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated all testimony
and evidence submitted in this matter..

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council finds the foregoing recitals are
true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference into this Resolution.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby
certifies the Final EIR, makes the following findings with respect to the Project’s significant effects
on the environment as identified in the Final EIR, and adopts the Statement of Overriding
Considerations and MMRP as follows:



Al4

Resolution No. XXX

I STATUTORY REQUIREMENT FOR FINDINGS

These findings have been prepared by the City as the Lead Agency pursuant to Section 21081 of
the Public Resources Code (PRC) and Sections 15091, 15092, and 15093 of the State California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines concerning the Environmental Impact Report (EIR)
prepared for the Parkline Master Plan Project. Section 21081 of the PRC and Section 15091 of
the CEQA Guidelines provide that no public agency shall approve or carry out a project for which
an EIR has been certified that identifies one or more significant environmental effects of the
project unless the public agency makes one or more written findings for each of those significant
effects, accompanied by a brief explanation of the rationale for each finding. The possible findings
are:

1. Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project, which avoid
or substantially lessen the significant environmental effects as identified in the final EIR.

2. Such changes or alterations are the responsibility and jurisdiction of another public agency
and not the agency making the finding. Such changes have been adopted by such other
agency or can and should be adopted by such other agency.

3.  Specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations, including provisions
of employment opportunities for highly trained workers, make infeasible the mitigation
measures or project alternatives identified in the final EIR.

In accordance with Public Resources Code Section 21081 and CEQA Guidelines Sections 15091
and 15093, the City has made one or more of the above specific written findings regarding
significant impacts associated with the Parkline Master Plan Project. Those findings are presented
below, along with the rationale behind each of the findings.

The findings included in this Resolution support the approval of the Project, as well as adoption
of the feasible mitigation measures set forth below, which when implemented, avoid or
substantially lessen significant environmental effects identified in the Final EIR to the extent
feasible. These findings also incorporate by reference the discussion and analyses in the Final
EIR regarding the impacts and mitigation measures designed to address those impacts.

In these findings, references to certain pages or sections of the Draft or Final EIR are for ease of
reference and are not intended to provide an exhaustive list of the evidence relied upon for these
findings. A full explanation of the substantial evidence supporting these findings can be found in
the Final EIR. The documents and other materials that constitute the complete record of
proceedings on which the Project findings are described in Section V, Record of Proceedings,
below.

Section VIl of this document presents the Statement of Overriding Considerations for the Project,
set forth below, which identifies the specific overriding economic, legal, social, technological, or
other benefits of the Project that outweigh the significant environmental impacts identified in the
Final EIR.

Il PROJECT DESCRIPTION

A. Summary of Proposed Project, Project Variant, and the Parkline Master Plan Project

The Proposed Project includes a new office/research-and-development (R&D) campus of
approximately 1,093,602 square feet (SF) with no increase in office/R&D square footage; up to 550



Al5

Resolution No. XXX

new dwelling units at a range of affordability levels; new bicycle and pedestrian connections;
approximately 26.4 acres of open space; and decommissioning of a 6-megawatt natural gas
cogeneration plant that generates power and steam energy for the SRI International Campus.
The Proposed Project would demolish 35 of the 38 existing buildings on the Project Site. Existing
Buildings P, S, and T, comprising approximately 286,730 sf, would remain onsite and continue to
be operated by SRI International and its tenants; accordingly, the Proposed Project contemplated
approximately 1,380,332 SF of new and existing office/R&D space.

During preparation of the Draft EIR, the Project Sponsor was able to obtain site control of the 201
Ravenswood Avenue parcel that is adjacent to the SRI site, which allowed for certain site plan
revisions, including an increase of 250 total housing units (for a total of up to 800 units) as
compared to the initial Proposed Project to be studied under the Draft EIR. The revised site plan
is studied under the Draft EIR as an “Increased Development Variant” or “Project Variant”.

The Project Variant would not differ from many of the basic characteristics of the Proposed
Project, particularly with respect to the commercial component. For example, total office/R&D
development under the Project Variant would remain the same as under the Proposed Project.
Certain residential uses, including the affordable housing site and a limited number of townhome
units, would shift to the corner of the site nearest to the intersection of Middlefield Road and
Ravenswood Avenue. In addition, the existing buildings associated with First Church of Christ,
Scientist and Alpha Kids Academy (Chapel buildings) located at 201 Ravenswood would be
demolished.

In response to community feedback regarding the Project Variant, the Project Sponsor has
proposed to modify the Project Variant by reducing the amount of non-residential development
(consisting primarily of office/R&D building space) to a maximum of 1,000,000 SF, inclusive of
the 287,000 SF comprising existing Buildings P, S and T, and up to 45,000 SF of commercial/retalil
uses. This revised Project Variant with a reduced amount of new office/R&D building space is
the “Parkline Master Plan Project,” or “Project”. Other than this reduction in office/R&D space of
approximately 380,000 SF, the Project would not differ from the Project Variant.

The environmental impact analysis for the Proposed Project is in Chapter 3 of the Final EIR. The
environmental impact analysis for the Project Variant is in Chapter 4 of the Final EIR. The Project
Sponsor is seeking entitlements from the City for the Project and these Findings of Fact have been
prepared to support the City staff's recommendation to the Planning Commission and City Council
to approve the Project.

Generally, the Parkline Master Plan Project would be developed with the same objectives,
background, and development controls as the Proposed Project and Project Variant but with the
following differences:



Al6

B.

Resolution No. XXX

The Project Site has been expanded to include the parcel at 201 Ravenswood Avenue to
create a continuous Project frontage area along Ravenswood Avenue and increase the
overall Project Site by approximately 43,762 sf (approximately 1.0 acre), for a total of
approximately 64.2 acres;

The Project and the Project Variant would include up to 250 additional residential rental
dwelling units compared to the Proposed Project (an increase from 550 to 800 units, including
251 BMR units inclusive of up to 154 units to be developed by an affordable housing
developer in a standalone building);

The Project and the Project Variant would reduce the underground parking footprint within
the site, both by removing underground parking from the multifamily residential buildings in
the residential area and removing the underground parking connection between office/ R&D
Building O1 and Building O5. As a result, Parking Garage (PG) 1 and PG2 increase in square
footage and height compared to the Proposed Project and the number of structured spaces
increases by 400 (with no change in the total number of parking spaces proposed for the
office/R&D buildings);

The Project and the Project Variant would include an optional approximately 2- to 3-million-
gallon emergency water reservoir that would be buried below grade in the northeast area of
the Project Site under an area devoted to recreational activities. The facility would also
include small pump station, an emergency well, and related improvements that would be built
at and below grade (i.e., emergency generator, disinfection system, surge tank) (referred to
as “reservoir” throughout this document). It would be built and operated by the City of Menlo
Park; and

The Parkline Master Plan Project would reduce the amount of non-residential development
(consisting primarily of office/R&D building space) to a maximum of 1,000,000 SF, inclusive
of the 287,000 SF comprising existing Buildings P, S and T, and up to 45,000 SF of
commercial/retail uses. Other than this reduction in office/R&D space of approximately
380,000 SF, the Project would not differ from the Project Variant.

Project Objectives

The following are objectives of the Parkline Master Plan Project:

o Redevelop an aging R&D campus into a financially viable residential and commercial
mixed-use neighborhood that cohesively balances office/R&D uses, multifamily residential
uses, open space, and community-serving uses, with no net increase in office/R&D square
footage compared to existing conditions.

¢ Increase the City’s housing supply and progress towards its state-mandated housing goals
by providing at least 800 new housing units with a mix of types and sizes, including at
least 15 percent for low- and moderate-income households, consistent with the City’s
Below Market Rate Housing Program, and dedicate a portion of the Project Site to an
affordable housing developer for future development of up to approximately 154 units of
affordable or special-needs housing.

e Ensure the continuity of SRI International’'s on-going use of existing satellite transmission
equipment onsite, which requires unobstructed sightlines to the horizon to ensure no
disruption to ongoing research operations.



Al7

Resolution No. XXX

Replace obsolete and unsustainable commercial and/or institutional buildings with new
state-of-the-art, highly sustainable commercial buildings with flexible floor plates that can
accommodate a variety of office and/or R&D tenants.

Orient new office/R&D buildings in a configuration that leverages operational efficiencies,
such as the ability to share amenity spaces, parking, and ensure that the business and
security needs of future commercial tenants are met.

Improve bicycle and pedestrian connectivity and safety within and between the Project
Site and adjacent neighborhoods to promote an active public realm and establish
interconnected neighborhoods.

Create separation between the residential uses along Laurel Street and the office/R&D
uses by providing independent vehicular access, circulation, and parking/loading areas.

Provide accessible open space throughout the Project Site, including a large central
commons area adjacent to the office/R&D buildings, to create a vibrant park-like setting
that emphasizes the preservation of heritage trees where feasible, encourages passive
and active recreational activities and promotes health and wellness for residents, tenants,
and visitors.

Use advances in architectural, landscape design and site planning practices to create
distinctive and viable residential and commercial areas within the Project Site that
complement the adjacent neighborhoods.

Incorporate complementary community recreational and retail uses that encourage an
active and healthy lifestyle for residents, tenants, and visitors.

Create a thriving transit-oriented development that facilitates efforts to reduce vehicle
miles traveled by siting commercial and residential uses near existing transit corridors and
public transportation facilities, and promoting alternatives to automobile transit through
implementation of a Transportation Demand Management plan, new bicycle/pedestrian
access, and ease of movement between buildings.

Support local and regional efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, respond to climate
change, and promote energy and water efficiency and resource conservation, by
incorporating sustainable design features and resource conservation measures that align
with the City’s goals.

Decommission the existing onsite cogeneration plant to achieve significant reductions in
greenhouse gas emissions within the City and region.

Generate positive fiscal impacts on the local economy and revenue for the City’s general
fund and other public agencies through enhancing property values, increasing property
tax revenue, creation of jobs, and payment of development fees.

Establish the flexibility to phase construction of the Project in response to market
conditions.

Bolster the City’s reputation as a hub for technological advancement and innovation and
recognize SRI International’s contributions to society and the growth of Silicon Valley.

Facilitate the City’s desire to implement an emergency water supply and storage project
on the Project Site as feasible to increase Menlo Park’s resilience in the event of an
emergency.



Al8

Resolution No. XXX

C. Construction and Phasing

The same general construction phasing and hours are expected to occur under the Project, as
under the Project Variant and the Proposed Project. However, the Project and Project Variant
would result in an extended construction schedule, more overall equipment, and more haul trips
during Phase 1 due to the increased residential development compared to the Proposed Project.
In total, construction of the Project and Project Variant would take approximately 99 months,
compared to approximately 77 months under the Proposed Project. Overall, a similar amount of
ground disturbance would occur with the Project and Project Variant compared to the Proposed
Project, except that development on the 201 Ravenswood Avenue parcel would also occur. The
Project and Project Variant would result in approximately 3,133,000 sf (71.9 acres) of ground
disturbance during construction, inclusive of right-of-way and offsite improvements along the
Project Site frontages. In comparison, the Proposed Project would result in approximately
2,981,000 sf (68.4 acres) of ground disturbance during construction. Similar to the Proposed
Project, construction equipment for the Project and Project Variant would be electric or Tier 4 and
would include concrete/industrial saws, excavators, rubber-tired dozers, tractors, loaders,
backhoes, welders, graders, scrapers, drill rigs, cranes, forklifts, generator sets, pavers, paving
equipment, rollers, industrial saws, and aerial lifts.

M. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW PROCESS

Pursuant to CEQA, lead agencies are required to consult with public agencies having jurisdiction
over a proposed project and to provide the general public with an opportunity to comment on the
Draft EIR. An NOP was released for the Proposed Project on December 2, 2022, for a 30-day
public review period, during which time interested agencies and the public could submit comments
about the Proposed Project. The City also held a public scoping meeting on December 12, 2022,
before the Planning Commission. Consistent with CEQA Guidelines 15084(c), all comments
received on the NOP were considered during preparation of the Draft EIR and addressed in the
respective CEQA topic sections, where applicable. Given the substantial similarities between the
Proposed Project and Project Variant, the comments received on the NOP were considered in
the context of the Draft EIR’s evaluation of both the Proposed Project and the Project Variant.

The Draft EIR was released on June 20, 2024, for a 45-day public review period that ended on
August 5, 2024. On June 20, 2024, Notices of Completion and Availability of the Draft EIR were
posted to the San Mateo County Clerk's Office; mailed to property owners and tenants within a
0.25-mile radius of the Project Site; noticed to state, regional, and local agencies and cities; and
circulated through the State Clearinghouse. The Draft EIR was also made available to the general
public online at https://www.menlopark.gov/parkline. Printed copies of the Draft EIR were
available for review at the Menlo Park City Library (800 Alma Street) and the Belle Haven Library
(100 Terminal Avenue). During this review period, the document was reviewed by various state,
regional, and local agencies as well as interested organizations and individuals. Comment letters
on the Draft EIR were received from five agencies, two organizations, and 18 individuals. The
public review period also included a duly noticed Planning Commission hearing on July 22, 2024,
at which time the public and Planning Commissioners provided oral comments on the Draft EIR.

Comment letters received on the Draft EIR and oral comments provided at the public hearing are
included in their entirety in the Final EIR.

The City prepared responses to comments received during the Draft EIR comment period raising
substantive environmental issues.



Al9

Resolution No. XXX

No new significant environmental impacts and no substantial increases in the severity of
previously identified impacts have resulted after responding to comments. In addition, there are
no feasible alternatives or mitigation measures that are considerably different from others
previously analyzed that would clearly lessen the environmental impacts of the Proposed Project,
the Project Variant, or the Project. Pursuant to Section 15132 of the CEQA Guidelines, the EIR
consists of the following, and is referred to herein as the Final EIR or EIR:

o The Draft EIR, including all of its appendices:

e The Responses-to-Comments (RTC) document providing responses to significant
environmental issues raised during the public review process, including revisions to the
Draft EIR; and

e A list of persons, organizations, and public agencies commenting on the Draft EIR,
included in the RTC document.

The Final EIR was released on July 1, 2025. The Final EIR was made available to the general
public online at https://www.menlopark.gov/parkline. Printed copies of the Final EIR were
available for review at the Menlo Park Library (800 Alma Street) and the Belle Haven Library (100
Terminal Drive).

In response to community feedback regarding the Project Variant, the Project Sponsor has
proposed to modify the Project Variant by reducing the amount of non-residential building space
to a maximum of 1,000,000 SF, inclusive of the 287,000 SF comprising existing Buildings P, S
and T, new office/R&D space, and up to 45,000 SF of commercial/retail uses. This revised Project
Variant, encompassing a reduction in the amount of new non-residential building space of
approximately 380,000 sf, is the Parkline Master Plan Project or Project. As the Parkline Master
Plan Project reduces the amount of the new non-residential building space by approximately
380,000 SF in comparison to the Project Variant, and the remaining components of the Project
remain the same as the Project Variant, the environmental analysis provided in the EIR for the
Project Variant therefore provides a conservative analysis of the impacts of the Parkline Master
Plan Project, and no new significant environmental impacts and no substantial increases in the
severity of previously identified impacts have resulted as a result of this reduction in office/R&D
building space after the release of the EIR.

The Planning Commission considered the Final EIR at a duly noticed public hearing on August
25, 2025, at the conclusion of which the Planning Commission voted affirmatively to recommend
to the City Council to certify the Final EIR pursuant to CEQA. On , __, 2025, the City
Council held a duly noticed public hearing, at which the City Council independently considered
the Final EIR and the Planning Commission’s recommendation.

The MMRP setting forth the mitigation measures that have been proposed for adoption is attached
with these findings as Exhibit 1,which is incorporated herein by reference, as required by Public
Resources Code section 21081.6, subdivision (a)(1), and CEQA Guidelines sections 15091,
subdivision (d), and 15097. The MMRP provides a table setting forth each feasible mitigation
measure listed in the EIR that is required to reduce or avoid a significant adverse impact. The
MMRP also specifies the agency responsible for implementation of each measure. Where the
Project Sponsor is required to participate in the implementation of a mitigation measure, the
MMRP also states this requirement. The MMRP also sets forth agency monitoring actions and a
monitoring schedule for each mitigation measure. Where mitigation measures must be adopted
and/or implemented by particular responsible agencies, the MMRP identifies the agencies
involved and the actions they must take. All of the City's specific obligations are also described.

10



A20

Resolution No. XXX

The full text of each mitigation measure summarized or cited in these findings is also set forth in
the MMRP.

V. CERTIFICATION OF THE EIR

In accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section 15090, the City, acting by and through its City
Council, hereby certifies the Final EIR, inclusive of the Parkline Master Plan Project, and finds
that the Final EIR has been completed in compliance with CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines. The
City further certifies that it has reviewed and considered the information contained in the Final
EIR and in the administrative record prior to approving the Parkline Master Plan Project. The City
further certifies that the Final EIR reflects its independent judgment and analysis.

V. RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS

For purposes of CEQA and these findings, the record of proceedings consists of the following
documents and testimony related to the Proposed Project, Project Variant, and/or Parkline Master
Plan Project:

(&8 The NOP and all other public notices issued by the City;

(b) All applications for approvals and development entitlements submitted to the City;

(c) The Draft EIR and the technical appendices, dated June 2024;

(d) All comments submitted by agencies or members of the public during the public comment
period on the Draft EIR;

(e) The Final EIR, including comments received on the Draft EIR, responses to those
comments, revisions to the Draft EIR;

() The MMRP;

(h) All reports, studies, memoranda, maps, staff reports, or other planning documents
prepared by the City, or consultants to the City, with respect to the City’s compliance with
the requirements of CEQA and with respect to the City’s action on the Parkline Master
Plan Project;

(i)  All documents submitted to the City, including the Planning Commission and City Council,
by other public agencies or members of the public in connection with the Parkline Master
Plan Project;

() Any minutes and/or verbatim transcripts of all information sessions, public meetings, and
public hearings held by the City in connection with the Parkline Master Plan Project;

(k)  All matters of common knowledge to the Planning Commission and City Council, including,
but not limited to:

()  The City’'s General Plan and other applicable policies;

(i)  The City’s Zoning Ordinance and other applicable ordinances;
(i)  Information regarding the City’s fiscal status;

(iv) Applicable City policies and regulations; and

(v) Federal, state, and local laws and regulations; and

()  Any other materials required for the record of proceedings by Public Resources Code
section 21167.6(e).

11



A21

Resolution No. XXX

The documents described above, which compose the record of the proceedings, are located at
the Community Development Department, City of Menlo Park, 701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park,
California 94025. The custodian of these documents is the Community Development Department
director or his/her designee.

VI. FINDINGS

The findings, recommendations, and statement of overriding considerations set forth below are
made and adopted by the City Council of the City of Menlo Park as the City’s findings under CEQA
and the CEQA Guidelines relating to the Parkline Master Plan Project. These findings provide the
written analysis and conclusions of the City Council regarding the Parkline Master Plan Project’s
environmental impacts, mitigation measures, alternatives to the Proposed Project, Project Variant
and Parkline Master Plan Project, and the overriding considerations that support approval of the
Parkline Master Plan Project despite any remaining environmental effects it may have.

The below findings summarize the environmental determinations of the EIR with regard to Project
impacts before and after mitigation but do not attempt to repeat the full analysis of each impact
contained in the EIR. Instead, these findings provide a summary description of and basis for each
impact conclusion identified in the EIR, describe the applicable mitigation measures identified in
the EIR, and state the City’s findings and rationale about the significance of each impact following
the adoption of mitigation measures. A full explanation of environmental findings and conclusions
can be found in the EIR, and these below findings incorporate by reference the discussion and
analysis in the EIR supporting the determinations regarding mitigation measures and the Parkline
Master Plan Project’s impacts.

In adopting the mitigation measures, below, the City intends to adopt each of the mitigation
measures identified in the EIR. Accordingly, in the event a mitigation measure identified in the
EIR has been inadvertently omitted from these findings, such mitigation measure is hereby
adopted and incorporated into the Project in the findings below by reference. In addition, in the
event the language of a mitigation measure set forth below fails to accurately reflect the mitigation
measure in the EIR due to a clerical error, the language of the mitigation measure as set forth in
the EIR shall control unless the language of the mitigation measure specifically and expressly has
been modified by these findings.

Sections VI(A) through (C), below, provide brief descriptions of the impacts that the EIR identifies
as either no impact, less than significant, less than significant with adopted mitigation, or
significant and unavoidable. These descriptions also reproduce the full text of the mitigation
measures identified in the EIR for each significant impact.

A. Findings Regarding No Impacts and Less-than-Significant Impacts Arising From the
Project Variant

The City has determined that the Parkline Master Plan Project will have no impact or less-than-
significant impacts for several topics. The rationale for the conclusion that no significant impact
would occur in each of the issue areas is based on the discussion of these impacts in the detailed
issue area and cumulative impacts analyses in Chapter 3, Environmental Impact Analysis, and
Chapter 4, Project Variant, of the Draft EIR.

Impacts of the Draft EIR that were found to have no impact or less-than-significant impacts
include:

12



A22

Resolution No. XXX

Land Use

e Conflicts with any Land Use Plan, Policy, or Regulation Adopted for the Purpose of
Avoiding or Mitigating an Environmental Effect (Impact LU-1, Less than Significant)

¢ Cumulative Land Use Impacts (Impact C-LU-1, Less than Significant)
¢ Division of an Established Community (No Impact)
Transportation

e Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance, or Policy Addressing the Circulation System,
including Transit, Roadway, Bicycle, and Pedestrian Facilities (Impact TRA-1, Less than
Significant)

o Exceed an Applicable VMT Threshold of Significance (Impact TRA-2, Less than
Significant)

e Substantially Increase Hazards due to a Geometric Design Feature or Incompatible Uses
(Impact TRA-3, Less than Significant)

e Result in Inadequate Emergency Access (Impact TRA-4, Less than Significant)

e Cumulative Impacts Related to Conflicts Addressing the Circulation System (Impact C-
TRA-1, Less than Significant)

¢ Cumulative Impacts Related to VMT (Impact C-TRA-2, Less than Significant)

e Cumulative Impacts Related to Hazards due to a Design Feature or Incompatible Uses
(Impact C-TRA-3, Less than Significant)

¢ Cumulative Impacts Related to Inadequate Emergency Access (Impact C-TRA-4, Less
than Significant)

Air Quality

o Expose Sensitive Receptors to Substantial Pollutant Concentrations (Impact AQ-3, Less
than Significant)

e Other Air Emissions (Impact AQ-4, Less than Significant)
Energy

o Wasteful, Inefficient, or Unnecessary Consumption of Energy Resources (Impact EN-1,
Less than Significant)

e Conflict with Energy Plan (Impact EN-2, Less than Significant)

e Cumulative Energy Impacts (Impact C-EN-1, Less than Significant)

¢ Cumulative Conflicts with Energy Plans (Impact C-EN-2, Less than Significant)
Greenhouse Gas Emissions

e Generation of GHG Emissions during Construction (Impact GHG-1, Less than Significant)
e Conflicts with Applicable Plans and Policies (Impact GHG-2, Less than Significant)
Noise

e Operational Noise (Impact NOI-2, Less than Significant)

¢ Cumulative Operational Noise (Impact C-NOI-2, Less than Significant)

13



A23

Resolution No. XXX

Cumulative Vibration Impacts (Impact C-NOI-3, Less than Significant)

Airport Noise (No Impact)

7. Cultural and Tribal Cultural Resources

Cumulative Historic Resources Impacts (Impact C-CR-1, Less than Significant)

8. Biological Resources

Conflicts with Any Local Policies or Ordinances that Protect Biological Resources (Impact
BIO-3, Less than Significant)

Riparian Habitat and Sensitive Natural Communities (No Impact)
State or Federally Protected Wetlands and Non-Wetland Waters (No Impact)

Adopted Habitat Conservation Plan or Natural Community Conservation Plan (No Impact)

9. Geology and Soils

Strong Seismic Ground Shaking and Seismically Related Ground Failure (Impact GS-1,
Less than Significant)

Substantial Soil Erosion (Impact GS-2, Less than Significant)

Unstable Soils or Geologic Units (Impact GS-3, Less than Significant)

Expansive Soils (Impact GS-4, Less than Significant)

Cumulative Impacts Related to Seismic Hazards (Impact C-GS-1, Less than Significant)

Cumulative Impacts Related to Soil Erosion and Soil Hazards (Impact C-GS-2, Less than
Significant)

Surface Fault Rupture (No Impact)
Landslides (No Impact)

Loss of Topsoil (No Impact)

Lateral Spreading (No Impact)

Unique Geologic Features (No Impact)
Septic Systems (No Impact)

10. Hydrology and Water Quality

Groundwater Supply and Recharge (Impact HY-2, Less than Significant)
Drainage and Flooding (Impact HY-3, Less than Significant)

Conflict or Obstruct a Water Resource Management Plan (Impact HY-4, Less than
Significant)

Risk Release of Pollutants Due to Project Inundation in Flood Hazard, Tsunami, or Seiche
Zones (No Impact)

11. Hazards and Hazardous Materials

Routine Hazardous Materials Use (Impact HAZ-1, Less than Significant)

Impairment of Emergency Response or Evacuation Plans (Impact HAZ-5, Less than
Significant)

14



Resolution No. XXX

e Cumulative Hazards and Hazardous Materials Impacts (Impact C-HAZ-1, Less than
Significant)

e Airport Hazards (No Impact)

¢ Wildland Fires (No Impact)
12. Population and Housing

e Unplanned Population Growth (Impact POP-1, Less than Significant)

e Displacement of People or Housing (Impact POP-2, Less than Significant)

e Cumulative Unplanned Population Growth (Impact C-POP-1, Less than Significant)
13. Public Services and Recreation

e Fire Services (Impact PS-1, Less than Significant)

e Police Services (Impact PS-2, Less than Significant)

e School Facilities (Impact PS-3, Less than Significant)

e Parks and Recreational Facilities (Impact PS-4, Less than Significant)

e Library Facilities (Impact PS-5, Less than Significant)

e Cumulative Public Services and Recreation Impacts (Impact C-PS-1, Less than
Significant)

14. Utilities and Service Systems
e Construction or Relocation of Utilities (Impact UT-1, Less than Significant)
e Water Supply (Impact UT-2, Less than Significant)
e Generation of Wastewater (Impact UT-3, Less than Significant)
e Generation of Solid Waste (Impact UT-4, Less than Significant)
e Compliance with Solid Waste Regulations (Impact UT-5, Less than Significant)

e Cumulative Water Service and Infrastructure Impacts (Impact C-UT-1, Less than
Significant)

¢ Cumulative Wastewater Service and Infrastructure Impacts (Impact C-UT-2, Less than
Significant)

e Cumulative Stormwater Service and Infrastructure Impacts (Impact C-UT-3, Less than
Significant)

e Cumulative Solid Waste Impacts (Impact C-UT-4, Less than Significant)

e Cumulative Natural Gas and Electric Service Impacts (Impact C-UT-5, Less than
Significant)

e Cumulative Telecommunications Impacts (Impact C-UT-6, Less than Significant)
Additionally, the Project Variant would result in no impact related to:

e Agriculture and Forestry Resources

e Mineral Resources

e Wildfire

15
A24



A25

Resolution No. XXX

B. Findings Regarding Potentially Significant Impacts that Are Avoided or Reduced to
Less than Significant by Mitigation

The EIR identifies the following potentially significant impacts associated with the Project Variant,
and hence the Parkline Master Plan Project, that can be mitigated to a less-than-significant-level
through implementation of mitigation measures identified in the EIR and implemented through the
City’s adoption of the MMRP. It is hereby determined that the impacts addressed by the following
described mitigation measures will be mitigated to a less-than-significant level or avoided by adopting
and incorporating these mitigation measures as conditions into the Parkline Master Plan Project.

Pursuant to section 21081(a) of the Public Resources Code and section 15091(a)(1) of the CEQA
Guidelines, the City finds that each of the following significant impacts identified in the EIR will be
mitigated to a less-than-significant level or avoided by adopting and incorporating these mitigation
measures as conditions into the Project. These findings are explained below and supported by
substantial evidence in the EIR and the full record of the proceedings. Based on the findings in the
EIR, as well as the evidence in the record, these impacts can be mitigated to a less-than-significant
level, as discussed below.

1. AIR QUALITY

The topic of air quality was analyzed in Section 3.4 of the Draft EIR for the Proposed Project and
Chapter 4 for the Project Variant. The Draft EIR found that the Project Variant could result in the
significant impacts related to Air Quality discussed below, and recommended the mitigation
measures that follow. Note that any references to the “Proposed Project” in the mitigation
measures below apply to the Project Variant. Furthermore, as the Parkline Master Plan Project
is a modified version of the Project Variant itself by reducing the amount of non-residential uses
proposed by approximately 380,000 SF, any references below in this Section to the “Proposed
Project” or “Project Variant” also apply to the Parkline Master Plan Project.

Impact AQ-1: Conflict with or Obstruct Implementation of the Applicable Air Quality Plan. The
Project Variant could conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan.

Mitigation Measure AQ-1.1: Landscaping Equipment. Contractor(s) and sub-contractor(s)
responsible for landscaping shall, as a condition of contract, use all-electric landscaping
equipment, which eliminates all criteria air pollutant emissions associated with landscaping
activities.

Mitigation Measure AQ-1.2: Architectural Coatings. The Project Sponsor shall use super-
compliant architectural coatings during construction and operation of all buildings, which shall
have a volatile-organic-compound (VOC) content that meets SCAQMD Rule 1113, Architectural
Coatings, as revised on February 5, 2016.

Mitigation Measure AQ-1.3: Construction Fugitive Dust Emissions. The Project construction
contractor(s) and sub-contractor(s) shall implement the following BAAQMD BMPs for fugitive dust
control, which are required for all construction activities within the San Francisco Bay Area Air
Basin. These measures would reduce fugitive dust emissions primarily during soil movement and
grading but also during vehicle and equipment movement on unpaved project sites.

1. All exposed surfaces (e.g., parking areas, staging areas, soil piles, graded areas, unpaved
access roads) shall be watered two times per day.

2. All haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other loose material offsite shall be covered.

3. All visible mud or dirt track-out onto adjacent public roads shall be removed using wet power
vacuum street sweepers at least once per day. The use of dry power sweeping is prohibited.

16



A26

Resolution No. XXX

4. All vehicle speeds on unpaved roads shall be limited to 15 miles per hour (mph).

5. All streets, driveways, and sidewalks to be paved shall be completed as soon as possible.
Building pads shall be laid as soon as possible after grading unless seeding or soil binders
are used.

6. Idling times shall be minimized either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing
the maximum idling time to 5 minutes (as required by the California airborne toxics control
measure Title 13, Section 2485, of California Code of Regulations [CCRY]). Clear signage shall
be provided for construction workers at all access points.

7. All construction equipment shall be maintained and properly tuned in accordance with
manufacturer’s specifications. All equipment shall be checked by a certified mechanic and
determined to be running in proper condition prior to operation.

8. A publicly visible sign shall be posted with the telephone number and name of the person
to contact regarding dust complaints. This person shall respond and take corrective action,
if necessary, within 48 hours. BAAQMD'’s phone number shall also be visible to ensure
compliance with applicable regulations.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures AQ-1.1, AQ-1.2, and AQ-1.3, which are hereby
adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the potential air quality impacts to
a less-than-significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures AQ-1.1, AQ-1.2, and AQ-1.3 are
feasible. The City hereby determines that any impacts related to conflicts with an applicable air
quality plan after implementation of Mitigation Measures AQ-1.1, AQ-1.2, and AQ-1.3 would not be
significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated
into the Parkline Master Plan Project that would avoid or substantially lessen the significant
environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. The Parkline Master Plan Project would be consistent
with the applicable stationary-source control measures, energy control measures, building control
measures, transportation control measures, and waste control measures included in the Clean Air
Plan. The Project Variant's unmitigated operational ROG emissions, however, would exceed
BAAQMD's threshold. In addition, unmitigated construction-related fugitive dust emissions would be
significant without implementation of BAAQMD Best Management Practices (“BMPs”) for
construction fugitive dust control. For those reasons, the Project Variant, without mitigation, would
conflict with the Clean Air Plan’s goals. However, implementation of Mitigation Measures AQ-1.1,
AQ-1.2, and AQ-1.3 would reduce such potential impacts. Mitigation Measures AQ-1.1 and AQ-1.2
would reduce operational ROG emissions by replacing fossil-fueled landscaping equipment with
electrically-powered equipment and by using architectural coatings with a volatile-organic-compound
(VOC) content of less than 5 grams per liter of material, respectively. Mitigation Measure AQ-1.3
would reduce construction-related particulate matter emissions from material movement, soil
disturbance, and vehicle idling. Therefore, Mitigation Measures AQ-1.1, AQ-1.2, and AQ-1.3, are
feasible and would reduce impacts related to Impact AQ-1 would be reduced to a less-than-
significant level.

Impact AQ-2: Cumulatively Considerable Net Increase in Criteria Pollutants. The Project Variant
could result in a cumulative net increase in a criteria pollutant for which the Project region is classified
as a nonattainment area under an applicable federal or State ambient air quality standard.

Mitigation Measures: Implement Mitigation Measure AQ-1.1, Mitigation Measure AQ-1.2, and
Mitigation Measure AQ-1.3.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures AQ-1.1, AQ-1.2, and AQ-1.3, which are hereby
adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce cumulative air quality impacts to a

17



A27

Resolution No. XXX

less-than-significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures AQ-1.1, AQ-1.2, and AQ-1.3
would be feasible. The City hereby determines that any impacts related to cumulatively considerable
net increase in criteria pollutants after implementation of Mitigation Measures AQ-1.1, AQ-1.2, and
AQ-1.3 would not be significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen cumulative air quality impacts, as identified in the EIR. During construction, Mitigation
Measure AQ-1.3 would require the contractor to implement BAAQMD BMPs to reduce
construction-related fugitive dust emissions, which would reduce the Project Variant’s fugitive
dust emissions to a less-than-significant level. During operation, implementation of Mitigation
Measures AQ-1.1, which requires the Project Sponsor to use all-electric landscaping
equipment, and AQ-1.2, which requires the Project Sponsor to use architectural coatings with
a low volatile-organic-compound (VOC) content in all buildings, would decrease the Project
Variant’s full-buildout operational ROG emissions. Therefore, the Project Variant would not
result in a cumulatively considerable net increase in any criteria air pollutant for which the
SFBAAB is designated as a nonattainment area with respect to the federal or State ambient
air quality standards.

Construction plus operation of the Project Variant would result in unmitigated emissions that
would exceed BAAQMD’s recommended threshold for ROG. However, after implementation of
Project Mitigation Measures AQ-1.1 and AQ-1.2, construction plus net operational emissions
would be below all applicable BAAQMD thresholds. Therefore, Mitigation Measures AQ-1.1 and
AQ-1.2 are feasible and with their implementation, construction plus operation of the Project
Variant would not result in a cumulatively considerable net increase in any criteria air pollutant for
which the SFBAAB is designated as a nonattainment area with respect to the federal or State
ambient air quality standards as impacts related to Impact AQ-2 would be reduced to a less-than-
significant level.

2. CULTURAL RESOURCES

The topic of cultural resources was analyzed in Section 3.8 of the Draft EIR for the Proposed
Project and Chapter 4 for the Project Variant. The Draft EIR determined that the Project Variant
could result in the significant impacts related to cultural and tribal resources discussed below, and
recommended the mitigation measures that follow. Again, note that the Parkline Master Plan
Project is a modified version of the Project Variant itself by reducing the amount of non-residential
uses proposed by approximately 380,000 SF, and any references below in this Section to the
“Project Variant” also apply to the Parkline Master Plan Project.

Impact CR-2: Archaeological Resources. The Project Variant could cause a substantial adverse
change in the significance of an archaeological resource, pursuant to Section 15064.5.

Mitigation Measure CR-2.1: Train Workers to Respond to the Discovery of Cultural Resources.
Prior to the start of ground-disturbing activities, the archaeological consultant or project
archaeologist shall conduct archaeological resources sensitivity training for workers and
construction superintendents. Training shall be required for all construction personnel
participating in ground-disturbing construction to alert them to the archaeological sensitivity of
the area and provide protocols to follow in the event of a discovery of archaeological materials.
The principal archaeological consultant and project archaeologist shall develop and distribute,
for job-site posting, a document (“ALERT SHEET") that summarizes the potential finds that
could be exposed, the protocols to be followed, and the points of contact to alert in the event

18



A28

Resolution No. XXX

of a discovery. The ALERT SHEET and protocols shall be presented as part of the training.
The contractor shall be responsible for ensuring that all workers requiring training are in
attendance. Training shall be scheduled at the discretion of the Project Sponsor in consultation
with the city. Worker training shall be required for all contractors and sub-contractors and
documented for each permit and/or phase of a permit that requires ground-disturbing activities
onsite.

Mitigation Measure CR-2.2: Stop Work if Archaeological Material or Features Are Encountered
during Ground-Disturbing Activities. If a potentially significant subsurface cultural resource is
encountered during ground-disturbing activities, all construction activities within a 100-foot
radius of the find shall cease until a qualified archaeologist (i.e., one who meets the Secretary
of the Interior’s professional qualifications for archaeology or one under the supervision of such
a professional) determines whether the resource requires further study. The archaeological
consultant shall review, identify, and evaluate cultural resources that may be inadvertently
exposed during construction to determine if a discovery is a historical resource and/or unique
archaeological resource under CEQA. Significant resources shall be subject to
treatment/mitigation that prevents an adverse effect on the resource, in accordance with PRC
Section 15064.5. Mitigation could include avoidance, preservation in place, or the scientific
removal, analysis, reporting, and curation of any recovered cultural materials. If the discovery
constitutes a tribal cultural resource, consultation shall be undertaken between the city and the
tribe(s) to determine appropriate treatment.

All developers in the Project Site shall include a standard inadvertent discovery clause in every
construction contract involving ground-disturbing activities to inform contractors of this
requirement. Any previously undiscovered resources found during construction activities shall
be recorded on appropriate Department of Parks and Recreation forms and evaluated for
significance in terms of CEQA criteria by a qualified archaeologist in accordance with Mitigation
Measure CR-2.2.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures CR-2.1 and CR-2.2, which are hereby
adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce archaeological resources
impacts to a less-than-significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures CR-2.1 and
CR-2.2 would be feasible. The City hereby determines that any impacts related to
archaeological resources after implementation of Mitigation Measures CR-2.1 and CR-2.2
would not be significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen the significant environmental effect on archaeological resources, as identified in the
EIR. The potential exists for previously unknown archaeological resources to be encountered
during ground disturbance related to construction of the Project Variant, resulting in a
substantial adverse change in the significance of an as-yet unknown historically significant
archaeological resource, which would result in a potentially significant impact. However,
implementation of Mitigation Measures CR-2.1 and CR-2.2 would reduce the potential impacts
of the Project Variant by requiring archaeological resources sensitivity training and early
detection of potential conflicts between development and resources. Further, appropriate
treatment of historical resources, if found, would also be required. Implementation of these
mitigation measures is feasible and would therefore reduce potentially significant impacts on
archeological resources to a less-than-significant level.

19



A29

Resolution No. XXX

Impact CR-3: Inadvertent Disturbance of Human Remains. The Project Variant could result in a
significant impact due to the disturbance of human remains, including those interred outside of
dedicated cemeteries.

Mitigation Measure CR-3.1: Regarding the Discovery of Human Remains at the Project Site.
Procedures of conduct following the discovery of human remains citywide have been mandated
by Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5, PRC Section 5097.98, and California Code of
Regulations Section 15064.5(e) (CEQA). According to the provisions in CEQA, if human
remains are encountered at a site, all work in the immediate vicinity of the discovery shall cease
and necessary steps to ensure the integrity of the immediate area shall be taken. The San
Mateo County Coroner shall be notified immediately. The coroner shall then determine whether
the remains are Native American. If the coroner determines the remains are Native American,
the coroner shall notify the NAHC within 24 hours, which will, in turn, shall notify the person the
NAHC identifies as the MLD in connection with any human remains. Further actions shall be
determined, in part, by the desires of the MLD. The Project Sponsor, the Project archaeologist,
and the MLD shall make all reasonable efforts to develop an agreement for the treatment, with
appropriate dignity, of human remains and associated or unassociated funerary objects,
including those associated with known and unknown Native American burial locations (CEQA
Guidelines Section 15064.5[d]). The agreement should take into consideration the appropriate
excavation, removal, recordation, analysis, custodianship, curation, and final treatment and
disposition of the human remains and associated or unassociated funerary objects. The MLD
will have 48 hours to make recommendations regarding the treatment and disposition of the
remains following notification from the NAHC of the discovery. If the MLD does not make
recommendations within 48 hours, or the owner does not accept the recommendation of the
MLD in accordance with Public Resources Code 5097.98(e), the owner shall, with appropriate
dignity, reinter the remains in an area of the property secure from further disturbance.
Alternatively, if the owner does not accept the MLD’s recommendations, the owner or the
descendent may request mediation by the NAHC.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measure CR-3.1, which is hereby adopted and
incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts related to Impact CR-3 to a less-
than-significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measure CR-3.1 would be feasible. The City
hereby determines that any impacts related to disturbance of human remains after implementation
of Mitigation Measure CR-3.1 would not be significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen the significant environmental effect related to Impact CR-3, as identified in the EIR. No
known human remains are located on the Project Site. If human remains are encountered during
ground disturbance related to the Project Variant, the impacts could be significant if there are no
protocols in place to properly handle the remains. Mitigation Measure CR-3.1 would reduce
potential impacts by requiring adherence to appropriate procedures if remains are encountered.
Implementation of this mitigation measure is feasible and would reduce potentially significant
impacts on human remains to a less-than-significant level.

Impact C-CR-2: Cumulative Archaeological Resources and Human Remains Impacts.
Cumulative development could result in a significant environmental impact on archeological
resources and human remains; the Project Variant would not be a cumulatively considerable
contributor to any significant environmental impact.

20



A30

Resolution No. XXX

Mitigation Measures: Implement Mitigation Measure CR-2.1, Mitigation Measure CR-2.2, and
Mitigation Measure CR-3.1.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures CR-2.1, CR-2.2, and CR-3.1, which are hereby
adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the cumulative impacts related to
Impact CR-2 to a less-than-significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures CR-2.1, CR-2.2,
and CR-3.1 would be feasible. The City hereby determines that any cumulative impacts related to
archaeological resources and human remains after implementation of Mitigation Measures CR-2.1,
CR-2.2, and CR-3.1 would not be significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091 (a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated
into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially lessen the
significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. The Project Variant would be required to
implement BMPs, legal requirements, and/or mitigation measures to ensure that project activities
would not result in the inadvertent destruction of an archaeological resource and that discovery
procedures pertaining to human remains would be implemented. In addition, implementation of
Mitigation Measures CR-2.1 and CR-2.2 would reduce the impacts of the Project Variant by requiring
archaeological resources sensitivity training and allowing early detection of potential conflicts
between development and resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measure CR-3.1 would reduce
the Project Variant's impacts by detailing the appropriate procedures to follow if human remains are
encountered. Overall, Mitigation Measures CR-2.1, CR-2.2, and CR-3.1 are feasible and would
reduce the Project Variant's contribution to a cumulative impact on archaeological resources and
human remains to a less-than-significant level.

3. TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES

The topic of tribal cultural resources was analyzed in Section 3.9 of the Draft EIR for the Proposed
Project and Chapter 4 for the Project Variant. The Draft EIR determined that the Project Variant
could result in the significant impacts related to tribal cultural resources discussed below, and
recommended the mitigation measures that follow. Again, note that the Parkline Master Plan
Project is a modified version of the Project Variant itself by reducing the amount of non-residential
uses proposed by approximately 380,000 SF, and any references below in this Section to the
“Project Variant” also apply to the Parkline Master Plan Project.

Impact TCR-1: Tribal Cultural Resources. The Project Variant could cause a substantial adverse
change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource, defined in PRC Section 21074 as a site,
feature, place, cultural landscape that is geographically defined in terms of the size and scope of
the landscape, sacred place, or object with cultural value to a California Native American tribe
and:

a) Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources or a local
register of historical resources, as defined in PRC Section 5020.1(k), or

b) A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial
evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of PRC
Section 5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of PRC Section 5024.1,
the lead agency shall consider the significance of the resource to a California Native
American tribe.

Mitigation Measures: Implement Mitigation Measure CR-2.1, Mitigation Measure CR-2.2, and
Mitigation Measure CR-3.1.

21



A3l

Resolution No. XXX

Mitigation Measure TCR-1: Stop Work if Tribal Cultural Resources Are Encountered during
Ground-Disturbing Activities. If Native American cultural resources are encountered during
ground-disturbing activities, all construction activities within a 100-foot radius of the find shall
cease until an archaeological consultant can review, identify, and evaluate the find to determine
if the discovery could qualify as a tribal cultural resource, as defined in Public Resources Code
Section 21074. Tribal representatives from the city’s Assembly Bill 52 notification lists shall be
consulted regarding this determination. If the discovery is determined to qualify as a tribal cultural
resource, it shall be subject to treatment/mitigation that prevents an adverse effect on the
resource, in accordance with Public Resources Code Section 15064.5. Mitigation shall be
determined through consultation between the city and the tribe(s).

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures TCR-1, CR-2.1, CR-2.2, and CR-3.1, which are
hereby adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts on tribal
cultural resources to a less-than-significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures TCR-1,
CR-2.1, CR-2.2, and CR-3.1 would be feasible. The City hereby determines that any impacts
related to tribal cultural resources after implementation of Mitigation Measures TCR-1, CR-2.1,
CR-2.2, and CR-3.1 would not be significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated
into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially lessen the
significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. Archaeological deposits that qualify as tribal
cultural resources could be encountered during excavation for the Project Variant. Such resources
would be eligible for listing in the CRHR or a local register of historical resources, or the lead agency,
in its discretion and supported by substantial evidence, could determine the resources to be eligible
for the CRHR pursuant to the criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of PRC Section 5024.1. Therefore,
impacts related to tribal cultural resources could result from construction of the Project Variant and
be potentially significant. However, implementation of Mitigation Measures CR-2.1, CR-2.2, CR-3.1,
and TCR-1 would reduce impacts on tribal cultural resources as set forth in Impact TCR-1.
Appropriate treatment of historical resources, if found, would also be required. Therefore, Mitigation
Measures CR-2.1, CR-2.2, CR-3.1, and TCR-1 are feasible, and these impacts would be reduced
to a less-than-significant level.

Impact C-TCR-1: Cumulative Tribal Cultural Resources Impacts. Cumulative development could
result in a significant environmental impact on tribal cultural resources; the Project Variant would
not be a cumulatively considerable contributor to any significant environmental impact on tribal
cultural resources.

Mitigation Measures: Implement Mitigation Measure TCR-1, Mitigation Measure CR-2.1,
Mitigation Measure CR-2.2, and Mitigation Measure CR-3.1.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures TCR-1, CR-2.1, CR-2.2, and CR-3.1, which are
hereby adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the cumulative impacts
to a less-than-significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures TCR-1, CR-2.1, CR-2.2,
and CR-3.1 would be feasible. The City hereby determines that any cumulative impacts related
to tribal cultural resources after implementation of Mitigation Measures TCR-1, CR-2.1, CR-2.2,
and CR-3.1 would not be significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen the significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. The Project Variant would be
subject to existing federal, state, and local regulations as well as general plan goals, policies, and

22



A32

Resolution No. XXX

programs, which would, to the maximum extent practicable, reduce cumulative development-
related impacts on tribal cultural resources. Future development projects subject to CEQA would
also be required to adopt mitigation measures to ensure that project activities would not result in
the inadvertent destruction of a tribal cultural resource. Nonetheless, cumulative impacts on tribal
cultural resources are considered potentially significant because the Project Variant combined
with reasonably foreseeable projects would most likely involve ground-disturbing activities that
could uncover unknown tribal cultural resources. Therefore, the Project Variant could contribute
to a cumulative loss of tribal cultural resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measures CR-2.1,
CR-2.2, CR-3.1, and TCR-1, which require an archaeological monitoring plan, cultural resources
sensitivity training for all construction crews participating in ground-disturbing activities, and
stopping work if archaeological deposits are encountered during ground-disturbing activities, are
feasible and would reduce cumulative impacts to a less-than-significant level.

4. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES

The topic of biological resources was analyzed in Section 3.10 of the Draft EIR for the Proposed
Project and Chapter 4 for the Project Variant. The Draft EIR determined that the Project Variant
could result in the significant impacts related to biological resources discussed below, and
recommended the mitigation measures that follow. Again, note that the Parkline Master Plan
Project is a modified version of the Project Variant itself by reducing the amount of non-residential
uses proposed by approximately 380,000 SF, and any references below in this Section to the
“Project Variant” also apply to the Parkline Master Plan Project.

Impact BIO-1: Special-Status Species. The Project Variant could result in a substantial adverse
effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, on any species identified as candidate,
sensitive, or special-status in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations or by the California
Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.

Mitigation Measure BIO-1.1: Initial Bat Habitat Survey. A qualified bat biologist shall conduct an
initial survey of all buildings and trees on the Project Site that are slated for removal to determine
whether suitable habitat for a moderate-size colony of common bat species (i.e., at least 10 big
brown bats or at least 20 individuals of other non-special-status species), or a pallid bat or
Townsend’s big-eared bat colony of any size, is present. The locations of trees with suitable
cavities and crevices, as well as any buildings with accessible interiors or crevices (e.g., roof tiles
or other exterior features) that support suitable roost locations, shall be identified, and potential
entry and exit locations shall be mapped. For trees and buildings that are determined, in the
gualified biologist’s discretion, not to provide suitable habitat for a moderate-size colony of
common bat species, or a pallid bat or Townsend'’s big-eared bat colony of any size, no further
surveys shall be required. If the qualified biologist determines that buildings or trees provide
suitable habitat, then further surveys under Mitigation Measures BIO-1.2 and BIO-1.3 shall be
required.

Mitigation Measure BIO-1.2: Maternity Season Survey. A qualified bat biologist shall conduct a
focused survey for roosting bats within all buildings and trees on the Project Site where suitable
habitat was identified during the initial habitat survey, during the maternity season (generally
March 15-August 31), and prior to the start of construction to determine the presence or absence
of a maternity colony, the species present, and an estimate of the colony size, if present. If close
inspection of potential roost features during the daytime is infeasible, the focused survey shall
consist of a dusk emergence survey when bats can be observed flying out of the roost. If work
will be initiated during the maternity season, this survey shall be conducted 1 year prior to the
year in which construction will occur. If a maternity colony is detected, the exclusion measures

23



A33

Resolution No. XXX

described in Mitigation Measure BIO-1.4, below, shall be implemented prior to March 15 of the
year in which construction occurs to ensure that bats are excluded from the roost prior to the start
of construction.

Mitigation Measure BIO-1.3: Pre-Construction Activity Bat Survey. A pre-construction activity
survey shall be conducted for roosting bats within all buildings and trees on the Project Site that
are slated for removal and within which suitable habitat was identified during the initial habitat
survey and the maternity roosting survey. The survey shall be conducted by a qualified bat
biologist within 7 days prior to the start of building demolition or tree removal for the purpose of
impact avoidance. If building demolition and/or tree removal occurs in phases, a pre-activity
survey shall be conducted within 14 days prior to the demolition of each building and/or removal
of each tree with suitable roost habitat. If close inspection of potential roost features during the
daytime is infeasible, the focused survey shall include a dusk emergence survey when bats can
be observed flying out of the roost. If a moderate-size maternity colony of common bat species
(i.e., at least 10 big brown bats, 20 Yuma myotis, 100 individuals of other non-special-status
species), or a pallid bat or Townsend’s big-eared bat colony of any size or any kind (i.e., a
maternity or non-maternity colony), is not detected during the survey, no additional measures
shall be required. If a moderate-size maternity colony of common bat species (i.e., at least 10 big
brown bats, 20 Yuma myotis, or 100 individuals of other non-special-status species), or a pallid
bat or Townsend’s big-eared bat colony of any size or any kind (i.e., a maternity or non-maternity
colony), is present, the qualified bat biologist shall identify an appropriate disturbance-free buffer
zone for the species identified. The buffer will be maintained until either the end of the maternity
season or until a qualified biologist determines that all young are volant (i.e., capable of flight) to
avoid the loss of dependent young.

Mitigation Measure BIO-1.4: Bat Exclusion. If bats are present in a building or tree to be removed
or disturbed, the individuals shall be safely evicted outside the bat maternity season
(approximately March 15-August 31) and the winter torpor period (approximately October 15—
February 28, depending on weather). Bats may be evicted through exclusion, as directed by a
qualified biologist, after notifying the California Department of Fish and Wildlife. The qualified
biologist must be present for the removal of trees or structures occupied by bats.

For eviction from roost trees, trimming or removing trees shall follow a two-step removal process
whereby limbs and branches not containing roost habitat are removed on day 1, then the entire
tree is removed on day 2.

The disturbance or removal of structures containing, or suspected of containing, active (non-
maternity or hibernation) or potentially active common bat roosts shall be done in the evening and
after bats have emerged from the roost to forage. Structures shall be partially dismantled to
significantly change roost conditions, causing bats to abandon and not return to the roost.
Removal shall be completed the subsequent day. Alternatively, exclusion methods may include
the installation of one-way doors and/or use of ultrasonic deterrence devices. One-way doors
and/or deterrence devices shall be left in place for a minimum of 2 weeks, with a minimum of five
fair-weather nights with no rainfall and temperatures no colder than 50°F.

Mitigation Measure BIO-1.5: Compensatory Mitigation for Bat Habitat. If a maternity colony of
common bat species containing at least 10 big brown bats, 20 Yuma myotis, or 100 individuals of
other non-special-status bat species, or a pallid bat or Townsend’s big-eared bat day roost of any
type (maternity or non-maternity) or any size, is determined to be present on the Project Site,
replacement roost habitat that is appropriate to the species shall be provided, as determined by
a qualified bat biologist. The nature of the replacement roost habitat (e.qg., the design of an artificial

24



A34

Resolution No. XXX

roost structure) shall be determined by the qualified bat biologist, based on the number and
species of bats detected. Ideally, the roost structure shall be installed on the Project Site. If
replacement habitat cannot be placed on the site, it shall be installed no more than 100 feet from
the site (or as close to the site as feasible). The exact placement of replacement habitat shall be
determined in consultation with the qualified bat biologist.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-1.1, BIO-1.2, BIO-1.3, BIO-1.4, and
BIO-1.5, which are hereby adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the
impacts to a less-than-significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures BIO-1.1, BIO-
1.2, BIO-1.3, BIO-1.4, and BIO-1.5 would be feasible. The City hereby determines that any
impacts related to special-status bat species after implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-
1.1, BIO-1.2, BIO-1.3, BIO-1.4, and BIO-1.5 would not be significant. (CEQA Guidelines
Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen the significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. The removal of trees and
buildings on the Project Site would have the potential to result in the loss of a colony of roosting
bats. When buildings or trees containing roosting colonies are removed or modified and when
individual bats are removed, individual bats can be physically injured or killed, can be subjected
to physiological stress from disturbance during torpor, or can face increased predation because
of exposure during daylight. In addition, nursing young may be subjected to disturbance-related
abandonment by their mothers. Impacts on a moderate-size maternity colony of common
species with the potential to occur on the site or impacts on a pallid bat or Townsend'’s big-
eared bat roost of any type (i.e., a maternity or non-maternity colony) or any size would be
considered a substantial impact on these species because this could have a substantial effect
on regional populations, which would be a potentially significant impact. Implementation of
Mitigation Measures BIO-1.1 through BIO-1.5, which require an initial bat habitat survey,
maternity season survey, pre-construction activity bat survey, bat exclusion measures, and
compensatory mitigation for bat habitat, are feasible and would reduce potential impacts on
roosting bats to a less-than-significant level.

Impact BIO-2: Wildlife Movement and Native Wildlife Nursery Sites. The Project Variant could
interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife
species, or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use
of native wildlife nursery sites.

Mitigation Measure BIO-2.1: Avoidance and Pre-construction Surveys for Nesting Migratory
Birds. The Project Sponsor shall implement the following measures to avoid and minimize
construction-period impacts on nesting birds:

¢ Avoidance of the Nesting Season. To the extent feasible, the commencement of
demolition and construction activities shall be scheduled to avoid the nesting season.
If demolition and construction activities are scheduled to take place outside the nesting
season, all potential demolition/construction impacts on nesting birds protected under
the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) and California Fish and Game Code will be
avoided. The nesting season for most birds in San Mateo County extends from
February 1 through August 31.

e Pre-Activity/Pre-Disturbance Nesting Bird Surveys. If it is not possible to schedule
demolition and construction activities between September 1 and January 31, then pre-

25



A35

Resolution No. XXX

activity surveys for nesting birds shall be conducted by a qualified ornithologist to
ensure that no nests will be disturbed during implementation of the Proposed Project.
Surveys shall be conducted no more than 7 days prior to the initiation of demolition or
construction activities for each construction phase. During the surveys, the ornithologist
shall inspect all trees and other potential nesting habitats (e.g., trees, shrubs, buildings)
in and immediately adjacent to the impact areas for migratory bird nests.

¢ Non-Disturbance Buffers Around Active Nests. If an active nest is found close enough
to work areas to be disturbed by demolition or construction activities, a construction-
free buffer zone (typically 300 feet for raptors and 100 feet for other species) will be
established around the nest to ensure that no nests of species protected by the MBTA
and California Fish and Game Code are disturbed during implementation of the
Proposed Project. The ornithologist shall determine the extent of the buffer.

e Nesting Deterrence. If construction activities will not be initiated until after the start of
the nesting season, all potential nesting substrates (e.g., bushes, trees, grasses, other
vegetation) that are scheduled to be removed by the Proposed Project may be removed
prior to the start of the nesting season (e.g., prior to February 1). This will preclude the
initiation of nests in this vegetation and prevent any potential delay for the Proposed
Project because of the presence of active nests in these substrates.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-2.1, which is hereby adopted and
incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts to a less-than-significant level.
The City finds that Mitigation Measure BIO-2.1 would be feasible. The City hereby determines
that any impacts related to migratory birds after implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-2.1
would not be significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen the significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. The Project Variant would
remove approximately 810 trees, including approximately 264 heritage trees. The number of
heritage trees and total trees that would be removed from the Project Site increased since
publication of the Draft EIR due to several factors, as outlined in the final arborist report dated
January 2025 as modified by the August 2025 revision to the final report. First, the Draft EIR
identified impacts on trees that were included in the Preliminary Tree Disposition and Tree
Assessment prepared by HortScience in 2021, which were submitted as part of the Project’s
Heritage Tree Permit Removal Application. HortScience subsequently reassessed the Project
Site in 2024 and, as documented in the arborist report, found that the baseline number of trees
on the Project Site had changed due, in part, to the removal of trees that were damaged during
intervening storm events in the city and the addition of a handful of trees that were inadvertently
missed in the preliminary assessment. The number of heritage trees also increased as the
result of HortScience’s reclassification of tree sizes for multi-stem trees since the preliminary
assessment. With respect to the number of trees proposed for removal, minor adjustments to
the site plan in terms of the location of residential building footprints, parking structures, and
roads and walkways, as well as refinement of civil plans, also resulted in the identification of
additional trees that would need to be removed in order to avoid design conflicts. Although
construction impacts would be temporary, the disruption to nesting and foraging habitat could
harm migratory bird populations. In addition, implementation of the Project Variant could
temporarily reduce available nesting habitat for birds that currently use the Project Site as well
as foraging habitat and cover for migrants and wintering birds through the removal of trees and
landscape vegetation. This could result in a temporary decline in the number of migratory bird
species and individuals that use the Project Site. Any disturbance of nesting birds that results

26



A36

Resolution No. XXX

in the abandonment of active nests or the loss of active nests through vegetation or structure
removal would be a potentially significant impact. However, implementation of Mitigation
Measure BIO-2.1 would reduce potential impacts by requiring measures to avoid and minimize
construction-period impacts on nesting birds. Implementation of this mitigation measure is
feasible and would reduce potentially significant impacts on migratory birds under the Project
Variant to a less-than-significant level.

Impact C-BIO-1: Cumulative Biological Resources Impacts. Cumulative development could
result in a significant environmental impact on biological resources; the Project Variant could be
a cumulatively considerable contributor to any significant environmental impact.

Mitigation Measures: Implement Mitigation Measures BIO-1.1 through Mitigation Measure 1.5,
and Mitigation Measure BIO-2.1

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-1.1, BIO-1.2, BIO-1.3, BIO-1.4, BIO-1.5
and BIO-2.1, which are hereby adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce
the cumulative impacts to a less-than-significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures
BIO-1.1, BIO-1.2, BIO-1.3, BIO-1.4, BIO-1.5 and BIO-2.1 would be feasible. The City hereby
determines that any cumulative impacts related to biological resources after implementation of
Mitigation Measures BIO-1.1, BIO-1.2, BIO-1.3, BIO-1.4, BIO-1.5 and BIO-2.1 would not be
significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen the significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. The Project Variant would
result in an increase in vegetative cover, and the increase in the number of trees would increase
the extent of habitat and foraging resources for the wildlife species that use the site. The Project
Variant combined with other reasonably foreseeable projects could affect roosting bats and
nesting birds. Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-1.1 through 1.5 is feasible and would
reduce the Project Variant’'s impacts on roosting bats to less-than-significant levels, and
implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-2.1 would reduce the Project Variant’s impacts on birds
to less-than-significant levels. Therefore, the Project Variant’s contribution to cumulative impacts
on biological resources would be less than significant.

5. GEOLOGY AND SOILS

The topic of geology and soils was analyzed in Section 3.11 of the Draft EIR for the Proposed
Project and Chapter 4 for the Project Variant. The Draft EIR determined that the Project Variant
could result in the significant impacts related to geology and soils discussed below, and
recommended the mitigation measures that follow. Again, note that the Parkline Master Plan
Project is a modified version of the Project Variant itself by reducing the amount of non-residential
uses proposed by approximately 380,000 SF, and any references below in this Section to the
“Project Variant” also apply to the Parkline Master Plan Project.

Impact GS-5: Paleontological Resources. The Project Variant could destroy a unique
paleontological resource or site.

Mitigation Measure GS-5.1: Conduct Worker Awareness Training. Before the start of excavation
or grading activities, the Project Sponsor shall retain a Project Paleontologist, as defined by
Society of Vertebrate Paleontology, who is experienced in teaching non-specialists. The
paleontologist shall train all construction personnel who are involved with earthmoving activities,

27



A37

Resolution No. XXX

including the site superintendent, regarding the possibility of encountering fossils, the appearance
and types of fossils that are likely to be seen during construction, and proper notification
procedures should fossils be encountered. Procedures to be conveyed to workers include halting
construction within 50 feet of any potential fossil find and notifying the Project Paleontologist, who
shall evaluate the significance of the find.

Mitigation Measure GS-5.2: Conduct Protocol and Procedures for Encountering Paleontological
Resources. In the event that fossils or fossil bearing deposits are discovered during ground
disturbing activities, excavations within a 50-foot radius of the find shall be temporarily halted
or diverted. Ground disturbance work shall cease until a qualified paleontologist determines
whether the resource requires further study. The paleontologist shall document the discovery
as needed (in accordance with Society of Vertebrate Paleontology standards [Society of
Vertebrate Paleontology 2010]), evaluate the potential resource, and assess the significance of
the find under the criteria set forth in CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5. The paleontologist
shall notify the appropriate agencies to determine procedures that would be followed before
construction activities are allowed to resume at the location of the find. If avoidance is not
feasible, the paleontologist shall prepare an excavation plan for mitigating the effect of
construction activities on the discovery. The excavation plan shall be submitted to the city of
Menlo Park for review and approval prior to implementation, and all construction activity shall
adhere to the recommendations in the excavation plan.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures GS-5.1 and GS-5.2, which are hereby
adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts to a less-than-
significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures GS-5.1 and GS-5.2 would be feasible.
The City hereby determines that any impacts related to paleontological resources after
implementation of Mitigation Measures GS-5.1 and GS-5.2 would not be significant. (CEQA
Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen the significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. No known fossils, unique
paleontological resources, or unique geologic features are present in the vicinity of the Project
Site. Although the surficial area of the Project Site is disturbed by prior construction, the
disturbed surface is underlain by nonmarine Pleistocene alluvium that has the potential to
contain unigue paleontological resources. The potential impacts on paleontological resources
would depend on the depth, extent, and type of soil-disturbing activities that would occur as a
result of construction. As a result, destruction of unique paleontological resources, such as
vertebrate fossils, would be a potentially significant impact. However, implementation of
Mitigation Measure GS-5.1 and GS-5.2 would reduce the potential impact by requiring a worker
education program regarding paleontological resources to be conducted and a protocol to be in
place to stop work should paleontological resources be encountered. Implementation of these
mitigation measures is feasible and would ensure that the significant impacts related to
unknown paleontological resources would be reduced to a less-than-significant level.

Impact C-GS-3: Cumulative Impacts Related to Paleontological Resources. Cumulative
development could result in a significant environmental impact with mitigation on paleontological
resources; the Project Variant could be a cumulatively considerable contributor to any significant
environmental impact.

Mitigation Measures: Implement Mitigation Measure GS-5.1 and Mitigation Measure GS-5.2.

28



A38

Resolution No. XXX

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures GS-5.1 and GS-5.2, which are hereby adopted
and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts to a less-than-significant
level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures GS-5.1 and GS-5.2 would be feasible. The City
hereby determines that any cumulative impacts related paleontological resources after
implementation of Mitigation Measures GS-5.1 and GS-5.2 would not be significant. (CEQA
Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen the significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. Excavation for the Project
Variant combined with other reasonably foreseeable development projects would have the
potential to result in development-related impacts on paleontological resources under the
disturbed ground surface and a significant cumulative impact. However, implementation of
Mitigation Measures GS-5.1 and GS-5.2 is feasible and would reduce the Project Variant's
cumulative impact to a less-than-significant level. Other projects in the vicinity of the Project Site
would also be required to include mitigation measures in compliance with the City’'s General Plan
to reduce impacts to a less-than-significant level. In addition, excavation would be limited spatially
to the Project Site (i.e., Project footprint) and would not combine with other projects to cause a
cumulative impact. The cumulative impact would therefore be less than significant with mitigation.

6. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY

The topic of hydrology and water quality was analyzed in Section 3.12 of the Draft EIR for the
Proposed Project and Chapter 4 for the Project Variant. The Draft EIR determined that the Project
Variant could result in the significant impacts related to hydrology and water quality discussed
below, and recommended the mitigation measures that follow. Again, note that the Parkline
Master Plan Project is a modified version of the Project Variant itself by reducing the amount of
non-residential uses proposed by approximately 380,000 SF, and any references below in this
Section to the “Project Variant” also apply to the Parkline Master Plan Project.

Impact HY-1: Water Quality. The Project Variant could violate any water quality standards or
waste discharge requirements or otherwise substantially degrade surface water or groundwater
guality after implementation of mitigation.

Mitigation Measures: Implement Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.1 and Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.2.
See discussion under Impact HAZ-2, below.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2, which are hereby
adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts to a less-than-
significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2 would be feasible.
The City hereby determines that any impacts related to groundwater quality after implementation
of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2 would not be significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section
15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen the significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. Contaminated groundwater
could be encountered during dewatering for construction of the proposed underground parking
areas and the emergency water reservoir, resulting in a potentially significant impact. In the event
that contaminated groundwater is encountered during dewatering at the Project Site, the
contractor may be subject to dewatering requirements in addition to those outlined in the

29



A39

Resolution No. XXX

Construction General Permit. The Project Variant would be required to comply with the Municipal
Regional Permit (MRP), which includes filing a Notice of Intent for permit coverage under the
Construction General Permit, as well as local ordinances regarding stormwater and construction
site runoff. Project Variant compliance with waste discharge requirements and dewatering
regulations would ensure that dewatering activities would be monitored as required and that no
violations of water quality standards or waste discharge requirements would occur. However,
because of the potential to encounter contaminated groundwater during construction, the Project
Variant would be required to incorporate the recommendations described in the site-specific
investigations, including a Phase | environmental site assessment and a site assessment report.
Implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2 is feasible and would reduce
impacts to a less-than-significant level.

Impact C-HY-1: Cumulative Hydrology and Water Quality Impacts. Cumulative development
could result in a significant environmental impact on hydrology and water quality; the Project
Variant could be a cumulatively considerable contributor to any significant environmental impact.

Mitigation Measure: Implement Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.1 and Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.2.
See discussion under Impact HAZ-2, below.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2, which are hereby
adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the cumulative impacts to a less-
than-significant level. The City finds that Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2 would be
feasible. The City hereby determines that any cumulative impacts related to groundwater quality
after implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2 would not be significant.
(CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen the significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. Cumulative projects would be
required to comply with the Construction General Permit to control runoff and regulate water
guality at each development site, along with regional and local requirements regarding the
protection of surface water and groundwater quality. Implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-
2.1 and HAZ-2.2 would reduce potential impacts by requiring an environmental site management
plan prior to the start of construction to minimize any potential exposure of construction personnel,
future site occupants, or the general public to contaminated soils and unknown environmental
conditions/subsurface features, along with groundwater monitoring and sampling if dewatering is
required within the footprint of the construction sites. Overall, implementation of Mitigation
Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2 is feasible and would reduce the Project Variant’s contribution
to a cumulative impact to a less-than-significant-level.

7. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

The topic of hazards and hazardous materials was analyzed in Section 3.13 of the Draft EIR for
the Proposed Project and Chapter 4 for the Project Variant. The Draft EIR determined that the
Project Variant could result in the significant impacts related to hazards and hazardous materials
discussed below, and recommended the mitigation measures that follow. Again, note that the
Parkline Master Plan Project is a modified version of the Project Variant itself by reducing the
amount of non-residential uses proposed by approximately 380,000 SF, and any references
below in this Section to the “Project Variant” also apply to the Parkline Master Plan Project.

30



A40

Resolution No. XXX

Impact HAZ-2: Upset and Accident Conditions Involving Hazardous Materials. The Project
Variant could create a significant hazard for the public or the environment through reasonably
foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the
environment.

Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.1: Prepare and Implement an Environmental Site Management Plan.
Prior to commencement of any ground disturbing activities, the Project Sponsor shall retain the
services of a qualified environmental engineering firm to prepare and implement an Environmental
Site Management Plan (ESMP) for review and approval by the appropriate regulatory agency.
The purpose of the ESMP is to protect construction workers, the general public, the environment,
and future site occupants from subsurface hazardous materials previously identified at the site
and to address the possibility of encountering unknown contamination or hazards in the
subsurface. The ESMP shall summarize soil and groundwater analytical data collected on the
project site during past investigations; identify management options for excavated soil and
groundwater, if contaminated media are encountered during deep excavations; and identify
monitoring, irrigation, or other wells requiring proper abandonment in compliance with local, state,
and federal laws, policies, and regulations.

The ESMP shall include measures for identifying, testing, and managing soil and groundwater
suspected of or known to contain hazardous materials (including imported fill/soils, if imported
fill/soils are needed as part of project construction). The ESMP shall: 1) provide procedures for
evaluating, handling, storing, testing, and disposing of soil and groundwater during project
earthwork and dewatering activities, respectively; 2) describe required worker health and safety
provisions for all workers potentially exposed to hazardous materials in accordance with State
and federal worker safety regulations; and 3) designate personnel responsible for implementation
of the ESMP. The ESMP shall be prepared by a commercial environmental engineering firm with
expertise and experience in the preparation of ESMPs and stamped by an appropriately licensed
professional. In addition, the ESMP shall adhere to applicable oversight agency guidance
associated with the handling of the aforementioned impacted media.

In addition, the ESMP shall establish protocols and measures for addressing the discovery of
presently unknown environmental conditions or subsurface structures such as underground
storage tanks (USTs), sumps, or wells, would include procedures for evaluating, handling, storing,
testing and disposing of these unknown materials (as applicable), and would also establish
required health and safety provisions for all workers who could be exposed to said hazardous
materials (in accordance with state and federal worker safety regulations). If the environmental
engineering firm subsequently identifies the need for further sampling, the Project Sponsor shall
implement this and any other requirements identified in the ESMP.

Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.2: Require Groundwater Monitoring and Sampling prior to Dewatering
Activity. Prior to any construction activity with the potential to require dewatering any ground
disturbing activity, the Project Sponsor shall measure both water levels and water quality prior to
and during dewatering, with a focus on potential constituents of concern, based on known or
suspected water quality impacts within or near the Project Site. The Project Sponsor shall ensure
the collection and testing of samples prior to initiating construction activities with the potential to
require dewatering. The sampling locations shall be an appropriate distance from the proposed
dewatering site, as determined by a geotechnical evaluation of local groundwater and soll
conditions. If contaminated water is detected, remedial measures to limit potential exposure to
affected media and/or contain the spread shall be implemented. Several options can be employed
(e.g., implementing onsite treatment/remediation; disposing in the sewer system (with any
appropriate pre-treatment) or at a hazardous materials disposal facility, depending on type and

31



A4l

Resolution No. XXX

level of contamination; tanking; or stopping or phasing underground construction. Affected water
shall be handled with the appropriate use of personal protective equipment (PPE) and treated so
that it complies with discharge and reporting requirements and applicable water quality objectives
or hauled offsite for treatment and disposal at a permitted waste treatment facility. Upon disposal
of the affected water, the Project Sponsor shall be responsible for demonstrating to the city of
Menlo Park that the treatment and disposal requirements set forth in this mitigation measure have
been met by providing a waste manifest or proof of a valid waste discharge requirement (WDR)
permit.

Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.3: Conduct a Hazardous Building Materials Survey. Prior to the
issuance of any demolition permit, the Project Sponsor shall conduct a Hazardous Building
Materials Survey in accordance with DTSC’s Preliminary Endangerment Assessment (PEA)
Guidance Manual. The survey shall be performed by a licensed contractor at structures that are
scheduled to be demolished but have not been surveyed previously (i.e., as part of the 2021
Limited Hazardous Materials Survey). The Hazardous Building Materials Survey shall identify the
presence of hazardous building materials, including asbestos-containing materials (ACMs), lead-
based paint (LBP), and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). Should this survey determine that
hazardous building materials are present, the following actions shall be implemented by the
Project Sponsor:

¢ A health and safety plan shall be developed by a certified industrial hygienist for potential
LBP, asbestos, or other hazardous building material risks present during demolition. The
health and safety plan shall then be implemented by a licensed contractor. The health and
safety plan shall comply with federal Occupational Safety and Health Administration
(OSHA) and the California Occupational Safety and Health Administration (Cal/OSHA)
requirements.

o Necessary approvals shall be acquired from the city of Menlo Park and/or county (by
the licensed contractor) for specifications or commencement of abatement activities.
Abatement activities shall be conducted by a licensed contractor.

e The Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) shall be notified 10 days
prior to initiating demolition at structures that contain asbestos. Section 19827.5 of the
California Health and Safety Code requires local agencies not to issue demolition or
alteration permits until an applicant has demonstrated compliance with the notification
requirements under applicable federal regulations regarding hazardous air pollutants,
including asbestos. In addition:

0 Asbestos shall be disposed of at a licensed disposal facility, to be identified by the
licensed contractor.

o The local office of Cal/lOSHA shall be notified of asbestos abatement activities.

0 Asbestos abatement contractors shall follow state regulations contained in 8 CCR
1529 and 8 CCR 341.6 through 341.14 where asbestos-related work would involve
100 square feet or more of ACM.

0 Asbestos removal contractors shall be certified as such by the Contractors
Licensing Board of the State of California. The owner of the property where
abatement is to occur shall have a hazardous waste generator number assigned by
and registered with the California Department of Health Services in Sacramento.

0 The contractor and hauler of hazardous building materials shall file a hazardous
waste manifest, with details about hauling the material from the site and disposing

32



A42

Resolution No. XXX

of it. Pursuant to California law, the city of Menlo Park shall not issue the required
permit until the Project Sponsor has complied with the notice requirements
described above.

Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.4: Conduct a Focused Soil Vapor Intrusion Investigation. Prior to
construction, the Project Sponsor shall retain the services of a qualified environmental
consulting firm to conduct a focused soil vapor investigation. The investigation shall be
conducted in the areas that are designated for residential and office/R&D use and shall be
designed to protect building occupants from potential long-term impacts associated with vapor
intrusion. The investigation shall provide the data needed to determine whether long-term
engineering controls shall be needed as part of the proposed building development. The soil
vapor investigation’s methodology and sampling program shall be conducted by an
environmental consulting firm with applicable expertise and experience and would be
performed under any applicable oversight agency’s current guidance. The soil vapor
investigation shall be implemented by the Project Sponsor prior to construction of buildings on
the Project Site.

If the environmental consulting firm or appropriate regulatory agency providing oversight
determines engineering controls are required, they shall be designed by a qualified engineer in
compliance with requirements of the appropriate regulatory agency and/or the city of Menlo Park
to address vapor conditions by redirecting and/or minimizing soil vapor (e.g., the February 2023
Supplemental Guidance: Screening and Evaluating Vapor Intrusion prepared by the California
Department of Toxic Substances Control and the California State Water Resources Control Board
or the prevailing applicable requirements at the time the Project is implemented). The
performance of the installed vapor mitigation systems shall be confirmed by appropriate quality
assurance/quality control inspection and test methods, as certified by the design engineer, and
the certification shall be provided to the appropriate regulatory agency providing oversight and
city of Menlo Park as needed.

Specific engineering controls may include, but shall not be limited to:

¢ Installation of subsurface migration barriers; and/or
¢ Inclusion of ventilated foundations for any proposed structures; and/or

e The use and implementation of an alternative method or structural design to address soil
gas releases and reduce the potential for hazardous conditions to occur.

Appropriate engineering control systems shall be determined with concurrence, approval, and
oversight from the appropriate regulatory agency providing oversight and shall be dependent on
building placement and construction.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1, HAZ-2.2, HAZ-2.3, and HAZ-2.4,
which are hereby adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts to
a less-than-significant level. The City finds Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1, HAZ-2.2, HAZ-2.3, and
HAZ-2.4 would be feasible. The City hereby determines that any impacts related to upset and
accident conditions involving hazardous materials after implementation of Mitigation Measures
HAZ-2.1, HAZ-2.2, HAZ-2.3, and HAZ-2.4 would not be significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section
15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially

33



A43

Resolution No. XXX

lessen the significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. Because it is possible that
residual soil or groundwater contaminants exist on the Project Site, ground disturbance,
excavation, and dewatering activities conducted during construction of the Project Variant could
encounter affected soils and contaminated groundwater could result in potential exposure risk for
construction personnel and the surrounding environment. In addition, hazardous building
materials such as asbestos, lead, and PCBs could be present. As such, demolition activities
associated with the Project Variant could create a potential risk for construction personnel and
the surrounding environment from an exposure to hazardous building materials.

Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 through HAZ-2.3 would reduce potential impacts associated with
construction and operation of the Project Variant by requiring an environmental site management
plan prior to the start of construction to minimize any potential exposure of construction personnel,
future site occupants, and the general public to contaminated soils and unknown environmental
conditions/subsurface features. The mitigation measures would also require monitoring and
groundwater sampling to ensure adequate treatment and disposal and address potential risks
associated with contaminated groundwater encountered during dewatering. In addition, proper
abatement procedures would be implemented at buildings and structures with known hazardous
building materials that would be demolished as part of the Project Variant. In addition,
implementation of Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.4 would require additional soil vapor investigation in
areas designated for residential use to address the potential soil vapor intrusion risk associated
with the Project Variant. Implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1, HAZ-2.2, HAZ-2.3, and
HAZ-2.4 is feasible and would reduce potentially significant impacts related to the release of
hazardous materials from affected media onsite to a less-than-significant level.

Impact HAZ-3: Exposure to Schools. The Project Variant could emit hazardous emissions or
involve handling hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within 0.25 mile
of an existing or proposed school.

Mitigation Measures: Implement Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.1, Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.2, and
Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.3.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1, HAZ-2.2, and HAZ-2.3, which are
hereby adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts to a less-
than-significant level. The City finds Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1, HAZ-2.2, and HAZ-2.3 would
be feasible. The City hereby determines that any impacts related to emitting hazardous emissions
or handling hazardous materials within 0.25 mile of schools after implementation of Mitigation
Measures HAZ-2.1, HAZ-2.2, and HAZ-2.3 would not be significant. (CEQA Guidelines Section
15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated
into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially lessen the
significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. The Project Site is within 0.25 mile of Menlo-
Atherton High School and Menlo Children’s Center. Construction activities associated with the
Project Variant could encounter residual contamination in soil during ground disturbance as well as
affected groundwater during dewatering. In addition, demolition activities could uncover and expose
construction personnel and the surrounding environment to hazardous building materials, which
would be a potentially significant impact. Implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 through
HAZ-2.3 would reduce potential impacts of the Project Variant by requiring an environmental site
management plan prior to the start of construction to minimize any potential exposure of
construction personnel, future site occupants, and the general public to contaminated soils and
unknown environmental conditions/subsurface features. The mitigation measures would also



Ad4

Resolution No. XXX

require monitoring and groundwater sampling to ensure adequate treatment and disposal and
address potential risks associated with contaminated groundwater encountered during dewatering.
In addition, proper abatement procedures would be implemented at buildings and structures with
known hazardous building materials that would be demolished. Implementation of these mitigation
measures would therefore reduce potentially significant impacts related to the handling of
hazardous or acutely hazardous materials near schools to a less-than-significant level.

Impact HAZ-4: Cortese List. The Project Variant would be located on a site included on a list of
hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result,
could create a significant hazard for the public or the environment.

Mitigation Measures: Implement Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.1 and Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.2.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2, which are hereby adopted
and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts to a less-than-significant level.
The City finds that Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2 would be feasible. The City hereby
determines that any impacts related to residual contamination in onsite soils on a Cortese List site
after implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2 would not be significant. (CEQA
Guidelines Section 15091(a)(1).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Changes or alterations have been required in, or
incorporated into, mitigation measures for the Project Variant that would avoid or substantially
lessen the significant environmental effect, as identified in the EIR. Contamination associated with
the SRI and SRI International properties was addressed to the satisfaction of the oversight
agencies. Thus, impacts associated with leaking underground storage tanks are considered
unlikely. Nonetheless, the Project Variant would be located on a site included on a list of
hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5, resulting in
the potential to encounter residual affected media. This would be a potentially significant impact.
Implementation of Mitigation Measures HAZ-2.1 and HAZ-2.2 is feasible and would reduce the
potential impacts of the Project Variant by requiring an environmental site management plan prior
to the start of construction. Implementation of the mitigation measures under the Project Variant
would therefore reduce any potential exposure of construction workers or the public to residual
contamination in onsite soils, if encountered, to a less-than-significant level.

C. Findings Regarding Significant and Unavoidable Impacts

The EIR identified the following significant and unavoidable adverse environmental impacts
associated with approval of the Project Variant, some of which can be reduced, although not to a
less-than-significant level, through implementation of mitigation measures identified in the EIR.
The City finds there are no additional feasible mitigation measures or alternatives that could be
adopted at this time that would reduce these significant and unavoidable impacts to a less-than-
significant level. For each significant and unavoidable impact identified below, the City has made
a finding(s) pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21081.

However, for reasons set forth in Section VIII, Statement of Overriding Conditions, below, the City
Council has determined that overriding economic, social, and other considerations outweigh the
Project Variant’s significant and unavoidable effects. The findings in this section are based on
information presented in the EIR, the discussion and analysis of which is hereby incorporated in
full by this reference, and all materials in the recording of proceedings for the Project Variant as
set forth in Section V above.

35



A45

Resolution No. XXX

Again, note that the Parkline Master Plan Project is a modified version of the Project Variant itself
by reducing the amount of non-residential uses proposed by approximately 380,000 SF, and any
references in this Section to the “Project Variant” also apply to the Parkline Master Plan Project.

1. NOISE

The topic of noise was analyzed in Section 3.7 of the Draft EIR for the Proposed Project and
Chapter 4 for the Project Variant. The Draft EIR determined that the Project Variant could result
in the significant impacts related to noise and vibration discussed below, and recommended the
mitigation measures that follow. Again, the Parkline Master Plan Project is a modified version of
the Project Variant itself by reducing the amount of non-residential uses proposed by
approximately 380,000 SF, and any references below in this Section to the “Project Variant” also
apply to the Parkline Master Plan Project.

Impact NOI-1: Construction Noise. Construction of the Project Variant would generate a
substantial temporary or permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the Project
in excess of standards established in a local general plan or noise ordinance or applicable
standards of other agencies.

Mitigation Measure NOI-1.2: Install Sound Barrier. Prior to issuance of the first construction
permit, a permanent or temporary noise barrier shall be erected along the property line
immediately south of the townhomes. The temporary barrier shall not be removed until the
barrier is no longer needed to reduce noise from construction activities and comply with the
thresholds identified in this EIR. The barrier shall start at Laurel Street, then continue
perpendicularly to Laurel Street along the property line for a distance of approximately 330 feet.
The barrier shall continue parallel to Barron Street along the property line for a distance of
approximately 400 feet and end at Burgess Drive. The distances cited here are preliminary and
based on the preliminary Project design. The actual distances shall be determined in a more
precise manner during the design phase for the noise barrier. The temporary noise barriers
shall be at least 12 feet high and constructed from a material with a minimum weight of 2 pounds
per square foot, with no gaps of perforations. All noise control barrier walls shall be designed to
preclude structural failure due to such factors as wind, shear, shallow soil failure, earthquake,
or erosion. The design and location of the sound barrier shall be supported by a technical
analysis of the proposed design and installed prior to demolition/construction. The design of the
sound barrier may be incorporated into the noise control plan in Mitigation Measure NOI-1.3.

Mitigation Measure NOI-1.3: Implement Noise Reduction Plan to Reduce Construction Noise.
Prior to issuance of any demolition, grading, and/or building permits for construction of the
Project Variant, the Project Sponsor and/or contractor(s) shall (i) develop a construction noise
control plan to reduce noise levels and demonstrate how the Project Variant will comply with
Menlo Park Municipal Code daytime (i.e., during non-exempt hours) and nighttime noise
standards to the extent feasible and practical, subject to review and determination by the
Community Development Department, and (ii) provide a note on all development plans,
stating that, during ongoing grading, demolition, and construction, the Project Sponsor shall
be responsible for requiring contractors to implement measures to limit construction-related
noise, as set forth in the plan and in this mitigation measure (NOI-1.3). The plan shall also
include measures to reduce noise levels such that a 10-decibel (dB) increase over the ambient
noise level does not occur at nearby noise-sensitive land uses to the extent feasible and
practical, as determined by the city of Menlo Park. For concrete pouring occurring during
early-morning hours, the closest distance that equipment for concrete pouring shall operate
to noise-sensitive land uses is 100 feet, which applies to residential properties and the church

36



A46

Resolution No. XXX

property on the north side of Ravenswood Avenue. Equipment for concrete pouring shall
operate no closer than 200 feet from the property line of residential properties in the Classics
of Burgess Park or Linfield Oaks neighborhoods. These distances are based on the
anticipated locations for the concrete pouring activities.

The plan shall demonstrate that, to the extent feasible and practical, noise from concrete
pouring activities and emergency well construction that occur overnight and between
6:00 a.m. and 8:00 a.m. will comply with the applicable city of Menlo Park noise limit of 50 A-
weighted decibels (dBA) from 10:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. or 60 dBA from 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m.
at the nearest existing residential or noise-sensitive land use. The plan shall also demonstrate
that, to the extent feasible and practical, as determined by the city, noise from individual
pieces of equipment proposed for use will not exceed the limit for powered equipment (i.e.,
85 dBA Leq at 50 feet) and combined noise from construction activities during all hours will not
result in a 10 dB or greater increase beyond the ambient noise level at the nearest noise-
sensitive land uses. Activities that would produce noise above applicable daytime or nighttime
limits shall be scheduled only during normal daytime construction hours (i.e., 8:00 a.m. to
6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday). If it is determined that a particular piece of equipment will
not meet the requirements of this mitigation measure, that equipment shall not be used outside
normal daytime construction hours (i.e., 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday). The
plan shall be approved by the city prior to the issuance of building permits to confirm the
precise noise minimization strategies that will be implemented and document the strategies
that will be employed to the extent feasible and practical.

The measures to reduce noise from construction activity may include, but are not limited to, the
following:

e Require all construction equipment to be equipped with mufflers and sound control devices
(e.g., intake silencers, ducts, engine enclosures, acoustically attenuating shields, noise
shrouds) that are in good condition (i.e., at least as effective as those originally provided
by the manufacturer) and appropriate for the equipment.

e Maintain all construction equipment to minimize noise emissions.

e Locate construction equipment as far as feasible from adjacent or nearby noise-sensitive
receptors.

e Stockpiling locations shall be as far as feasible from adjacent or nearby noise-sensitive
receptors.

¢ Require all stationary equipment to be located so as to maintain the greatest possible
distance from nearby existing buildings, where feasible and practical.

e Require stationary noise sources associated with construction (e.g., generators and
compressors) in proximity to noise-sensitive land uses to be muffled and/or enclosed
within temporary enclosures and shielded by barriers, to the extent feasible and practical.

¢ Install noise-reducing sound walls or fencing (e.g., temporary fencing with sound blankets)
around noise-generating equipment, to the extent feasible and practical, where no
perimeter wall is provided. See also Mitigation Measure NOI-1.2.

¢ Prohibit the idling of inactive construction equipment for prolonged periods (i.e., more than
2 minutes) during early-morning hours.

37



A47

Resolution No. XXX

e Provide advance notification by mailing/delivering notices to surrounding land uses
regarding the construction schedule, including the various types of activities that would be
occurring throughout the duration of the construction period.

¢ Provide the name and telephone number of an onsite construction liaison through onsite
signage and the notices mailed/delivered to surrounding land uses. If construction noise
is found to be intrusive to the community (i.e., if complaints are received), the construction
liaison shall take reasonable efforts to investigate the source of the noise and require that
reasonable measures be implemented to correct the problem.

e Use electric motors rather than gasoline- or diesel-powered engines to avoid noise
associated with compressed air exhaust from pneumatically powered tools, to the extent
feasible and practical (as determined by the city). Where the use of pneumatic tools is
unavoidable, an exhaust muffler on the compressed air exhaust could be used; this muffler
can lower noise levels from the exhaust by about 10 dB. External jackets on the tools
themselves could be used, which could achieve a reduction of 5 dB.

e Limit the use of public address systems.

e Limit construction traffic to the haul routes established by the city.

The Project Sponsor and/or the contractor(s) shall obtain a permit to complete work outside the
normal daytime construction hours outlined in the Menlo Park Municipal Code (i.e., 8:00 a.m. to
6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday); this may be incorporated into the conditional development
permit for the Project Variant. Furthermore, the plan shall require verification that construction
activities will be conducted at adequate distances or otherwise shielded with sound barriers, as
determined through analysis, from noise-sensitive receptors when occurring outside normal
daytime construction hours; compliance with the Menlo Park Municipal Code will be verified
through measurement.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures NOI-1.2, and NOI-1.3, which are hereby
adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts, but not to a less-
than-significant level. Although the City finds that Mitigation Measures NOI-1.2, and NOI-1.3
would be feasible, and that there are no additional feasible mitigation measures that will reduce
this impact to a less-than-significant level. The City hereby determines that specific considerations
make further mitigation measures or alternatives infeasible; therefore, any impacts related to
construction noise would be significant and unavoidable.

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Daytime construction activities of the Project Variant would
result in a temporary noise level greater than 10 decibels (dB), relative to the existing noise level.
In addition, nighttime and early-morning construction noise would affect noise-sensitive land uses
near the emergency water reservoir (i.e., residences north of Ravenswood Avenue, near
Middlefield Road). Because noise limits would be exceeded during construction, impacts would
be potentially significant. A construction noise reduction plan, per Mitigation Measure NOI-1.3,
would be implemented to reduce the noise levels from construction activities for the Project
Variant. However, such a plan may not be able to ensure that noise would be below the applicable
thresholds in all circumstances. Implementation of Mitigation Measure NOI-1.2 during Project
Variant construction would reduce noise by requiring installation of a noise barrier. For the
sensitive land uses at 200 feet (i.e., single-family residences in the Linfield Oaks and Classics of
Burgess Park neighborhoods), this noise barrier, along with intervening buildings would reduce
noise from the concrete pours such that the noise limit would not be exceeded. However, noise
from concrete pours occurring 100 feet from the homes north of Ravenswood Avenue would not
be blocked by intervening buildings or a barrier. It is not feasible to add a noise barrier between

38



A48

Resolution No. XXX

the homes north of Ravenswood Avenue and the concrete pour location adjacent to Residential
Building 1, because a barrier in this location could interfere with construction operations, such as
personnel and vehicles accessing the site. Taken together, these mitigation measures may not
be able to ensure that noise would be below the applicable thresholds in all circumstances. The
construction noise reduction plan and noise barrier would reduce noise, but noise levels could
temporarily be as high as 97 dBA Leqg, as conservatively measured without any noise attenuation
or reduction measures. Even with implementation of Mitigation Measures NOI-1.2 and NOI-1.3,
substantial temporary increase in noise would occur during certain construction activities.
Although the substantial increase in noise would be temporary and limited to only certain
construction activity, the increase could nevertheless adversely affect surrounding land uses that
are sensitive to noise, particularly during construction activities that occur in the nighttime and
early morning hours. As a result, the City finds that impacts under the Project Variant related to
nighttime, early-morning, and daytime construction noise would be significant and unavoidable
with implementation of all feasible mitigation.

Impact NOI-3: Ground-borne Vibration. The Project Variant would generate excessive ground-
borne vibration or ground-borne noise levels.

Mitigation Measure NOI-3.1: Vibration Control Measures for Annoyance from Construction
Activities. Daytime construction activity involving an excavator, or other equipment capable of
generating similar vibration levels, shall take place no closer than 50 feet from residential or other
sensitive land uses, to the extent feasible and practical, subject to review and approval by the
Community Development Department; equipment smaller than an excavator may operate less
than 50 feet from residential land uses. Jackhammers shall be further restricted, operating no
closer than 30 feet from residential land uses. The 50-foot restriction may be greater for equipment
that results in greater vibration levels than an excavator. Maintaining these distances between
equipment and the nearest sensitive land uses would ensure that vibration levels would be below
a peak particle velocity (PPV) of 0.032 inch per second (in/sec). Early-morning construction
activity involving concrete trucks shall occur after 7:00 a.m. when the daytime threshold from
ConnectMenlo is applicable (0.032 in/sec) rather than the nighttime threshold (0.016 in/sec).

When construction requires the use of the aforementioned types of equipment closer to nearby
sensitive uses or before the allowable hours, reduction measures shall be incorporated, to the
extent feasible and practical, such as the use of smaller or less vibration-intensive equipment.
The feasibility of reduction measures shall be subject to review and determination by the
Community Development Department. In addition, the construction contractor shall appoint a
vibration coordinator for the Proposed Project who will serve as the point of contact for vibration-
related complaints during construction. Contact information for the vibration coordinator will be
posted at the Project Site and on a publicly available website for the Proposed Project. Should
complaints be received, the vibration coordinator shall work with the construction team to adjust
activities, to the extent feasible and practical, and reduce vibration or reschedule activities for a
less sensitive time. The vibration coordinator shall notify the Community Development
Department of all vibration-related complaints and actions taken to address the complaints.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measure NOI-3.1, which is hereby adopted and
incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts, but not to a less-than-significant
level. Although the City finds that Mitigation Measure NOI-3.1 would be feasible, there are no
additional feasible mitigation measures that will reduce this impact to a less-than-significant level.
The City hereby determines that specific considerations make further mitigation measures or
alternatives infeasible; therefore, any impacts related to ground-borne vibration during
construction would be significant and unavoidable.

39



A49

Resolution No. XXX

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Most construction activities would occur more than 15 feet
from offsite uses because construction along the perimeter of the site would be short term
compared to the overall duration of construction.

The shortest distance between construction equipment and existing buildings is expected to be
approximately 15 feet, which could occur in the Linfield Oaks or Classics of Burgess Park
neighborhoods. The length of time that equipment would operate within 15 feet of residences in
these neighborhoods would be limited to only 3 to 4 days during grading for landscaping-related
activities. Nevertheless, because equipment could be as close as 15 feet, this distance is
conservatively used in the vibration evaluation in the EIR. During the early-morning concrete
pours, equipment would operate within the interior of the Project Site, not near existing residential
uses. However, a loaded concrete truck traveling within approximately 70 feet of existing
residential uses could generate a vibration level greater than the nighttime threshold specified in
the ConnectMenlo EIR. Additionally, construction of the emergency well, which would be included
as part of the emergency water reservoir, would occur for 24 hours per day for 10 days and could
be located as close as 60 feet to existing residences north of Ravenswood Avenue. Therefore,
the construction vibration impact from nighttime and early morning construction would be
potentially significant.

Implementation of Mitigation Measure NOI-3.1 would reduce vibration levels from construction
activity during daytime and early-morning hours by requiring larger equipment to operate at
distances greater than 15 feet from sensitive land uses to the extent feasible; a vibration
coordinator would be required to address any vibration-related complaints received. However, it
may not be possible to ensure that vibration levels at all times and at all locations would be
reduced to a level below the “strongly perceptible” level or below the thresholds identified in the
ConnectMenlo EIR because larger equipment may need to operate at closer distances to
sensitive land uses. Therefore, temporary impacts related to construction vibration under the
Project Variant would be significant and unavoidable with implementation of all feasible mitigation.

Impact C-NOI-1: Cumulative Construction Noise. Cumulative development would result in a
significant environmental impact related to construction noise; the Project Variant would be a
cumulatively considerable contributor to a significant environmental impact.

Mitigation Measure: Implement Mitigation Measure NOI-1.1 and Mitigation Measure NOI-1.2.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures NOI-1.1 and NOI-1.2, which are hereby
adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts, but not to a less-
than-significant level. Although the City finds that Mitigation Measures NOI-1.1 and NOI-1.2 would
be feasible, there are no additional feasible mitigation measures that will reduce this impact to a
less-than-significant level. The City hereby determines that specific considerations make further
mitigation measures or alternatives infeasible; therefore, any impacts related to cumulative
construction noise would be significant and unavoidable.

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: If the construction of multiple projects in the area overlaps,
cumulative construction noise impacts would be potentially significant. Because the Project
Variant on its own would result in a significant impact, its contribution would be cumulatively
considerable. Although implementation of Mitigation Measures NOI-1.1 and NOI-1.2 would
reduce the Project Variant's construction noise impacts, such impacts were determined to be
significant and unavoidable. Based on the analysis above, the Project Variant’s contribution to
cumulative impacts related to construction noise would be cumulatively considerable, even with
implementation of all feasible mitigation.

40



AS50

Resolution No. XXX

2. CULTURAL RESOURCES

The topic of cultural and tribal resources was analyzed in Section 3.8 of the Draft EIR for the
Proposed Project and Chapter 4 for the Project Variant, including historical resources. The Draft
EIR determined that the Project Variant could result in the significant impacts related to historical
resources discussed below, and recommended the mitigation measures that follow. Again, note
that the Parkline Master Plan Project is a modified version of the Project Variant itself by reducing
the amount of non-residential uses proposed by approximately 380,000 SF, and any references
in this Section to the “Project Variant” also apply to the Parkline Master Plan Project.

Impact CR-1: Historical Resources. The Project Variant would cause a substantial adverse
change in the significance of historical resources, pursuant to Section 15064.5.

Mitigation Measure CR-1.1: Documentation. Prior to issuance of any demolition, grading, or
construction permits for the site, the Project Sponsor shall undertake documentation of all
contributing buildings and landscape elements of the SRI International Campus Historic District and
the three individually eligible historic resources (Buildings 100, A, and E). The documentation shall
be funded by the Project Sponsor and undertaken by a qualified professional who meets the
Secretary of the Interior’s professional qualification standards for history, architectural history, or
architecture (Code of Federal Regulations, Title 36, Part 61, Appendix A). Documentation shall
be submitted to the Menlo Park Planning Division, or a qualified historic consultant, for review
prior to issuance of demolition permits. The documentation package created shall consist of the
items listed below:

e CR-1.1.a: Digital Photography
e CR-1.1.b: Historical Report

e CR-1.1.c: Site Plan and Drawings

The documentation materials shall be submitted to the Northwest Information Center at Sonoma
State University, the repository for the California Historical Resources Information System. The
documentation shall also be offered to state, regional, and local repositories, including the Menlo
Park Public Library, Menlo Park Historical Association, San Mateo County History Museum,
Computer History Museum, and SRI International. Materials will be provided in archival digital
and/or hard-copy formats, depending on the capacity and preference of the repository. This
measure would create a collection of reference materials that would be available to the public and
inform future research.

Mitigation Measure CR-1.1.a: Digital Photography. Digital photographs shall be taken of all
contributing buildings and landscape elements. Photographs will capture the overall character
and setting of the eligible SRI International Campus Historic District and the three individually
eligible historic resources (Buildings 100, A, and E). All digital photography shall be conducted
according to current National Park Service standards, as specified in the National Register Photo
Policy Factsheet.75 The photography shall be undertaken by a qualified professional with
demonstrated experience in documentation photography. Large-format negatives are not
required.

Photograph views for the data set shall include:

e At least one photograph of each contributing building, which may be the primary facade
or an oblique view showing the primary facade and a secondary facade;

e Photographs of all facades of the three individually eligible buildings (Buildings 100, A,
and E);

41



AS51

Resolution No. XXX

o Detail views of character-defining features of the three individually eligible buildings
(Buildings 100, A, and E);

¢ Representative interior views of the three individually eligible buildings (Buildings 100, A,
and E); and

e Contextual views of the site and each contributing landscape element.

All photographs shall be referenced on a photographic key map or site plan. The photographic
key shall show the photograph number, with an arrow to indicate the direction of the view. Digital
photographs shall be in an uncompressed RAW file format and saved as TIFF files. Each image
shall be a minimum of 1,600 by 1,200 pixels, at 300 pixels per inch or larger, and in color. The file
name for each electronic image shall correspond with the name in the index of photographs and
on the photograph label. If repositories request hard copies, the photographs shall be printed on
archival paper.

Drone photographs of the site shall be taken and saved in a digital file format on an archival DVD,
then submitted to the repositories with the photographic documentation. The use of digital
photography and drone photography is encouraged in CR-1.2: Interpretive Program.

Mitigation Measure CR-1.1.b: Historical Report. A written historical narrative and report that meets
Historic American Buildings Survey (HABS) historical report guidelines shall be produced for the
three individually eligible buildings. This HABS-style historical report may be based on
documentation provided in the 2022 historic resource evaluation for the site and include historic
photographs and drawings, if available. The HABS-style historical report shall follow an outline
format, with a statement of significance and a description of the buildings. The HABS-style
historical report shall be submitted to the repositories along with the historic resource evaluation
(2022), which documents the history of the site and the historic district.

Mitigation Measure CR-1.1.c: Site Plan and Drawings. An existing-conditions site plan shall be
produced, depicting the current configuration and spatial relationships of the contributing buildings
and landscape features. The existing-conditions site plan shall be prepared by a professional who
meets the Secretary of the Interior’s professional qualification standards for architecture or historic
architecture and reviewed by the professional retained to prepare the written history.
Documentation of plantings is not required, but a depiction of the locations and types of mature
trees, as well as designed hardscape and landscape features, shall be included.

Reasonable efforts shall be made to locate original drawings and/or site plans of the district and
contributing buildings from its period of significance. If located, selected representative drawings
(e.g., site plans, elevations, sections, relevant key details) shall be photographed or scanned at
high resolution, reproduced, and included in the dataset.

Original architectural drawings or as-built drawings of the three individually eligible buildings
proposed for demolition shall be submitted as part of the documentation package. Original
drawings for Buildings A and E are known to be available in the SRI International records and
therefore should be reproduced. Reasonable efforts should be made to locate original drawings
for Building 100. If original architectural or construction drawings of Building 100, including floor
plans and elevations, cannot be located, measured drawings shall be prepared, according to
HABS guidelines, by a professional who meets the Secretary of the Interior's professional
gualification standards for architecture or historic architecture and reviewed by the professional
retained to prepare the written history.

42



AS2

Resolution No. XXX

Mitigation Measure CR-1.2: Interpretive Program. The Project Sponsor, in consultation with a
gualified historian or architectural historian who meets the Secretary of the Interior's professional
gualification standards and an experienced exhibit design professional, shall develop an
interpretive program for the site. The interpretive program plan shall be reviewed by the Menlo
Park Planning Division and/or a qualified historic consultant prior to the issuance of any permits
for demolition, grading, or construction on the site. The plan shall include information regarding
the proposed format and location of the content, along with information regarding the high-quality
graphics and written narratives that will be incorporated. The interpretive display/feature shall be
fully implemented and/or installed concurrent with the completion of common public open spaces
and/or pathways along Ravenswood Avenue but not later than prior to issuance of the final
certificate of occupancy for Parkline (Proposed Project) and inspected by Menlo Park Planning
Division staff members and/or a qualified historic consultant to confirm its adherence to
requirements of the approved interpretive program.

The Project Sponsor shall provide a robust interpretive program with multiple permanent outdoor
displays concerning the history of SRI International. The high-quality interpretive displays shall be
installed within the Project Site boundaries; made of durable, all-weather materials; and
positioned to allow high public visibility and interactivity. In addition to narrative text, the
interpretative displays may include photographs, news articles, memorabilia, and drawings. The
interpretive program may use source materials from the historic resource evaluation or materials
prepared as part of Mitigation Measure CR-1.1 but should also incorporate other primary and
secondary sources, such as existing oral histories, historic photographs, and video footage where
available and practicable. In addition to interpreting the overall significance of the SRI
International campus as a historic district, the interpretive displays shall feature information on
the individual significance of Buildings 100, A, and E, including the specific innovations, significant
persons, and architecture associated with those buildings, as applicable.

In addition to interpretive displays in public areas of the site, the Project Sponsor may consider
additional means of onsite interpretation, including digital interpretation methods (e.g., websites,
mobile applications, interpretive videos, drone footage, virtual- or augmented-reality experiences,
artwork inspired by or related to the history of the site). Creative means of interpretation, such as
landscape and play features, along with other means of presenting information regarding the
history and development of the site, are encouraged.

Although the interpretive program shall include information on the history and development of SRI
International, as well as the important persons and innovations associated with the institution,
interpretation may also include information on previous eras of site history, such as the residential
estate era and Dibble General Hospital era.

Mitigation Measure CR-1.3: Relocation of SRI Monument. The Project Sponsor, in consultation
with a qualified historian or architectural historian who meets or exceeds the Secretary of the
Interior’s qualifications standards, and a professional conservator shall develop and implement a
relocation plan for the SRI International Monument. The receiver site shall retain the relationship
between the SRI Monument and the campus setting, the landscape materials, and the immediate
setting to the extent feasible. Altering the setting and placing the SRI International Monument
along a prominent walkway axis is not recommended as it may negatively impact the historic
character of the setting.

The SRI International Monument relocation plan shall include:

1) Identification of a receiver site on the Project Site.

43



AS53

Resolution No. XXX

i. Description of how the receiver site reflects the historic setting of the SRI International
Monument south of Building I, on the brick median in the visitor parking lot west of
Building A.

ii. Specifications for the removal of the SRI International Monument from its current
location, transport to the receiver site, and identification of possible secure,
environmentally controlled storage location during construction of the Project Variant.
The specifications shall include protective measures to ensure the monument is not
damaged during removal, transport, storage, and re-installation. The specifications
shall include a timeline for removal and storage that will occur following the Historic
American Buildings Survey (HABS) photographic documentation and prior to the
beginning of ground-disturbing construction.

iii. Project plans or drawings that show the SRI International Monument clearly identified
on demolition drawings as well as the receiver site on construction plans.

The SRI International Monument relocation plan shall be reviewed by the Menlo Park Planning
Division prior to the issuance of any permits for demolition, grading, or construction on the Project
Site. The final SRI International Monument relocation plan shall be submitted to the construction
superintendents and confirmation of receipt shall be documented via email.

Mitigation Measure CR-1.4: Documentation of the Chapel. Prior to issuance of a demolition permit
for the First Church of Christ, Scientist and Alpha Kids Academy (Chapel buildings), the Project
Sponsor shall undertake documentation of the Chapel at 201 Ravenswood Avenue. The
documentation shall be funded by the Project Sponsor and undertaken by a qualified
professional(s) who meets the Secretary of the Interior's Professional Qualification Standards for
history, architectural history, or architecture (Code of Federal Regulations, Title 36, Part 61,
Appendix A) and be submitted for review by the Menlo Park Planning Division prior to issuance
of a demolition permit for the Chapel buildings. The documentation package created shall consist
of the items listed below, consisting of (a) digital photography and (b) a historical report. The
documentation materials shall be submitted to the Northwest Information Center at Sonoma State
University, the repository for the California Historical Resources Information System. The
documentation shall also be offered to local repositories, including the Menlo Park Public Library,
Menlo Park Historical Association, and San Mateo County History Museum. Materials shall either
be provided in archival digital and/or hard copy formats, depending on the capacity and
preference of the repository. This measure would create a collection of reference materials that
would be available to the public and inform future research. Although the documentation would
use some of the guidelines and specifications developed for the Historic American Buildings
Survey (HABS), the documentation package would not need to be delivered as HABS
documentation to the Library of Congress.

(a) Digital Photography. Digital photographs shall be taken of the Chapel at 201 Ravenswood
Avenue. All digital photography shall be conducted according to current National Park Service
(NPS) standards, as specified in the National Register Photo Policy Factsheet (updated May
2013). The photography shall be undertaken by a qualified professional with demonstrated
experience in documentation photography. Large-format negatives are not required.
Photograph for the data set shall include:

e Photographs of all facades
e Detailed views of character-defining features

o Representative interior views of the nave and narthex



A54

Resolution No. XXX

e Contextual views of the site, including the courtyards at the corners of the cross plan for
the Chapel. Contextual views may include the multi-use building, but full facade and
detailed views of the multi-use building are not required.

(b) Historical Reports. A written historical narrative and report that meets HABS Historical Report
Guidelines shall be produced for the Chapel at 201 Ravenswood Avenue. This HABS-style
historical report may be based on the documentation provided in the 2024 Department of Parks
and Recreation 523 form evaluation for the property and include historic photographs and
drawings, if available. The HABS-style historical report shall follow an outline format, with a
statement of significance for the building and a description of the building.

FINDING: Implementation of Mitigation Measures CR-1.1, CR-1.2, CR-1.3, and CR-1.4, which are
hereby adopted and incorporated into the Project Variant, would reduce the impacts, but not to a
less-than-significant level. Although the City finds that Mitigation Measures CR-1.1, CR-1.2, CR-1.3,
and CR-1.4 would be feasible, there are no additional feasible mitigation measures that will reduce
this impact to a less-than-significant level. The City hereby determines that specific considerations
make further mitigation measures or alternatives infeasible; therefore, impacts related to historical
resources would be significant and unavoidable.

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: The Project Variant would demolish 23 out of 26 existing
commercial buildings at the Project Site that are considered contributors to a potentially eligible
historic district, plus the two Chapel buildings at 201 Ravenswood Avenue. The Project Variant would
result in significant impacts to the SRI Campus historic district and the four individually significant
buildings (Building 100, Building A, and Building E and the Chapel at 201 Ravenswood Avenue).
Implementation of the Project Variant would require demolition of the four individually significant
buildings, 23 of the 26 historic district contributor buildings, and one of two contributing landscape
features, all of which are considered historical resources, as defined in CEQA Guidelines Section
15064.5. As a result, the historic district and four individual buildings would lose eligibility for listing
in the CRHR. The Project Variant would implement Mitigation Measures CR-1.1 (including CR-1.1.a,
CR-1.1.b, CR-1.1.c), CR-1.2, and CR-1.3, which would reduce the potential level of impact on the
three individually CRHR-eligible historical resources and the potential impact on the CRHR-eligible
SRI Campus historic district by requiring documentation and interpretation and/or commemoration
of the resources to be demolished and the relocation of a contributing landscape feature of the
historic district. However, the demolition of historical resources cannot be mitigated to a less-than-
significant level, and impacts on built-environment resources at the SRI Campus historic district
would be significant and unavoidable with mitigation. In addition, Mitigation Measure CR-1.4 would
require documentation of the Chapel to be demolished, which would lessen the impacts associated
with the Project Variant. However, demolition cannot be mitigated to reduce impacts to a less-than-
significant level. Impacts under the Project Variant on the Chapel would remain significant and
unavoidable with implementation of all feasible mitigation.

VIL. FINDINGS REGARDING ALTERNATIVES

As required under CEQA, the Project EIR analyzed a reasonable range of alternatives to the Project
and evaluated the environmental impacts and feasibility of each alternative, as well as the ability of
the alternatives to meet Project objectives. The Project objectives are listed in Chapter 2 (Project
Description) of the Draft EIR; the potentially significant environmental effects of the Proposed Project,
including feasible mitigation measures identified to avoid significant environmental impacts, are
analyzed in Chapter 3 (Environmental Impact Analysis) and Chapter 4 (Project Variant Analysis) of
the Draft EIR; the alternatives are described in detail in Chapter 6 (Alternatives Analysis) of the Draft
EIR. As the Parkline Master Plan Project is a modified version of the Project Variant itself by
reducing the amount of non-residential uses by approximately 380,000 SF, any references below

45



AS55

Resolution No. XXX

in this Section to the “Proposed Project” or “Project Variant” also apply to the Parkline Master
Plan Project.

Brief summaries of the alternatives are provided below.

A.

Alternatives Considered and Rejected during the Scoping/Project Planning Process

The following potential alternatives to the Project Variant were identified and considered City but
were ultimately not selected for further evaluation in the EIR.

Alternative Site Location: Any sites outside of the City, to the extent they exist and are
available, would not satisfy most of the basic Project objectives, including objectives
related to redevelopment of SRI's aging R&D campus into a financially viable residential
and commercial mixed-use neighborhood. SRI International has owned and operated the
Project Site since the 1940s as an R&D campus. Therefore, relocating the Project Variant
outside of the City would essentially be a different project rather than an alternative to the
Project Variant. Other than the Project Site, there are no comparable large areas of land
within the City where the Project Variant could be relocated to meet the Project’s
objectives. If the Project Sponsor were to secure control over a similar large site within the
greater Bay Area but outside the City’s boundaries, development of that site would not
meet multiple objectives that have been specifically designed to benefit the City and its
residents concerning long-term development and use of this particular site within the City
of Menlo Park. In addition, because the amount of development would remain the same,
many other impacts under this alternative would be similar to those of the Project Variant.
Accordingly, an alternative site would result in similar environmental impacts overall and
would not substantially lessen or avoid significant and unavoidable environmental effects.
Thus, an offsite alternative would be infeasible because it would not attain most of the
basic Project objectives and would not substantially reduce Project impacts. Therefore,
because of the aforementioned issues related to site suitability, economic viability,
acquisition and site control, and inconsistency with Project objectives, consideration of an
alternative site for the Project Variant has been rejected from further review.

Preservation Alternatives: Three preservation alternatives were selected for evaluation
in the EIR, as discussed in further detail, below. However, several other alternatives
related to preservation were considered but ultimately rejected. These include: Relocating
Buildings 100, A, and/or E; Retaining Buildings A and E; Converting Building E to
Residential Use; and Constructing an Addition to Building A to Accommodate New
Office/R&D Space. Because these alternative would not reduce potential impacts on
historic resources more than the preservation alternatives studied in the Draft EIR, would
not provide any additional benefit to meeting the Project Sponsor’s objectives, and these
alternatives were rejected from further consideration.

Residential Only Alternative: A Residential Only Alternative would consist of
development of residential uses only on the Project Site, while retaining Buildings P, S
and T. Assuming the maximum density permitted by the C-1 zoning for the Project Site
(30 dwelling units per acre), the Residential Only Alternative would result in approximately
1,896 multifamily residential units. This alternative would be consistent with the Project
Variant's objective of increasing the City’s housing supply by providing new housing units
with a mix of types and sizes. However, this alternative would be inconsistent with the
historical and intended future uses for the SRI property. With respect to potential impacts,
this alternative would not eliminate all of the significant construction- and operation-related
impacts associated with the Project Variant because the Project Site would still be

46



AS56

Resolution No. XXX

redeveloped. In addition, the Residential Only Alternative would not satisfy most of the
basic Project objectives, including, but not limited to, redeveloping an aging R&D campus
into a financially viable mixed-use neighborhood, constructing new state-of-the-art
commercial buildings with flexible floor plates, orienting new office/R&D uses in a
configuration that leverages operational efficiencies, and bolstering the City’s reputation
as a hub for technological advancement and innovation and recognizes SRI International’s
contributions to society and the growth of Silicon Valley. For these reasons, the
Residential Only Alternative is not feasible and has been rejected from further evaluation
in the EIR.

Increased Housing Alternative: The Increased Housing Alternative would examine a
scenario in which the maximum number of workers allowed under SRI’s existing CDP and
the number of housing units provided would result in a 1:1 jobs/housing ratio. Therefore,
this alternative would result in approximately 1,769 new multifamily units. This number of
units under this alternative would be inconsistent with many of the Project Variant's
objectives. The site plan would need to be re-evaluated to accommodate a substantial
increase in the number of units compared with the Project Variant due to a humber of
constraints, including, but not limited to, restrictions on height to ensure that SRI
International’s existing satellite transmission equipment could continue to function; the
retention of Buildings P, S, and T; and the Project Site’s proximity to existing single-family
neighborhoods. The resulting site plan could adversely affect the viability of the
commercial component, which is oriented around open space and other amenities to
create a modern office/R&D campus that attracts leading companies, bolsters the City’s
reputation as a hub for technological advancement and innovation, and recognizes SRI
International’s contributions to society. Without a viable commercial component, the
Project Variant would not be feasible.

Reduced Parking Alternative: The Reduced Parking Alternative would have fewer
parking spaces than the Project Variant. The Project Site’s proximity to the Menlo Park
Caltrain station and the Project Variant’s Transportation Demand Management (TDM)
plan are expected to reduce trips and therefore lower parking demands. The Project
Variant is designed to leverage the Project Site’s location to reduce trips by siting
commercial and residential uses near existing transit corridors and public transportation
facilities to create a transit-oriented development, consistent with that objective. A
Reduced Parking Alternative is not expected to reduce any significant impacts of the
Project Variant. Significant impacts related to vehicle miles traveled (VMT) include the
VMT impact itself as well as any significant air quality or greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
impact that is tied to VMT. As discussed throughout the EIR, VMT-related impacts would
be less than significant. Further, this alternative would affect the Project Variant’s viability.
According to the Project Sponsor, the Project Variant provides the minimum amount of
parking required for the office/R&D buildings to be marketable to tenants. Any reductions
in office/R&D parking could potentially impair the ability to obtain financing if prospective
lenders/investors believe the number of spaces is insufficient to attract tenants. The
Reduced Parking Alternative is not feasible and has therefore been rejected from further
evaluation in the EIR.

Reduced Construction Alternative: This alternative would impose a 200-foot buffer
where no construction would be permitted within 200 feet of the perimeter of the entire
site, which would prevent several existing buildings from being demolished, prevent
construction of the loop road within the Project Site, and substantially reduce the
redevelopment potential for the site. Overall, the Reduced Construction Alternative would
be financially infeasible, given that it would impede development of the necessary square

47



AS7

Resolution No. XXX

footage for state-of-the-art commercial facilities, which are intended to attract office/R&D
tenants, and also greatly reduce the residential component, which is a critical objective
and component in the current macroeconomic market. Therefore, a Reduced Construction
Alternative to reduce the significant and unavoidable noise impacts during construction to
a level of less than significant would be infeasible and has been rejected from further
evaluation in the EIR.

FINDING: The City hereby finds the above alternatives eliminated from further consideration
in the EIR are infeasible, would not meet most of the Project Variant objectives, or would not
reduce or avoid any of the significant effects of the Project Variant, for the reasons detailed in
Section 6.6 of the Draft EIR. Furthermore, the City finds that some of the rejected alternatives
would not be consistent with specific City General Plan goals, policies, or programs for which
the Project Variant would be consistent. The City finds that any of these grounds are
independently adequate to support rejection of these alternatives. (CEQA Guidelines Section
15091(a)(3).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: See above for the facts that support the finding for each
alternative considered but rejected from further consideration.

B. Alternatives Selected for Analysis

Section 15126.6(a) of the CEQA Guidelines requires the discussion of “a reasonable range of
alternatives to a project, or the location of a project, which would feasibly attain most of the basic
objectives of the proposed project but would avoid or substantially lessen any of the significant
effects of the proposed project and evaluate the comparative merits of the alternatives.” The EIR
identified and considered the following reasonable range of feasible alternatives to the Project
Variant that would be capable, to varying degrees, of reducing identified impacts:

¢ No-Project Alternative.

o Project Preservation Alternative 1 (Retain Building 100 and Chapel).

¢ Project Preservation Alternative 2 (Retain Buildings 100, A, and E and Chapel)

e Project Preservation Alternative 3 (Retain Buildings 100, A, E, and B and Chapel)

These alternatives were evaluated for their ability to avoid or substantially lessen the impacts of
the Project Variant identified in the Draft EIR as well as their ability to meet most of the basic
project objectives. The alternatives analysis included analysis of a no-project alternative and
identified the environmentally superior alternative.

Brief summaries of each alternative are provided below. The findings in this section are based on
the EIR, the discussion and analysis of which is hereby incorporated in full by this reference. The
reasons stated in the EIR for rejecting certain alternatives likewise are hereby adopted and
incorporated herein by reference. Each individual reason constitutes a separate and independent
basis to reject the alternative and, when the reasons are viewed collectively, provide an overall
basis for rejecting the alternative.

Pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21081(a)(3) and CEQA Guidelines
Section 15091(a)(3), the City makes the following findings regarding alternatives:

48



A58

Resolution No. XXX

1. No Project Alternative

The No-Project Alternative would continue the existing uses on SRI International’s research campus,
which consists of 38 buildings with approximately 1.38 million sf of mostly R&D space and areas for
supporting uses. The cogeneration plant, a 6-megawatt natural gas facility that currently generates
power for the Project Site, would remain. Under the No-Project Alternative, 3,308 employees could
work in the existing buildings on the SRI campus, which is the maximum number of employees
allowed under the current Conditional Development Permit (CDP). No new construction would occur,
and no housing would be provided at the Project Site. The No-Project Alternative would include
renovations and tenant improvements to the existing buildings, as needed, to ensure modern seismic
safety features meet all standards set forth by the California Building Standards Code, address
hazards, remediate known hazardous materials, etc.

FINDING: The City hereby finds the No Project Alternative is infeasible for specific economic,
legal, social, technological, or other considerations because it fails to satisfy the Project Variant’s
underlying purpose as well as most of the Project objectives. The No Project Alternative would
also increase certain impacts related to energy use, greenhouse gas emissions, and other areas
due to the age of the campus and overall lack of modern sustainability measures. The City Council
finds that any of these grounds set forth below are independently adequate to support rejection
of this alternative. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(3).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Compared to the Project Variant, the No-Project Alternative
would generally result in fewer environmental impacts, but would also result in greater environmental
impacts in certain areas. As discussed in the EIR, no trip reduction requirements would be
implemented as part of the No-Project Alternative, which would therefore result in new significant
and unavoidable increased VMT impacts compared to the Project Variant due to higher VMT per
capita. In addition, because the No-Project Alternative would result in continued operation of the
onsite natural gas cogeneration plant, this could lead to increased GHG emissions and inefficient
energy use compared to operations under the Project Variant. Furthermore, sustainability and
transportation demand features would not be implemented as part of the No-Project Alternative, and
any sustainability requirements that apply to new buildings would not be implemented. Therefore,
compared to the Project Variant, the No-Project Alternative would not be as efficient or as
sustainable. As a result, the No-Project Alternative would contribute to significant and unavoidable
GHG and energy impacts compared to the Project Variant.

2. Preservation Alternative 1 (Retain Building 100 and Chapel)

Variant Preservation Alternative 1 would retain Building 100 and the buildings at the First
Church of Christ, Scientist property at 201 Ravenswood Avenue (Chapel) in their entirety.
Building 100 would continue to be used as office space with necessary upgrades. A future use
of the Chapel would need to be determined, but options might include use as a community
amenity space or leasable tenant space. The same emergency water reservoir, circulation
configuration, and open space as proposed under the Project Variant would be included under
Variant Preservation Alternative 1, but with some reduction in the amount of available open
space. To accommodate the retention of the Chapel in Variant Preservation Alternative 1, the
footprint of the 100 percent affordable housing building (R3) would be reduced, resulting in a
loss of 90 affordable residential units compared to the Project Variant. In total, Variant
Preservation Alternative 1 would include 710 units (compared to 800 units under the Project
Variant), resulting in approximately 1,683 onsite residents (compared to 1,896 residents under
the Project Variant).

49



AS59

Resolution No. XXX

FINDING: The City hereby finds Preservation Alternative 1 is infeasible for specific economic, legal,
social, technological, or other considerations, including because it fails to meet the Project objectives
to the same extent as under the Project Variant and it would result in fewer housing units, particularly
affordable housing units, and less open space, than the Project Variant. The City was allocated 2,946
units in the 6 Housing Element cycle (2023-2031) and has permitted 1,051 units through December
2024. Thus, the reduced housing units under this alternative would result in fewer units towards the
City’s Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) compliance than the Project Variant. The City
finds that any of these grounds set forth below are independently adequate to support rejection of
this alternative. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(3).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Variant Preservation Alternative 1 would substantively meet
15 of 17 of the Project Sponsor objectives. Variant Preservation Alternative 1 would partially meet
the objective related to the stated goal of providing “up to approximately 100 units of affordable
or special needs housing” on a dedicated portion of the site because this alternative would include
only 64 affordable units, 36 units fewer than stated goal, and would result in fewer residential units
and less open space as compared to the Project Variant. Furthermore, the alternative falls short
of the upper thresholds of the residential capacity for all residential unit types that are intended in
the Project Variant. Variant Preservation Alternative 1 would partially meet the objective of
replacing “existing obsolete and unsustainable commercial buildings” as 34 of the buildings would
be replaced and the size of retained Building 100 would not displace a substantial amount of the
new commercial square footage. In addition, Preservation Alternative 1 would not lessen the
impacts of the Project Variant to a level of less than significant. All impacts that would be
significant and unavoidable under the Project Variant would continue to be significant and
unavoidable under Preservation Alternative 1. Although impacts associated with construction
(such as construction noise and construction air quality emissions) would be slightly less under
Preservation Alternative 1, the impact levels would remain the same (less than significant with
mitigation or significant and unavoidable). Impacts on historic resources would also be significant
and unavoidable under all build preservation alternatives but to a lesser extent than under the
Project Variant. Preservation Alternative 1 would retain more contributing individually eligible
buildings and landscape features than the Project Variant; however, the alternative would still
pose a significant and unavoidable impact on the eligible historic district because they would
cause the SRI Campus to no longer be eligible for the CRHR, even with implementation of
mitigation measures.

3. Preservation Alternative 2 (Retain Buildings 100, A, and E, and Chapel)

Variant Preservation Alternative 2 would retain Buildings 100, A and E, and the Chapel in full.
Building 100 would continue to be used as office space, with necessary upgrades. A future use of
the Chapel would be determined, but options might include use as a community amenity space or
leasable tenant space. The buildings to be retained would be renovated as described above for the
Project Preservation Alternative 2. Because Buildings 100, A and E, and the Chapel would be
retained, less ground-disturbance and fewer construction activities would occur. The same
emergency water reservoir as proposed under the Project would be constructed with the same
maximum depth of excavation and the same related improvements. However, to accommodate the
retention of the Chapel in Variant Preservation Alternative 2, the footprint of the 100 percent
affordable housing building (R3) would be reduced, resulting in a loss of 90 affordable residential
units compared to the Project Variant. To accommodate the retained Building E, the footprint of
Building R1 would have to be significantly reduced as well, resulting in a loss of 200 units from the
market-rate residential building. In total, Variant Preservation Alternative 2 would include 510 units
(compared to 800 units under the Project Variant), resulting in approximately 1,209 onsite residents
(compared to 1,896 residents under the Project Variant). Because the same amount of office/R&D

50



A60

Resolution No. XXX

space would be provided under Variant Preservation Alternative 2 as the Project Variant, roughly
the same number of net new employees would work at the Project Site (3,856 employees). Variant
Preservation Alterative 2 would also result in a slight decrease in the total open space area.

FINDING: The City hereby finds Preservation Alternative 1 is infeasible for specific economic,
legal, social, technological, or other considerations, including because it fails to meet the Project
objectives to the same extent as under the Project Variant and it would result in fewer housing
units, particularly affordable housing units, and less open space, than the Project Variant. The
City was allocated 2,946 units in the 6™ Housing Element cycle (2023—-2031) and has permitted
1,051 units through December 2024. Thus, the reduced housing units under this alternative
would result in fewer units towards the City’s Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA)
compliance than the Project Variant. The City finds that any of these grounds set forth below
are independently adequate to support rejection of this alternative. (CEQA Guidelines Section
15091(a)(3).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Variant Preservation Alternative 2 would not meet the
Project Sponsor’s objective related to housing and would result in substantially fewer residential
units than under the Project Variant. Under the Variant Preservation Alternative 2, the total
residential unit count would be reduced to 510 units (from 800 units). Due to issues of
construction methods and cost, as well as concerns from the adjacent residential neighbors, it
is not feasible to increase the density of the residential buildings along Laurel Street if Building
E is retained. Therefore, the net units lost from displacement of Building R1 cannot be regained
elsewhere on the Project Site. As such, under the Project Preservation Alternative 2, the Project
Sponsor’'s objective related to housing would not be met, and it falls short of the upper
thresholds of the residential capacity for all residential unit types that are intended in the Project
Variant. In addition, Preservation Alternative 2 would not lessen the impacts of the Project
Variant to a level of less than significant. All impacts that would be significant and unavoidable
under the Project Variant would continue to be significant and unavoidable under Preservation
Alternative 2. Although impacts associated with construction (such as construction noise and
construction air quality emissions) would be slightly less under Preservation Alternative 2, the
impact levels would remain the same (less than significant with mitigation or significant and
unavoidable). Impacts on historic resources would also be significant and unavoidable under all
preservation alternatives but to a lesser extent than under the Project Variant. Preservation
Alternative 2 would retain more contributing individually eligible buildings and landscape
features than the Project Variant; however, the alternative would still pose a significant and
unavoidable impact on the eligible historic district because they would cause the SRI Campus
to no longer be eligible for the CRHR, even with implementation of mitigation measures.

4. Preservation Alternative 3 (Retain Buildings 100, A, E, and B and Chapel)

The Variant Preservation Alternative 3 would retain Buildings 100, A, E, and B, and the Chapel
in their entirety. Building 100 would continue to be used as office space, with necessary
upgrades. A future use of the Chapel would need to be determined, but options might include
use as a community amenity space or leasable tenant space. The buildings to be retained would
be renovated as described above for the Project Preservation Alternative 3. Because Buildings
100, A E, B, and the Chapel would be retained, less ground-disturbance and fewer construction
activities would occur. The same emergency water reservoir as proposed under the Project
Variant would be constructed with the same maximum depth of excavation and the same related
improvements. To accommodate the retention of the Chapel in Variant Preservation Alternative
3, the footprint of the 100 percent affordable housing building (R3) would be reduced, resulting
in a loss of 90 affordable residential units compared to the Project Variant. To accommodate

51



A61

Resolution No. XXX

the retained Building E, the footprint of Building R1 would have to be significantly reduced,
resulting in a loss of 200 units from the market-rate residential building. In total, Variant
Preservation Alternative 3 would include 510 units (compared to 800 units under the Project
Variant), resulting in approximately 1,209 onsite residents (compared to 1,896 residents under
the Project Variant). Because the same amount of office/R&D space would be provided under
Variant Preservation Alternative 3 as the Project Variant, roughly the same number of
employees would work at the Project Site (3,856 employees).

FINDING: The City hereby finds Preservation Alternative 3 is infeasible for specific economic,
legal, social, technological, or other considerations, including because it fails to meet the Project
objectives to the same extent as under the Project Variant and would result in substantially fewer
residential units, particularly affordable housing units. The City was allocated 2,946 units in the
6" Housing Element cycle (2023-2031) and has permitted 1,051 units through December 2024.
Thus, the reduced housing units under this alternative would result in fewer units towards the
City's Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) compliance than the Project Variant. The City
finds that any of these grounds set forth below are independently adequate to support rejection
of this alternative. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(a)(3).)

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF FINDING: Variant Preservation Alternative 3 would not fully meet the
Project Sponsor’s objective related to housing and would result in substantially fewer residential
units, particularly the affordable housing units, than under the Project Variant. Variant
Preservation Alternative 3 would not fully meet the Project Sponsor’s objective related to housing
because the alternative would result in a total residential unit count that would be reduced to 510
units (from 800 units under the Project Variant). Also, the number of market rate residential units
developed on site would be reduced to 446 units, which is over 200 units less than the Project
Sponsor’s minimum objective for delivery of new residential units. Due to issues of construction
methods and cost as well as concerns from the adjacent residential neighbors, it is not feasible
to increase the density of the residential buildings along Laurel Street if Building E is retained. In
addition, Preservation Alternative 3 would not lessen the impacts of the Project Variant to a level
of less than significant. All impacts that would be significant and unavoidable under the Project
Variant would continue to be significant and unavoidable under Preservation Alternative 3.
Although impacts associated with construction (such as construction noise and construction air
guality emissions) would be slightly less under Preservation Alternative 3, the impact levels would
remain the same (less than significant with mitigation or significant and unavoidable). Impacts on
historic resources would also be significant and unavoidable under all build preservation
alternatives but to a lesser extent than under the Project Variant. Preservation Alternative 3 would
retain more contributing individually eligible buildings and landscape features than the Project
Variant; however, the alternative would still pose a significant and unavoidable impact on the
eligible historic district because they would cause the SRI Campus to no longer be eligible for the
CRHR, even with implementation of mitigation measures.

C. Environmentally Superior Alternative

In addition to the discussion and comparison of impacts of the Project Variant and the alternatives,
Section 15126.6 of the CEQA Guidelines requires that an “environmentally superior” alternative
be selected and the reasons for such a selection be disclosed. In general, the environmentally
superior alternative is the alternative that would be expected to generate the least amount of
significant impacts. Identification of the environmentally superior alternative is an informational
procedure, and the alternative selected may not be the alternative that best meets the Project
Objectives.

52



A62

Resolution No. XXX

Each alternative is compared to the Project Variant in the EIR and discussed in terms of its
adverse effects on the environment. Analysis of the alternatives focuses on those topics for which
significant adverse impacts would result from the Project Variant. Preservation Alternatives 2 and
3 for the Project Variant would retain all four individually eligible resources. Therefore, these
alternatives would result in a less-than-significant impact on individually eligible historic resources,
compared to the significant and unavoidable impacts under the Project Variant. Preservation
Alternative 3 would result in slightly less construction than Preservation Alternative 2, slightly
fewer construction-related impacts would occur under Preservation Alternative 3. For these
reasons, Preservation Alternative 3 would be the environmentally superior alternative for the
Project Variant.

VIIl.  STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS

As set forth above, the City has found that the Parkline Master Plan Project will result in project
and cumulative significant adverse environmental impacts related to construction noise,
construction vibration, and historical resources that cannot be avoided following adoption,
incorporation into the Project Variant, and implementation of all feasible mitigation measures
described in the EIR. In addition, there are no feasible project alternatives that would mitigate or
avoid all of the Parkline Master Plan Project’s significant environmental impacts.

Section 15093(b) of the CEQA Guidelines provides that when the decision of the public agency
results in the occurrence of significant impacts that are not avoided or substantially lessened, the
agency must state in writing the reasons to support its actions. See also Public Resources Code
Section 21081(b). CEQA requires the decision-making agency to balance, as applicable, the
economic, legal, social, technological, or other benefits of a proposed project against its
unavoidable environmental risks when determining whether to approve the project. If the specific
economic, legal, social, technological, or other benefits of a proposed project outweigh the
unavoidable adverse environmental effects, the adverse environmental effects may be
considered “acceptable.” (CEQA Guidelines Section 15093.)

As described in the accompanying staff report and attachments thereto, a fiscal impact analysis
(FIA) was prepared that analyzes two potential build out scenarios for both the Proposed Project
and Project Variant evaluated in the Final EIR, one where 100% of the office/R&D buildings are
used for office and one where 100% are used for R&D. A supplemental memo to the FIA was
prepared to analyze the impacts of modifying the Project Variant to limit non-residential square
footage to 1 million square feet as contemplated by the proposed Parkline Master Plan Project,
which found the Parkline Master Plan Project would have a negative net fiscal impact on the City
of Menlo Park’s annual general fund operating budget for the 100% office scenario and a positive
new fiscal impact the for 100% R&D scenario. Further, both the Project Variant and the Parkline
Master Plan Project would generate a net positive fiscal impact for the Menlo Park Fire Protection
District, Sequoia Union High School District, and the Menlo Park City Elementary School District,
for both 100% office and 100% R&D scenarios.

Having adopted all feasible mitigation measures, disclosed all significant and unavoidable impacts,
and balanced the economic, legal, social, technological or other benefits of the Parkline Master Plan
Project, including region-wide or statewide environmental benefits, against its significant and
unavoidable environmental impacts, the City finds that the Parkline Master Plan Project’s benefits
outweigh and override its unavoidable adverse environmental effects, and that the adverse
environmental effects are therefore acceptable, for the reasons set forth below

53



Resolution No. XXX

The following section identifies the reasons why, in the City’s judgment, specific benefits of the
Parkline Master Plan Project outweigh the significant and unavoidable effects. The City finds that
each of the Project Variant’s benefits discussed below is a separate and independent overriding
consideration warranting approval of the Parkline Master Plan Project, independent of the other
benefits, despite each and every unavoidable impact. The reasons set forth below are based on the
EIR and information contained in the administrative record for the Parkline Master Plan Project.

Economic Benefits

1. The Parkline Master Plan Project would replace obsolete and unsustainable commercial
buildings with new state-of-the-art, highly sustainable commercial buildings with flexible
floor plates that can accommodate a variety of office and/or R&D tenants.

2. The Parkline Master Plan Project development agreement includes:

a. aPayment In Lieu of Taxes Agreement (PILOT Agreement) that would ensure,
with limited exceptions, that the City would receive full property tax revenue from
the Project if owned or occupied by tax exempt entities;

b. a sales tax point of sale designation in order to have the local portion of the sales
and use tax distributed directly to City instead of through the county-wide pool;

c. payment to the City of:

i. $2,000,000 for transportation related improvements located within a %2
mile perimeter of the Project Site;

ii. $4,700,000 for planning, design, and construction of the park and
recreational improvements on the approximately 2.65 acre site dedicated
to the City; and once constructed, $70,000 annually (adjusted by CPI) for
maintenance and repair of the public park;

d. design, construction, and dedication of an easement to the City for a new public
restroom within walking distance of the new public park and ongoing
maintenance thereof by the Project Sponsor; and

e. creation of shuttle service between the Project Site and the Menlo Park Caltrain
station or annual payments to the City of $50,000 (adjusted by CPI) towards the
cost of City shuttle service that serve the Project Site.

3. The Parkline Master Plan Project would generate a net positive fiscal impact for the Menlo
Park Fire Protection District, Sequoia Union High School District, and the Menlo Park City
Elementary School District.

Environmental Benefits

1. The Parkline Master Plan Project would create a comprehensive redevelopment with a
mixed-use project consisting of primarily residential and office/R&D uses, with small retail
and restaurant components that facilitates efforts to reduce vehicle miles traveled by siting
commercial and residential uses near existing transit corridors and public transportation
facilities, and promoting alternatives to automobile transit through implementation of
transportation demand management (TDM) plan, new bicycle/pedestrian access, and ease
of movement between buildings. The Parkline Master Plan Project would also reduce VMT,

AG63



A64

Resolution No. XXX

air quality impacts, and greenhouse gas emissions through the implementation of a TDM
plan.

The Parkline Master Plan Project would support local and regional efforts to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions, respond to climate change, and promote energy and water
efficiency and resource conservation by incorporating sustainable design features and
resource conservation measures that align with the City’s goals including: all electric
buildings, with limited exceptions, dual plumbing in all buildings for future connection to
recycled water, onsite solar photovoltaics, EV electrical infrastructure, Variable Refrigerant
Flow— (VRF-) based space conditioning for residential units and energy efficient HVAC
systems with heat recovery, achieving a range of LEED certification or equivalent standards,
implementing waste management strategies, and bird-friendly design.

The Parkline Master Plan Project would decommission the existing onsite cogeneration plant to
achieve significant reductions in greenhouse gas emissions within the City and region.

The Parkline Master Plan Project would facilitate the City’s desire to implement an
emergency water supply and storage project on the Project Site, as feasible, to increase
Menlo Park’s resilience in the event of an emergency.

The Parkline Master Plan Project development agreement includes a commitment for the
Project to utilize non-diesel backup generators, if and when a reliable technology becomes
available.

The Parkline Master Plan Project would incorporate recycled water infrastructure throughout
the Project Site with future off-site connections to enable the future use of recycled water
within the Project Site and the surrounding area.

Social Benefits

1.

The Parkline Master Plan Project would redevelop an aging R&D campus into a financially
viable residential and commercial mixed-use neighborhood that cohesively balances
office/R&D uses, multifamily residential uses, open space, and community-serving uses,
with no increase in office/R&D square footage compared to existing conditions.

The Parkline Master Plan Project would increase the City’s housing supply and progress
toward its state-mandated housing goals by providing up to 800 new housing units with a
mix of types and sizes, including approximately 97 affordable units for low-income
households (or a mix of extremely low, very low, low, and moderate income levels that are
equivalent to providing all of the affordable units at the low-income level), consistent with the
City’s Below Market Rate Housing Program, and 154 units of affordable or special-needs
housing to be developed by a third-party affordable housing developer on a site to be
dedicated by the Project Sponsor, for a total of 251 BMR units or an affordability percentage
of approximately 31 percent.

The Parkline Master Plan Project would allow SRI International to continue their on-going
uses onsite, while allowing redevelopment of the site with a mix of uses consisting of
primarily residential and office/R&D, with small restaurant and potential retail uses.

Currently, the project site is a secure campus with no public access, however, the Parkline
Master Plan Project would provide site connections with the existing neighborhoods through
bicycle and pedestrian pathways and publicly accessible open space throughout the site.

The Parkline Master Plan Project would improve bicycle and pedestrian connectivity and
safety within and between the site and adjacent neighborhoods to promote an active public
realm and establish interconnected neighborhoods.

55



ABS

Resolution No. XXX

6. The Parkline Master Plan Project would create separation between the residential uses along
Laurel Street and the office/R&D uses by providing independent vehicular access, circulation,
and parking/loading areas. However, in order to avoid cut through traffic into the nearby
residential neighborhoods, access to the office/R&D uses would be provided through driveways
along Ravenswood Avenue offsetting from the residential streets to the north (e.g., Pine Street,
Marcussen Drive) and without creating a connection between the office/R&D uses and Laurel
Street.

7. The Parkline Master Plan Project would provide approximately 29 acres of open space
throughout the Project Site, including a large central commons area, dog park, parklet and
additional private open spaces, to create a vibrant park-like setting that emphasizes the
preservation of heritage trees where feasible, encourages passive and active recreational
activities and promotes health and wellness for residents, tenants, and visitors.

8. The Parkline Master Plan Project would use advances in architectural, landscape design,
and site planning practices to create distinctive and viable residential and commercial areas
within the Project Site that complement the adjacent neighborhoods.

9. The Parkline Master Plan Project would incorporate complementary community recreational
and limited retail/restaurant uses that encourage an active and healthy lifestyle for residents,
tenants, and visitors.

10. The Parkline Master Plan Project development agreement includes a commitment to utilize
union labor for construction of the non-residential buildings and encourage union labor for
the construction of the residential buildings.

11. The Parkline Master Plan Project would bolster the City’s reputation as a hub for
technological advancement and innovation and recognize SRI International’s contributions
to society and the growth of Silicon Valley.

When compared to the alternatives analyzed in the EIR (including the No Project Alternative), the
Parkline Master Plan Project provides the best available balance between maximizing attainment
of the project objectives and minimizing significant environmental impacts.

After balancing the specific economic, legal, social, technological, and other benefits of the
Parkline Master Plan Project, and considering the alternatives evaluated in the EIR, and other
evidence in the administrative record, City Council has determined that the unavoidable, adverse
environmental impacts identified may be considered acceptable due to the specific considerations
listed above which offset the unavoidable, adverse environmental impact that will be caused by
implementation of the Project Variant.

Recognizing that significant and unavoidable impacts will result from implementation of the
Parkline Master Plan Project, the City adopts and makes this Statement of Overriding
Considerations. Having adopted all feasible mitigation measures and recognizing the Parkline
Master Plan Project’s significant and unavoidable impacts, the City hereby finds that each of the
separate benefits of the Parkline Master Plan Project, as stated herein, is determined to be by
itself an overriding consideration, independent of other benefits, that warrants approval of the
Parkline Master Plan Project and outweighs and overrides its unavoidable significant effect, and
thereby justifies the approval of the Parkline Master Plan Project.

IX. ADOPTION OF THE MMRP.

The City Council hereby adopts the MMRP attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein
by this reference.

56



AG6

Resolution No. XXX

X. SEVERABILITY

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall
continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City.

l, , City Clerk of Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above and
foregoing City Council Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at the meeting by
said Council on the day of , 2025, by the following votes:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

IN WITNESS THEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said City
on this day of , 2025.

City Clerk
Exhibits:

Exhibit No. 1 to Exhibit A — Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (Staff Report
Attachment O)

57



EXHIBIT B

RESOLUTION NO. XXXX

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO PARK
APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE LAND USE ELEMENT AND LAND USE
MAP OF THE MENLO PARK GENERAL PLAN

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) General Plan was adopted on November 29, 2016
(“General Plan”), and includes the City’s Land Use Element and Land Use Map; and

WHEREAS, the City received an application from LPGS Menlo, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Applicant”) to redevelop the approximately 64.3 acre site commonly known as 201,
301 and 333 Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road, Menlo Park, California,
Assessor Parcels Nos. 062-390-050, 062-390-660, 062-390-670, 062-390-730, 062-390-760,
062-390-780 (the “Project Site”); and

WHEREAS, Applicant proposes to demolish 35 existing buildings and a church and associated
multi-use building on the Project Site, excepting existing Buildings P, S and T, and redevelop
the Project Site with the subsequent construction of a mix of uses consisting of non-residential
office/R&D buildings of approximately 1,000,000 square feet (SF), inclusive of approximately
287,000 SF in existing Buildings P, S and T, and up to 45,000 SF of commercial/retail space;
development of up to 800 residential dwelling units within five (5) different groupings of which
251 will be affordable housing units; provision of surface and structured parking spaces in
accordance with the provisions of the zoning for the Project Site; decommissioning and
demolition of a 6-megawatt natural gas cogeneration plant; removal of heritage trees and
planting of replacement trees; and potential development by the City of an underground
emergency water reservoir with a capacity of approximately 2 to 3 million gallons beneath public
recreational facilities, provision of publicly accessible open space across the campus, and
related infrastructure improvements comprising utilities, roadways, pedestrian and bicycle
pathways, lighting, and landscaping (the “Project”); and

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments to the General Plan Land Use Element are to: (1) add
the Administrative, Professional and Research Special (C-1-S) Zoning District to the
Commercial/Professional and Administrative Offices General Plan Land Use Designation in
Table 1; (2) revise the description of “Professional and Administrative Office” to add
“neighborhood-serving retail and services” as a compatible use, revise the maximum FAR for
non-residential uses from 40% to 50%, and add that for large, master-planned developments
involving multiple contiguous parcels, residential density and non-residential FAR may be
aggregated across the project area, as identified in the applicable zoning district; and (3) update
the acreage totals and percentages in Table 1 including removing 1 acre from the Residential
Land Use Designation and adding it to the Commercial Land Use Designation; and

WHEREAS, the proposed amendment to the General Plan Land Use Map, Figure 5 (General
Plan Land Use Designation), in the Land Use Element, is to change the Land Use Designation
for the parcel at 201 Ravenswood Ave. (APN 062-390-050) from Residential to Commercial;
and

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments to the General Plan Land Use Element and Land Use
Map are consistent with the General Plan goals, policies, and programs, as demonstrated in the
General Plan Consistency Table attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by
reference; and

A67



AG68

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held according
to law; and

WHEREAS, the City, as lead agency, prepared an Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”)
pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) that examined the environmental
impacts of the redevelopment of the approximately 64.3 acre site (the “Project Site”), commonly
known as 201, 301 and 333 Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road, Menlo
Park, California, Assessor Parcels Nos. 062-390-050, 062-390-660, 062-390-670, 062-390-730,
062-390-760, 062-390-780 . On , 2025, by Resolution No. , the City
Council certified the Final EIR, made certain findings, and adopted a Statement of Overriding
Considerations and a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan, which Resolution together with
the Final EIR are incorporated herein by reference, the City Council finds that the amendments
to the General Plan Land Use Element and Land Use Map are within the scope of the Final EIR;
and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the Project, inclusive of the amendments to the General
Plan Land Use Element and Land Use Map, are within the scope of the EIR; and

WHEREAS, after notice having been lawfully given, a public hearing was scheduled and held
before the Planning Commission of the City of Menlo Park on August 25, 2025, to review and
consider the Project, including the proposed amendments to the General Plan Land Use
Element and Land Use Map, whereat all persons interested therein might appear and be heard;
and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Menlo Park, having fully reviewed,
considered, and evaluated all the testimony and evidence submitted in this matter, voted
affirmatively to recommend to the City Council of the City of Menlo Park to adopt a resolution
and approve the amendments to the General Plan Land Use Element and Land Use Map; and

WHEREAS, after notice having been lawfully given, a public hearing was scheduled and held
before the City Council of the City of Menlo Park on , 2025, to review and
consider the Project, including the proposed amendments to the General Plan Land Use
Element and Land Use Map, whereat all persons interested therein might appear and be heard;
and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Menlo Park fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated
all the testimony and evidence submitted in this matter, including the recommendation of the
Planning Commission.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council finds the foregoing recitals are
true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference into this Resolution.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby approves
the amendments to the General Plan Land Use Element, as set forth in and attached hereto as
Exhibit 2, and incorporated herein by this reference.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby approves
the amendment to the General Plan Land Use Map, as set forth in and attached hereto as
Exhibit 3, and incorporated herein by this reference



A69

I, Judi A. Herren, City Clerk of Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing City
Council Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said City
Council on the day of , 2025, by the following votes:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said City
on this __ day of , 2025.

Judi A. Herren, City Clerk

Exhibits:

Exhibit 1 to Exhibit B - General Plan Consistency Table (Staff Report Attachment B)

Exhibit 2 to Exhibit B - Amendments to the General Plan Land Use Element (Staff Report
Attachment H)

Exhibit 3 to Exhibit B - Amendment to the General Plan Land Use Map (Staff Report Attachment

1)



A70



A7l

EXHIBIT C

ORDINANCE NO. XXXX

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO PARK
AMENDING TITLE 16 OF THE MENLO PARK MUNICIPAL CODE TO ADD A
NEW CHAPTER 16.35 AND THEREBY CREATE THE C-1-S
(ADMINISTRATIVE, PROFESSIONAL AND RESEARCH, SPECIAL) ZONING
DISTRICT, AMENDING THE ZONING MAP TO REZONE CERTAIN
PROPERTIES TO C-1-S AND TO ADD A CONDITIONAL DEVELOPMENT (“X")
COMBINING DISTRICT; AND APPROVING A CONDITIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PERMIT FOR THE PARKLINE MASTER PLAN PROJECT

The City Council of the City of Menlo Park does ordain as follows:

SECTION 1.
The City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby finds and declares as follows:

A. The City received an application from LPGS Menlo, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Applicant”) to redevelop the approximately 64.3 acre site commonly known as
201, 301 and 333 Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road, Menlo Park,
California, Assessor Parcels Nos. 062-390-050, 062-390-660, 062-390-670, 062-390-730,
062-390-760, 062-390-780 (the “Project Site”).

B. Applicant proposes to demolish 35 existing buildings and a church and associated multi-use
building on the Project Site, excepting existing Buildings P, S and T, and redevelop the
Project Site with the subsequent construction of a mix of uses consisting of non-residential
office/R&D buildings of approximately 1,000,000 square feet (SF), inclusive of approximately
287,000 SF in existing Buildings P, S and T, and up to 45,000 SF of commercial/retail
space; development of up to 800 residential dwelling units within five (5) different groupings
of which 251 will be affordable housing units; provision of surface and structured parking
spaces in accordance with the provisions of the zoning for the Project Site;
decommissioning and demolition of a 6-megawatt natural gas cogeneration plant; removal
of heritage trees and planting of replacement trees; and potential development by the City of
an underground emergency water reservoir with a capacity of approximately 2 to 3 million
gallons beneath public recreational facilities, provision of publicly accessible open space
across the campus, and related infrastructure improvements comprising utilities, roadways,
pedestrian and bicycle pathways, lighting, and landscaping (the “Project”).

C. The properties that comprise the Project Site are currently zoned as follows: 201
Ravenswood Avenue — R-1-S; 301 Ravenswood Avenue — C-1(X); 333 Ravenswood
Avenue C-1(X) and P; 555 Middlefield Road — C-1(X); and 565 Middlefield Road C-1(X).

D. Applicant has requested an amendment to the Zoning Ordinance to add an Administrative,
Professional and Research, Special (C-1-S) zoning district, Exhibit 1, and to rezone the
entirety of the Project Site to C-1-S.

E. Rezoning of the Project Site as shown in Exhibit 2 is necessary to change the zoning of the
Project Site to C-1-S and to add a conditional development (“X”) combining district, thereby
allowing special regulations and conditions to be added at the Project Site (combined with
the base C-1-S regulations) as part of the proposed Project.

F. The Project is eligible for a Conditional Development Permit under Menlo Park Municipal
Code section 16.82.055(1) in that the Project Site is more than one acre and is not located
in the SP-ECR/D district.

G. Approving the Conditional Development Permit (Exhibit 3) is necessary to authorize
development of the Project on the Project Site to comply with Menlo Park Municipal Code
section 16.35.055, adopted pursuant to Section 7 below, which requires a Conditional



AT2

Development Permit to set the design standards, including building relationship to the street,
building mass and scale, exterior materials, building design, and access and parking, and to
allow for modifications to the development regulations in the C-1-S zoning district, with the
exception of residential density and intensity (residential and non-residential floor area ratio).

H. The proposed amendment to add Chapter 16.35 to the Menlo Park Municipal Code and
thereby create the Administrative, Professional and Research, Special (C-1-S) zoning
district as shown in Exhibit 1, the amendment to the City zoning map and rezoning of the
Project Site, as shown in Exhibit 2, as well as the approval of the Conditional Development
Permit as shown in Exhibit 3, would promote a comprehensive redevelopment of the Project
Site through the inclusion of multiple housing options (i.e., multifamily, attached townhome-
style, and detached single-family style units), including affordable residential units, along
with office, research and development, retail, and recreational uses at the density and
intensity envisioned in the General Plan adopted November 29, 2016 (“General Plan”).

I.  The proposed amendment to Title 16 of the Municipal Code to add Chapter 16.35 and
thereby create the Administrative, Professional and Research, Special (C-1-S) zoning
district as set forth in Exhibit 1, the amendment to the City zoning map and rezoning of the
Project Site to C-1-S and to add a conditional development (“X”) combining district, as
shown in Exhibit 2, as well as the Conditional Development Permit, Exhibit 3, are consistent
with the General Plan as shown in Exhibit 4, including the land use designations for the
Project Site.

SECTION 2.

The City, as lead agency, prepared an Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”) pursuant to the
California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) that examined the environmental impacts of the
redevelopment of the Project Site. On , 2025, by Resolution No. , the
City Council certified the Final EIR, made certain findings, and adopted a Statement of
Overriding Considerations and a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan, which Resolution
together with the EIR are incorporated herein by reference. The City Council finds that the
amendment to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to add Chapter 16.35 and thereby
create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special) zoning district; the
amendment to the zoning map and the rezoning of the Project Site to C-1-S (Administrative,
Professional and Research, Special) and to add a conditional development (“X”) combining
district; as well as the approval of the CDP, is within the scope of the Final EIR.

SECTION 3.

The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo Park (the “Planning Commission”) held a duly
noticed public hearing on August 25, 2025, to review and consider the Project, including the
amendment to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to add Chapter 16.35 and thereby
create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special) Zoning District (Exhibit
1); the amendment to the zoning map and the rezoning of the Project Site to C-1-S
(Administrative, Professional and Research, Special) and to add a conditional development (“X”)
combining district as shown on Exhibit 3; and the Conditional Development Permit (Exhibit 3),
whereat all interested persons had the opportunity to appear and comment.

SECTION 4.

The Planning Commission, having fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated all the testimony
and evidence submitted in this matter, voted affirmatively to recommend to the City Council of
the City of Menlo Park (the “City Council”) to approve the Project, including the proposed
amendment to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to add Chapter 16.35 and thereby
create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special) zoning district; the
amendment to the zoning map and the rezoning of the Project Site to C-1-S (Administrative,



A73

Professional and Research, Special) and to add a conditional development (“X”) combining
district as shown on Exhibit 2; as well as the approval of the Conditional Development Permit as
shown on Exhibit 3.

SECTION 5.

The City Council held a duly noticed public hearing on , 2025, to review and
consider the Project, including: the proposed amendment to Title 16 of the Menlo Park
Municipal Code to add Chapter 16.35 and create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and
Research, Special) zoning district (Exhibit 1); the amendment to the zoning map and the
rezoning of the Project Site to C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special) and
to add a conditional development (“X”) combining district as shown on Exhibit 2; as well as the
Conditional Development Permit (Exhibit 3), whereat all interested persons had the opportunity
to appear and comment.

SECTION 6.

After due consideration of the proposed amendment to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal
Code to add Chapter 16.35 and create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research,
Special) zoning district (Exhibit 1); the amendment to the zoning map and the rezoning of the
Project Site to C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special) and to add a
conditional development (“X”) combining district as shown on Exhibit 2; and the Conditional
Development Permit (Exhibit 3), public comments, the Planning Commission’s recommendation,
the staff report, and other substantial evidence in the record, the City Council finds that the
proposed amendment to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to add Chapter 16.35 and
create the C-1-S (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special) zoning district, the
proposed amendment of the zoning map and rezoning of Project Site, and the Conditional
Development Permit, as identified herein, are consistent with the General Plan, as
demonstrated in Exhibit 4, and are appropriate.

SECTION 7.
Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code is hereby amended to add Chapter 16.35, C-1-S —
Administrative, Professional and Research Special District as set forth in Exhibit 1.

SECTION 8.

The zoning map of the City of Menlo Park is hereby amended to rezone the Project Site to C-1-
S and to add a conditional development (“X”) combining district as shown in Exhibit 2. This X
combining district is consistent with the General Plan, which allows the uses permitted in the
combining district at the density and intensity proposed.

SECTION 9.

The Conditional Development Permit (Exhibit 3) is hereby approved, authorizing development of
the Project on the Project Site. Pursuant to Menlo Park Municipal Code section 16.35.055, as
adopted pursuant to Section 7 above, the Conditional Development Permit establishes design
standards, including building relationship to the street, building mass and scale, exterior
materials, building design, and access and parking, and modifies development regulations set
forth in Chapter 16.35, with the exception of residential density and intensity (residential and
non-residential floor area ratio) for the Project Site, and the number of dwelling units, floor area
ratio, and floor area limit authorized thereunder do not exceed the development regulations set
forth in the C-1-S district.

SECTION 10.



A74

This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date of its adoption. Within
fifteen (15) days of its adoption, the ordinance shall be posted in three (3) public places within
the City of Menlo Park, and the ordinance, or a summary of the ordinance prepared by the City
Attorney, shall be published in a local newspaper used to publish official notices for the City of
Menlo Park prior to the effective date.

SEVERABILITY

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a particular
situation is held by a court to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of these
findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall continue in full force and
effect unless amended or modified by the City.

INTRODUCED on the day of , 2025.

PASSED AND ADOPTED as an ordinance of the City of Menlo Park at a regular meeting of
said City Council on the __ day of , 2025, by the following votes:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

APPROVED:

Drew Combs, Mayor
ATTEST:

Judi A. Herren, City Clerk
Exhibits:

Exhibit No. 1 to Exhibit C - Chapter 16.35 C-1-S — Administrative, Professional and Research,
Special District (Staff Report Attachment J)

Exhibit No. 2 to Exhibit C - Zoning Map — Zoning Map Exhibit — C-1-S(X) (Staff Report
Attachment K)

Exhibit No. 3 to Exhibit C - Conditional Development Permit (Staff Report Attachment L)
Exhibit No. 4 to Exhibit C - General Plan Consistency Table (Staff Report Attachment B)



EXHIBIT D

RESOLUTION NO. XXXX

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO PARK APPROVING THE
PARKLINE PROJECT WIDE AFFORDABLE HOUSING AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY
OF MENLO PARK AND LPGS MENLO, LLC FOR THE PARKLINE MASTER PLAN PROJECT

The City Council of the City of Menlo Park does hereby resolve as follows:

SECTION 1.

LPGS Menlo, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Applicant”), owns and/or controls an
equitable interest in an approximately 64.3 acre site, commonly known as 201, 301 and 333
Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road, Menlo Park, California, Assessor
Parcels Nos. 062-390-050, 062-390-660, 062-390-670, 062-390-730, 062-390-760, 062-390-780
(the “Project Site”).

SECTION 2.

The Applicant proposes to demolish 35 existing buildings and a church and associated multi-use
building on the Project Site, excepting existing Buildings P, S and T, and redevelop the Project
Site with the subsequent construction of a mix of uses consisting of non-residential office/R&D
buildings of approximately 1,000,000 square feet (SF), inclusive of approximately 287,000 SF in
existing Buildings P, S and T, and up to 45,000 SF of commercial/retail space; development of up
to 800 residential dwelling units within five (5) different groupings of which 251 will be affordable
housing units; provision of surface and structured parking spaces in accordance with the
provisions of the zoning for the Project Site; decommissioning and demolition of a 6-megawatt
natural gas cogeneration plant; removal of heritage trees and planting of replacement trees; and
potential development by the City of an underground emergency water reservoir with a capacity
of approximately 2 to 3 million gallons beneath public recreational facilities, provision of publicly
accessible open space across the campus, and related infrastructure improvements comprising
utilities, roadways, pedestrian and bicycle pathways, lighting, and landscaping (the “Project”).

SECTION 3.

Pursuant to the requirements of Menlo Park Municipal Code Chapter 16.96 (“BMR Ordinance”)
and the Below Market Rate Program Guidelines (“Guidelines”), the City and Applicant have
prepared that certain Parkline Project Wide Affordable Housing Agreement (the “BMR
Agreement), for the Project by and between the City and Applicant, a copy of which is attached
hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by this reference, specifically including Exhibits C and
D thereto, containing the form of Below Market Rate Housing Agreement and Declaration of
Restrictive Covenants for BMR Rental Units and BMR Ownership Units, respectively.

SECTION 4.

On March 5, 2025, after a duly noticed public hearing, the Housing Commission recommended
approval of the BMR Agreement. Thereafter, the Planning Commission reviewed the BMR
Agreement at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on August 25, 2025 and
recommended that the City Council adopt this resolution and thereby approve the BMR
Agreement. As part of its recommendation to the City Council, the Planning Commission
determined that the BMR Agreement is consistent with the purpose of the City’s BMR Housing
Program, as stated in BMR Ordinance and Guidelines, which is to increase the housing supply for
households that have extremely low, very low, low and moderate incomes compared to the median
household income for San Mateo County. The Planning Commission also determined that the
BMR Agreement is consistent with the primary objective of the BMR Housing Program, which is
to create actual housing units.

A75



A76

SECTION 5.

The City, as lead agency, prepared an Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”) pursuant to the
California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”") that examined the environmental impacts of the
redevelopment of the Project Site. On __, 2025, by Resolution No. , the
City Council certified the Final EIR, made certain findings, and adopted a Statement of Overriding
Considerations and a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan, which Resolution together with
the Final EIR are incorporated herein by reference. The City Council finds that the Project,
inclusive of the BMR Agreement, is within the scope of the Final EIR.

SECTION 6.
The City Council held a duly and properly noticed public hearing related to the Project, including
consideration of the BMR Agreement on , 2025. The City Council finds that the

Project, as detailed in the BMR Agreement, will result in the construction of BMR units that exceed
the requirements of the BMR Housing Program. As proposed and documented in the BMR
Agreement, the Project will produce 800 housing units, 251 of which (or approximately 31%) are
affordable, as opposed to 15% as required by the BMR Housing Program.

SECTION 7.

Based upon the above findings, the BMR Agreement for the Project is hereby approved. The City
Council hereby authorizes the City Manager to execute the BMR Agreement in substantial
conformance the BMR Agreement attached hereto and all documents required to implement the
BMR Agreement on behalf of the City, subject to such minor, conforming and clarifying changes
consistent with the terms thereof as may be approved by the City Manager in consultation with
the City Attorney.

SECTION 8

If any section of this resolution, or part hereof, is held by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final
judicial action to be void, voidable or enforceable, such section, or part hereof, shall be deemed
severable from the remaining sections of this ordinance and shall in no way affect the validity of
the remaining sections hereof.

I, Judi A. Herren, City Clerk of Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing City
Council Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said City Council
on the day of , 2025, by the following votes:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said City
on this __ day of , 2025.

Judi A. Herren, City Clerk



Exhibits:

Exhibit No. 1 to Exhibit D - Parkline Project Wide Affordable Housing Agreement (Staff Report
Attachment EE)

AT7



A78

EXHIBIT E

RESOLUTION NO. XXXX

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO PARK
APPROVING FINDINGS AND CONDITIONS FOR A VESTING TENTATIVE
SUBDIVISION MAP FOR THE PARKLINE MASTER PLAN PROJECT
CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 1,000,000 SQUARE FEET OF
OFFICE/RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT, INCLUSIVE OF 287,000 SQUARE
FEET WITHIN EXISTING BUILDINGS P, S, AND T AND UP TO 45,000 SQUARE
FEET OF COMMERCIAL/RETAIL, UP TO 800 RESIDENTIAL DWELLING
UNITS AND ASSOCIATED OPEN SPACE AND INFRASTRUCTURE

WHEREAS, the City received an application from LPGS Menlo, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Applicant”) to redevelop the approximately 64.3 acre site commonly known as 201,
301 and 333 Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road, Menlo Park, California,
Assessor Parcels Nos. 062-390-050, 062-390-660, 062-390-670, 062-390-730, 062-390-760,
062-390-780 (the “Project Site™); and

WHEREAS, Applicant proposes to demolish 35 existing buildings and a church and associated
multipurpose building on the Project Site, excepting existing Buildings P, S and T, and
redevelop the Project Site with the subsequent construction of a mix of uses consisting of non-
residential office/R&D buildings of approximately 1,000,000 square feet (SF), inclusive of
approximately 287,000 SF in existing Buildings P, S and T, and up to 45,000 SF of
commercial/retail space; development of up to 800 residential dwelling units within five (5)
different groupings of which 251 will be affordable housing units; provision of surface and
structured parking spaces in accordance with the provisions of the zoning for the Project Site;
decommissioning and demolition of a 6-megawatt natural gas cogeneration plant; removal of
heritage trees and planting of replacement trees; and potential development by the City of an
underground emergency water reservoir with a capacity of approximately 2 to 3 million gallons
beneath public recreational facilities, provision of publicly accessible open space across the
campus, and related infrastructure improvements comprising utilities, roadways, pedestrian and
bicycle pathways, lighting, and landscaping (the “Project”); and

WHEREAS, a Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map for a subdivision is proposed as part of the
Project (“Parkline VTM”); and

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held according
to law; and

WHEREAS, the City, as lead agency, prepared an Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”)
pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) that examined the environmental
impacts of the redevelopment of the approximately 64.3 acre site (the “Project Site”), commonly
known as 201, 301 and 333 Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road, Menlo
Park, California, Assessor Parcels Nos. 062-390-050, 062-390-660, 062-390-670, 062-390-730,
062-390-760, 062-390-780 . On , 2025, by Resolution No. , the City
Council certified the EIR, made certain findings, and adopted a Statement of Overriding
Considerations and a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan, which Resolution together with
the EIR are incorporated herein by reference, the City Council finds that the VTM is within the
scope of the Final EIR; and

WHEREAS, after notice having been lawfully given, a public hearing was scheduled and held
before the Planning Commission of the City of Menlo Park (the “Planning Commission”) on



August 25, 2025, to review and consider the Project, including the Parkline VTM, whereat all
persons interested therein might appear and be heard; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, having fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated all the
testimony and evidence submitted in this matter, voted affirmatively to recommend to the City
Council of the City of Menlo Park (the “City Council”) to approve the Parkline VTM; and

WHEREAS, after notice having been lawfully given, a public hearing was scheduled and held

before the City Council on , 2025, to review and consider the Project,
including the Parkline VTM, whereat all persons interested therein might appear and be heard;
and

WHEREAS, the City Council, having fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated all the testimony
and evidence submitted in this matter, voted affirmatively to approve the Parkline VTM.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council finds the foregoing recitals are
true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference into this Resolution.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby approves
the Parkline VTM subject to conditions (Exhibit 1) for the Project. This approval is pursuant to
the Subdivision Map Act and City of Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 15.20.050:

1. The Parkline VTM is technically correct and in compliance with all applicable State
regulations, City General Plan, Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances, and the State
Subdivision Map Act.

2. The proposed Parkline VTM, including the contemplated design and improvements, is
consistent with applicable General Plan goals and policies as demonstrated in the General
Plan Consistency Table attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and incorporated herein by reference.
The Project is consistent with the land use designations described in the General Plan and
would be consistent with City General Plan policies as well as City Zoning Ordinance
requirements for master-planned projects at the proposed density and for the types of use.

3. The Project Site is physically suitable for the proposed master-planned development,
including the proposed density of development, and the design of the subdivision or the
proposed improvements are not likely to cause substantial environmental damage or
substantially injure fish or wildlife or their habitat. The Project is consistent with the density
and uses for the site set forth in the General Plan. The Project Site is in a heavily urbanized
area of the City currently occupied by developed/landscaped areas that include various
urban uses and does not include any aquatic habitat. The Project would not cause
substantial environmental damage to the already disturbed Project Site and would not
substantially injure the limited urban wildlife that access the site or their habitat.

4. The design of the subdivision or types of improvements is not likely to cause serious public
health or safety problems. The Project would comply with General Plan goals and policies,
City Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances, and other applicable regulations designed to
prevent serious health or safety problems.

5. The design of the subdivision or the type of improvements does not conflict with easements,
acquired by the public at large, for access through or use of property within the proposed
subdivision because alternate easements for access or use will be provided that are
substantially equivalent to ones previously acquired by the public.

6. The Project Site is outside of the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) flood
zone. The Project Site is within FEMA Flood Zone X, an area with minimal flood risk and

A79



above the limits of the 500-year flood, which means that, in any given year, the risk of
flooding is 0.2 percent. The Project Site is not subject to landslides.

SEVERABILITY

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the remaining
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall
continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City.

I, Judi A. Herren, City Clerk of Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing City
Council Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said City
Council on the day of , 2025, by the following votes:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said City
on this __ day of , 2025.

Judi A. Herren, City Clerk

Exhibits:

Exhibit No. 1 to Exhibit E - Vesting Tentative Map Conditions (Staff Report Attachment XX)
Exhibit No. 2 to Exhibit E - General Plan Consistency Table (Staff Report Attachment B)

A80



EXHIBIT F

ORDINANCE NO. XXXX

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO PARK APPROVING THE
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF MENLO PARK AND LPGS MENLO,
LLC, FOR THE PARKLINE MASTER PLAN PROJECT

The City Council of the City of Menlo Park does ordain as follows:

SECTION 1.

This Ordinance is adopted under the authority of Government Code Section 65864 et seq. and
pursuant to the provisions of City Resolution No. 4159, which establishes procedures and
requirements for the consideration of developments within the City of Menlo Park (“City”). This
Ordinance incorporates by reference that certain Development Agreement for the Parkline Master
Plan Project (the “Development Agreement”) by and between the City and LPGS Menlo, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“Applicant”) attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated
herein by this reference.

SECTION 2.

The City, as lead agency, prepared an Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”) pursuant to the
California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”") that examined the environmental impacts of the
redevelopment of the approximately 64.3 acre site, commonly known as 201, 301 and 333
Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road, Menlo Park, California, Assessor
Parcels Nos. 062-390-050, 062-390-660, 062-390-670, 062-390-730, 062-390-760, 062-390-780
(the “Project Site”). On __, 2025, by Resolution No. , the City Council
certified the EIR, made certain findings, and adopted a Statement of Overriding Considerations
and a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan, which Resolution together with the EIR are
incorporated herein by reference. The City Council finds that the Development Agreement is
within the scope of the EIR.

SECTION 3.

As required by Resolution No. 4159, the Planning Commission reviewed the Development
Agreement at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on August 25, 2025 and
recommended that the City Council adopt this ordinance. As part of its recommendation to the
City Council, the Planning Commission determined that the Development Agreement is consistent
with the objectives, policies, general land uses and programs specified in the General Plan; is
compatible with the uses authorized in and the regulations prescribed for the land use district in
which the Project Site is located; is in conformity with public convenience, general welfare and
good land use practice; will not be detrimental to the health, safety and general welfare of the City
or the region surrounding the City; and will not adversely affect the orderly development of
property or the preservation of property values within the City.

SECTION 4.
The City Council held a duly and properly noticed public hearing on the Development Agreement
on __, 2025. The City Council finds that the following are the relevant facts

concerning the Development Agreement:

1. The General Plan designates the Project Site for Professional and Administrative Office land
uses. The Project Site is zoned C-1-S-X (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special;
Conditional Development Combining District).

2. The Applicant proposes a unified, master-planned development of the Project Site consisting
of multiple contiguous parcels of approximately 64.3 acres.

A81



A82

3.

The Applicant proposes to demolish 35 existing buildings and a church and associated multi-
use building on the Project Site, excepting existing Buildings P, S and T, and redevelop the
Project Site with the subsequent construction of a mix of uses consisting of non-residential
buildings of approximately 1,000,000 square feet (SF), inclusive of approximately 287,000 SF
in existing Buildings P, S and T, and up to 45,000 SF of commercial/retail space; development
of up to 800 residential dwelling units within five (5) different groupings of which 251 will be
affordable housing units; provision of surface and structured parking spaces in accordance
with the provisions of the zoning for the Project Site; decommissioning and demolition of a 6-
megawatt natural gas cogeneration plant; removal of heritage trees and planting of
replacement trees; and potential development by the City of an underground emergency water
reservoir with a capacity of approximately 2 to 3 million gallons beneath public recreational
facilities, provision of publicly accessible open space across the campus, and related
infrastructure improvements comprising utilities, roadways, pedestrian and bicycle pathways,
lighting, and landscaping (the “Project”).

The Applicant proposes to provide various community benefits as outlined in the Development
Agreement which are in excess of those dedications, conditions, and exactions that may be
imposed under applicable law and thus otherwise would not be achievable without the express
agreement of Applicant.

SECTION 5.

As required by Section 302 of Resolution No. 4159 and based on an analysis of the facts set forth
above, the staff report to the City Council, the presentation to the Council, supporting documents,
and public testimony, the City Council hereby adopts the following as its findings:

1.

The Development Agreement is consistent with the objectives, policies, general land uses and
programs specified in the General Plan. As described in the EIR, the Project will be consistent
with the land use designations and the goals and polices of the General Plan.

The Development Agreement is compatible with the uses authorized in and the regulations
prescribed for the C-1-S-X district in which the Project Site is located because the Project Site
creates opportunities for housing and employment within %2 mile of a major transit stop (e.g.
Caltrain station), includes quality residential development at a range of densities in
conjunction with commercial development; creates opportunities for research and
development (R&D), including life science and laboratory uses, appropriately conditioned to
ensure compatibility with office, residential and other allowable uses; blends with and
complements existing neighborhoods through site development regulations and design
standards that minimize impacts to adjacent uses; provides a quality and sustainable living
environment for residents, workers, and visitors; creates housing opportunities emphasizing
housing diversity and affordability for families and other household compositions through
mixed sized housing unit sizes, variation in building types, and variation in housing unit
designs; creates integrated site development and open space planning with the inclusion of
public use open space amenities.

The Development Agreement is in conformity with public convenience, general welfare and
good land use practices because the Project is consistent with the General Plan and zoning
designations for the Project Site and appropriate utilities and services can be provided for the
Project.

The Development Agreement will not be detrimental to the health, safety and general welfare
of the City or the region surrounding the City.

The Development Agreement will not adversely affect the orderly development of property or
the preservation of property values within the City.

The Development Agreement will promote and encourage the development of the Project by
providing a greater degree of certainty with respect thereto by establishing the regulations



A83

concerning land use development, timing and sequencing of Project development and the
payment of fees.

7. The Development Agreement will result in the provision of community benefits by the
Applicant, such as additional funding for transportation improvements, a shuttle to transport
residents and workers to and from the Project Site or funding for the City’s commuter shuttles,
land dedication to an affordable housing developer for up to 154 below market rate units,
funding for maintenance of future City park, along with the construction, dedication, and
maintenance of a public restroom to serve the park, commitment to use union labor for the
core and shell for the non-residential buildings and encourage residential developers to use
union labor, and community use of open space within the Project, including the Event Area
within the Parkline Commons. The Development Agreement also includes an agreement to
enter into a Payment In Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) to ensure the City receives expected revenue
and a sales tax point of sale designation during construction to increase tax revenue for the
City. Additionally, the Development Agreement includes several sustainability benefits,
including all-electric buildings, installation of recycled water distribution infrastructure for future
connections to planned recycled water, and the use of non-diesel backup generators provided
specific operational and cost criteria are met.

SECTION 6.

Based upon the above findings of fact, the Development Agreement for the Project is hereby
approved, subject to such minor, conforming and clarifying changes consistent with the terms
thereof as may be approved by the City Manager in consultation with the City Attorney. The City
Council hereby authorizes the Mayor to execute the Development Agreement and all documents
required to implement the Development Agreement on behalf of the City.

SECTION 7.

No later than ten days after this ordinance is effective and has been executed by all parties, the
City Clerk shall record with the San Mateo County Recorder a copy of the Development
Agreement, as required by Government Code Section 65868.5.

SECTION 8.

If any section of this ordinance, or part hereof, is held by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final
judicial action to be void, voidable or enforceable, such section, or part hereof, shall be deemed
severable from the remaining sections of this ordinance and shall in no way affect the validity of
the remaining sections hereof.

SECTION 9.

This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date of its adoption. Within fifteen
(15) days of its adoption, the ordinance shall be posted in three (3) public places within the City
of Menlo Park, and the ordinance, or a summary of the ordinance prepared by the City Attorney,
shall be published in a local newspaper used to publish official notices for the City of Menlo Park
prior to the effective date.

INTRODUCED on , 2025, and PASSED AND ADOPTED as an ordinance
of the City of Menlo Park at a regular meeting of said City Council on the __ day of
, 2025, by the following votes:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:



APPROVED:

Drew Combs, Mayor
ATTEST:

Judi A. Herren, City Clerk

Exhibits:

Exhibit No. 1 to Exhibit F - Development Agreement for the Parkline Master Plan Project by
and between the City of Menlo Park and LPGS Menlo, LLC (Staff Report Attachment GG)

A84



ATTACHMENT B

Summary Consistency Analysis

Bl

Policy LU 2.1

Neighborhood
Compatibility

Policy LU 2.2

Open Space

Policy LU 2.5

Below Market Rate
Housing

Policy LU 2.6

Underground Utilities

Policy LU 2.9

Compatible Uses

Policy LU 4.4

Community Amenities

Policy LU 4.7

Ensure that new residential
development possesses high-quality
design that is compatible with the scale,
look, and feel of the surrounding
neighborhood and that respects the
City’s residential character.

Require accessible, attractive open
space that is well maintained and uses
sustainable practices and materials in
all new multiple dwelling and mixed-use
development.

Require residential developments of °
five or more units to comply with the
provisions of the City’s Below-Market
Rate (BMR) Housing Program,
including eligibility for increased density
above the number of market rate
dwellings otherwise permitted by the
applicable zoning and other exceptions
and incentives

Require all electric and
communications lines serving new .
development to be

placed underground

Promote residential uses in mixed-use
arrangements and the clustering of
compatible uses such as employment
centers, shopping areas, open space
and parks, within easy walking and
bicycling distance of each other and
transit stops.

Require proposed development
projects of a certain minimum scale to
support and contribute to programs that
benefit the community and the City,
including education, transit,
transportation, infrastructure,
sustainability, neighborhood-serving
amenities, child care, housing, job
training, and meaningful employment
for Menlo Park youth and adults
Evaluate proposed development of a o
certain minimum scale for its potential

The project would adhere to extensive
design standards outlined in the CDP
and developed for the project

The project would provide over 29 acres
of open space, including 12 acres of
publicly accessible open space
(including a public park to be dedicated
to the City) that would include areas for
active and passive uses such as the
Ravenswood Ave. parklet, the Parkline
Commons, new bicycle and pedestrian
pathways, and a dog park. Programming
for the public park would be developed
through an outreach process

The project would provide 97 inclusionary
housing units in compliance with the
City’s BMR Housing Program

In addition to the 97 inclusionary units,
the project includes dedication of a 1.6-
acre parcel to an affordable housing
developer for up to 154 additional BMR
units

Electric and communication lines would
be placed underground

The project would include a mix of uses
(office/R&D and residential, with some
retail/restaurant components) and is
located in close proximity to downtown
Menlo Park employment centers

The project would include 12 acres of
publicly accessible open space and
increase bicycle and pedestrian
connections

The proposed project includes a
development agreement which includes
community benefits such as dedication
of a public park, dedication of a parcel to
an affordable housing developer for a
100% affordable building, publicly
accessible event space and
sustainability and transportation benefits,
among others

The City prepared a fiscal impact
analysis and supplemental memo to

Page 1 of 4



Fiscal Impacts

Policy LU 6.2

Open Space in New
Development

Policy LU 6.4

Park and Recreational
Land Dedication

Policy LU 6.8

Landscaping in
Development

Policy LU 6.9

Pedestrian and
Bicycle Facilities

Policy LU 7.1

Sustainability

Policy LU 7.5

Reclaimed Water Use

Policy LU 7.9

Green Building

fiscal impacts on the City and
community

Require new nonresidential, mixed use,
and multiple dwelling development of a
certain minimum scale to provide ample
open space in form of plazas, greens,
community gardens, and parks whose
frequent use is encouraged through
thoughtful placement and design

Require new

residential development to dedicate
land, or pay fees in lieu

thereof, for park and recreation
purposes.

Encourage extensive and

appropriate landscaping in public and
private development to maintain the
City’s tree canopy and to promote
sustainability and healthy living,
particularly through increased trees and
water-efficient landscaping in large
parking areas and in the public right-of-
way.

Provide well-designed pedestrian and
bicycle facilities for safe and convenient
multi-modal activity through the use of
access easements along linear parks or
paseos

Promote sustainable site planning,
development, landscaping, and
operational practices that conserve
resources and minimize waste.

Implement use of adequately treated
“reclaimed” water (recycled/non-potable
water sources such as, graywater,
blackwater, rainwater, stormwater,
foundation drainage, etc.) through dual
plumbing systems for outdoor and
indoor uses, as feasible

Support sustainability and green
building best practices through the
orientation, design, and placement of
buildings and facilities to optimize their
energy efficiency in preparation of State
zero-net energy requirements for
residential construction in 2020 and
commercial construction in 2030.

disclose the fiscal impacts of the
proposed project on the City and special
districts

The project would provide over 29 acres
of open space, including 12 acres of
publicly accessible open space
(including the public park to be dedicated
to the City) that would include areas
such as the Ravenswood Ave. parklet,
the Parkline Commons, new bicycle and
pedestrian pathways, and a dog park

The DA includes dedication of a park
and payment of a rec in lieu fees

Approximately 336 heritage trees would
be retained at the project site and 860
new trees would be planted

Including retained non-heritage trees,
the site would contain a total of 1,392
trees

The project would include new
pedestrian and bicycle connections
through the site and upgrades along the
northern and southern boundaries of the
site

The project would comply with the City’s
water efficient landscaping ordinance,
CalGreen code requirements, and be
designed to meet waste planning and
LEED requirements per the C-1-S
zoning district

The proposed project would be dual
plumbed for future use of recycled water
The development agreement includes
future connections for recycled water

The project would be designed to comply
with the City’s applicable LEED
requirements; and would comply with the
City’s Green and Sustainable Building
requirements

Page 2 of 4



B3

Policy CIRC 2.11

Design of New
Development

Policy CIRC 2.14

Impacts of New
Development

Policy CIRC 6.3

Shuttle Service

Policy CIR 7.1

Parking and New
Development

Policy H4.2

Housing to Address

Require new development to
incorporate design that prioritizes safe
pedestrian and bicycle travel and
accommodates senior citizens, people
with mobility challenges, and children

Require new development to mitigate
its impacts on the safety (e.g., collision
rates) and efficiency (e.g., vehicle miles
traveled (VMT) per service population
or other efficiency metric) of the
circulation system. New development
should minimize cut-through and high-
speed vehicle traffic on residential
streets; minimize the number of vehicle
trips; provide appropriate bicycle,
pedestrian, and transit connections,
amenities and improvements in
proportion with the scale of proposed
projects; and facilitate appropriate or
adequate response times and access
for emergency vehicles.

Encourage increased shuttle service
between employment centers and the
Downtown Menlo

Park Caltrain station.

Ensure new development provides
appropriate parking ratios, including
application of appropriate minimum
and/or maximum ratios, unbundling,
shared parking, electric car charging,
car sharing, and Green Trip Certified
strategies to accommodate residents,
employees, customers, and visitors

Strive to provide opportunities for new
housing development to meet the City’s
share of its Regional Housing Needs
Allocation (RHNA). In doing so, it is the

The project would install frontage
improvements and Class | multi-modal
bicycle and pedestrian paths along the
northern and southern project
boundaries, and Class IV bike lanes
along the Laurel Street frontage

The project includes pedestrian paths
through the site that would eventually
connect to the Middle Ave. Caltrain
undercrossing and other pedestrian
improvements

The EIR evaluated the project’s potential
impact on VMT and determined that its
impact would be less than significant
when mitigation measures were
incorporated as part of project
implementation

The project was designed to reduce cut
through traffic through the alignment of
driveways

The project would include publicly
accessible pathways which would
provide pedestrian access and improve
pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure in
the area

The project includes a transportation
demand management (TDM) plan that
would reduce project trips by 35%

The project would install frontage
improvements to facilitate bike and
pedestrian connections within the vicinity
of the project site

As part of the DA, the project would
either make payments towards the City’s
shuttle or provide its own

The proposed project is consistent with
the parking requirements in the
proposed C-1-S zoning district as
modified through the CDP

During the architectural control stage,
staff would verify that the project
provides sufficient EV charging facilities
per the City’s EV Charging Ordinance
Parking for the multi-family buildings
would be unbundled and the 100%
affordable building would share parking
with non-residential components of the
project

Project would provide 97 inclusionary
housing units and up to 154 additional
BMR units on a parcel to be dedicated to
an affordable housing developer

Page 3 of 4



Local Housing Needs

Policy H4.4

Variety of Housing
Choices

Policy H4.10

Preferences for
Affordable and
Moderate-Income
Housing

Policy H4.11

Inclusionary Housing
Approach

Policy H4.16

Neighborhood
Responsibilities within
Menlo Park

City’s intent to provide an adequate °
supply and variety of housing
opportunities to meet the needs of
Menlo Park’s workforce and special
needs populations, striving to match
housing types, affordability and
location, with household income, and
addressing the housing needs of
extremely low income persons, lower
income families with children, shared
housing and lower income seniors.

Encourage well-designed residential
mixed-use developments where
residential use is appropriate to the
setting. Encourage mixed-use
development in proximity to transit and
services, such as shopping centers, the
C-4 district along Willow Road

near the Willows neighborhood,
properties zoned C-1, C-1-A, C-1-C, C-
2 and C-2-A, C-2-B, C-2-S, and P, as
well as near the downtown to support
downtown businesses (consistent with
the El Camino Real/Downtown Specific
Plan).

Implement BMR and moderate-income
housing preferences for people living or
working in Menlo Park to the extent
consistent with Fair Housing laws.

Require residential developments

involving five (5) or more units to

provide very low-, low- and moderate- .
income housing units. In-lieu fees are
allowed but not encouraged.

Seek ways specific to each

neighborhood to provide additional

housing as part of each neighborhood's | e
fair share responsibility and

commitment to help achieve
community-wide housing goals.

Project would provide various types of
units within the project including
apartments of various sizes, attached
townhomes and detached townhomes
addressing housing needs for various
types of households, which would
contribute to the City’'s RHNA numbers

The project includes a mix of uses and a
variety of housing types (attached and
detached townhomes and apartments of
various sizes

The project would provide housing near
the Caltrain station and downtown Menlo
Park

To the extent consistent with State Law,
the City is applying its BMR preferences
to the project, consistent with this policy

The project would provide 97
inclusionary housing units in compliance
with the City’s BMR Housing Program

In addition to the 97 inclusionary units,
the project includes dedication of a 1.6-
acre parcel to an affordable housing
developer for up to 154 additional BMR
units

This project would bring 800 residential
units near downtown

Page 4 of 4



ATTACHMENT C

E er & _\;_"
< iy AF B
= g L
€ i 4 J:'.h
e, g i
Th, -

Menlo Atherton High

e School
By
ﬁ"u.
] #llvem o
o 201 . gl B too
"+ Ravenswood
Avenue

......

LOCATION MAP

CITY OF ﬂ

MENLO PARK
c1

Scale: 1:9,000

333 RAVENSWOOD AVENUE - PARKLINE
Drawn By: CDS  Checked By: KTP

Date: 3/5/2025



crturner
Text Box
3/5/2025


D1

ATTACHMENT D

Pre-application submittal April 2021

City Council - introductory presentation on the project to City Council June 2021
Project submittal October 2021
Project resubmittal January 2022
Planning Commission study session March 2022
City Council study session May 2022
Resubmittal of Plans November 2022
Release of Notice of Preparation (NOP) of an EIR December 2022
Planning Commission EIR scoping session December 2022
Planning Commission study session (continued from December 2022) January 2023
Planning Commission study session (continued from January 2022) February 2023
City Council overview of comments on the notice of preparation and scope and content of | March 2023
the EIR, and authorization for the city manager to enter into an environmental leadership

act processing agreement (SB 7) with the applicant*

City Council approval of WSA May 2024
Resubmittal of plan set for project variant May 2024

City Council study session May 2024
Planning Commission Draft EIR public hearing and study session July 2024
Housing Commission review and recommendation on BMR proposal March 2025
City Council study session on draft DA terms May 2025

*the applicant has decided not to pursue SB 7




DIVISION

ARRILLAGA
FAMILY
‘GYMNASTICS

| CENTER

|| P e o

./r ‘H— : ﬂ"""

Il BURGESS PARK

MENLO PARK i
POLICE R
DEPARTMENT

CITY OF MENLO |
PARKBUILDING \

MENLO
CHILDREN'S
CENTER

.

DEVELOPER TO EXTEND EXISTING
MENLO SWIM |
AND SPORT |- IVY-COVERED LATTICE FENCE

B an T
e e
=2 T@uaees’s{‘f

r"';‘__':-lll:'

PARKLINE

El

FART #SRl =STeEDiO= 0JB

o IR ]'R LUiA

IMARCUSSEN

e
= ~ASTREET Sl =
1 e

-

2 el |

T

| POTENTIAL CITY FENCED
] ABOVE-GRADE PUMP
: T STATION & GENERATOR ~ WATER RESERVOIR

POTENTIALCITY BIKE REPAIR SHOP PROVIDED
BELOW-GRADE IN RESIDENTIAL 3 BUILDING

. FME SHEET C3.4 FOR PROPOSED PRELIMINARY SEMINAR
- = " _/DRIVE OPTION UNDER STUDY FOR REFERENCE.
{ il =] 7 a1

ATTACHMENT E

-

e MIDDL‘E:F_IELD ROAD

f f'.*:"""

2025.06.24

UNITED STATES
GEOLOGICAL
SURVEY

CONCEPTUAL MASTER PLAN - FULL BUILD OUT

I
LEGEND

RESIDENTIAL

~ OFFICE /R&D
TERRACE

[0 EXISTING BUILDINGS

PARKING GARAGE
UTILITY YARD

UTILITY & TRASH ENCLOSURE
FOOTPRINT / ROOF

" OUTDOORPAVILION /

EVENT SPACE

PUBLIC RESTROOM PROVIDED ON THE
GROUND LEVEL IN PARKING GARAGE 1. SEE
SHEET G2.04 ILLUSTRATIVE MASTERPLAN.

RESIDENTIAL BUILDING R3 (RESIDENTIAL 3)
'WILL BE DEVELOPED SEPARATELY BY A 3RD
PARTY AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPER.
THE TIMING OF CONSTRUCTION IS
DEPENDENT ON A VARIETY OF FACTORS
THAT ARE UNKNOWN AT THIS TIME AND
NOT UNDER THE APPLICANT’S CONTROL. R3
IS THEREFORE DEPICTED AS DEVELOPED
UNDER PHASE 3, BUT IT COULD BE
DEVELOPED AT AN EARLIER DATE. A BIKE
REPAIR SHOP IS CURRENTLY ANTICIPATED
WITHIN R3 BUT ALTERNATIVE OR
ADDITIONAL AMENITIES MAY ALSO BE
INCLUDED SUCH AS A SMALL COFFEE OR
JUICE BAR. THIS IS CONCEPTUAL PLAN AND
DETAILS REGARDING SPECIFIC USES WILL BE
DEVELOPED LATER DURING THE ACP
PROCESS.

®4v

Scale: 1" =100"-0"

G2.03.4



H1

ATTACHMENT H

Parkline Proj ect
Proposed General Plan Amendments

[New language in underline; deleted language in strikethrough]

A. The Residential and Commercial sections of Table 1, Land Use Designations
and Zoning Districts, on page LU-13 of the Land Use Element is amended to as follows;
except as set forth below all other provisions of Table 1 remain unchanged:

Per centage
General Plan Land . . — of Non-
Use Designation Applicable Zoning Districts Acreage Baylands
Area
Residential 4,930 1,929 54.954.8%
Low Density | Single Family Suburban Residentia (R- | 3,:372-1,371 39.0%
Residential 1-9)
Single Family Suburban Residential
(Felton Gables)
(R-1-S (FG)) Single Family Urban
Residential (R-1-U)
Single Family Urban Residential (Lorelei
Manor) (R-1-U (LM))
Commercial 254-255 +271.3%
Retail/Commercial | Neighborhood Shopping (C-2) 4241 1.2%
Neighborhood Mixed Use (C-MU)
Neighborhood Commercial, Specia (C-
2-S)
Parking (P)
Professional and | Administrative and Professional, | 212214 6-6.1%
Administrative | Restrictive (C-1)
Offices
Administrative, Professional and
Research, Restrictive (C-1-C)




H2

Administrative, Professiond and
Research, Specia (C-1-9)

Apartment Office (R-3-C)**

B. The following text on page LU-15 of the Land Use Element is amended and
maintained to read:

COMMERCIAL

Commercial designations accommodate a range of business types, from neighborhood-serving
retail and services, to shopping centers, to a variety of office uses. Commercial uses may occur
independently or in mixed-use configurations, including alongside or in the same buildings as
residential dwellings. Commercial designationsin Menlo Park are:

Retail/Commercial. This designation provides for retail services, personal services, professional
offices, banks, savings and loans, restaurants, cafes, theaters, residences, public and quasi-public
uses, and similar and compatible uses. Residential density shall not exceed 30 units per acre, as
identified in the applicable zoning district. The maximum FAR for nonresidential uses shall be 50
percent, 90 percent for residential uses, and 100 percent for mixed uses, as identified in the
applicable zoning district.

Professional and Administrative Office. This designation provides for professional, executive,
general, and administrative offices, banks, savings and loans, R& D facilities, conval escent homes,
residential uses, public and quasi-public uses, and similar and compatible uses such as
neighborhood-serving retail and services. Residential density shall not exceed 30 units per acre.
The maximum FAR for non-residential uses shall be a maximum of 40 50 percent, asidentified in
the applicable zoning district._For large, master-planned developments involving multiple
contiguous parcels, residential density and non-residential FAR may be aggregated across the
project area, as identified in the applicable zoning district.

C. The General Plan Land Use Designation for the parce at 201 Ravenswood
Ave. (Assessor’s Parcel Number 062-390-050) and Figure5 of the General Plan areamended
asfollows:

Existing Land Use Designation Proposed Land Use Designation

Residential Commercial

Figure 5 (General Plan Land Use Designations)



H3

The land use designations exhibit of the Land Use Element on page LU-12 is amended to change
the land use designation for the parcel at 201 Ravenswood Ave. to Commercial.

* * %



ATTACHMENT |

Parkline Project Variant Proposed
General Plan Land Use Map
Amendment

~

/ »
Y,
N P f

Other Parcels

D Other Parcels

Professional and Administrative Offices|
City Limits

I, City Limits ,
GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT:

Residential (Low Density Residential) to Commercial
(Professional and Administrative Offices) B

11



J1

Sections:

16.

16.35.010
16.35.015
16.35.020
16.35.030
16.35.040
16.35.050
16.35.055
16.35.060
16.35.070
16.35.080
16.35.090
16.35.100
16.35.110

35.010

ATTACHMENT J

Chapter 16.35

C-1-S — ADMINISTRATIVE, PROFESSIONAL AND RESEARCH, SPECIAL DISTRICT

Purpose.

Definitions.

Permitted uses.

Administratively permitted uses.
Conditional uses.

Development regulations.

Conditional Development Permit.
Parking standards.

Transportation demand management.
Open space.

Nonresidential and mixed-use design standards.
Residential mixed-use design standards.
Green and sustainable building.

Purpose.

The purpose and intent of the Administrative, Professional and Research, Special District is to:

(1)

(2)

®3)

(4)

Encourage quality residential development at a range of densities in conjunction with commercial development or
redevelopment;

Create opportunities for research and development (R&D) and light industrial uses (including life science and laboratory uses),
office, public and quasi-public uses, and other compatible uses;

Blend with and complement existing neighborhoods through site development regulations and design standards that minimize
impacts to adjacent uses;

Provide a quality and sustainable living environment for residents, workers, and visitors; and



J2

(5)

(6)

(7)

Create “missing-middle” housing opportunities emphasizing housing diversity, affordability, and ownership for families and other
household compositions through mixed sized housing unit sizes, variation in building types, and variation in housing unit
designs.

Create integrated site development and open space planning on larger and master planned properties with the inclusion of
public use open space amenities.

Create opportunities for housing and employment within one-half-mile (0.5 mile) radius of a major transit stop. The C-1-S district
is only applicable to parcels or project sites predominantly within 0.5 mile of a major transit stop as defined in California Public
Resources Code section 21064.3.

16.35.015 Definitions.

Terms are as defined in Municipal Code Chapter 16.04, Definitions, unless otherwise stated in this chapter.

16.35.020 Permitted uses.

Permitted uses in the Administrative, Professional and Research, Special district are as follows:

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)
(7)
(8)

(9)

Multiple dwellings, which are a required component for any development in the C-1-S district;
Two-family dwellings or duplexes;

Single-family dwellings;

Accessory buildings and accessory dwelling units;

Research and development and accessory uses (light industrial and manufacturing are not permitted), except when requiring
hazardous material review;

Administrative and professional offices and accessory uses;
Retail sales establishments, excluding the sale of beer, wine and alcohol,

Eating establishments, excluding the sale of beer, wine and alcohol, live entertainment, and/or establishments that are portable.
For purposes of this chapter, an eating establishment is primarily engaged in serving prepared food for consumption on or off the
premises;

Personal services, excluding tattooing, piercing, palm-reading, or similar services;

(10) Recreational facilities privately operated, twenty thousand (20,000) or less square feet of gross floor area;

(11) All public facilities used and operated for government purposes by the City of Menlo Park, the county of San Mateo, any public

school district, the state of California, and the government of the United States.



J3

16.35.030 Administratively permitted uses.

Uses allowed in the Administrative, Professional and Research, Special district, subject to obtaining an administrative permit per
Municipal Code Chapter 16.82, are as follows:

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Eating establishments, including beer and wine only, and/or that have live entertainment;
Childcare center;

Outdoor seating;

Any outside storage of material, equipment or vehicles associated with the main use;

Diesel generators.

16.35.040 Conditional uses.

Conditional uses allowed in the Administrative, Professional and Research, Special district, subject to obtaining a use permit per
Municipal Code Chapter 16.82, are as follows:

(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)

Home occupations in accordance with Section 16.04.340;

Research and development and accessory uses (light industrial and manufacturing are not permitted), requiring hazardous
material review;

Large Residential Care Facilities;
Eating establishments, including alcohol, and/or establishments that are portable;

Drinking establishments, including beer, wine and alcohol. For purposes of this chapter, a drinking establishment is a business
serving beverages for consumption on the premise as a primary use;

Retail sales establishments, including the sale of beer, wine and alcohol,
Recreational facilities, privately operated, greater than twenty thousand (20,000) square feet of gross floor area;
Special uses, in accordance with Chapter 16.78 of this title;

Public utilities, in accordance with Chapter 16.76 of this title.

16.35.050 Development regulations.

Development regulations in the Administrative, Professional and Research, Special district are as follows; however, these
development regulations, with the exception of residential density and intensity (residential and non-residential floor area ratio), may
be modified pursuant to the terms of a conditional development permit:



J4

Regulation

Definition
Minimum area of
building site (includes

Requirement

Notes/Additional
Requirements

Minimum lot area . 2 acres
public access
easements).
Minimum lot Minimum size of a lot 150 feet width
di . calculated using lot
imensions lines 150 feet depth
Setbacks shall be
measured from the
property line. In
instances where there
will be a public access
easement for vehicles,
Minimum linear feet measure the setback
Minimum setback at building can be sited 20 feet from the back of the
street from property line easement. For projects
adjacent to street. with public access
easements in the form
of private streets
internal to the project
site, this minimum
setback shall apply.
. . Minimum 10-foot deep
Minimum linear feet landscape plantin
Minimum interior side building can be sited pe p 9
L9 20 feet zone required along
and rear setbacks from interior and rear I
. interior and rear
property lines. .
property lines
Maximum permitted
Maximum ratio of nonresidential 50%

nonresidential floor
area ratio (FAR)

Residential density

Maximum residential
floor area ratio

gross floor area on a lot
to the square footage of
the lot

The number of dwelling
units in an acre.
Maximum permitted
ratio of residential gross
floor area on a lot to the
square footage of the
lot

12 du/acre to 30
du/acre

40% to 100%

Floor area ratio shall
increase on an even
gradient from 40% for
12 du/ac to 100% for 30
du/ac

Height

Height does not include
roof-mounted
equipment and utilities.

Nonresidential
structures: 35 feet

Mixed nonresidential

~and residential

A parapet used to
screen mechanical
equipment is not

_included in the height.



Notes/Additional

Regulation Definition Requirement Requirements
structures or residential
structures: 40 feet Maximum height of

mechanical equipment
with screening is 14
feet and must be set
back a minimum 15 feet
from building fagade. If
less than 15 feet from
facade, maximum
height is 4 feet and
screening required.
Stairs and elevators
towers may exceed the
height by 14 feet.

Architectural features,
e.g. towers, turrets,
trellises/sun shades,
and similar features,
including at building
modulations may
exceed height by up to
10 feet subject to not
exceeding 10 percent of
roof area. Roof top
elements shall be
integrated with building
design

Minimum portion of the
Minimum open space building site open and
requirement unobstructed by fully

enclosed buildings.

See Section 16.35.080
30% for open space
requirements.

16.35.055 Conditional development permit, required.

The purpose of the Administrative, Professional and Research, Special district is to provide flexibility for creative design, more orderly
development, optimal use of open space, different residential housing types, and to allow projects that are more compatible for
surrounding neighborhoods. Development in the Administrative, Professional and Research, Special district requires a conditional
development permit to set the design standards, including building relationship to the street, building mass and scale, exterior
materials, building design, and access and parking, and to allow for modifications to the development regulations, with the exception
of residential density and intensity (residential and non-residential floor area ratio), set forth in this chapter.



J6

For projects on contiguous sites that exceed fifteen (15) acres in size in the aggregate and are proposed for development as a single
project or phased development project, residential density, FAR and open space requirements may be calculated in the aggregate
across the project site, subject to a restrictive covenant recorded against all project parcels ensuring development on all project
parcels in the aggregate does not exceed what would be permitted if each parcel was developed individually.

16.35.060 Parking standards.

Development in the Administrative, Professional and Research, Special district shall meet the following parking requirements.

Maximum Spaces?
(Per 1,000 Sq. Ftor

Minimum Bicycle
Parking?

Land Use dwelling unit.)
Residential 1 1.5 long-term per
dwelling unit; 10%
Residential with 2 additional short-
attached garage term for guests
Office 2
1 per 5,000 sq. ft. of
Research and 2 gross floor area;
Development -
Minimum two
Retail 25 spaces for Office
and Research
Banks and financial 2.5 Development:
institutions 80% for long-term?
0, -
Eating and drinking 25 and Zotg’”fr?zr short
establishments
For all other
Personal services 25 commercial uses:
Private recreation 2.5 20% for long-term?
and 80% for short-
Child care center 25 term?

Public parking lot or
structure

One space per 20
vehicle spaces

At Public Works

At Public Works

Director or Director or
Other ; . : ;

designee’s designee’s

discretion discretion

! The Administrative, Professional and Research, Special district is only applicable to parcels and project sites predominantly within one-half mile of a major transit stop as defined in



J7

California Public Resources Code section 21064.3. In Menlo Park, a major transit stop means an existing rail transit station or the intersection of two or more major bus routes with a
frequency of service interval of 15 minutes or less during the morning and afternoon peak commute periods. A project site that qualifies as a TOD would be exempt from the City’s
minimum parking requirement per the requirements of Assembly Bill (AB) 2097.

2 Long-term parking is for use over several hours or overnight, typically used by employees and residents. Short-term parking is considered visitor parking for use from several minutes
to up to a couple of hours.

(1) Parking spaces shall be unbundled from the price of residential units such that parking is sold or rented separately, except in
cases where parking is physically connected to only one (1) unit. However, the planning commission may grant an exception
from this requirement for projects which include financing for affordable housing that requires that costs for parking and housing
be bundled together.

(2) Parking facilities may be shared at the discretion of the City’s Public Works Director or designee if multiple uses cooperatively
establish and operate the facilities, if these uses generate parking demands primarily during different hours than the remaining
uses, and if a sufficient number of spaces are provided to meet the maximum cumulative parking demand of the participating
uses at any time. An individual development proposal may incorporate a shared parking study to account for the mixture of
uses, either on-site or within a reasonable distance. The shared parking supply would be subject to review and approval based
on the proposed uses, specific design and site conditions. Project applicants may also be allowed to meet the minimum parking
requirements through the use of nearby off-site facilities at the discretion of the Public Works Director or designee.

16.35.070 Transportation demand management.

New construction and additions to an existing building involving ten thousand (10,000) or more square feet of gross floor area, or a
change of use of ten thousand (10,000) or more square feet of gross floor area shall develop a Transportation Demand Management
(TDM) plan necessary to reduce associated vehicle trips to at least thirty-five percent (35%) below standard generation rates for uses
on the project site. Each individual applicant will prepare its own TDM plan and provide an analysis to the satisfaction of the City’s
Public Works Director or designee of the impact of that TDM program.

(1) Eligible TDM measures may include but are not limited to:

(A) Participation in a local Transportation Management Association (TMA) that provides documented, ongoing support for
alternative commute programs;

(B) Appropriately located transit shelter(s);

(C) Preferred parking for carpools or vanpools;

(D) Designated parking for car-share vehicles;

(E) Requiring drivers to pay directly for using parking facilities;

(F) Public and/or private bike share program;

(G) Provision or subsidy of carpool, vanpool, shuttle, or bus service, including transit passes for site occupants;
(H) Required alternative work schedules and/or telecommuting;



J8

(2)

() Passenger loading zones for carpools and vanpools at main building entrance;

(J) Safe, well-lit, accessible, and direct route to the nearest transit or shuttle stop or dedicated, fully accessible bicycle and
pedestrian trail;

(K) Car share membership for employees or residents;
(L) Emergency Ride Home programs;

(M) Green Trip Certification.

Measures receiving TDM credit shall be:

(A) Documented in a TDM plan developed specifically for each project and noted on project site plans, if and as appropriate;

(B) Guaranteed to achieve the intended reduction over the life of the development, as evidenced by annual reporting provided
to the satisfaction of the City’s Public Works Director or designee;

(C) Required to be replaced by appropriate substitute measures if unable to achieve intended trip reduction in any reporting
year,;

(D) Administered by a representative whose updated contact information is provided to the Public Works Director or designee.

16.35.080 Open Space.

All development in the Administrative, Professional and Research, Special district shall provide a minimum amount of open space
equal to thirty percent (30%) of the total lot area, with a minimum amount of publicly accessible open space equal to fifty percent
(50%) of the total required open space area.

(1)

(@)

(3)

Publicly accessible open space consists of areas unobstructed by fully enclosed structures with a mixture of landscaping and
hardscape that provides seating and places to rest, places for gathering, passive and/or active recreation, pedestrian circulation,
or other similar use as determined by the Planning Commission. Publicly accessible open space types include, but are not
limited to paseos, pathways, plazas, forecourts and entryways, and outdoor dining areas. Publicly accessible open space must:

(A) Contain site furnishings, art, or landscaping;

(B) Be on the ground floor or podium level,

(C) Be at least patrtially visible from a public right-of-way such as a street or paseo;

(D) Have a direct, accessible pedestrian connection to a public right-of-way or easement.

Quasi-public and private open spaces, which may or may not be accessible to the public, include patios, balconies, roof
terraces, and courtyards.

Residential Open Space.

(A) Residential developments shall have a minimum of one hundred (100) square feet of open space per unit created as
common open space or a minimum of eighty (80) square feet of open space per unit created as private open space, where



J9

(4)

(B)

(©)

(A)
(B)

(©)

private open space shall have a minimum dimension of six (6) feet by six (6) feet. In case of a mix of private and common
open space, such common open space shall be provided at a ratio equal to one and one-quarter (1.25) square feet for each
one (1) square foot of private open space that is not provided.

Depending on the number of dwelling units, additional common open space shall be provided to meet the following criteria:

(i) Ten (10) to fifty (50) units: minimum of one (1) space, twenty (20) feet minimum dimension (four hundred (400) sf total,
minimum).

(i) Fifty-one (51) to one hundred (100) units: minimum of one (1) space, thirty (30) feet minimum dimension (nine hundred
(900) sf total, minimum).

(i) One hundred one (101) or more units: minimum of one (1) space, forty (40) feet minimum dimension (one thousand six
hundred (1,600) sf total, minimum).

Residential open space shall be counted toward the required open space (30%) and, as applicable, shall be counted toward
the minimum required publicly accessible open space.

All open spaces shall:

Interface with adjacent buildings via direct connections through doors, windows, and entryways;

Be integrated as part of building modulation and articulation to enhance building fagade and should be sited and designed
to be appropriate for the size of the development and accommodate different activities, groups and both active and passive
uses;

For at-grade open spaces, incorporate landscaping design that includes:
(i) Sustainable stormwater features;

(i) A minimum landscaping bed no less than three (3) feet in length or width and five (5) feet in depth for infiltration
planting;

(iii) Native species able to grow to their maximum size without shearing.

(5) All exterior landscaping counts towards open space requirements.

16.35.090 Nonresidential design standards.

All nonresidential design standards shall be set by a project-specific conditional development permit. The conditional development

permit shall identify standards for, but not limited to, building relationship to the street, building mass and scale, building modulations
and projections, exterior materials, building design, access and parking, and lighting.

16.35.100 Residential mixed-use design standards.

All residential and mixed-use design standards shall be set by a project-specific conditional development permit. The conditional
development permit shall identify standards for, but not limited to, building relationship to the street, building mass and scale, building



profile and stepbacks, building modulations and projections, exterior materials, building design, forms, and architecture, access and
parking, and lighting.

16.35.110 Green and sustainable building.

In addition to meeting all applicable regulations specified in Municipal Code Title 12 (Buildings and Construction), the following
provisions shall apply to projects. Implementation of these provisions may be subject to separate discretionary review and
environmental review pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act.

(1) Green building.
(A) Any new construction, addition or alteration of a building shall be required to comply with table 16.35.110(1)(B).
(2) Energy.

(A) For all new construction, the project will meet one hundred percent (100%) of energy demand (electricity and natural gas)
through any combination of the following measures:

(i) On-site energy generation;

(i) Purchase of one hundred percent (100%) renewable electricity through Peninsula Clean Energy or Pacific Gas and
Electric Company in an amount equal to the annual energy demand of the project;

(i) Purchase and installation of local renewable energy generation within the City of Menlo Park in an amount equal to the
annual energy demand of the project;

(iv) Purchase of certified renewable energy credits and/or certified renewable energy off-sets annually in an amount equal
to the annual energy demand of the project.

If a local amendment to the California Energy Code is approved by the California Energy Commission (CEC), the following
provision becomes mandatory:

The project will meet one hundred percent (100%) of energy demand (electricity and natural gas) through a minimum
of 30% of the maximum feasible on-site energy generation, as determined by an On-Site Renewable Energy
Feasibility Study and any combination of measures ii to iv above. The On-Site Renewable Energy Feasibility Study
shall demonstrate the following cases at a minimum: 1. Maximum on-site generation potential. 2. Solar feasibility for
roof and parking areas (excluding roof mounted HVAC equipment). 3. Maximum solar generation potential solely on
the roof area.

(B) Alterations and/or additions of 10,000 square feet or larger where the building owner elects to update the core and shell
through the option presented in table 16.35.110(2)(B):

J10



The project will meet one hundred percent (100%) of energy demand (electricity and natural gas) through any
combination of measures i to iv listed in 16.35.110(2)(A).

J11



J12

TABLE 16.35.110(2)(B) GREEN BUILDING REQUIREMENTS

NEW CONSTRUCTION

ADDITIONS AND/OR ALTERATIONS

Building Portfolio
Manager and
submit
documentation of
compliance as
required by the

city

Building Portfolio
Manager and
submit
documentation of
compliance as
required by the

city

Building Portfolio
Manager and
submit
documentation of
compliance as
required by the
city

Building Portfolio
Manager and
submit
documentation of
compliance as
required by the

city

Building Portfolio
Manager and
submit
documentation of
compliance as
required by the city

1 sq. ft.—9,999 10,000 sq. ft.— | 25,001 sq. ft. and
Green sq. ft. of 25,000 sq. ft. of above of
Building 10,000 sq. ft.— | 25,001 sq. ft.— 100,001 sq. ft. Jconditioned area,|conditioned area, | conditioned area,
Requirement | 25,000 sq. ft. 100,000 sq. ft. and above volume or size | volume or size® | volume or size®
Green Certified LEED Certified LEED Certified LEED CALGreen Certified LEED Certified LEED
Building Silver BD+C? Silver BD+C? Gold BD+C! mandatory Silver ID+C1 or Gold ID+C1 or
update core and update core and
shell of entire shell of entire
building to current |building to current
California Energy [|California Energy
Code? and meet  |Code? and meet
Section Section
16.35.110(2)(B) 16.35.110(2)(B)
Electric The electric vehicle charging spaces requirements in Section 16.72.010 apply.
\Vehicle (EV)
Charging
Spaces
Energy Enroll in EPA Enroll in EPA Enroll in EPA Enroll in EPA Enroll in EPA Enroll in EPA
Reporting Energy Star Energy Star Energy Star Energy Star Energy Star Energy Star

Building Portfolio
Manager and
submit
documentation of
compliance as
required by the city

1 Applicable projects are required to be LEED certified: (a) applicant must submit appropriate LEED checklist and verifying cover letter from a project LEED AP
with the project application and (b) applicant must complete all applicable LEED certification documents prior to approval of the final inspection. The Community
Development Director may authorize the use of an alternate LEED rating system based on substantial evidence that the alternate LEED rating system is more
appropriate for the proposed project.

2 Building owners may choose to have additions and/or alterations follow the LEED ID+C path, or alternatively, building owners may upgrade the entire existing
building’s core and shell to the current California Energy Code standards and follow the city’s requirements listed in Section 16.35.110(2)(B). If the building owner
chooses to upgrade the entire building’s core and shell to current California Energy Code standards, additions and alterations of that building will be exempt from
the LEED ID+C requirement for three (3) code update cycles beginning with the upgrade cycle and ending with the two (2) cycles following the upgrade cycle. If
this option is selected by the applicant, the building owner must upgrade to the Energy Code in effect at the time of the first building permit application for interior
alteration and/or additions. Building permits for the core and shell upgrade must be initiated and satisfactory progress must be made on the core and shell upgrade
project before occupancy for the additions and/or alterations shall be granted by the city’s building department. If the building owner fails to complete these core
and shell upgrades within one (1) year of permit initiation, or receive a written letter from the community development director or his/her designee extending the
deadline, the building owner shall be subject to typical permit violation penalties, including but not limited to stop work orders on any construction on the subject

property, fines, and legal action.



J13

3 If over a period of five (5) years (or sixty (60) months) the subject property makes smaller additions and/or alterations that cumulatively equal or exceed the
trigger square footage listed above (i.e., ten thousand (10,000) square feet or twenty-five thousand one (25,001) square feet), the subject property shall be
required to comply with the green and sustainable building requirements of this table.

(3) Water use efficiency and recycled water.

(A)
(B)
(©)

(D)
(E)

(F)
(G)

Single pass cooling systems shall be prohibited in all new buildings.
All new buildings shall be built and maintained without the use of well water.

Applicants for a new building more than one hundred thousand (100,000) square feet of gross floor area shall prepare and
submit a proposed water budget and accompanying calculations following the methodology approved by the City. For all
new buildings two hundred and fifty (250,000) square feet or more in gross floor area, the water budget shall account for the
potable water demand reduction resulting from the use of an alternative water source for all City approved non-potable
applications. The water budget and calculations shall be reviewed and approved by the City’s Public Works Director prior to
certification of occupancy. Twelve (12) months after the date of the certification of occupancy, the building owner shall
submit data and information sufficient to allow the City to compare the actual water use to the allocation in the approved
water budget. In the event that actual water consumption exceeds the water budget, a water conservation program, as
approved by the City’s Public Works Director, shall be implemented. Twelve (12) months after City approval of the water
conservation program, the building owner shall submit data and information sufficient to allow the City to determine
compliance with the conservation program. If water consumption exceeds the budgeted amount, the City’s Public Works
Director may prohibit the use of water for irrigation or enforce compliance as an infraction pursuant to Chapter 1.12 of the
Municipal Code until compliance with the water budget is achieved.

All new buildings shall be dual plumbed for the internal use of recycled water.

All new buildings two hundred and fifty (250,000) square feet or more in gross floor area shall use an alternate water source
for all City approved non-potable applications. An alternative water source may include, but is not limited to, treated non-
potable water such as graywater. An Alternate Water Source Assessment shall be submitted that describes the alternative
water source and proposed non-potable application. Approval of the Alternate Water Source Assessment, the alternative
water source and its proposed uses shall be approved by the City’s Public Works Director and Community Development
Director. If the Menlo Park Municipal Water District has not designated a Recycled Water Purveyor and/or municipal
recycled water source is not available prior to planning project approval, applicants may propose conservation measures to
meet the requirements of this section subject to approval of the City Council. The conservation measures shall achieve a
reduction in potable water use equivalent to the projected demand of City approved non-potable applications, but in no case
shall the reduction be less than 30 percent compared to the water budget in Section C. The conservation measures may
include on-site measures, off-site measures or a combination thereof.

Potable water shall not be used for dust control on construction projects.
Potable water shall not be used for decorative features, unless the water recirculates.

(4) Hazard mitigation and sea level rise resiliency (if located in a FEMA flood zone).



(A) The first floor elevation of all new buildings shall be twenty-four (24) inches above the Federal Emergency Management
Agency base flood elevation (BFE) to account for sea level rise. Where no BFE exists, the first floor (bottom of floor beams)
elevation shall be twenty-four (24) inches above the existing grade. The building design and protective measures shall not
create adverse impacts on adjacent sites as determined by the City.

(B) Prior to building permit issuance, all new buildings shall pay any required fee or proportionate fair share for the funding of
sea level rise projects, if applicable.

(5) Waste management.

(A) Applicants shall submit a zero-waste management plan to the City, which will cover how the applicant plans to minimize
waste to landfill and incineration in accordance with all applicable state and local regulations. Applicants shall show in their
zero-waste plan how they will reduce, recycle and compost wastes from the demolition, construction and occupancy phases
of the building. For the purposes of this ordinance, Zero Waste is defined as ninety percent (90%) overall diversion of non-
hazardous materials from landfill and incineration, wherein discarded materials are reduced, reused, recycled, or
composted. Zero Waste plan elements shall include the property owner’s assessment of the types of waste to be generated
during demolition, construction and occupancy, and a plan to collect, sort and transport materials to uses other than landfill
and incineration.

(6) Bird-friendly design.
(A) No more than ten percent (10%) of facade surface area shall have non-bird--friendly glazing.

(B) Bird--friendly glazing includes, but is not limited to opaque glass, covering the outside surface of clear glass with patterns,
paned glass with fenestration, frit or etching patterns, and external screens over non-reflective glass. Highly reflective glass
is not permitted.

(C) Occupancy sensors or other switch control devices shall be installed on non-emergency lights and shall be programmed to
shut off during non-work hours and between 10 PM and sunrise.

(D) Placement of buildings shall avoid the potential funneling of flight paths towards a building facade.

(E) Glass skyways or walkways, freestanding (see-through) glass walls and handrails, and transparent building corners shall
not be allowed.

(F) Transparent glass shall not be allowed at the rooflines of buildings, including in conjunction with roof decks, patios and
green roofs.

(G) Use of rodenticides shall not be allowed.

(H) A project may receive a waiver from one or more of the items in (A) to (F) listed above, subject to the submittal of a site
specific evaluation from a qualified biologist and review and approval by the Planning Commission.

J14



ATTACHMENT K

\
EFEZ: \

Existing Zoning

2¥L1§Dg.§|:| - :g
N = =Ry

an Resid ial

ent \\
Administrative and \\\"
ive, Condition ‘ .

District, Restrictive
combining district overlay) t
ini ive, Professional and

istrict, Conditional
ini istrict overlay)

|0_




L1

ATTACHMENT L

CONDITIONAL DEVELOPMENT PERMIT (“CDP”)
PARKLINE MASTER PLAN PROJECT

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1

1.2.

Applicant: LPGS Menlo, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company or its successors
or assigns (“Applicant”).

Project Description: General Plan Text and General Plan Map Amendment, Zoning
Ordinance Text and Map Amendment, Rezoning, Conditional Development Permit,
Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map, Heritage Tree Removal Permits, Parkline
Transportation Demand Management (TDM) Plan, Parkline Project Wide Affordable
Housing Agreement, and Development Agreement to demolish two buildings at 201
Ravenswood Avenue and approximately 1.1 million square feet (SF) within 35
buildings at 301 and 333 Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road,
decommission an existing 6-megawatt natural gas power plant, and retain three
existing buildings (Buildings P, S and T of approximately 286,730 SF) for the
continued operation of the Property Owner, SRI, International (“SRI”), and construct:

1. Six hundred and forty-six (646) residential dwelling units, comprised of 46
townhome-style units in two components (referred to as TH1 with 19 detached
units and TH2 with 27 attached units in multiple buildings) and 600 apartments in
two multifamily buildings (referred to as Buildings R1 and R2 with up to 300 units
each), with seven rental BMR units affordable to low-income or low-income
equivalent households or seven for sale below market rate (BMR) units
affordable to moderate income households within TH1 and TH2, and 90 rental
BMR units affordable to low-income or low-income equivalent households in R1
and R2;

2. Up to 154 residential dwelling units on an approximately 1.6-acre portion of land,
referred to as Building R3, for the future construction of a 100% affordable
housing development project and a small retail or community serving space
within the development;

3. A maximum of 1 million SF of non-residential uses, inclusive of Buildings P, S,
and T, consisting of office, research and development (R&D), and up to 45,000
SF of commercial/retail uses;

4. Up to five office/R&D buildings, a new commercial amenity building
(approximately 40,000 SF) with a publicly-accessible food and beverage space
and three parking structures;

5. An approximately 2.6-acre public park along Ravenswood Avenue, dedicated to
and built and operated by the City of Menlo Park, with the potential for the city to
locate a 2-3 million gallon below-grade emergency water storage reservoir and
well below it; and

6. Minimum of 29 acres of open space at full buildout, including a minimum of 12
acres of publicly accessible open space, inclusive of parkland dedicated to the
City of Menlo Park.



L2

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

1.6.

1.7.

The above elements are collectively referred to as “Project”.

Project Site: The project site consists of approximately 64 acres identified by the
Assessor’s Parcel Numbers listed in Section 1.4 herein, and generally is bounded by
Laurel Street to the west, Ravenswood Avenue to the north, Middlefield Road to the
east and Seminary Drive, Burgess Drive and the former USGS campus site to the
south (“Project Site”). The existing project site is described in the legal description in
Exhibit 1 attached hereto and shown on Exhibit 2 attached hereto. Upon the
recordation of the City’s acceptance of the Irrevocable Offer To Dedicate the Park
Parcel provided in Section 4.1A of the Development Agreement, the Park Parcel
shall no longer be included in the Project Site and shall no longer be subject to this

CDP.

Assessor’s Parcel Numbers: 062-390-660, 062-390-670, 062-390-730, 062-390-760,
062-390-780, and 062-390-050

Property Owner(s): SRI International (“SRI”) and First Church of Christ, Scientist,

Menlo Park, a California non-profit corporation, or their successors or assigns.

Zoning: C-1-S-X (Administrative, Professional and Research, Special, Conditional
Development)

Conditions Precedent:

1.7.1.

1.7.2.

Applicant’s and Property Owner’s obligations set forth herein are expressly
conditioned on the resolution of all referendums and legal challenges, if any,
to the Project’s entitlements. Notwithstanding any referendums and legal
challenges, Applicant’s or Property Owner’s obligations as set forth herein
are expressly conditioned on Applicant’s or Property’s Owner’s election, in
their sole discretion, to commence construction of the Project.

That portion of the Project Site owned by SRI, comprising Assessor Parcel
Numbers 062-390-660, 062-390-670, 062-390-730, 062-390-760, and 062-
390-780 (the “SRI Site™), is currently governed by a conditional development
permit adopted by the City Council (“City Council”) of the City of Menlo Park
in 1975, as amended by the City Council in 1978, September 9, 1997, and
November 30, 2004 (the “SRI CDP”). As provided below in Section 6, this
Conditional Development Permit for the Parkline Master Plan Project (“CDP”)
shall be recorded in the Official Records of the County of San Mateo, State of
California, and shall become effective in accordance with the ordinance
adopted by the City Council approving the CDP. Upon the commencement of
any work on any portion of the Project Site, or off-site, in reliance on any
permit or approval issued or granted by City related to the development or
construction of the Project, the CDP shall thereafter solely govern and control
the terms and conditions relating to use of or development of the Project Site
and the SRI CDP shall thereby be rescinded, terminated and of no further
force or effect regarding the use of or development of the SRI Site.



L3

2. PROJECT PLANS AND DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

2.1

2.2

Project Plans:

2.11

2.1.2

213

Development of the Project shall substantially conform with the Parkline
Master Plan plans submitted by Applicant dated June 26, 2025, consisting of
159 plan sheets, recommended for approval by the Planning Commission on
xxx, and approved by the City Council on xxx (“Project Plans”), except as
modified by the conditions contained herein and/or in accordance with
Section 7 (Changes) of this CDP.

Attached as Exhibit 3 is a glossary of technical reports and documents
supporting implementation of this CDP.

Prior to the issuance of building permits for each building in the Project, and
in accordance with Section 7, below, Applicant shall submit architectural
control plans (ACPs) for the building/site for review and approval by the
Planning Commission in accordance with Menlo Park Municipal Code
(MPMC) Section 16.68.020. As part of the architectural control review, the
Applicant shall submit materials to document compliance for each ACP with
the requirements set forth in this CDP. The form of documentation shall be
subject to reasonable review and approval by the Community Development
Director.

Definitions: As used in this CDP and the Project Plans:

221

222

2.2.3

“Parkline Development Regulations and Design Standards”. The Parkline
Development Regulations and Design Standards (commonly referred to as
“Design Standards”) (Exhibit 4) are objective regulations/design standards
that the Parkline Master Plan Project must meet unless a requested
modification is approved through a use permit during the architectural control
review process. Unless otherwise noted in the Design Standards or
elsewhere in this CDP, the regulations of the MPMC and more specifically,
the C-1-S zoning district apply.

“Conceptual Plans”. Items labeled as Conceptual Plans are intended to
convey the general vision and design intent of the Project, while allowing
flexibility in interpretation and implementation. Conceptual Plans serve as
guidelines for general orientation and organization of land uses and
transportation and open space networks, general scale and massing of
development, and overall architectural themes. All ACPs should be materially
consistent with the vision and design intent conveyed by Conceptual Plans
but need not comply with the specific details.

“Illustrative Plans and Renderings”. Items labeled as lllustrative Plans and
Renderings depict one possible example of development that would
substantially conform with the Design Standards and be materially consistent
with the vision and design intent conveyed by the Conceptual Plans.
lllustrative Plans and Renderings are not determinative of the ultimate
configuration, building orientation, massing, architectural and landscaping
details, parking design, etc. ACPs may vary from these depictions.



L4

224

225

2.2.6

“Architectural Control Plan” (“*ACP”). ACPs provide architectural drawings
of the proposed building or structure, proposed landscaping or other
treatment of grounds around such building or structure, and proposed design
of, and access to, required parking facilities, in accordance with Municipal
Code Section 16.68.020. ACPs should generally include site plans, floor
plans, elevations, square footage diagrams, height calculations, color and
materials, etc. Each ACP shall include adjacent open space and pathways,
unless an alternate approach is determined by the Community Development
Director (e.g., open space specific ACPs). The ACPs shall comply with the
City's Application Submittal Guidelines. All ACPs shall conform to the Design
Standards, and be materially consistent with the vision and design intent
conveyed by the Conceptual Plans, and/or Changes granted in accordance
with Section 7 herein.

“Square footage” or “sf” shall have the same meaning as the definition of
Gross Floor Area (16.04.325) of the Zoning Ordinance.

Project phasing. The following defines the conceptual phasing for the
Project.

“Phase 1A”. Project Site improvements under Phase 1A encompass
structure demolition, surface improvements, and utility improvements to allow
for Buildings R1 and R2, the two residential apartment buildings. Specifically,
Phase 1A would include:

a. Demolition of all structures shown on the Phase 1A demolition plan
(Sheet C12.3 of the vesting tentative map).

b. Construction of a portion of the Loop Road between Buildings R1 and R2
and the future site for Townhomes 1, and the existing Building P to
existing building S and T to the south. Associated surface improvements
include an interim parking lot for SRI (Sheet C12.0 of the vesting tentative
map).

c. Street improvements along Laurel Street and a portion of Ravenswood
Avenue, including intersection upgrades, utility connections, a stub and
plug for a future recycled water connection new driveway approaches,
new curb, gutter, and sidewalk, and a new crosswalk at Pine Street
(Sheet C12.0 of the vesting tentative map).

“Phase 1B”. Project Site improvements under Phase 1B encompass
structure demolition, surface improvements, and utility improvements to allow
for the 100% affordable building (R3), Townhomes 1, Townhomes 2, and the
public park. Specifically, Phase 1B would include:

a. Construction of the Loop Road adjacent to the Ravenswood Parklet,
towards Middlefield Road, necessary traffic connections to Ravenswood
Avenue at two locations, and the Ringwood Avenue intersection.

b. Street improvements along Ravenswood Avenue, Middlefield Road, and
Laurel Street including utility upgrades, the recycled water connection to
the future West Bay Sanitary District line, intersection upgrades at
Ravenswood Avenue/Middlefield Road and Ringwood Avenue/Middlefield



LS

2.3

Road, curb, gutter, sidewalk installation, storm drain connections, new
street lighting, landscaping, and new drive approaches.

“Phase 2”. Phase 2 construction would encompass the construction of the
office/R&D buildings, the office amenity building, and the three parking
structures. Specifically, Phase 2 would include:

a. Site improvements including utilities under the remaining Loop Road,
sidewalks, permanent street lighting, bioretention ponds, bike and walking
paths, and landscaping of the adjacent structures, as well as the “Parkline
Central Commons.”

b. Offsite improvements at the Seminary Drive intersection including
construction of forced-turn islands, grind and overlay, signal
modifications, and restriping. Work would also include the intersection at
Durham and Willow.

“Phase 3.” Vertical construction of the 100% affordable building may occur in
a third phase or earlier.

Development Standards

23.1

2.3.2

2.3.3

2.3.4

Parkline Development Regulations and Design Standards (Exhibit 4) (“Design
Standards”) shall generally regulate the following aspects of individual
buildings within the Project: setbacks, massing and modulation, relationship
to streets and public spaces, materials. All future buildings and site features
shall comply with the Design Standards, subject to any approved
modifications through a use permit. If a development standard is not identified
in Section 2.3 of the CDP, the applicable MPMC requirement shall apply.

Dwelling Units shall not exceed a total of 800 units (or 12.5 dwelling units per
acre total), consisting of up to the following:

a. 600 multi-family dwelling units (including 90 BMR rental units);

b. 46 attached and detached townhome style units (including 7 BMR rental
or ownership units); and

c. 154 BMR units in a standalone 100% affordable building.

Maximum building square footage shall not exceed 1,000,000 square feet for
non-residential uses, including existing Buildings P, S and T comprising
287,000 square feet to remain. Non-residential square footage shall comply
with the following:

a. Square footage shall be calculated in accordance MPMC Section
16.04.325 (Gross floor area); and

b. Maximum commercial/retail square footage (e.qg., retail sales
establishments and eating establishments) shall not exceed 45,000
square feet (counted toward the maximum 1 million square feet of non-
residential square footage)

Building heights shall generally conform to the maximum heights provided on
Sheet G3.03 of the Project Plans and not exceed the maximum heights
permitted by the Design Standards (Exhibit 4).




L6

235

2.3.6

2.3.7

2.3.8

2.3.9

2.3.4.1 Buildings R1 and R2 shall conform to the varied building heights as
depicted for the building on Sheet G3.03 of the Project Plans.

Parking shall be provided in accordance with the general locations set forth
on Sheet G4.02 of the Project Plans and parking ratios shall be in compliance
with MPMC Section 16.35.060, and subject to modifications identified in the
Design Standards (Exhibit 4).

2.3.5.1 The parking for non-residential uses shall be developed concurrently
with the amount of non-residential square footage and the amount of
parking provided shall not exceed the maximum parking ratio set by
the Zoning Ordinance or Design Standards for the specific land use.
Interim exceedances during phased construction may be permitted
subject to review and determination by the Public Works Director.

Open Space shall be provided in accordance with the standards set forth in
the Design Standards (Exhibit 4) and the Conceptual Open Space Plan on
Sheet G3.04 of the Project Plans. The Project shall provide a minimum of 29
acres of open space at full build out, with a minimum of 12 acres of publicly
accessible open space, inclusive of dedicated parkland acreage to the City.

2.3.6.1 Publicly accessible open space shall be consistent with the public
access easements shown on Sheet C3.3. Areas of landscaping
adjacent to pathways that are included in the calculation of publicly
accessible open space shall be included within a public access
easement or use agreement, subject to review and approval of the
Public Works Director.

Roof Mounted Equipment except photovoltaic or solar panels, shall be fully
screened and integrated into the design of the building consistent with the
Design Standards and MPMC Section 16.08.095, and shall also comply with
the noise requirements of that same section.

Ground Mounted Equipment shall be screened and integrated into the site
design per the Design Standards and subject to the satisfaction of the
Planning Division. The ground mounted equipment shall comply with the
noise requirements in MPMC 8.06 (Noise).

Building Setbacks shall be measured pursuant to the Design Standards
(Exhibit 4).

3. USES AND EXISTING STRUCTURES

3.1

Permitted uses on the Project Site: The following uses are permitted on the Project

Site pursuant to this CDP without the need for further administrative, special, or
conditional use permits:

3.1.1

Existing Uses and Structures

3.1.1.1 Notwithstanding the rezoning of the Project Site and adoption of this
CDP, existing structures and the uses therein that remain, and



L7

3.1.2

3.1.3

3.1.4

3.15

3.1.6

3.1.7

3.1.8

3.1.9

3.1.10

supporting accessory uses on the Project Site, shall not be
considered nonconforming, with the exception of Bio-safety level
(BSL)-3 capable labs as noted in Section 3.1.1.2, and may continue
(including after any period of discontinuance and without amortization)
and be maintained, repaired, altered, and restored if destroyed by
catastrophe, subject to any applicable procedural review provisions of
the Zoning Ordinance not contained in Chapter 16.80 and provided
there is no increase in square footage. Existing use permits and
architectural control permits related to Buildings P, S and T and the
uses therein, excepting BSL-3 capable labs as noted in Section
3.1.1.2, shall remain valid until demolition (whole or partial) of
Buildings P, S or T occurs; and

3.1.1.2 Existing BSL-3 capable labs within the existing Buildings P and T (SRI
campus buildings) shall be eliminated no later than January 1, 2027
for Building T, and no later than the issuance of the First Certificate of
Occupancy for the first residential component of the Project for
Building P.

Multiple dwellings, Two-family dwellings or duplexes, Single-family dwellings,
Accessory dwellings;

Research and development and accessory uses (light industrial and
manufacturing are not permitted), except when requiring hazardous material
review. (New or expanded BSL-3 and BSL-4 capable labs are not permitted
on the Project Site.);

Administrative and professional offices and accessory uses;
Retail sales establishments, excluding the sale of beer, wine and alcohol;

Eating establishments, excluding the sale of beer, wine and alcohol, live
entertainment, and/or establishments that are portable. For purposes of this
use designation, an eating establishment is primarily engaged in serving
prepared food for consumption on or off the premises;

Personal services, excluding tattooing, piercing, palm-reading, or similar
services;

All public facilities used and operated for government purposes by the City of
Menlo Park, the county of San Mateo, any public school district, the state of
California, and the government of the United States;

Emergency generators and associated use and storage of diesel fuel for up
to 13 generators on the Project Site in accordance with Sheet G3.07 of the
Project Plans and the hazardous materials information forms, generator
supplemental forms and agency referral forms;

Special events including but not limited to farmers’ markets, movie nights,
concerts, community block parties, and food trucks, provided the activities



L8

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

comply with Chapter 8.06 (Noise) of the MPMC, and provided that such
events that require the use of City public services (e.g. police monitoring or
control, street closure, traffic control, parking needs that will exceed capacity
of the venue, or interfere with normal use and operation of right-of-ways for
travel) require a special event permit per Chapter 8.60 of the MPMC;

3.1.11 Parking structures, above and below-grade;
3.1.12 Accessory buildings and uses; and
3.1.13 Other uses determined by the Community Development Director to be similar

and compatible uses based on the following criteria:

a. The activities involved in or equipment or materials employed in the use
are the same or substantially similar to the uses expressly authorized by
this CDP;

b. The use is compatible with surrounding uses; and
c. The use is consistent with the stated purpose of this CDP.
Administratively permitted uses on the Project Site: All administratively permitted

uses listed in C-1-S zoning district, and not specifically authorized by Section 3.1, are
permitted with an administrative permit.

Conditionally permitted uses on the Project Site: All Conditionally permitted uses
listed in the C-1-S zoning district, and not specifically authorized by Section 3.1
herein, are permitted with a use permit.

Additional conditionally permitted uses on the Project Site:

3.4.1 Recreational facilities privately operated, twenty thousand (20,000) or less
square feet of gross floor area.

BSL-3 and BSL-4 Use. New or expanded BSL-3 and BSL-4 capable labs are not
permitted on the Project Site under any circumstance, neither as a permitted use nor
as a conditionally permitted use.

4 PARKLINE DESIGN STANDARDS AND MODIFICATIONS TO C-1-S DISTRICT

4.1

4.2

5 SIGNS

The Design Standards (Exhibit 4) regulate site development and include
modifications to development regulations set forth in MPMC 16.35, including
regulations such as lot size, building setbacks, building heights, and parking ratios.

Unless enumerated in this CDP or the Design Standards (Exhibit 4), each building
within the Project Site shall comply with the requirements of the C-1-S
(Administrative, Professional and Research, Special) zoning district and other
applicable sections of the MPMC. Where a standard or requirement in this CDP,
including the Design Standards, is inconsistent with the MPMC, the regulation or
standard in this CDP, including the Design Standards takes precedence.



L9

5.1

5.2

The maximum sign area permitted at the Project Site shall not exceed 450 square
feet unless a Master Sign Program is pursued and approved through the provisions
outlined in 5.2 (Master Sign Program), in which case the maximum sign area
permitted shall be as set forth in the Master Sign Program.

Master Sign Program. The Project shall comply with MPMC 16.92 or submit a
project-specific Master Sign program which shall be subject to review and approval
by the Planning Commission prior to installation of any onsite signage.

5.2.1 The Master Sign Program shall identify the maximum square footage of
signage for each parcel/building and/or land uses within the project site and
set design guidelines for signage.

RECORDATION AND EFFECTIVE DATE

6.1

6.2

The CDP shall be recorded in the Official Records of the County of San Mateo, State
of California by the Applicant within thirty days of the effective date of the ordinance
approving the CDP.

The CDP shall be in full force and effect on the effective date of the ordinance
approving the CDP.

CHANGES TO CONDITIONAL DEVELOPMENT PERMIT

7.1

Changes to this CDP (including the Project Plans) shall be processed at the written
request of the Applicant and the Property Owner upon submission of such requested
changes to the Community Development Department for review, and payment of all
applicable processing fees, as follows:

7.1.1 Substantially Consistent Changes are made at the staff level and include any
modifications that Applicant or Property Owner makes or proposes to make to
this CDP (including the Project Plans) that are in substantial compliance with
and/or substantially consistent with the Project based on the determination
that the proposed change(s) is consistent with other building and design
elements of the CDP, including the Design Standards, and will not have an
adverse impact on the character and aesthetics of the Property. The
determination as to whether a requested change is a Substantially Consistent
Change will be made by the Community Development Director (in his/her
reasonable discretion). Substantially Consistent Changes do not affect
permitted uses, the density or intensity of uses, restrictions and requirements
relating to subsequent discretionary actions, monetary obligations, or
conditions or covenants limiting or restricting the use of the Property or
similar material elements. The Community Development Director or his/her
designee shall act on Substantially Consistent Changes administratively,
without public notice or hearing.

7.1.2 Minor Changes are any modifications that Property Owner proposes to make
to this CDP (including the Project Plans) that are approved administratively at
the staff level, but with notice provided to the Planning Commission. The




L10

7.1.3

7.1.4

7.1.5

determination as to whether a requested change is a Minor Change is
determined by the Community Development Director (in his/her reasonable
discretion). A Minor Change is similar in nature to a Substantially Consistent
Change, except that Minor Changes are more visible to the general public
and result in minor exterior changes to the Project aesthetics (e.g. site layout,
location of uses, etc.). Within seven days of receipt of the notice, any member
of the Planning Commission may request that the item(s) be reviewed by the
Planning Commission to determine whether the proposed changes qualify as
a Minor Change. If the Planning Commission does not request review, the
Community Development Director or his/her designee shall act on Minor
Changes administratively.

Major Changes are any modifications that Property Owner proposes to make
to this CDP (including the Project Plans) that do not constitute Substantially
Consistent Changes or Minor Changes. Major Changes are reviewed by the
Planning Commission as a Regular Business item, and publicly noticed.
Major Changes include, but are not limited to, significant changes to the
exterior appearance of the buildings or appearance of the Property, changes
to the project plans (e.g. site access, roadway and pedestrian/bicycle
infrastructure design, etc.), which are determined by the Community
Development Director (in his/her reasonable discretion) to not constitute
Substantially Consistent Changes or Minor Changes to the Conceptual Plans
and this CDP. The Planning Commission's decision shall be based on the
determination that the proposed modification is compatible with other building
and design elements or onsite/offsite improvements of the Project and would
not have an adverse impact on safety and/or the character and aesthetics of
the Project Site. Planning Commission decisions on Major Changes may be
appealed to the City Council in which case the City Council shall have final
authority to approve Major Changes.

Architectural Control Plans (ACPs) for future buildings and site features (e.g.
publicly accessible open space, bike/ped paths) are required for each
individual building/site. The Planning Commission shall review the ACPs
through an architectural control application. The Applicant is required to
submit an architectural control application and pay all applicable fees for the
Planning Division's review of the proposed ACPs, subject to review and
approval by the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission's action will
be based on substantial conformance with this CDP, the Design Standards
(which may be modified as part of the ACP process with Planning
Commission approval of a use permit), and the required findings for
architectural control, as enumerated in Chapter 16.68.020 (Architectural
Control) of the Zoning Ordinance.

Amendments to this CDP (including the Project Plans) that involve material
relaxation of the development standards identified in Section 2, material
changes to the uses identified in Section 3, exceedance of the signage
maximum square footages identified in the Master Sign Program pursuant to
Section 5 (which shall only require approval by the Planning Commission but
subject to appeal to the City Council), or material modifications to the
conditions of approval identified in Sections 10 through 21 (in each case,
other than changes deemed to be Substantially Consistent Changes pursuant

10



L11

to Section 7.1.1, Minor Changes pursuant to Section 7.1.2, or Major Changes
pursuant to Section 7.1.3), constitute amendments to this CDP that require
public hearings before the Planning Commission and City Council. Such
revisions might also require modifications to the Project Plans and/or Parkline
Development Agreement. Any application for amendment to the CDP shall be
made by the Applicant or the Property Owner, in writing with all applicable
plans and payment of applicable processing fees, to the Planning Division for
review and recommendation by the Planning Commission at a public hearing.
The Planning Commission shall forward its recommendation to the City
Council for action on proposed amendment(s) to the CDP.

8 TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT (TDM ) PLAN

8.1

The Applicant shall implement the Parkline Transportation Demand Management
(TDM) Plan (Exhibit 5).

8.1.1 Trip reductions: The Project shall reduce project trips a minimum of 35
percent below the gross Institute of Traffic Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation
Rates for all residential (except detached dwelling units) and non-residential
components of the Project per the requirements of MPMC 16.35.70.

8.1.2 Monitoring: The Applicant or other responsible party (e.g., homeowner’s
association) shall comply with the Parkline TDM Monitoring Plan (Exhibit 6),
which requires annual monitoring. The Applicant or other responsible party
shall document compliance with the trip reduction requirements of this CDP
through the TDM Monitoring Plan in Exhibit 6.

9. CONSTRUCTION PERMITS SEQUENCING:

9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

The Applicant prepared conceptual phasing plans as part of the Conceptual Plans
and Vesting Tentative Map. Those plans include a phased approach consisting of
Phase 1A, Phase 1B (Phase 1A and 1B are collectively referred to as Phase 1 in the
vesting tentative map), Phase 2, and Phase 3. The Project conditions reference
these phases; however, at the election of the Applicant or Property Owner and upon
approval of the City’s Public Works and Community Development Directors, the
specific construction phasing may be modified, provided all required infrastructure to
serve each building is reviewed and approved by the City prior to building permit
issuance and constructed prior to the granting of the first certificate of occupancy for
any building within a particular phase. Further, any modifications to the phasing shall
comply with the requirements set forth in the Development Agreement for the
Project. This CDP generally references specific buildings but when a broader phase
is referenced as the timing for a condition, the requirement shall need to be met prior
to the granting of the first certificate of occupancy within that phase.

Site improvement plans shall be designed in conformance with the improvement
plans identified as part of the Vesting Tentative Map and future final maps, as such
maps may be amended or modified from time to time subject to approval of the
Public Works Director.

Site improvement plans and non-vertical construction building permits are to be
prepared as independent permit plan sets (i.e., building permits and/or

11



encroachment permits) in the following formats, subject to modifications at the sole
discretion of the Building Official:

1. Demolition Plans of Existing Buildings — separate permit is required for each
building
2. Demolition of Existing Underground Infrastructure — separate permit is

required for each parcel
Grading Plans — separate permit is required for each parcel

Off-Site Civil improvements — e.g., streets, utilities and streetscape
improvements (Encroachment permit through Public Works)

5. On-Site Civil improvements — e.g., sanitary sewer, water mains, storm drain
system, roadways. Separate permit is required for each phase. The grading
plans can be included as part of this permit. (Building permit through Building
Division.) All easements associated with the infrastructure shall be created
and recorded before issuance of the permits for on-site civil improvements
and shall be coordinated between the on-site civil improvement plans and
final map.

9.4. The building permits for the demolition of the existing buildings by phase are required
to receive an approved final inspection prior to the issuance of the building permit or
encroachment permit for the grading or on-site civil improvements for such phase.

9.5.  Prior to issuance of any building permits for vertical construction, the parcelization to
create buildable parcels shall be completed for the affected parcel(s), subject to
approval of the Public Works Director and the MPFPD. Temporary improvements,
e.g., roadways and utilities, to enable vertical construction may be allowed subject to
the review and approval of the Community Development and Public Works Directors.
All required utilities and access improvements shall be completed prior to the
granting of the first occupancy.

9.6. Grading permits shall receive final inspection prior to the vertical construction. New
underground infrastructure may occur before or at the same time as the vertical
construction. At Applicant’s election, building permit applications for the vertical
construction may be processed in incremental submittals such as the following,
subject to review and acceptance of the Building Division:

1. Foundation design including piles and pile caps, if proposed
2. Structural / Core and Shell

3. Interior improvements
4

Site improvements (Trash enclosures, site lighting, etc.) and landscaping

10. PROJECT SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — MITIGATION MEASURES

10.1. The Applicant shall comply with all mitigation measures identified in the certified EIR
and the associated Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP) for the
Project attached hereto as Exhibit 7.

11. PROJECT SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — GENERAL

12

L12



L13

11.1.

11.2.

11.3.

11.4.

11.5.

11.6.

11.7.

The following project specific conditions generally apply to every building permit and
construction phase unless a specific building or phase is identified. Each subsequent
permit shall be reviewed by the Community Development and Public Works
Departments for compliance with these conditions prior to building permit issuance.
Compliance shall be documented by the Applicant in the appropriate form as
determined by the applicable City Department or Division.

Architectural Control Plan Approval: Per Section 7.1.4, an Applicant shall submit for
individual parcels, phases or defined areas of the Project Site, as determined by the
Community Development Director, complete ACPs in accordance with MPMC
Section 16.68.020 and materially consistent with the vision and design intent
conveyed by the Conceptual Plans and the Design Standards. Through the ACP
review process the Applicant may request project modifications subject to the use
permit process or otherwise in accordance with Section 7 herein. Approval of the
Architectural Control Plans is a prerequisite to building permit issuance.

Restrictive Covenant: Pursuant to MPMC 16.35.055, the Applicant shall record a
restrictive covenant against all project parcels to ensure development on all project
parcels in the aggregate does not exceed what would be allowed if each parcel was
developed individually.

Future Conditions: The City’s Planning, Building, Engineering, and Transportation
Divisions shall review each ACP for substantial conformance with this CDP. The City
may impose additional conditions of approval related to building design or conditions
necessary to ensure compliance with applicable Building Code, Municipal Code or
health and safety regulations. Conditions within this CDP would continue to apply to
all future ACPs and any future conditions shall be consistent with this CDP, the BMR
Agreement, the Parkline Development Agreement, the MMRP, and Vesting Tentative
Map for the Parkline Master Plan.

Below Market Rate Housing Agreement: Concurrently with the recordation of the
Parkline Development Agreement and this CDP, the Applicant or Property Owner
shall record the Parkline Project Wide Affordable Housing Agreement. Subsequent
parcel or component specific BMR Regulatory Agreements shall be recorded prior to
issuance of the first building permit for the associated vertical construction.

Outside Agency Compliance: Prior to approval of architectural control or site
improvements permits, the Applicant or Property Owner shall obtain conditional
approval from the Menlo Park Fire Protection District. Prior to issuance of each
building permit, the Applicant or Property Owner shall comply with all Sanitary
District, Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that
are directly applicable to the Project. Documentation of compliance shall be
submitted to the Building Division prior to building permit issuance.

Condition Compliance: Prior to the issuance of each building permit, the Applicant
shall submit documentation of compliance with all conditions of approval on the plans
or in supporting documents for review and approval of the Public Works and
Community Development Departments. Any request for a modification in the timing
of a specific condition shall be made in writing with a detailed explanation and
requested alternative timing to the Community Development Director for review
based on conformance with Section 7 (Changes) of this CDP.

13



11.8. Fees: All outstanding and applicable fees associated with the processing of this
Project shall be paid prior to the issuance of any building permit for the Project
except as otherwise set forth in the Development Agreement or in accordance with
applicable law.

11.9. Site Upkeep: Applicant or Property Owners shall keep their respective properties on
the Project Site in a clean and sanitary condition at all times, maintain its site in a
fashion that does not constitute a public nuisance and that does not violate any
provision of the MPMC.

11.10. Truck Route Plan: The Applicant shall submit a truck route plan concurrent with the
building permit application for each phase of construction based on the City’s
municipal code requirements, for review and approval by the Transportation Division.
The Applicant shall also submit a permit application and pay applicable fees relating
to the truck route plan, to the satisfaction of the Public Works Director.

11.11. Traffic Control, Parking, and Construction Staging: Prior to issuance of any building
permit and within each construction phase, the Applicant shall submit plans for
construction related parking management, construction staging, material storage and
Traffic Control Handling Plan (TCHP) to be reviewed and approved by the Public
Works Director. The Applicant shall secure adequate parking for any and all
construction trades. The TCHP shall include construction phasing and anticipated
method of traffic handling for each Phase. Accessible temporary pedestrian and
bicycle pathways along the Project’s frontage shall be provided and maintained
during all construction Phases, consistent with the requirements of Item 11.25
regarding compliance with the California Building Code.

11.12. Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance: Simultaneous with the submittal of each
complete building permit application, the Applicant shall document compliance with
the City's Water Efficient Landscaping Ordinance (MPMC Chapter 12.44). Submittal
of a detailed landscape plan is required concurrently with the submittal of each
complete building permit application and subject to review and approval of the
Engineering Division. Prior to each building permit final inspection or granting of first
certificate of occupancy, the Applicant shall submit a landscape audit report.

11.13. Landscape Screening: Landscaping shall screen all public utility equipment that is
installed within the public and private rights-of-way and cannot be placed
underground, subject, however, to the requirements of the Menlo Park Fire Protection
District, the West Bay Sanitary District, PG&E, and any other applicable agencies
regarding utility clearances and screening. The improvement plans and/or building
permits shall depict new ultility installations, exact locations of any meters, back flow
prevention devices, transformers, junction boxes, relay boxes and other equipment
boxes installed within the public right of way or public easement area in the event said
above ground utility installations are depicted within the improvement plans and/or
building permits. The screening shall be compatible and unobtrusive and subject to
the review and approval of the Planning Division prior to issuance of applicable
permits.

11.14. Hydrology Report: Simultaneous with the submittal of each complete building permit
application, the Applicant's design professional shall evaluate the Project's impact to

14

L14



L15

11.15.

11.16.

11.17.

11.18.

11.19.

the City's storm drainage system and prepare a Hydrology Report to the satisfaction
of the Public Works Director, or designee. Post-construction runoff into the storm
drain system shall not exceed pre-construction runoff levels.

Stormwater Management Report: Simultaneous with the submittal of each complete
building permit application, the Applicant shall submit a Storm Water Management
Report that meets the requirements of the San Mateo County’s C.3 Stormwater
Technical Guidance Manual for review and approval of the City’s Engineering
Division.

Stormwater Pollution Prevention Program Best Management Practices (BMPs) for
construction shall be implemented to protect water quality, in accordance with the
approved Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP).

Grading and Drainage: Prior to any building permit issuance, the Applicant shall
submit an applicable Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval. Post-
construction runoff into the storm drain shall not exceed pre-construction runoff
levels. A Hydrology Report shall be required to the satisfaction of the Engineering
Division. Slopes for the first 10 feet perpendicular to the structure must be a
minimum of 5% for pervious surfaces and 2% minimum for impervious surfaces,
including roadways and parking areas, as required by CBC §1804.3.

Discharges from the garage ramp and parking garages are not allowed into the
storm drain system. Discharge shall be treated with an oil/water separator and shall
connect to the sanitary sewer system. This will require a permit from West Bay
Sanitary District.

Heritage Trees shall be subject to the following requirements:

11.19.1. Heritage Tree Protection: Prior to issuance of any demolition, building
permits, or improvement plans, standard tree protection measures shall be
required for heritage trees being retained near the area of work. Verification
that such measures are being implemented shall be provided to the City and
reviewed and approved by the City Arborist and Planning Division.

11.19.2. Heritage Tree Removals: The City Arborist issued an intent to
conditionally approve the removal of 264 heritage trees (HTR2022-00175) at
the Project Site for development (202 trees) and non-development (62 trees)
(i.e., declining health, invasiveness, etc.) related reasons, as determined by
the Project Arborist, described in the Project Arborist Report (Exhibit 8) and
as shown in the Tree Disposition Plans (Sheets G2.01 — G2.02.6).

11.19.3. Additional Review of Specific Heritage Tree Removals: As a condition of
HTR2022-00175, additional review and determination by the City Arborist
shall be required for 48 trees in close proximity to building footprints and
other improvements identified in the Conceptual Plans. These trees are listed
in the Project Arborist Report (Exhibit 8) as “design conflict heritage abutting”
and require further review. Concurrent with the submittal of each ACP or
improvement plans (e.g. roadways, sidewalks, bicycle paths, street lights,
utilities etc.), the Applicant shall submit an updated arborist report and tree
preservation feasibility analysis for affected trees within the scope of each

15



L16

permit application for review and determination by the City Arborist. The City
Arborist shall then make a recommendation to the Planning Commission (for
architectural control permits) or City Engineer/Public Works Director (for
improvement plans) on whether to approve the heritage tree removals of
require minor modifications to preserve the identified heritage trees.

11.19.4. Timing for Removal: Removal of the 202 conditionally approved heritage

trees that are development related, whether or not they require additional
review under Section 11.19.3, shall not occur before issuance of demolition
permits, unless other provisions of MPMC Chapter 13.24 (Heritage Trees)
allow for the removal of one or more specific heritage trees for reasons
unrelated to development conflicts (e.g., in the case of diseased or dead
trees that need to be removed for safety purposes, in cases of emergency,
etc.). For trees requiring additional review outlined in Section 11.19.3,
removal shall not occur until the City Arborist completes their review and
determination. If approved, heritage tree removal shall not occur prior to the
issuance of permits for demolition or site improvements. In the event that
demolition of existing buildings and infrastructure occurs before the Planning
Commission reviews and acts on the ACPs, heritage tree protection
measures identified in Section 11.19.1 shall be implemented for the heritage
trees identified in Section 11.19.3.

11.19.5. Heritage Tree Replacements: A minimum value of $2,053,100 in heritage

tree replacements is required for the Project Site. Please note that this value
may change once the total number of trees is updated following the tree
preservation feasibility analysis for each ACP application or improvement
plans application. Heritage tree replacements shall be planted in a manner
consistent with industry standards. The City and Applicant shall track the
number, species, sizes, and locations of heritage tree replacements following
the approved Tree Replacement Plan on Sheets G2.02.1 - G2.02.10. As a
part of this plan, approximately 860 new trees are proposed to be planted.
The Applicant shall submit a form of documentation to the City for the City
Arborist and Planning Division’s review and acceptance (e.g., a tracking
matrix) prior to the removal of the first heritage tree.

11.19.6. City Arborist Inspection: Upon completion of installation of the

replacement trees in accordance with the approved Tree Replacement Plan
for each building permit or project phase, the Applicant shall schedule an
inspection with the City Arborist to verify compliance. This inspection and
verification shall be required prior to the first certificate of occupancy for each
building or final inspection for infrastructure improvements, unless otherwise
agreed to by the Public Works Department.

11.20. Shared Bicycle and Pedestrian Paths.

11.20.1. Ravenswood Avenue Multi-use Pathway and Laurel Street Multi-Use

Pathways: Simultaneous with the submittal of a building permit application for
Building R1 (Phase 1A) or Building R3 or TH2 (Phases 1B and 3), the
Applicant shall submit complete plans for (i) the multi-use path along
Ravenwood Avenue for the Phase 1A section up to 200 feet east of the
intersection of the West Loop Driveway and Ravenswood Avenue, (i) the full

16



L17

length of Ravenswood Avenue and the portion along the Loop Road adjacent
to the recreation area and Townhomes 2, and (iii) the shared multi-use
pathways between the R1 and R2 buildings and the R2 building and
Townhomes 1. Complete plans shall include all necessary requirements to
construct the improvements, including but not limited to, grading and
drainage improvements, utility relocations, and tree protection requirements.
The plans are subject to review and approval by the City and shall be
consistent with the Conceptual Plans for the Master Plan. The Applicant shall
construct the Phase 1A improvements (Ravenswood partial pathway
improvements) prior to the first occupancy of Building R1 or R2, whichever
comes first. The Applicant shall construct the remaining improvements (i.e.,
the rest of the Ravenswood Multi-Use Pathway prior to occupancy of the R3
building or Townhomes 2, whichever comes first. The multi-use pathway
between R1 and R2 shall be constructed prior to the first certificate of
occupancy of Building R1 or R2, whichever comes first. The multi-use
pathway between R2 and Townhomes 1 shall be constructed prior to the first
certificate of occupancy of R2.

11.20.2. Laurel Street Pedestrian Pathway: Simultaneous with the submittal of a

first building permit application for either Building R1 or R2 (Phase 1A), the
Applicant shall submit complete plans for the pathway along Laurel Street for
the entire length of the Laurel Street frontage of the Project Site. Complete
plans shall include all necessary requirements to construct the improvements,
including but not limited to, grading and drainage improvements, utility
relocations, and tree protection requirements. The plans are subject to review
and approval by the City and shall be consistent with the Conceptual Plans
for the Master Plan. The Applicant shall complete the construction of the
improvements as follows:

11.20.2.1. As each of the residential components fronting Laurel Street (R1,

R2, and TH1) is developed, the Applicant shall construct the

corresponding segment of the Laurel Street Pedestrian Pathway

located along the frontage of that specific parcel or building.

Specifically:

= The portion of the Pathway fronting Parcel R1 and Parcel R2 shall
be completed as part of the R1 or R2 building construction,
whichever comes first; however, the landscaping along the
pathway in front of either Parcel R1 or Parcel R2, whichever has
not been completed, shall not be required until construction is
completed on said Parcel.

= The portion fronting Parcel TH1 shall be completed as part of the
construction of the 19 townhome units on TH1.

= Each segment of the Laurel Street Pathway shall be fully
constructed and open to the public prior to the granting of the first
certificate of occupancy for the associated group of buildings or
units.

11.20.3. On-site Multi-use Pathways: The Applicant shall construct the shared

bicycle and pedestrian connection between R1 and R2 buildings prior to

17



L18

11.21.

11.22.

11.23.

11.24.

occupancy of the R1 or R2 building, whichever comes first. The Applicant
shall construct the shared bicycle and pedestrian connection between the R2
building and Townhomes 1 prior to occupancy of the R-2 building or the first
townhome in the TH1 component of the Project, whichever comes first.

11.20.4. Burgess Drive/Ringwood Multi-use Pathway: Simultaneous with the
submittal of a building permit application for the first office/R&D building, the
Applicant shall submit complete plans for the multi-use pathway from the
Burgess Drive connection along the Loop Road and connection to Ringwood
Avenue. Complete plans shall include all necessary requirements to construct
the improvements, including but not limited to, grading and drainage
improvements, utility relocations, tree protection requirements. The plans are
subject to review by the City. The Applicant shall construct these
improvements prior to the first occupancy of the first office building.

11.20.4.1. The future reserved right-of-way (ROW) connecting Burgess Drive
to Seminary Drive shall not be abandoned until the Applicant
constructs the multi-use pathway connection from Burgess Drive to
Seminary Drive and records the associated public access
easements/agreements. This ensures that, if the project is started but
not completed, the City retains the ROW for future bike and
pedestrian improvements.

Title 12 Compliance: Simultaneous with the submittal of each complete building
permit application, the Applicant shall submit plans to the Building Division verifying
that the project complies with all applicable MPMC Title 12 (Buildings and
Construction) requirements for review and approval of the Building Division.

Construction Fencing: The Applicant shall submit a plan for construction safety
fencing around the periphery of the construction area or the periphery of the Project
Site as part of each building permit application for each respective building, parcel or
phase, and shall include the installation of Temporary Noise Abatement sound
barriers consistent with Mitigation Measures NOI-1.1, NOI-1.2 and/or NOI-1.3. The
fences shall be installed according to the plan prior to commencing construction for
each individual building permit. The plan shall be reviewed and approved by the
Building and Planning Divisions prior to issuance of a building permit.

Vapor Intrusion Mitigation Plan (VIMP") if required by HAZ 2.4, VIMP plans shall be
incorporated for “reference only” into applicable building permit plan sets. The
purpose of the VIMP is to identify the measures that will be implemented to
effectively eliminate potential vapor intrusion concerns into future buildings. The
VIMP systems shall be determined with concurrence, approval, and oversight from
the appropriate regulatory agency prior to the issuance of building permits.
Documentation of such review and approval shall be provided to the Building
Division prior to building permit issuance.

Salvaging and Recycling of Construction and Demolition Debris: For each building,
the Applicant shall comply with the requirements of MPMC Chapter 12.48 (Salvaging
and Recycling of Construction and Demolition Debris), which compliance shall be
subject to review and approval by the Building Division.

18



L19

11.25.

11.26.

11.27.

11.28.

11.29.

11.30.

11.31.

11.32.

11.33.

11.34.

Building Codes Compliance: The Project is subject to the California Building Code
(CBCQC), the California Building Standards Code and any adopted Reach Codes
and/or local building code amendments in effect at the time of each complete
building permit application submittal, unless otherwise regulated by the Development
Agreement and this CDP.

All new buildings shall be all-electric without the use of natural gas for
heating/cooling. Emergency generators may use diesel fuel.

CalGreen Compliance: The Project is subject to the California Green Building
Standards Code (CalGreen) and any local amendments to the Code in effect at the
time of submittal of each complete building permit application, unless otherwise
regulated by the Development Agreement, this CDP, and applicable law.

Unit plans: Each complete building permit application that includes residential units
shall include all unit plans to be fully drawn and detailed including mirrored plans.
Further, all residential building plans are required to include drawings for mirrored
units including structural, mechanical, electrical, and plumbing plan sheets.

Deferred submittals: All deferred submittals other than trusses are to be approved by
the Building Official or their designee prior to submittal of each complete building
permit application.

Electric Vehicle Space: Each complete building permit application shall include
construction documents needed to identify the location of electric vehicle (EV)
spaces per the CalGreen code and any local amendments in effect at the time of
submittal of a complete building permit application unless otherwise regulated by the
Development Agreement and this CDP.

Pedestrian Protection: Each complete building permit application shall include
pedestrian protection along the public right-of-way with sidewalks, as required per
Section 3306 of the CBC or the comparable section of the CBC in effect at the time
of submittal of a complete building permit application.

Adjoining Properties: Each complete building permit application shall include details
regarding protection of adjoining property, as required per Section 3307 of the 2022
CBC or the comparable section of the CBC in effect at the time of submittal of each
complete building permit application.

Sanitary Sewer: Each complete building permit application shall include details
demonstrating that all sanitary sewer lines will gravity feed to the sewer mains in the
public right-of-way unless otherwise approved by the Building Official or their
designee.

Simultaneous with the submittal of each complete building permit application, the
Applicant shall submit plans for: 1) construction safety fences around the periphery
of the construction area, 2) dust control, 3) air pollution control, 4) erosion and
sedimentation control, 5) tree protection fencing, 6) construction vehicle parking, and
construction traffic to avoid the use of adjacent private property as an access point to
the Project Site during construction. The plans shall be subject to review by the
Engineering, Planning, and Building Divisions and the City’s Building Official or their

19



L20

11.35.

11.36.

11.37.

11.38.

11.39.

designee shall approve the Plans subject to input by City staff. The safety fences,
dust and air pollution control measures, erosion and sedimentation control
measures, and tree protection measures shall be installed according to the approved
plan prior to commencing construction and implemented throughout the duration of
construction at the project site.

Erosion Control: Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit
application for each phase or building, the Applicant shall submit plans that include
proposed measures to prevent erosion and polluted runoff from all site conditions,
subject to review and approval of the Building Division. During construction, if
construction is not complete by the start of the wet season (October 1 through April
30), the Applicant shall implement a winterization program to minimize the potential
for erosion and sedimentation. As appropriate to the site and status of construction,
winterization requirements shall include inspecting/maintaining/cleaning all soil
erosion and sedimentation controls prior to, during, and immediately after each storm
event; stabilizing disturbed soils through temporary or permanent seeding, mulching,
matting, tarping or other physical means; rocking unpaved vehicle access to limit
dispersion of soil onto public right-of-way; regular street-sweeping of adjacent public
right-of-way utilized as ingress and egress to the Project Site for construction related
vehicles, and covering/tarping stored construction materials, fuels, and other
chemicals. A site specific winterization plan implemented during construction would
be subject to review by the Engineering, Building, and Planning Divisions and subject
to approval by the Building Official or their designee with input from City staff. The
winterization plan would be in addition to any required erosion control plan.

Stationary Noise Source Compliance Data (Non-roof mounted equipment):
Concurrent with building permit submittal for each building, the Applicant shall
provide a plan that details that all on-site stationary noise sources comply with the
standards listed in MPMC Section 8.06.030. This plan shall be subject to review and
approval by the Planning and Building Divisions prior to each building permit
issuance. Deferral to the core and shell/vertical construction phase may granted at
the discretion of the Building Official.

Stationary Noise Source Compliance Data (Roof mounted equipment): Concurrent
with building permit submittal for each building, the Applicant shall provide a plan that
details that all roof-mounted stationary noise sources comply with the standards
listed in MPMC Section 16.08.095. This plan shall be subject to review and approval
by the Planning and Building Divisions prior to each building permit issuance.
Deferral to the core and shell/vertical construction phase may granted at the
discretion of the Building Official.

Building Construction Street Impact Fee: Prior to issuance of each building permit or
as otherwise allowed by applicable law, the Applicant shall pay the applicable
Building Construction Street Impact Fee, to the satisfaction of the Public Works
Director.

Accessibility: All pedestrian pathways shall comply with applicable Federal and State
accessibility requirements, to the satisfaction of the Public Works Director and
Building Official.

20



L21

11.40.

11.41.

11.42.

11.43.

11.44.

11.45.

The Applicant shall provide an analysis of the detailed water system to ensure it
meets MPMW and MPFPD requirements prior to approval of the first final map and
associated subdivision improvement agreement. Any recommended modifications
from the analysis would be required to be included in the on-site improvement plans
for the Project.

Concurrent with the submittal of each final parcel map, the Applicant shall submit
Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&R’s) or other acceptable mechanism
for the approval of the Public Works Director or designee and the City Attorney. The
CC&R'’s or other acceptable mechanism shall be approved and recorded
concurrently with the final parcel map. The CC&Rs or other acceptable mechanism
shall include provisions regarding the allocation of features and requirements that
are shared between parcels including, but not limited to the following: shared
parking, shared access, joint use and maintenance of common facilities, storm
drainage, and administration of the Transportation Demand Management (TDM)
plan.

Driveway access from Laurel Street to Building R2 shall be limited to vehicles
accessing the surface parking lot and vehicles entering the parking garage from
Laurel Street. Vehicles exiting the surface parking lot may access Laurel Street;
vehicles exiting the parking garage within Building R2 shall not be permitted to
access Laurel Street, and instead shall be directed to the internal loop road to exit
the Project Site along Ravenswood Avenue.

11.42.1. Up to five parking spaces for prospective tenants, designated as “Future
Neighbor” as noted on sheet G4.01 located in the R2 garage but outside the
secured parking area shall also be allowed to exit onto Laurel Street.

Waste Water Conveyance Improvements: Applicant shall comply with regulations of
the West Bay Sanitary District that are directly applicable to the Project in the design
and construction of wastewater conveyance improvements, and submit
documentation to the Planning and Building Divisions prior to issuance of each
building permit. The West Bay Sanitary District Improvements serving the Project
Site will be depicted on the Parkline Improvement Plan set, subject to approval by
West Bay Sanitary District.

Recycled Water Improvements: The Applicant shall install a recycled water main
within the loop road in coordination with West Bay Sanitary District, dedicate an
easement to West Bay Sanitary District to operate, maintain, repair and replace the
facilities, and provide documentation of completion/acceptance to the Public Works
Director. The recycled water main shall include connections to Laurel Street,
Burgess Drive, and Middlefield Road (at Ringwood Avenue). The recycled water
infrastructure will enable the future use of recycled water within the project site and
the project vicinity.

All existing overhead utility lines within the Project Site and public right of way that is
included in a given phase of development shall be undergrounded as part of that
phase. The undergrounding work for each phase shall be completed prior to
obtaining the first certificate of occupancy for the first building in any phase where
the undergrounding work is being performed.

21



L22

11.46.

11.47.

11.48.

11.49.

11.50.

All proposed private easements shall be recorded with the County of San Mateo prior
to the granting of the first certificate of occupancy for the associated building permit.

The Applicant shall retain a civil engineer to prepare “as-built” or “record” drawings of
public improvements. These drawings shall be submitted in both AutoCAD and
Adobe PDF formats to the Engineering Division prior to issuance of the final
certificate of occupancy for each phase (1A, 1B, and future non-residential phases).

During the design phase of the construction drawings, all potential utility conflicts
shall be potholed with actual depths recorded on the improvement plans submitted
for City review and approval.

Lighting: The plan for streetlight installation shall be consistent with City standard
details, subject to review and approval of the Public Works Director or their designee.
The lighting levels for roadway and walkway lighting shall be consistent with the
llluminating Engineering Society (IES) roadway and walkway lighting standards using
illuminance values based on location and adjacent uses or other appropriate City
standards in place at the time of building permit submittal for the first phase. The
street light locations shall be free from obstructions from tree canopies.

Emergency Generators: Generator size, type, and locations shall be substantially in
conformance with the Project Plans and supporting documents and shall be
reviewed prior to building permit issuance to ensure compliance with the
requirements, as applicable, of the San Mateo County Environmental Health
Services Division, Menlo Park Fire Protection District, West Bay Sanitary District,
and the City of Menlo Park Building and Planning Divisions.

12. Ongoing Compliance Monitoring

12.1.

Water Supply Assessment (WSA) Compliance: On January 1%, following the first full
year after the date of the issuance of the first certificate of occupancy, the Property
Owner/Manager for each parcel shall submit documentation to the City to confirm
that potable water usage for the parcel does not exceed the estimated potable water
consumption documented in the WSA dated April 2024, prepared by West Yost
Associates, and approved by the City Council on May 7, 2024 (Resolution No. 6901).
Compliance with the WSA shall supersede the requirements in MPMC Sections
16.35.110 (3)(C) and (E). The maximum estimated water usage for the non-
residential component shall be adjusted based on Project revision to limit the non-
residential square footage to 1 million square feet. Each building or parcel shall be
reviewed for compliance with its prorated/fair share water usage based on square
footage or units. The Public Works Director shall review the documentation along
with City records for water usage at the Project Site to confirm that water usage does
not exceed the estimated water usage in the WSA. In the event that actual water
consumption exceeds the WSA, a water conservation program, as approved by the
City's Public Works Director, shall be implemented. Twelve (12) months after City
approval of the water conservation program, the building owner shall submit data
and information sufficient to allow the city to determine compliance with the
conservation program. If water consumption exceeds the budgeted amount, the
City's Public Works Director may prohibit the use of water for irrigation or enforce
compliance as an infraction pursuant to Chapter 1.12 of the Municipal Code until
compliance is achieved. In the event that the townhomes in the TH1 and TH2

22



components are subdivided as for-sale units through the VTM, then the monitoring
requirement shall not apply to the for-sale units.

12.2. Long-term Maintenance Provisions

12.2.1. Stormwater Operations and Maintenance Agreement for Private Property:
Prior to issuance of the first certificate of occupancy for each building, the
Property Owner shall enter into, or amend the existing Operations and
Maintenance Agreement with the City, as applicable. The Operations and
Maintenance Agreement shall establish a stormwater treatment system
maintenance program (to be managed by the Property Owner) that includes
annual inspections of any infiltration features and stormwater detention
devices (if any), and drainage inlets, flow through planters, and other Best
Management Practices (BMP). There may be separate Operations and
Maintenance Agreements for each individual parcel within the Project Site, for
each townhome development, or one combined agreement as may be
determined by the City and Property Owner. The Operation and Maintenance
Agreements shall be subject to review and approval of the City Attorney and
the Public Works Director and shall be recorded prior to final inspection of the
interior improvements phase for each building and no later than the granting
of the first certificate of occupancy if the building permit does not include an
interior improvements phase. An annual report documenting the inspection
and any remedial action conducted shall be submitted to the Public Works
Department for review. This condition shall be in effect for the life of the
Project.

12.2.2. Stormwater Operations and Maintenance Agreement for Rights of Way and
the Public Realm: Prior to City acceptance of improvements within the City’s
right-of-way, the Owners’ Association shall enter into, or amend the existing
Operations and Maintenance Agreement with the City, as applicable. The
Operations and Maintenance Agreement shall establish a stormwater
treatment maintenance program (to be managed by the Owners’ Association)
that includes annual inspections of any infiltration features and stormwater
detention devices (if any), and drainage inlets, flow through planters, and
other Best Management Practices (BMP). There may be separate Operations
and Maintenance Agreements for each individual parcel within the Project
Site, or one combined agreement as may be determined by the City and
Applicant. The Operation and Maintenance Agreements shall be subject to
review and approval of the City Attorney and the Public Works Director and
shall be recorded prior to final inspection of the interior improvements phase
for each building or the granting of the first occupancy if the building permit
does not include an interior improvements phase. An annual report
documenting the inspection and any remedial action conducted shall be
submitted to the Public Works Department for review. This condition shall be
in effect for the life of the Project.

12.2.3. Landscape Maintenance: Site landscaping shall be maintained to the
reasonable satisfaction of the Community Development Director. Revisions to
site landscaping shall be reviewed in accordance with Section 7, Changes.

12.3. Maintenance Obligations

23

L23



12.3.1. Applicant: Until such time as an Owners’ Association is formed and assumes
responsibility pursuant to Section 12.3.3 below, the Applicant shall be
responsible for maintaining:

. All privately-owned, publicly accessible open space (excluding Lot 9);

. All private streets;

. All stormwater management infrastructure not expressly accepted by
the City, including pipes located within public service easements;

. All street trees, frontage landscaping, sidewalks, and furnishings
located on or adjacent to private parcels or within private streets;

. Any temporary improvements, landscape buffers, or common areas
serving unoccupied phases; and

° All improvements not dedicated to the City (i.e. the public park, Lot 9
of the VTM).

12.3.2. City: water mains dedicated to and accepted by the City, and the overflow
storm drain pipe from the potential emergency water storage reservoir to the
main storm drain line on Middlefield Road, and any other improvements
expressly identified in a future subdivision map or improvement agreement as
City-owned and maintained, shall be maintained by City.

12.3.3. Owners’ Association: Prior to the granting of the first certificate of occupancy
for the first building, an Owners’ Association shall be formed for purposes of
maintaining the improvements identified in12.3.1 and the other items listed
below. The association may be modified to confirm responsibility to
subsequent Owners’ Associations. Following its formation, and subject to any
transition periods established therein, the Owners’ Association shall be
responsible for maintaining the items listed in 12.3.1 for the life of the Project
in accordance with the standards submitted in conjunction with the review
and approval of the Site Improvement Plans.

12.3.4. All other utilities: For all other utilities, including but not limited to sanitary
sewer, recycled water, and telecommunication infrastructure, the Applicant
shall coordinate with the respective utility providers to determine ownership
and maintenance obligations. This includes coordination with West Bay
Sanitary District (WBSD) for sanitary sewer and recycled water systems.

12.3.5. City shall cooperate with Applicant in implementing all of the conditions of this
CDP, including to alter responsibility for ongoing maintenance and
compliance obligations as necessary (e.g., alter responsibilities between
Applicant, Property Owner, Owners’ Association).

12.4. Power and Communications Requirements: The Applicant or Property Owner shall
comply with all regulations of PG&E and other applicable communication providers
(e.g., AT&T and Comcast) that are directly applicable to the Project.

12.5. Public Open Space Access: Prior to building permit issuance for any given building
or parcel, the Applicant shall submit a plat and legal description and proposed form
of irrevocable easement agreement for public utilization of the Publicly Accessible
Open Space associated with that building or parcel to the satisfaction of the Public

24

L24



L25

12.6.

12.7.

Works Director and City Attorney. The form of irrevocable easement shall ensure, to
the reasonable satisfaction of the City, that the Applicant has reasonable control over
the Publicly Accessible Open Space and that the Publicly Accessible Open Space is
accessible to the general public, in perpetuity during reasonable hours of each day of
the week and at a minimum from sunrise to 30 minutes after sunset in compliance
with Section 8.28.133 of the Municipal Code, except as otherwise provided in the
Open Space Operating Rules to be prepared in accordance with Section 15. Publicly
accessible open space and frontage landscaping that is part of each parcel, and
identified in the ACP, shall be open prior to the first certificate of occupancy.

12.5.1. The irrevocable easement agreement requires City Manager approval and
shall be recorded with the County of San Mateo prior to granting of the first
certificates of occupancy for the building(s) or units served by or adjacent to
such Publicly Accessible Open Space. For clarity, nothing in this section shall
require the recordation of a public access easement over any area that has
not yet been constructed or made available for public access, or that is
subject to active construction or City-approved temporary closure.

12.5.2. Signage for Publicly accessible open space shall be consistent with City
standards and any Master Sign Program for the project.

Generator Screening: To the extent generators are placed on the exterior of the
buildings, the Applicant shall screen all generators prior to the first certificate of
occupancy for each building, in accordance with the Design Standards and to the
satisfaction of the Planning Division. Screening shall be to the height of the generator
and enclose all four sides of the generator. Buildings may be used for all or part of
the enclosure.

Refuse and Recyclables: The Project shall comply with MPMC Section 16.35.110,
the City’s implementing regulations and the Design Standards. Documentation of
preliminary compliance shall be submitted with each ACP and confirmed prior to
issuance of each applicable building permit, subject to review and approval of the
Sustainability and Planning Divisions. Ongoing compliance shall be demonstrated by
Applicant or Owner’s Association through zero waste assessments and established
benchmarks for waste reduction as part of the City’s implementing guidelines,
subject to review and approval of the Sustainability Division.

12.7.1. All garbage bins and carts shall be located within a trash enclosure that
meets the requirements of the solid waste disposal provider, and the City
Public Works Department and Planning Division for the lifetime of the Project.
If additional trash enclosures are required to address the on-site trash bin and
cart storage requirements of the Project, a complete building permit submittal
shall be submitted inclusive of detailed plans, already approved by the solid
waste disposal provider, for review and approval of the Planning Division and
the Public Works Department prior to each building permit issuance.

12.7.2. Concurrent with the submittal of each complete building permit application
that requires waste and recycling collection services, the Applicant shall
provide documentation of approval of the refuse and recycling locations by
the City’'s waste and recycling provider (e.g. Recology), subject to review and
approval of the Sustainability and Planning Divisions.

12.7.3. All garbage and recycling bins located outside buildings shall include a cover
to reduce windborne refuse. The covers may be full or partial, provided that

25



L26

12.8.

12.9.

12.10.

12.11.

refuse cannot become windborne from the receptacle, subject to review and
approval by the Planning and Sustainability Divisions. All exterior garbage
and recycling bins shall be frequently emptied on a routine schedule to
reduce the possibility of overflowing refuse.

Construction Hours: Construction activities may take place outside of the typical
construction hours of 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday, provided the
construction activities comply with the noise limitations set forth in MPMC Chapter
8.06 (Noise) and the MMRP, unless determined by the Building and Planning
Divisions that an exception for specific activities is necessary (e.g. offsite
evening/night work or other on-site activities that cannot occur during the typical
construction hours). Prior to the issuance of a building permit for each individual
phase, the Applicant shall submit a construction work plan and acoustical analysis to
the City documenting the expected work hours and compliance with the MPMC
Chapter 8.06 (Noise), the MMRP, and any noise ordinance exceptions subject to
review and approval of the Building and Planning Divisions.

Diesel Generators: Except as provided for in Section 3 of this CDP, any additional
diesel generators require review and approval of an administrative permit per the
requirements of the MPMC.

EPA Enerqy Star Portfolio Manager: Consistent with MPMC 16.35.110, simultaneous
with the submittal of each building permit application for buildings greater than
10,000 square feet, the Applicant shall enroll in EPA Energy Star Building Portfolio
Manager. Prior to issuance of the building permit, the Applicant shall submit
documentation showing compliance to the satisfaction of the Planning and Building
Divisions. This requirement does not apply to any of the townhome buildings that are
less than 10,000 square feet in size.

Energy Reguirements: Consistent with MPMC 16.35.110, prior to issuance of the first
building permit for each phase, building or site feature (e.g. publicly accessible park),
the Applicant shall submit plans and supporting documentation to the Building and
Planning Divisions documenting that each building meets one hundred percent of its
energy demand, as required by MPMC Section 16.35.110(2), through the
combination of the following measures and to the satisfaction of the Building and
Planning Divisions:

12.11.1. On-site energy generation;

12.11.2. Purchase of 100% renewable electricity through Peninsula Clean Energy
or Pacific Gas and Electric Company in an amount equal to the annual
energy demand of the project;

12.11.3. Purchase and installation of local renewable energy generation within the
City of Menlo Park in an amount equal to the annual energy demand of the
project;

12.11.4. Purchase of certified renewable energy credits and/or certified renewable
energy offsets annually in an amount equal to the annual energy demand of
the project.

12.11.5. Following issuance of the final occupancy permit for each Project phase
or building, the Applicant or applicable Owner’s Association shall submit an
annual report on January 1st of every year demonstrating that tenants and

26



occupants of all buildings that have received final inspection on site,
purchased or used 100% renewable energy or otherwise complied with
MPMC Section 16.35.110(2) to the Community Development Director or their
designee for their review and approval. The Applicant may submit
documentation to the City prior to the granting of the first occupancy for each
Project phase or building documenting that the amount of on-site or off-site
renewable energy generation would, at a minimum, equal the estimated
amount of non-renewable energy used at the project site. The report may be
submitted in lieu of annual monitoring, subject to review and approval of the
Community Development Director with input from the Building, Planning, and
Sustainability Divisions, as applicable. . If additional generators are added
through the appropriate permitting process after submittal of the report, the
report shall be updated to include the additional generator and submitted one
time on January 1st the year following the installation of the generator.

13 OFF SITE IMPROVEMENTS
13.1 Project Frontage Improvements

The following frontage improvements are documented in the Vesting Tentative Map
(Sheets C10.0, C10.1, C10.2, C10.2A, C10.3, and C10.4) and the Conceptual Plans
(Sheets G4.01, G4.06.1, G4.07.2, G5.03-G5.14) and the general requirements are
summarized in this section of the CDP. Timing for these improvements is identified
below and may also be memorialized through one or more public improvement
agreement/subdivision improvement agreements associated with the final map(s) for
the Project, which may be processed in phases.

13.1.1 Laurel Street: Frontage improvements along Laurel Street (approximately
1,100 feet) shall include utility connections, three water connections, two joint
trench connections, and a waterline stub for a future recycled water
connection. A 390-foot extension of the 12" waterline shall be completed,
along with upgrades to streetlights, crosswalks, a 3" grind and overlay (curb
to curb) across approximately 1,100 feet, curb, gutter, Class IV bikeways,
raised crosswalks, and sidewalks. Overhead lines shall be removed, and two
new drive approaches shall be added. These frontage improvements shall be
completed prior to the granting of the first certificate of occupancy for either
Building R1 or R2, whichever comes first.

13.1.1.1 Inthe event that the Applicant constructs the 19 detached units in
the TH1 component prior to Buildings R1 or R2, then the frontage
improvements along and within Laurel Street may be phased with the
following required prior to first occupancy of the first detached
dwelling unit: Partial frontage improvements along Laurel Street
(approximately 250 feet) shall include utility connections, a 3" grind
and overlay (curb to curb) across approximately 250 feet (proximate
to TH1 component), curb, gutter, sidewalk installation, and new drive
approaches.

13.1.2 Ravenswood Avenue: Frontage improvements along Ravenswood Avenue
may be constructed in phases.

13.1.2.1 Frontage improvements associated with Phase 1A from the
conceptual phasing plan in the Master Plan and VTM (proximate to
Building R1) shall cover approximately 800 feet, including intersection

27

L27



upgrades at Ravenswood Avenue and Laurel Street (excluding the
Middlefield Rd./Ravenswood Ave. intersection). These improvements
shall include utility connections (three fire hydrants, joint trench
connection at the Loop Road drive approach), two new drive
approaches, new curb, gutter, and sidewalk, a new crosswalk at Pine
Street, a 3" grind and overlay (curb to curb) across approximately 800
feet, restriping, and new street lighting. These frontage improvements
shall be completed prior to the granting of the first certificate of
occupancy for Building R1 or R2, whichever comes first.

13.1.2.2 Frontage improvements associated with Phase 1B from the
conceptual phasing plan in the Master Plan and VTM (proximate to
the Ravenswood Ave. parklet, public park dedication, and Building
R3) along Ravenswood Avenue (approximately 1,200 feet) shall
include utility connections and upgrades to the intersection at
Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road as well as green
infrastructure (See requirements in Section 13.5). This work shall also
involve drainage upgrades, a 3" grind and overlay (curb to curb)
across approximately 1,200 feet, curb, gutter, sidewalk installation,
storm drain connections, new street lighting, landscaping, and new
drive approaches. These frontage improvements shall be completed
prior to the granting of the first certificate of occupancy for Building R3
or TH 2.

13.1.3 Middlefield Road: Frontage improvements along Middlefield Road
(approximately 500 feet) shall include necessary utility connections, a
waterline main upgrade, and recycled water connection to the future West
Bay Sanitary District line. The project shall also involve intersection upgrades
at Ravenswood Avenue/Middlefield Road and Ringwood Avenue/Middlefield
Road (see Sections 13.4.1 and 13.4.2), and a 3” grind and overlay (curb to
curb) across approximately 500 feet. These improvements shall be
completed prior to the granting of the first certificate of occupancy for Building
R3 or the first unit in the TH2 component, whichever comes first.

13.1.4 General Frontage Improvement Requirements:

13.1.4.1 All streets adjoining the Project Site (i.e., Ravenswood Avenue,
Laurel Street, and Middlefield Road), shall receive an asphalt
concrete overlay, which will include a 3” grind and overlay across the
entire frontage for both Phase 1A and Phase 1B. Existing striping,
markings, and legends shall be replaced in kind, or as modified by the
City Engineer.

13.1.5 All public right-of-way improvements, including frontage improvements
and the dedication of easements and public right-of-way, shall be
completed to the satisfaction of the Engineering Division prior to the
granting of the first occupancy for the first building permit in each
phase/scope of work. Existing striping, markings, and legends shall be
replaced in kind, or as reasonably modified by the City Engineer.

13.2 Off-site and Frontage Improvements General: Prior to submitting for the first final
map for any given phase, the Applicant shall submit engineered Off-Site

28

L28



L29

13.3

Improvement Plans (including specifications and engineers’ cost estimates) for
approval by the Engineering Division, showing the infrastructure necessary to serve
such phase.

13.2.1 The Applicant shall obtain an encroachment permit, from the appropriate
reviewing jurisdiction, prior to commencing any work within the right-of-way or
public easements.

13.2.2 The Applicant shall coordinate its street improvements on Ravenswood
Avenue with Town of Atherton where the project overlaps with the Town's
jurisdiction. This includes obtaining any necessary permits. The Applicant
shall diligently pursue and make a good faith effort to obtain the necessary
permits. In the event that the Applicant is unable to obtain the necessary
permits from the Town of Atherton, the required street improvements may be
modified, subject to review and approval of the Public Works Director.

13.2.3 Prior to any building permit issuance for frontage improvement work,
Applicant shall submit plans for street light design per City standards and
PG&E at locations approved by the City.

13.2.4 Irrigation within public right of way shall comply with City Standard Details LS-
1 through LS-19 and shall be connected to the on-site water system.

Transportation Impact Fee (“TIF"): Transportation Impact Fee (“TIF"): The current
estimated total transportation impact fee is $9,769,442.07, based on all existing
buildings being used for R&D or R&D support (less any existing fee credits and
subject to adjustments for the actual proposed development) ("TIF Obligation”). The
Applicant shall complete off-site circulation improvements identified as the
responsibility of the Project through the TIA and included in the TIF (“TIF In Lieu
Improvements”) in lieu of paying the TIF. The City and Applicant shall establish the
estimated cost of the TIF In Lieu Improvements in connection with the City’s review
of the Improvement Plans for each respective TIF In Lieu Improvement. The TIF In
Lieu Improvements shall reduce the TIF Obligation dollar for dollar. The TIF rates are
subject to adjustment on July 1st of each year based on the ENR Construction Cost
Index % for San Francisco Bay Area. In the event that another development project
is also obligated to construct the improvement and undertakes construction of the
improvement, the Applicant would not be credited for said improvement. The TIF
obligation shall be paid at time of building permit issuance based on the TIF rate for
the size/use of the building less any credit for any existing uses demolished to
facilitate construction of the new building.

13.3.1 Applicant shall perform, construct and complete, at the Applicant's own
expense, the transportation improvements described in Section 13.4, prior to
issuance of the first certificate of occupancy for the Project.

13.3.2 To determine the estimated TIF In Lieu Improvement cost, the Applicant shall
submit detailed estimates of costs, including design, engineering, and
permitting costs to the Public Works Director or designee for the
transportation improvements. Pursuant to MPMC 13.26.80, the Applicant
shall be entitled to credit for said transportation improvements up to the TIF
Obligation. Only improvements identified in the City’s TIF Nexus study dated
January 30, 2020 are eligible for a TIF credit.

29



L30

13.4

13.3.3

13.3.4

The Applicant shall not be entitled to a credit for the actual cost of the Non-
TIF intersection improvements identified in Section 13.5 or the Other off-site
improvements identified in Section 13.6 against the Project’s TIF Obligation.

The transportation improvements shall include all near term intersection
improvements identified below. Prior to recording the final map for each
respective phase, Applicant shall enter into an improvement agreement with
the City memorializing the terms for performance, construction, and
completion of the transportation improvements associated with that
respective phase.

TIF In Lieu Improvements:

134.1

13.4.2

13.4.3

Ravenswood Avenue & Middlefield Road - The modification for this
intersection includes removal of the eastbound right turn channelized island
on Ravenswood Avenue and reconfiguration of the corner to maintain a right
turn pocket. The improvements include extension of the shared bike and
pedestrian path along the Project’s frontage and a bicycle lane. The traffic
signal will be modified to incorporate a bike signal and improvements for
bicycles turning left onto Ravenswood Avenue. Reconfiguration of
intersection shall ensure proper drainage and consider grading, green
infrastructure, etc.

13.4.1.1 Simultaneous with the submittal of the final map for Phase 1B, the
Applicant shall submit complete plans for these improvements.
Complete plans shall include all necessary requirements to construct
the improvements, including but not limited to, grading and drainage
improvements, utility relocations, tree protection requirements, striping
modifications, and a detailed cost estimate. The plans are subject to
review and approval by the Public Works Director or designee. The
Applicant shall construct the improvements prior to the first occupancy
of Building R3 or TH 2, whichever comes first.

Ravenswood Avenue Green Infrastructure - Green infrastructure at the
intersection of Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road shall treat runoff
from the public street rights-of-way. Sizing and design shall conform to the
San Mateo Countywide Water Pollution Prevention Program design
templates and technical guidance, and shall be subject to approval by the
Engineering Division. This improvement shall be constructed as part of the
improvements described in 13.4.1.

Middlefield Road and Ringwood Avenue - The intersection improvements
consist of changing the east/west phasing on Ringwood Avenue from
permitted to split phasing and removal of channelized right turn islands. The
design shall include appropriate pedestrian and bicycle accommodation at
this intersection including pedestrian countdown timers, Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA) compliant curbs, and bicycle detection loops.
Simultaneous with the submittal of the final map for Phase 1B, the Applicant
shall submit complete plans for these improvements. Complete plans shall
include all necessary requirements to construct the improvements, including
but not limited to, grading and drainage improvements, utility relocations, tree
protection requirements, striping modifications, and a detailed cost estimate.
The plans are subject to review by the City. The Applicant shall construct the

30



L31

improvements prior to first occupancy of the Building R3, TH 2 or the first
office building, whichever comes first.

13.5 Non-TIF intersection improvements

13.5.1

13.5.2

13.5.3

Middlefield Road and Seminary Drive — Design and construct a new traffic
signal and provide appropriate pedestrian and bicycle accommodation at this
intersection. The Seminary Drive approach should be striped with one left-
turn lane and one right-turn lane. The signal should include protected
north/south phasing on Middlefield Road and split east/west phasing on
Seminary Drive, pedestrian countdown timers, Americans with Disabilities Act
(ADA) compliant curbs, bicycle detection loops and forced turn islands to
restrict through movements on Seminary Drive. The northbound left-turn
storage on Middlefield Road should be extended to 325 feet. Simultaneous
with the submittal of the final map for Phase 2, the Applicant shall submit
complete plans for these improvements. Complete plans shall include all
necessary requirements to construct the improvements, including but not
limited to, grading and drainage improvements, green infrastructure, utility
relocations, tree protection requirements, striping modifications, and a
detailed cost estimate. The plans are subject to review by the City. The
Applicant shall construct the improvements prior to the first occupancy of the
first office building.

Seminary Drive — The applicant shall construct Option 2 (shown on Sheet
C3.4 of the Master Plan) of the Seminary Drive alignment that provides a
three-lane width cross-section with a sidewalk along on the south side and
removal of the existing median island. The Public Works Director or
designee, may include other minor geometry changes within the City right of
way, or opt to require construction of Option 1 (also shown on Sheet C3.4 of
the Master Plan).

13.5.2.1 Simultaneous with the submittal of the first final map for the office
component, the Applicant shall submit complete plans for Option 2
unless otherwise directed by the City. The Applicant shall make a
good faith effort to coordinate access modifications and relocation of
improvements that benefit neighboring property owners to limit
impacts. At its sole discretion, the City shall determine whether to
move forward with Option 2 or Option 1 and compel the Applicant to
remove any encroachments within the City’s right-of-way necessary to
implement the necessary improvements. The City may select
modifications of either option based on existing encroachments and
access to neighboring properties. The complete plans shall include all
necessary requirements to construct the improvements, including but
not limited to, grading and drainage improvements, grind and overlay,
utility relocations, tree protection requirements, striping modifications,
and a detailed cost estimate. The plans are subject to review by the
City. The Applicant shall construct the improvements prior to the first
occupancy of the first office building.

Ravenswood Avenue Corridor — Design and install a two-way left-turn lane
along Ravenswood Avenue between the proposed project driveway at W
First Street and Laurel Street. This design should maintain the buffered bike
lanes on Ravenswood Avenue.

31



L32

13.6

13.5.3.1 Simultaneous with the submittal of the first final map for Phase 1A,
the Applicant shall submit complete plans for both a portion of these
improvements up to 200 feet east of the West Loop Driveway and
Ravenswood Avenue and the full length of Ravenswood Avenue.
Complete plans shall include all necessary requirements to construct
the improvements, including but not limited to, grading and drainage
improvements, utility relocations, tree protection requirements, striping
modifications, and a detailed cost estimate. The plans are subject to
review by the City. The Applicant shall construct the Phase 1A
improvements (partial improvements) prior to the first occupancy of
either Building R1 or R2, whichever comes first. The remaining
improvements (i.e., extending the two-way left-turn lane beyond the
initial 200’) shall be completed prior to first occupancy of Building R3
or TH 2, whichever comes first

Other off-site improvements

13.6.1 Willow Road & Hospital Plaza/Durham Street — Restripe southbound
Hospital Plaza approach to include 1 left-turn and 1 shared through-right lane
and change the north/south phasing on Hospital Plaza/Durham Street to
protected phasing. Excess space on the Hospital Plaza shall be striped with
chevrons. Maodify the traffic signal to operate north/south legs with protected
phasing instead of split phasing. This improvement is not included in the
City's TIF program.

13.6.1.1 Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit
application for the first office building, the Applicant shall submit
complete plans for this improvement. Complete plans shall include all
necessary requirements to construct the improvements, including but
not limited to, utility relocations tree protection requirements, striping
modifications, and a detailed cost estimate. The plans are subject to
review by the City. Upon obtaining approval from the Director of
Public Works or designee, and the Applicant shall construct the
improvements prior to first certificate of occupancy for the first office
building.

14. ON-SITE IMPROVEMENTS (BACKBONE INFRASTRUCTURE)

14.1

Prior to recording a final map for any given phase, the Applicant shall prepare and
submit for City approval improvement plans for all main project site-serving
improvements for the phase contemplated in the map. These shall include mass
grading, utilities, on-site circulation improvements (including roadways and
intersection improvements), and public realm landscaping and street furnishings.
Improvement plans shall be substantially consistent with the Vesting Tentative Map
and the Conceptual Plans and the general requirements as summarized in this
section of the CDP. These improvements may be memorialized through a public
improvement agreement/subdivision improvement agreement associated with the
final map for the Project and implemented in phases as determined by the Public
Works Director.

14.1.1 Improvement plans shall include, at a minimum, specifications, engineer’'s
cost estimates (as necessary for public improvements), and all engineering

32



calculations necessary to substantiate the design of the following
improvements: proposed roadways, drainage improvements, utilities, traffic
control devices, required retaining walls, sanitary sewers, stormwater
conveyance improvements, pump/lift stations (if any), street lighting,
landscaping, and other project-related improvements. All public
improvements shall be designed and constructed to the satisfaction of the
Engineering Division. Improvement plans shall also include the following

components:

. Existing Topography (NAVD 88’)

o Demolition Plan (if necessary)

. Site Plan (including easement dedications, if applicable)

. Construction Parking Plan

o Grading and Drainage Plan

o Utility Plan

. Off-site Improvement Plan

. Erosion Control Plan

o Tree Protection Plan

° Planting and Irrigation Plan

° Construction Details (including references to City Standards and civil
details)

14.2 Required Improvements The following improvements are required for the Project and
are enumerated using the conceptual phasing plan from the VTM and Master Plan
plan set. The Applicant may propose an alternate phasing plan, provided the phased
site improvements are designed and constructed to adequately serve the alternate
phasing plan (i.e., the necessary improvements shall be designed to serve a specific
building before building permit issuance and shall be constructed and operable
before the granting of the associated building’s first occupancy), subject to review
and approval by the Public Works Director and Community Development Director.

14.2.1 Phase 1A (Lot4 —R1 and Lot 5 — R2)

14.2.1.1 Demolition and Site Preparation:
o Phase 1A shall begin with site preparation and demolition
activities necessary for Buildings R1 and R2.

e Demolition of the substation within Lot 4 could be deferred to
ensure SRI's continuous operations in Buildings P, S, and T,
subject to review and approval of the City’s Building Official
and Public Works Director. The substation shall be demolished
before vertical construction of Building R1 can begin.

14.2.1.2 Onsite Improvements:
e The Loop Road shall be constructed running through the site
between Buildings R1/R2, the future TH1 site, and Buildings P,
extending to Buildings S and T. Surface improvements,
including an interim parking lot, utility installation, and

33

L33



stormwater control (C.3 bioretention basin southeast of TH1),
shall also be included in Phase 1A.

14.2.2 Phase 1B (Lot 7 — R3, Lot 8 — TH2, Lot 9 — Recreational Park, Lots 6 and 10-
28 — TH1)

14.2.2.1 Onsite Improvements:

e The Loop Road shall be extended to Lot 9, Lot 8, and Lot 7,
connecting to Ravenswood Avenue at two locations and
Ringwood Avenue via existing 30’ IEE and PUE. All necessary
surface improvements and utilities shall be constructed as part
of this phase.

o Internal infrastructure (EVAE, PAE, PSE) shall be constructed
to service all associated lots within this phase, except for the
non-residential components.

14.2.3 Nonresidential Phases (Lot 1 and Lots 29-37)

14.2.3.1 Onsite Improvements:

¢ Onsite improvements shall involve completing utilities under
the remaining Loop Road, including domestic and fire water,
joint trench, sanitary sewer, and storm drain. The Loop Road
and EVA roads shall be paved, and permanent infrastructure
(curb, gutter, sidewalks, street lighting) shall be installed. Pads
for commercial and parking structures shall be constructed,
followed by foundations and building structures. Site work shall
include bioretention ponds, bike and walking paths, and
landscaping, including the "Parkline Central Commons."

15. PROJECT SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — OPERATING RULES FOR PUBLICLY
ACCESSIBLE OPEN SPACE

15.1 Prior to opening the Publicly Accessible Open Space or any portion thereof to the
public, the Property Owner or Owners’ Association, as applicable, shall prepare
reasonable rules and restrictions regarding the public’s access to and use of the
Publicly Accessible Open Space (or portion thereof) per the requirements of this
CDP, subject to review and approval of the Directors of Community Development
and Public Works, City Manager or their designee, and City Attorney (“Operating
Rules”). The Operating Rules may include, without limitation, provisions such as: (a)
permitting the Property Owner or Owners’ Association, as applicable, to reasonably
restrict or prohibit public access and use as reasonably necessary to (i) ensure
security of the Project Site and persons or property within or around the Project Site
and (ii) preclude activities that unreasonably disrupt non-public uses in the Project;
(b) providing exclusive use by Property Owner for a specified number of private
events; and (c) providing terms of use for community use of the Publicly Accessible
Open Space.

16. GENERAL CONDITIONS

34

L34



L35

16.1

16.2

16.3

16.4

16.5

16.6

16.7

City Fees: Applicant shall pay all outstanding fees associated with processing any
application upon receipt of the final invoice. Prior to future building permit issuance or
such later date as required by applicable law, the Applicant shall pay all applicable
Public Works and Community Development fees in accordance with the City’s
Master Fee Schedule.

School Impact Fee: Prior to issuance of each building permit, the Property Owner
shall pay the applicable School Impact Fee for the building in effect at the time of
payment and submit documentation of payment to the Building Division prior to
issuance of each building permit.

Menlo Park Municipal Water: The Property Owner shall comply with all requirements
of Menlo Park Municipal Water that are directly applicable to the Project and
document compliance prior to issuance of each building permit.

Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design: The Applicant shall design and
certify buildings greater than 25,000 square feet in size for LEED Gold and buildings
between 10,000 and 25,000 square feet in size for LEED Silver, in accordance with
Zoning Table 16.35.110(2)(B). Buildings on the Project Site of less than 10,000 sf
would not be certified under LEED. Each building shall be certified within one year of
first Certificate of Occupancy and documentation shall be provided to the Planning
Division. At its discretion, the Applicant may certify buildings less than 25,000 square
feet in size for LEED Gold. The Applicant shall not use an equivalency process and
all applicable buildings must be LEED certified.

The City has approved this CDP in conjunction with a Development Agreement.
During the term of the Development Agreement, this CDP shall be subject to the
terms and conditions of the Development Agreement and, in the event of a conflict,
the terms and conditions of the Development Agreement shall prevail.

Covenants Run with the Land: All of the conditions contained in this CDP shall run
with the land comprising the Project Site and shall be binding upon, and shall inure to
the benefit of the Applicant and its heirs, successors, assigns, devisees,
administrators, representatives and lessees, except as otherwise expressly provided
in this CDP. Upon transfer, sale, or assignment of all or any portion of the Project
Site, the Applicant shall be released from its obligations pursuant to this CDP with
regard to the transferred, sold, or assigned property that arise or accrue subsequent
to the effective date of the transfer, sale and/or assignment.

Severability: If any condition of this CDP, or any part hereof, is held by a court of
competent jurisdiction in a final judicial action to be void, voidable or unenforceable,
such condition, or part hereof, shall be deemed severable from the remaining
conditions of this CDP and shall in no way affect the validity of the remaining
conditions hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that any provision of
this CDP is found to be unenforceable, void or voidable which materially impairs
Applicant’s ability to construct the Project, and Applicant has not undertaken

35



L36

16.8

16.9

construction of any portion of the Project in reliance on this CDP, then Applicant may
terminate this CDP upon providing written notice to the City.

Indemnification: The Applicant and successors and assigns shall defend, indemnify,
and hold harmless the City of Menlo Park or its agents, officers, and employees from
any claim, action, or proceeding against the City of Menlo Park or its agents, officers,
or employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul an approval of the Planning
Commission, City Council, Community Development Director, or any other
department, committee, or agency of the City concerning a development, variance,
permit, or land use approval; provided, however, that the Applicant’s or successors’
and assigns’ duty to so defend, indemnify, and hold harmless shall be subject to the
City's promptly notifying the Applicant and successor and assigns of any said claim,
action, or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the Applicant’s or successors’
or assigns’ defense of said claims, actions or proceedings. In the event of a conflict
between this indemnification language and the indemnification language included in
the Development Agreement, the Development Agreement shall control. This
indemnification language shall only control in the event the Development Agreement
is no longer in effect.

Exhibits: The exhibits referred to herein are deemed incorporated into this CDP in
their entirety.

EXHIBITS

Exhibit 1: Legal Description

Exhibit 2: Plat Map

Exhibit 3: Glossary of Supporting Documents

Exhibit 4: Design Standards (Staff Report Attachment M)

Exhibit 5: TDM Plan (Staff Report Attachment Y)

Exhibit 6: TDM Monitoring Plan (Staff Report Attachment Z)

Exhibit 7: Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (Staff Report Attachment O)
Exhibit 8: Arborist Report (Staff Report Attachment Q)

36



August 12, 2025
Project No. A20152-1
Page 1 of 2

EXHIBIT “1”
LEGAL DESCRIPTION
FOR: PLANNING PURPOSES

ALL THAT CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY SITUATE IN THE CITY OF MENLO PARK, COUNTY OF SAN MATEO,
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, BEING ALL OF LOTS 2 AND 3 AS SHOWN ON THAT CERTAIN PARCEL MAP
FILED FOR RECORD ON JULY 3, 1979 IN BOOK 47 OF MAPS AT PAGES 29 THROUGH 31, SAN MATEO
COUNTY RECORDS, ALL OF PARCELS A AND C, AND A PORTION OF PARCEL B AS SHOWN ON THAT
CERTAIN PARCEL MAP FILED FOR RECORD ON NOVEMBER 12, 1980 IN BOOK 50 OF MAPS AT PAGES
53 THROUGH 55, SAN MATEO COUNTY RECORDS, AND ALL OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN THAT
CERTAIN QUITCLAIM DEED RECORDED ON MAY 13, 1957 IN VOLUME 3217, PAGE 650 OF OFFICIAL
RECORDS, SAN MATEO COUNTY, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE NORTHERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT 2;

THENCE ALONG THE NORTHEASTERLY LINES OF SAID LOT 2, SAID LINES ALSO BEING ON THE
SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF MIDDLEFIELD ROAD AS SHOWN ON SAID PARCEL MAP
(BOOK 47 OF MAPS AT PAGES 29 THROUGH 31) THE FOLLOWING TWO (2) COURSES AND
DISTANCES:

1. SOUTH 87° 26' 05" EAST, 77.73 FEET;
2. SOUTH 58° 15' 42" EAST, 352.93 FEET;

THENCE LEAVING SAID SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, CONTINUING ALONG THE
NORTHEASTERLY LINES OF SAID LOT 2 AND THE NORTHEASTERLY AND SOUTHEASTERLY LINES OF
SAID PARCEL B, THE FOLLOWING THIRTEEN (13) COURSES AND DISTANCES:

SOUTH 04° 05' 50" EAST, 66.13 FEET;
SOUTH 31° 45' 00" WEST, 213.14 FEET;
SOUTH 58° 15' 49" EAST, 992.57 FEET;
SOUTH 31° 44' 22" WEST, 768.86 FEET;
SOUTH 58° 15' 00" EAST, 530.00 FEET;
SOUTH 31° 45' 00" WEST, 407.88 FEET;
NORTH 58° 15' 00" WEST, 139.72 FEET;
SOUTH 31° 45' 00" WEST, 0.66 FEET;
NORTH 58° 15' 00" WEST, 420.20 FEET;
. SOUTH 31° 44' 22" WEST, 63.43 FEET,;
. ALONG THE ARC OF A 300.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE LEFT, THROUGH A CENTRAL
ANGLE OF 45° 25' 33", AN ARC DISTANCE OF 237.85 FEET TO A NON-TANGENT LINE;
. NORTH 58° 15' 00" WEST, 372.83 FEET;
. SOUTH 31° 45' 00" WEST, 322.82 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID
PARCEL B, SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF LAUREL
STREET AS SHOWN ON SAID PARCEL MAP (BOOK 50 OF MAPS AT PAGES 53 THROUGH 55);

L NOWULEWNRE

N
= O

=
w N

THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING SIX (6)
COURSES AND DISTANCES:

1. NORTH 58° 14' 45" WEST, 652.22 FEET;
2. ALONG THE ARC OF A 470.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE RIGHT, THROUGH A CENTRAL
ANGLE OF 22° 35'12", AN ARC DISTANCE OF 185.28 FEET;

L37

Z:\2020\A20152-1\DOCS\SURVEY\LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS\A20152-1-LD-PLANNING.doc



L38

August 12, 2025
Project No. A20152-1
Page 2 of 2

3. NORTH 35°39' 33" WEST, 166.44 FEET,;

4. ALONG THE ARC OF A 330.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE LEFT, THROUGH A CENTRAL
ANGLE OF 23° 08' 07", AN ARC DISTANCE OF 133.25 FEET;

5. NORTH 58° 47' 40" WEST, 2.34 FEET;

6. ALONG THE ARC OF A 20.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE RIGHT, THROUGH A CENTRAL
ANGLE OF 90° 00' 50", AN ARC DISTANCE OF 31.42 FEET TO A POINT ON THE
NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL A, SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTHEASTERLY
RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF RAVENSWOOD AVENUE AS SHOWN ON SAID PARCEL MAP (BOOK 50
OF MAPS AT PAGES 53 THROUGH 55);

THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING THREE (3)
COURSES AND DISTANCES:

1. NORTH 31° 13' 10" EAST, 1689.10 FEET;

NORTH 35° 43' 25" EAST, 144.36 FEET;

3. ALONG THE ARC OF A 112.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE RIGHT, THROUGH A CENTRAL
ANGLE OF 14° 28' 32", AN ARC DISTANCE OF 28.30 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

N

CONTAINING 64.2286 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.
AS SHOWN ON EXHIBIT “B” ATTACHED HERETO AND BY THIS REFERENCE MADE A PART HEREOF.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION PREPARED BY KIER & WRIGHT CIVIL ENGINEERS AND SURVEYORS, INC.

I

KELLY f?dHN’sT LS 9126

8/12/2025
DATE

Z:\2020\A20152-1\DOCS\SURVEY\LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS\A20152-1-LD-PLANNING.doc



RAVENSWOOD AVENUE

N311310°E 1689.10

_ Iy "
[13 7’\ <
3 L12 | I c5 - :
QUITCLAIM DEED +— !
(3217 OR 650) ! '
~ PARCEL A _lo |
(50 M 53-55)
\ (47 M 29-31) () .
/ 8 A N <
I - \:5) O
B |
1 PARCEL C ,—l_ =
- (50M53-55)| - - - — ] .9
e N | LOT 3 | L
|2 AN | (47 M 29-31) | E |
(Te])
g e =
= ~
ol B (@)
lﬁq- ~ D |
|?_’ g —_
: e s
| PORTION OF - |
| PARCEL B P .
(50 M 53-55) 3 [
— L10 I
L
1LL| |
! [
! i |
N L8 '
I_I ‘ S31°44'22"W 768.86’
L] C’\ - - _ |
|Q(: |
e 2 g
— Q((/Q((’ 5 3 Lo
| XN o |
°Q )
[Te)
er |
], ) b
-}
S31'45'00"W 407.88° o o " T
LEGEND
- - BOUNDARY OF SUBJECT PROPERTY
—— — — ———  LOT LINES
—_———- ——  OTHER LINES OF POSSESSION
M MAP 0 150’ 300’ 600’
POB POINT OF BEGINNING — —
Scale 17 = 300 ft
DATE AUG., 2025
&P EXHIBIT "2" e —
W KlER-l_\X/RlGHT PLANNING PURPOSES BY EK
3350 Scott Boulevard, Building 22 Phone: (408) 727-6665 JOBNO.  A20152-1
Santa Clara, California 95054 www.kierwrigh‘t.com MENLO PARK, CALIFORNIA SHEET 1 OF 2
Z:\ZDZO\AZOW52*1\DWC\SU}?VEY\PLATS\AZOW52*1*PD*PLANN\NG.qu 8-12-25 04:18:48 PM ekamikawa

L39



LINE TABLE CURVE TABLE
LINE # | DIRECTION | LENGTH CURVE # | RADIUS DELTA LENGTH
L | s8726'05°€ | 77.73 Cl | 30000 | 4525'33" | 237.85
12 | S5815°42°E | 352.93 C2 | 470.00' | 22:35'12" | 185.28'
L3 | S40550E | 6613 C3 | 330.00' | 2308'07" | 133.25'
L4 | S3145°00°W | 213.14 c4 | 2000 | 90°00'50" | 31.42
L5 | N5815°00°W | 139.72' C5 | 112.00° | 1428'32" | 28.30
L6 | S31'45°00'W | 0.66’
L7 | N5815°00°W | 420.20°
18 | S314422°W | 63.43
L9 | N5815°00°W | 372.83
110 | S314500"W | 322.82
L11 S35°39'33"E | 166.44'
112 | N58:47°40"W | 2.34°
13 | N354325°E | 144.36'
m ST [
*W KIERTWRIGHT | o anninG purrosES [& =
3350 Scott Boulevard, Building 22 Phone: (408) 727-6665 JOB NO. A20152-1
Santa Clara, Calfornia $5054 e o niicniright.con § MENLO PARK, CALIFORNIA ['sger 2 OF 2

L40




EXHIBIT 3

Glossary of Supporting Documents
Parkline Master Plan Project Plans (dated June 24, 2025)
Vesting Tentative Map (dated June 24, 2025)
Development Agreement (dated XX, 2025 and adopted by Resolution XXXX)
Parkline Phasing Plan and Milestones Exhibit (Exhibit F to the Development Agreement)
Heritage Tree Removal Permit HTR2022-00175
Arborist Report (dated August 2025)
Letter from Hort Science to City Arborist (dated Feb. 11, 2025)
Parkline Phasing Plan Narrative (dated August 6, 2025)
Transportation Demand Management (TDM) Plan (dated August, 6 2025)
TDM Monitoring Plan (dated August 6, 2025)

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (dated XX, 2025 and adopted by Resolution
XXXX)

Parkline Project Wide Below Market Rate Housing Agreement (dated XX, 2025 and adopted
by Resolution XXXX)

Water Supply Assessment prepared by West Yost (dated April 29, 2024 and adopted by
Resolution 6901)

SRI Parkline On-Site Pipeline Evaluation prepared by West Yost (dated October 17, 2024)

Hazardous materials information forms and generator supplemental forms

L41



M1

DRAFT: Parkline Development Regulations and Design Standards (July 2025)12

Public streets

from property line
adjacent to street.

Residential
Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Minimum lot Minimum size of a 100 feet width 20 feet width 30 feet width There are no minimum

dimensions lot calculated using lot sizes if minimum
lot lines. 100 feet depth 45 feet depth 60 feet depth dimensions are met.
Minimum Minimum linear feet | 30 feet, with 20 20 feet 10 feet Setbacks taken from
setback at building can be sited | feet permitted as property line or edge of
Public streets | from property line measured access easements
adjacent to street. diagonally from inclusive of typical
the 77.7-foot frontage improvements.
segment of the
property line The detached multi-use
adjacent to the pathways along Laurel
intersection of Street and Ravenswood
Ravenswood Avenue may be located
Avenue and within the minimum
Middlefield Road setback.
Maximum Maximum linear feet | Does not apply Does not apply | 30 feet Setbacks taken from
setback at building can be sited property line or edge of

access easements
inclusive of typical
frontage improvements.

ATTACHMENT M

1 The intent behind the Parkline Development Regulations and Design Standards is to help inform future conditions in the CDP by identifying
details that are consistent with the proposed Parkline Project and include both residential and commercial standards. Regulations/Design
Standards are objective standards that projects within a project site or master plan area shall meet, generally without exception, unless a
requested design modification is approved through a use permit during the architectural control review process.

2Unless otherwise noted in the Parkline Development Regulations and Design Standards, the regulations of the Menlo Park Municipal Code and
C-1-S zoning district apply.



M2

Regulation/

property lines.

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Minimum Minimum linear feet | 10 feet 10 feet 10 feet Setback from edge of
setback at building can be sited public access easement.
Private streets | from property line
and publicly adjacent to street. Private streets internal to
accessible the project site are
bicycle/ subject to this
pedestrian requirements.
pathways
Private streets that
function as shared
driveways for parking
access or parking courts
shall not be subject to a
setback to the building
line for attached or
detached townhome
units; except when a
unit's main entry door
faces the Private street,
a 10 foot setback is
required.
Minimum Minimum linear feet | 10 feet 0 feet 4 feet Standard is for setbacks
interior side building can be sited from parcels within the
setbacks from interior Parkline project site.

Adjoining podium decks
are permitted with no
interior side setback
requirement.

3 Private streets, including the Loop Road, are access roads with a public access easement inclusive of all vehicle, pedestrian, and bicycle

infrastructure.




M3

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional

Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Minimum Minimum linear feet | 10 feet 0 feet 10 feet Standard is for setbacks
interior rear building can be sited from parcels within the
setbacks from interior Parkline project site.

property lines.
Minimum side | Minimum setback 20 feet 20 feet 20 feet Minimum 10-foot deep
and rear from parcels landscape planting zone
setbacks from | adjacent to the required along property
adjacent off- Parkline project site lines adjacent to off-site
site parcels parcels.
3




M4

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Height Height is defined in Maximum height: | Maximum Maximum A parapet used to screen

MPMC Section
16.04.330.

Height is regulated

by the C-1-S zoning

district, unless

otherwise regulated
by these standards,
and does not include

roof-mounted
equipment and
utilities.

75 feet

height: 40 feet

height: 35 feet

mechanical equipment
may exceed the
maximum height up to
14 feet if setback a
minimum 15 feet from
building facade. If less
than 15 feet from facade,
maximum height is 4
feet.

Mansard or pitched roof
forms are considered a
parapet for the purpose
of mechanical screening
or enclosing usable roof
decks and are subject to
allowed height
exceedance described
above and based on the
use of the area to be
screened.

Parapets or railings at
usable roof decks may
exceed height limit by 4
feet.




M5

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Frontage The percentage of Minimum of 40% | Minimum of Minimum of Setback areas adjacent
Landscaping the setback area 25% 50% to active ground floor
devoted to uses, including lobbies,
landscaping, ground retail, and eating and
cover, and drinking establishments
vegetation. Trees where decorative
may or may not be hardscape plazas, or
within the entry walks occur are
landscaped area. considered frontage
For this requirement, landscaping for purposes
the setback area is of this standard.
the area between
the property line or Where enhanced bicycle
Private street and and pedestrian facilities
the face of the (e.g., multiuse pathways
building. along Laurel Street and
Ravenswood Avenue)
beyond standard
frontage improvements
occur, the facility is
considered frontage
landscaping for purposes
of this standard.
(For Parkline project, the
internal Loop Road is
considered a Private
street for this regulation)
5




M6

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Usable Roof If included roof Standard Applies | Does not apply | Does not apply | If included, the space
Terrace terraces for must be designed to be

residents shall be at
least 600 square
feet in size and 20
feet in minimum
dimensions.

usable to residents for
gathering, relaxation, or
reflection with amenities
which could include
seating, food preparation
equipment, sun-shading
devices, and decorative
landscape.

The space may be used
to meet the Minimum
common open space
requirement (MPMC
16.35.080(3). If provided
and compliant with the
size and dimension
requirements, the roof
terrace may be counted
as 1.5 square feet per 1
square foot provided
toward the Common
Open Space
requirement.




M7

Massing Step-
Back

(Above Four-
Story Tall
Building Base
Height)

The minimum

distance a building’s
upper story (stories)

must be set back
above the fourth
beyond the face of
the first story (i.e.,
at or above the 5th
floor level).

5-story buildings
require a 3-foot
stepback at the
5th floor level for
75% of facade
width at building
sides facing a
Public street.
Buildings more
than 5 stories
require a 10-foot
stepback at the
5th floor level for
75% of facade
width on all
building sides.

The Ravenswood
Avenue frontage
for R1 shall meet
the following
standards:

If building is set
back 40 feet from
the property line,
no stepback is
required.

If any portion of
the building is
sited within 40
feet of the
property line, that
portion of the
facade shall
include a
stepback at the
5" floor or in lieu
of a stepback,

NA

NA

A maximum of 25% of
the building face along
each applicable side of
the building is excepted
from this standard for the
purpose of allowing
architectural variation.

Projecting window bays
not exceeding 2 feet in
depth and 8 feet width
and minimum 50%
glazed may extend into
Massing Step-Back if the
setback is 10-feet (i.e.,
not applicable to a 3 foot
stepback), but for no
more than 25% of wall
face above the fourth
level.

Pitched roofs at the

fourth level from 3:12 to
12:12 with low eaves at
the primary facade back
to the recessed building
wall up to four (4) feet in
height may be located in
the Massing Step-Back.

Open railings not
exceeding four (4) feet in
height may be located in
the Massing Step-Back.

Open trellis structures no
more than one-story in
height and limited to
posts, beams, and
awnings or open frame




Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional

Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
shall include one trellises may extend into
or more of the the Massing Step-Back.
following
architectural
features:
prominent

balconies that
extend for 75% of
the length of the
facade and are
integrated into the
roofline of the
structure,
differentiation in
materials, or
colors from the
lower levels.

If the building
facade is greater
than 5 stories and
sited within 40
feet of the
property line, the
10-foot stepback
at the 5" floor
shall apply.




M9

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Building The maximum depth | 5 feet 3 feet 2 feet The surface area of
Projections of allowable building allowed building
projections, such as projections, including
balconies or bay areas defined by railings
windows, into the or covered porches shall
required setback for not exceed 35% of each
portions of the primary facade upon
building at or above which the projections
the second floor. extend from. The wall
area of projections
(Note: Building enclosing interior space
projections not must be at least 50%
required) glazed. Building
projections may not
extend into the minimum
side and rear setback
from adjacent parcels
(i.e. parcels not included
in the Parkline project).
9




M10

Major Building
Modulations

A major modulation
is a break in the
building plane
(defined as a
recess, offset wall
plane, or projecting
form) extending from
the ground level to
at least the top of
the building’s height
that provides visual
variety, reduces
large building
volumes, and/or
provides spaces for
entryways and
publicly accessible
spaces.

Minimum of one
recess or
projection of at
least 20 feet wide
by 8 feet deep
per building side
exceeding 100
feet for facades
facing a Public
street.

Minimum of one
recess or
projection of at
least 20 feet wide
by 8 feet deep
per building side
exceeding 200
feet per building
side facing a
Private Street or
publicly
accessible open
space.

(Where a building
side facing a
Public street
exceeds 200 feet
a second major
modulation is
required and
where a building
side facing a
Private street or
publicly
accessible open
space exceeds
300 feet a second

Does not apply

Does not apply

Modulation is required
on the building facade(s)
facing publicly
accessible spaces (e.g.,
Public streets, Private
streets, and publicly
accessible open space).

A recessed building
modulation (set in from a
primary facade plane)
must be open to the sky
above except for normal
depth eaves. Walls,
soffits, balconies,
window bays, etc. cannot
encroach on the recess,
with the exception of a
canopy set completely
within the bay at the
ground level at a building
entrance.

Long term parking is not
allowed in the
modulation recess, but
pick up and drop off
areas are allowed.

Building step-backs are
not required at major
building modulations, as
the entire vertical height
of buildings are already
stepped back from the
primary facade.

10




M11

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
major modulation
is required.)
Building The minimum ratio One entrance Entrances at a building
Entrances of entrances to every 200 feet of corner may be used to
building length along | building length satisfy this requirement
a Public street, along a Public for both frontages.
Private street, or street, Private
publicly accessible street, or Paseo Entrances do not need to
open space. (pedestrian be into lobbies and can
and/or bicycle include secondary
path). A minimum entrances usable by
of one entrance is residents of the building.
required on each
applicable
facade.
11




Regulation/
Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Ground Floor The minimum 25% Does not apply | Does not apply | This standard shall apply
Transparency | percentage of the to each ground floor
ground floor facade facade regardless of the
at each building side building use at the
facing a Public location of the facade.
street, Private street,
or publicly Opaque or mirrored
accessible open glass shall not count as
space that must transparent glazing.
provide visual
transparency, such Screens or grates (e.g.,
as clear-glass at parking garage entries
windows, doors, or or into courtyards) more
non-glazed than 50% solid shall not
openings as count as transparent).
measured between
the first and second
floor level (or eave
level if single story).
Minimum The minimum height | 10 feet 10 feet 10 feet Internal Private streets
Ground Floor between the ground- (e.g. public access
Height Along level finished floor to easements in parking
Street the second-level courts or driveways) that
Frontage finished floor along provide sole access to a
the street (both building shall be
Public and Private considered a street
streets). frontage for this
requirement.

M12

12




M13

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Garage Width of garage Maximum 12-foot | Maximum 8- Maximum 8- Garage entrances must

Entrances entry/door along opening for one- | foot opening for | foot opening for | be separated by a
Public and Private way entrance; single-car one-car minimum of 100 feet to
street frontage. maximum 24-foot | garage; garage; ensure all

opening for two- maximum 16- maximum 16- entrances/exits are not

way entrance foot opening for | foot opening for | grouped together or

two-car garage | two-car garage | resulting in an entire

stretch of sidewalk
unsafe and undesirable
for pedestrians. Dwelling
units/buildings with
garages attached to
units are excepted from
this requirement.

Garage/ Location of above Other than Collective Individual unit Exterior lighting fixtures

Parking grade garage garage garage doors shall use fixtures with

Structure garages/structured entrances, above | structures or shall not face a | low cut-off angles,

Location and parking relative to grade garages/ individual unit Public street appropriately positioned,

Screening Public streets and parking structures | garage doors to minimize glare into

screening

shall not face a
Public street and
shall be shielded
from public view
by the primary
building, portion
thereof, or similar
condition

shall not face a
Public street

dwelling units and light
pollution into the night
sky

Lighting in parking
garages shall be
screened and controlled
so as not to disturb
surrounding properties,
but shall ensure
adequate public security

13




M14

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Structured Vehicular parking Shared entrances | Does not apply | Does not apply
Parking access, location, to parking for
Garages and design for nonresidential

structured parking.

and residential
uses shall be
used where
possible.

Loading docks
shall be located
on local or interior
access streets
and to the rear of
buildings.

Aboveground
garages shall be
screened (with
perforated walls,
vertical elements,
landscaping or
materials that
provide visual
interest at the
pedestrian scale)
or located behind
buildings that are
along Public
streets.

14




M15

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Surface Location and Surface parking Does not apply | Does not apply | Surface parking lots shall
Parking screening lots shall be be planted with at least
requirements for buffered from one (1) tree with a
surface parking. adjacent buildings minimum size of a
by a minimum six twenty-four (24) inch box
(6) feet of paved for every eight (8)
pathway and/or parking spaces.
landscaped area
and shall be Required plantings may
screened with be grouped where
landscaping carports with solar
features such as panels are provided.
trees, planters,
and vegetation.
Awnings, The maximum depth | 6 feet 6 feet 6 feet Horizontal projections
Signs, and of awnings, signs, shall not extend into the
Canopies and canopies that public right-of-way. A

project horizontally
from the face of the
building.

minimum vertical
clearance of 8 feet from
finished grade to the
bottom of the projection
is required.

15




Regulation/

Enclosures

attractively
screened from
public view.

Utilities, including
meters, backflow
prevention
devices, etc.,
shall be
concealed or
integrated into the
building design to
the extent
feasible, as
determined by the
public works
director.

and attractively
screened from
public view.

Utilities,
including
meters,
backflow
prevention
devices, etc.,
shall be
concealed or
integrated into
the building
design to the
extent feasible,
as determined
by the public
works director.

and attractively
screened from
public view.

Utilities,
including
meters,
backflow
prevention
devices, etc.,
shall be
concealed or
integrated into
the building
design to the
extent feasible,
as determined
by the public
works director.

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Trash, Regulations for Trash and Trash and Trash and For the Attached and
Storage, Utility | location, screening, | storage shall be storage shall storage shall Detached Townhomes, if
Equipment and | and appearance. enclosed and be enclosed be enclosed common trash

enclosures are not used,
sufficient space shall be
provided in the unit's
garage to accommodate
three stream trash bins
(trash, recycling, and
compost). This space
shall be located outside
the required minimum
dimensions for a covered
parking space.

M16

16




M17

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Building Building facade Each building Each building NA Stepped massing at the
Design — height variation side facing a side more than facade shall mean an
Massing and (offsets) at Public street, 50 feet in offset of at least one
Height eaves/roof edges. Private street, or | length facing a floor level at a primary
Variation publicly pedestrian facade/building form
accessible open pathway or (e.g., a 4-story wall plane
space shall have | Public or with roof abuts a 5-story
a facade height Private Street, wall plane with roof)
variation at the shall provide
upper eave or variation of
parapet of at least | height at the

four (4) feet; or
alternatively,
stepped massing
of one level or
more across the
facade. Facades
wider than 200
feet shall
incorporate at
least two height
offsets.

eave or roofline
of at least (4)
feet. This can
be achieved by
alternating
height between
units, by
providing
staggered units
in plan,
providing roof
type variation,
or by creating
massing step
backs. The
intent of the
standard is to
provide a
varied and
dynamic
skyline.

17




M18

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Building A primary entrance The primary entry | NA NA At least one Primary
Design — is the main public shall be into a Entrance is required and
Primary entrance to the prominent entry shall be accessed from
Entrance building. lobby or central the Public street facade.
courtyard and
shall have a The Primary Entrance to
glazed multi- the building shall provide
door/window entries, access points or
opening features oriented to the
street that are visible
from areas accessible by
the public and provide
visual cues to denote
access into the building.
For larger residential
buildings with shared
entries, the main entry
shall be through
prominent entry lobbies
or central courtyards
facing the street.
18




M19

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Building All exterior stucco Applies Applies Applies Stucco on the exterior
Design — shall be steel trowel facade shall be limited to
Stucco smooth texture or no more than 50% of the
Santa Barbara entire area of an
texture (steel trowel elevation, inclusive of all
smooth texture with windows and doors.
tool marks or open
areas). Where Spanish Revival
Architecture is used
Sand (rubber float stucco may exceed 50%
applied) or similar of wall surface; however,
textures or rough 10% of all wall surface,
textures not excluding doors and
permitted. windows, shall have a
secondary/accent
material.
Facades completely
enclosed within the
building (e.g., internal
courtyards) are exempt
from this requirement.
19




M20

Regulation/
Design
Standard

Definition

Multifamily
Residential

Attached
Townhomes

Detached
Townhomes

Notes/Additional
Requirements

Building
Design —
Accent
Material

Where stucco is
used as the primary
wall surface material
a second/accent
wall surface
material(s) will be
required to equal or
exceed 10% of
stucco wall surface
on exterior building
walls. The
secondary/accent
material(s) should
appear at all building
sides but
proportionally can
vary by building
side.

Applies

Applies

Applies

Doors, windows,
columns, and trim are
not considered wall
surface materials.

20




M21

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Building Residential unit Applies Applies Applies Where simulated divided
Design — windows/glazed light windows are used,
Windows doors shall be windows shall include
recessed at least 2 mullions on the exterior
inches from the wall and interior of the
face to the nearest glazing and contain
portion of the internal dividers (spacer
window frame. bars) between the
window panes.
Common area
windows/glazed In lieu of recessed
doors shall be windows, windows may
recessed at least 4 be flush with the exterior
inches from the wall wall if a 2-inch projected
face to the nearest exterior window frame is
portion of the provided for windows at
window frame. residential units and a 4-
inch projected exterior
Does not apply to window frame is
windows facing provided for windows at
private or enclosed common areas.
courtyards that are
not visible to Public
streets, Private
streets, or publicly
accessible open
spaces.
Building Detailing at eaves, Detailing shall be | Detailing shall Detailing shall
Design — rakes, parapets, consistent with be consistent be consistent
Detailing entry and garage the architectural with the with the
doors, porches, wall | style of the architectural architectural
articulation, railings, | building. style of the style of the
building mounted building. building.
lighting fixtures.
21




M22

Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Building On any fagade Applies Does not apply | Does not apply.
Design — visible from publicly
Downspouts accessible areas, all

downspouts shall be
concealed within a
wall except at/above
a leader head.

22




Regulation/

Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Building No exterior exhaust, | Applies Does not apply | Does not apply | Any vent or similar metal
Design — intake, or other vent, work shall be painted to
Exhaust, Air louver, or grill shall match the adjacent wall
Intake Vents. be placed on any surface.

facade plane
projecting forward of
the primary facade
such as at a
projecting bay, bay
window or projecting
balcony enclosure,
etc. and no vents
shall be placed on
primary facade
plane at the upper
most level of a
facade (i.e., vent
through roof, or
through walls
recessed from the
primary facade
plane or at right
angles to the
primary facade
plane). Vents
placed facing down
from projecting
balconies and bays
are exempt from this
standard.

23
M23



Regulation/
Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Building Location and design, | Rooftop elements | Rooftop No Rooftop All mechanical or similar
Design — including any such as stair elements such | mechanical equipment shall be
Rooftop prohibition on roof towers, elevator as stair towers | equipment screened by a parapet or
Elements mounted overruns and and permitted. mechanical screening so
equipment®. mechanical mechanical to not be visible from the
equipment equipment ground plane or any
screening shall screening shall building level at or below
be integrated with | be integrated the roof level on which
the building with the the equipment sits.
architecture in building
form and material | architecture in
or set at least 20 | form and
feet back from the | material.
facade.
Building Railing design for A minimum of N/A N/A Balconies where at least
Design — privacy/usability on 50% of balcony two-thirds of the deck
Balcony resident balconies railings shall be area is recessed behind
Railings facing public streets, | opaque. the building wall are
Private streets or exempt from this
publicly accessible requirement.
open space and
when balconies
project outboard of
the building wall.

4 Photovoltaic equipment is not considered mechanical equipment.

M24

24




M25

Regulation/
Design Multifamily Attached Detached Notes/Additional
Standard Definition Residential Townhomes Townhomes Requirements
Building Percentage of total Studio (10% 2+ Bedroom 2+ Bedroom Does not apply to
Design — Unit | units across the maximum) (100% (100% affordable senior
Mix Bedrooms | Parkline project by minimum) minimum) housing.
bedroom count 2+ Bedroom
(40% minimum) 3+ Bedroom 3+ Bedroom
(50% (50%
3+ Bedroom (5% | minimum) minimum)
minimum)
Zoning Parking 1.25 spaces 2 spaces 2 spaces No minimum parking
Vehicular maximum per maximum per maximum per requirements on
dwelling unit, dwelling unit dwelling unit development projects
located within a half-mile
0.33 additional radius of a major transit
guest spaces per stop as required by AB
dwelling unit 2097.
maximum
Nonresidential
Regulation/
Design Parking Amenity
Standard Definition Office/ R&D Structures Building Notes/Additional Requirements
Minimum lot Minimum size of a lot 150 feet width 100 feet width | 100 feet width There are no minimum lot sizes if
dimensions calculated using lot lines. minimum dimensions are met.
300 feet depth 300 feet depth | 200 feet depth
Minimum Minimum linear feet building 200 feet 200 feet 200 feet Setback from Property Line adjacent
setback from can be sited from property to Public street.
property at line adjacent to street.
Public streets
25




M26

Regulation/
Design
Standard

Definition

Office/ R&D

Parking
Structures

Amenity
Building

Notes/Additional Requirements

Minimum
setback at
Private streets

Minimum linear feet building
can be sited from edge of
adjacent Private street.

30 feet

10 feet

10 feet

Setback from edge of public access
easement (inclusive of typical
pedestrian infrastructure e.g.,
standard sidewalk)

Does not apply to existing Buildings
P, S, and T but applies to any
additions.

Maximum
setback at
Private streets

Maximum linear feet building
can be sited from adjacent
street curb.

120 feet

Does not
apply

Does not apply

Setback from edge of public access
easement (inclusive of typical
pedestrian infrastructure e.g.,
standard sidewalk)

Maximum setbacks for each
nonresidential building from the
internal Loop Road shall be set by
the building-specific architectural
control permit, with the goal of
maintaining a large central publicly
accessible open space (“Parkline
Commons”) framed by the
nonresidential buildings.

26




Regulation/

Design Parking Amenity
Standard Definition Office/ R&D Structures Building Notes/Additional Requirements
Minimum side Minimum setback from 20 feet (30 feet 20 feet (30 20 feet (30 feet | Utility/trash enclosure/pad and one-
and rear parcels adjacent to the for structures feet for for structures story structures may extend ten (10)
setbacks from Parkline project site that exceed 40 structures that | that exceed 40 | feetinto a side or rear setback
adjacent feet in height) exceed 40 feet | feet in height) adjacent to other parcels.
parcels in height)
Other parcels refers to non-Parkline
project site parcels.
Minimum 20-foot setback depth for a
landscape planting zone for all
screening landscape along Parkline
masterplan project edge where
nearest primary building facade
exceeds 40 feet in height.
Minimum Minimum linear feet building 0 feet 0 feet 0 feet Standard is for setbacks from
interior can be sited from interior parcels within the Parkline project
setbacks property lines. site.
Exclude Utility/ trash enclosure/ pad
Minimum Minimum linear feet building 50 feet 50 feet (Does | 50 feet (Does Exclude utility/ trash enclosure/ pads
setbacks can be sited from adjacent not apply to not apply to
between buildings within the Parkline amenity parking
buildings project site. building structure
adjacent to adjacent to
parking amenity
structure.) building.)

27




M28

Height

Height is defined in MPMC
Section 16.04.330.

Height is regulated by the C-
1-S zoning district, unless
otherwise regulated by these
standards, and does not
include roof-mounted
equipment and utilities.

Maximum
Height: 95 feet

Maximum
Height: 70 feet

Maximum
Height: 55 feet

A parapet used to screen
mechanical equipment may exceed
the maximum height but not beyond
the maximum height permitted for
mechanical equipment as described
below.

Rooftop structures at office/R&D
buildings may exceed the designed
roof height of the building by the
amounts specified below:

1) rooftop stair and elevator
towers/overruns 14 feet if
within 30 feet of facade,
otherwise 20 feet (may
exceed the maximum height
limit); and

2) mechanical equipment,
penthouse equipment
rooms, and mechanical
screening 20 feet but must
be set back at least 20 feet
from facade if taller than
building parapet. May
extend to 25 feet if 40 feet
back from fagade (may
exceed the maximum height
limit).

Rooftop structures at parking
garages may exceed the designed
roof level of the structure by the
amounts specified below:

1) stair and elevator towers 14
feet (may exceed the
maximum height); and

28




M29

Regulation/

Design Parking Amenity
Standard Definition Office/ R&D Structures Building Notes/Additional Requirements
2) rooftop sunshades/canopies
or solar panels with support
roofing 14 feet but must be
setback at least 15 feet from
the facade (may not exceed
the maximum height).
Frontage The percentage of the Minimum of 30% | Minimum of Minimum of Sethack areas adjacent to active
Landscaping setback area devoted to for a Public 30% for a 30% for a ground floor uses, including lobbies,
landscaping, ground cover street frontage; Public street Public street retail, and eating and drinking
and vegetation. Trees may or | minimum of 25% | frontage; frontage; establishments with decorative
may not be within the for a Private minimum of minimum of hardscape paving for plazas, entry
landscaped area. For this street frontage. 25% for a 25% for a walkways, are considered frontage
requirement, the setback area Private street Private street landscaping for purposes of this
is the area between the frontage. frontage. standard.
property line at the Public
street or edge of public Where enhanced bicycle and
access easement for a pedestrian facilities beyond standard
Private street and the face of frontage improvements occur (e.g.,
the building. multiuse pathways), the facility is
considered frontage landscaping for
purposes of this standard.
(Note: For Parkline, the Loop Road
would be considered a Private street
for this regulation)
Surface Parking | Surface parking may be 20 feet for Public | 20 feet for 20 feet for A maximum of 35% of the linear
Along Street located along a Public or streets; 5 feet for | Public streets; | Public streets; | frontage of building adjacent to the
Frontage Private street if setback Private streets 5 feet for 5 feet for street is allowed to be used for off-

appropriately.

Private streets

Private streets

street surface parking. Surface
parking must meet the minimum
required setbacks.

29




M30

Regulation/

Design Parking Amenity
Standard Definition Office/ R&D Structures Building Notes/Additional Requirements

Building The maximum depth and 5 feetinto a 5 feetinto a 5 feet into a Building projections shall not be

Projections percentage of allowable setback but no setback but no | setback but no | required.
building projections, such as maximum maximum maximum
balconies or bay windows, projection depth | depth if not depth if not into | The surface area of allowed building
from the required setback if not into a into a setback. | a setback. projections shall not exceed 35% of
(e.g., setback between setback. each primary facade upon which the

nonresidential buildings,
setback from Public and
Private street) for portions of
the building above the ground
floor.

projections extend from. Surface
area of unenclosed projections is
measured by amount of opaque
materials that make up the elevation
of the projection. The wall area of
projections enclosing interior space
must be at least 75% glazed.

30




M31

Regulation/

Design Parking Amenity
Standard Definition Office/ R&D Structures Building Notes/Additional Requirements
Building A building modulation is a One recess or See One recess of Modulation is required on the
Modulations break in the building plane extension of 15 Articulation 15 feet wide by | building facade(s) facing publicly

from the ground level to the
top of the building that
provides visual variety,
reduces large building
volumes and provides spaces
for entryways and publicly
accessible spaces.

feet wide by 10
feet deep for
every 200 feet
with a minimum
of one per
facade.

Requirement

10 feet deep
for every 200
feet with a
minimum of
one per fagade.

accessible spaces (streets, open
space, and Paseos). Parking is not
allowed in the modulation recess.
When more than 50% of an existing
building facade that faces a publicly
accessible space is altered, it must
comply with these modulation
requirements.

Building modulations shall be
accompanied by a change in
building material, glazing patterns,
and color as well as a 4-foot
minimum height offset at the facade
edge from the adjacent portion of the
structure. Horizontal canopies or
sunshades may be placed within a
recessed modulation with entry
canopies extending up to 7 feet from
the face of the building adjacent the
modulation.

31




M32

Building
Form/Facade
Articulation

Articulation(s) to the building
form vary the treatment of the
facade by altering the plane
of the facade, its shape
material, color, or fenestration
to reduce monotony and add
visual interest, scale, or
character.

Each building
facade
exceeding 100
feet or greater in
width shall have
one or more
form articulations
at least 5 feet in
depth (projected
or recessed from
the primary
facade) and
covering in total
at least 10% of
the facade area
with distinctive
variation in wall
shape, material,
color, or
fenestration
pattern from the
primary facade.

One recess or
projection of
15 feet wide
by 2 feet deep
(minimum) per
facade
exceeding 200
feet (2 if
facade
exceeds 400
feet); applies
only to
facades facing
publicly
accessible
open spaces,
and Public or
Private streets
or, as an
alternative to
providing such
arecess, the
design may
use different
materials and
screening
elements to
provide facade
articulation
comparable to
a 2 foot
recess,
subject to
Architectural
Control
approval.

Each building
facade
exceeding 100
feet or greater
in width shall
have one or
more form
articulations at
least 5 feet in
depth
(projected or
recessed from
the primary
facade) and
covering in
total at least
10% of the
facade area
with distinctive
variation in wall
shape,
material, color,
or fenestration
pattern from
the primary
facade.

Building Form/Fagade Articulation
shall be a separate requirement from
the building modulation requirement.

32




Regulation/

Design Parking Amenity
Standard Definition Office/ R&D Structures Building Notes/Additional Requirements
Building The minimum number of One entrance One entrance | One entrance Entrances at a building corner may
Entrances entrances along a Public per Public or per applicable | per publicly be used to satisfy this requirement
street, Private street, or Private street frontage. accessible for both frontages.
publicly accessible open frontage; one open space
space. entrance facing frontage. Entrances to ground level amenities
publicly within the footprint of the building
accessible open may be counted as an entry to one
space along the side.
greatest building
length. Building entrances (except for
garages) shall be marked by
distinctive fenestration patterns and
a canopy or recess of at least 4 feet
deep at entry doors.
Ground Floor The minimum percentage of 30% Does not 30% Windows shall not be opaque or
Transparency the ground floor facade apply mirrored.
(finished floor to ceiling) that
must provide visual
transparency, such as clear-
glass windows, doors, etc.
Minimum The minimum height between | 15 feet 10 feet 15 feet

Ground Floor
Height

the ground-level finished floor
to the second-level finished
floor.

33




M34

Regulation/

Design Parking Amenity

Standard Definition Office/ R&D Structures Building Notes/Additional Requirements
Garage Width of garage entry/door Maximum 12- Maximum 12- | Does not apply | Garage entrances must be
Entrances along street frontage. foot opening for | foot opening separated by a minimum of 100 feet
(Vehicular Only; one-way for one-way to ensure all entrances/exits are not
Pedestrian entrance; entrance; grouped together or resulting in an
Entrances maximum 24- maximum 24- entire stretch of sidewalk unsafe and
addressed in foot opening for | foot opening undesirable for pedestrians.
Building two-way for two-way
Entrances) entrance. entrance; Internal Private streets (e.g. public

maximum 36-
foot opening
for three aisle

access easements) that provide sole
access to a building shall be
considered a street frontage for this

entrance. requirement.
Entries to garages shall be clearly
identified for all travel modes with
such wayfinding feature as clear
signage.

34




M35

Regulation/

Design Parking Amenity
Standard Definition Office/ R&D Structures Building Notes/Additional Requirements
Garage Facade | Design and material Does not apply Aboveground Does not apply | Concrete if expressed shall have
Treatment treatment of garage facades garage decorative relief patterns or similar

facades shall
be
embellished
with vertical
landscaping,
decorative
solid or
perforated
panels, and
varied
materials
and/or colors
that provide
visual interest
for the full
height of the
facade

treatments and color additives or
stains (non-grey concrete).

Solid guardrails or perforated panels
shall be used to block headlights at
parking spaces, where openings
occur.

Awnings, Signs,
and Canopies

The maximum depth of
awnings, signs, and canopies
that project horizontally from
the face of the building.

Does not apply

10 feet

Does not apply

Horizontal projections shall not
extend into Public and Private
streets, and publicly accessible open
space.

A minimum vertical clearance of 8
feet from finished grade to the
bottom of the projection is required.

Exterior Limitations on use and texture | 50% of facade 50% of facade | 50% of facade | All stucco shall be steel trowel
Materials — of exterior cement plaster maximum maximum maximum smooth texture.
Stucco (stucco)
Sand (rubber float applied) or similar
textures or rough textures not
permitted.
35




M36

Trash, Storage
and Ultility
Enclosures

Restrictions on location and
materials

A primary building entrance is
the main public entrance to
the building on any building
side where a building
entrance is required.

Trash
enclosures shall
be located at
least 60 feet
from a primary

building entrance

and shall be
screened from
public view with
materials
compatible with
the primary
building
materials and
landscape.

Utilities,

including meters,

backflow
prevention
devices, etc.,
shall be
concealed or
integrated into
the building
design to the
extent feasible,
as determined
by the public
works director.

Trash
enclosures
shall be
located at
least 60 feet
from a primary
building
entrance and
shall be
screened from
public view
with materials
compatible
with the
primary
building
materials and
landscape.

Utilities,
including
meters,
backflow
prevention
devices, etc.,
shall be
concealed or
integrated into
the building
design to the
extent
feasible, as
determined by
the public
works director.

Trash
enclosures
shall be located
at least 60 feet
from a primary
building
entrance and
shall be
screened from
public view with
materials
compatible with
the primary
building
materials and
landscape.

Utilities,
including
meters,
backflow
prevention
devices, etc.,
shall be
concealed or
integrated into
the building
design to the
extent feasible,
as determined
by the public
works director.

Exception to standard: Trash
enclosures may be located closer
than 60 feet of a primary building
entrance provided the enclosure is
integrated into the building design
with materials and finishes similar to
the primary building materials and
landscape (i.e., finishes that are
near or identical to the finishes of the
building such that the enclosures
appear as if they part of the
building); exposed CMU will not be
allowed for purposes of this
exception.

36




M37

37



ATTACHMENT N

POTENTIALCITY FENCED  POTENTIALCITY BIKE REPAIR SHOP PROVIDED

ABOVE-GRADE PUMP BELOW-GRADE IN RESIDENTIAL 3 BUILDING BUILDING HEIGHT

STATION & GENERATOR  WATER RESERVOIR

MARCUSSEN
DRIVE ===

APPROX. HEIGHT AT T.0. PARAPET
BUILDING (FT), AS SHOWN

RESIDENTIAL1

72'-0"
(4-6 STORIES)

T |

MENLO PARK

RESIDENTIAL 2
LIBRARY

620"
(3-5 STORIES)

| 6STORES I

RESIDENTIAL 1

MENLO
1 CHILDREN'S
CENTER

T, RESIDENTJAL 3 | l
1STORY |
PARKLINE y \

RECREATIONAL 6 STORIES
EA II

LOOP ROAD

RAVENSWOOD AVENUE PARKLET ‘ ‘
!1 RESIDENTIAL 3

750"
(6 STORIES)

RESIDENTIAL

\.AR

TOWN HOMES 1

350"
(2 STORIES)

TOWN HOMES 2

45'-0"
(3 STORIES)

E-
IE:

OFFICE1

750"
| (4 STORIES)

910"

OFficE2 (5 STORIES)

4 STORIES

910"

OFFICE3 (5 STORIES)

OFFICE/ R&D

RESIDENTIAL 2
910"

OFFICE4 (5 STORIES)

¥ P 'I MENLO PARK I
L police \
DEPARTMENT

750"
(4 STORIES)

CITY OF MENLO I
PARKBUILDING \
DIVISION

OFFICE 5

OFFICE AMENITY 410"
BUILDING (2 STORIES)

f MENLO
ARRILLAGA —
x EAMILY] PARK CITY

=]
GYMNASTICS o HALL
CENTER

PARKING 656"
GARAGE 1* (5 STORIES)

KLINE

PARI
‘COMMONS

PARKING 65'-6"
GARAGE 2* (5 STORIES)

PARKING 44'-6"
GARAGE 3* (3 STORIES)

LAUREL STREET.
e e —

OFFICE
AMENITY
BUILDING

[ ! | _2STORES TOWNHOMEST _2STORES |
| g | = b X
|

NOTES:

LU T Lo

1. PROPOSED BUILDING HEIGHTS AS SHOWN ARE
INTENDED TO PROVIDE AN ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLE.
ACTUAL BUILDING HEIGHTS WOULD BE SUBJECT TO
THE MAXIMUM HEIGHT LIMIT AND AVERAGE HEIGHT
STANDARDS SPECIFIED BY ZONING AND THE CDP..

I BURGESS PARK

HARED PEDESTRIAN & BICYCLE CONNECTION

S o S—- t— . m 5 STORIES
DEVELOPER TO EXTEND EXISTING

f | :
B s == IVY-COVERED LATTICE FENCE

| AAND SPORT

2. PARKING GARAGE HEIGHTS ARE MEASURED TO TOP
OF STAIR CORE.

LEGEND

RESIDENTIAL

UPPER TERRACES
OFFICE / R&D

UPPER TERRACES

PARKING GARAGE

|
“77'SEE SHEET C3.4 FOR PROPOSED PRELIMINARY SEMINARY
/L /DRIVEOI ERENCE. . UTILITY YARD

UTILITY & TRASH ENCLOSURE
UNITED STATES ST. RATRICK'S
[T GEOLOGICAL SENINARY & FOOTPRINT / ROOF
SURVEY INIVERSITY
E | PO EXISTING BUILDINGS
A

{1
 SURVEYLANE @AV
.

li Scale: 1" =100"-0"
|

BSRI STYEDIOS 0B @&-crwmct TR LUMA CONCEPTUAL BUILDING HEIGHT PLAN G3.03

'U‘:'-‘-w Y
e

PARKLINE

N1



ATTACHMENT O

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

Introduction

The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires the adoption of feasible mitigation
measures to reduce the severity and magnitude of significant environmental impacts associated with
project development. The Environmental Impact Report (EIR) prepared and certified for Parkline
includes all feasible mitigation measures to reduce the potential environmental. CEQA also requires
reporting on and monitoring of mitigation measures adopted as part of the environmental review
process (Public Resources Code Section 21081.6). This Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program
(MMRP) is designed to aid the City of Menlo Park in its implementation and monitoring of measures
adopted from the certified EIR.

The mitigation measures in this MMRP are assigned the same number they had in the EIR. The MMRP,
presented in table format, describes the actions that must take place to implement each mitigation
measure, the timing of those actions, the entities responsible for implementing and monitoring the
actions, and verification of compliance. Additional information is provided in the certified EIR.

The MMRP has been prepared to support the city staff’s recommendation to the Planning Commission
and City Council to adopt the Increased Development Variant (referred to herein as the Project
Variant). The Project Variant is included in the EIR because, during the time of EIR preparation, the
Project Sponsor was able to obtain control of the property at 201 Ravenswood Avenue and put forth
the Project Variant for selection by the decision-makers as part of an approval action. Therefore, the
MMRP sets forth mitigation measures for the Project Variant to avoid or substantially lessen
significant environmental effects identified in the EIR to the extent feasible. All references to the
“Proposed Project,” below, also apply to the Project Variant. In addition, the City of Menlo Park
Community Development Department (CDD) includes the Planning Division; therefore, wherever the
mitigation is required to include the Planning Division’s review or involvement, the CDD will be the
monitoring party. The mitigation measures in this MMRP shall apply to all phases of construction of
the entitled project.

Parkline July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

o1



02

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

| Timing

Implementing Party ‘ Monitoring Party

Air Quality

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan. The Project Variant could conflict with

or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan. (Impact AQ-1)

Mitigation Measure AQ-1.1: Landscaping Use all-electric Prior to the issuance | Project Sponsor/ City of Menlo Park
Equipment. Contractor(s) and sub-contractor(s) landscaping equipment | of construction construction Community
responsible for landscaping shall, as a condition of permits, throughout | contractor(s) and Development
contract, use all-electric landscaping equipment, the duration of sub-contractor(s) Department
which eliminates all criteria air pollutant emissions construction (CDD), Planning
associated with landscaping activities. activities, and after Division
project occupancy
Mitigation Measure AQ-1.2: Architectural Use super-compliant Prior to the issuance | Project Sponsor/ CDD
Coatings. The Project Sponsor shall use super- architectural coating of construction construction
compliant architectural coatings during construction permits and contractor(s) and
and operation of all buildings, which shall have a throughout the sub-contractor(s)
volatile-organic-compound (VOC) content that meets duration of
SCAQMD Rule 1113, Architectural Coatings, as construction
revised on February 5, 2016. activities
Mitigation Measure AQ-1.3: Construction Comply with BAAQMD | Prior to the issuance | Project Sponsor/ CDD
Fugitive Dust Emissions. The Project construction | BMPs for fugitive dust | of demolition, construction
contractor(s) and sub-contractor(s) shall control grading and/or contractor(s) and
implement the following BAAQMD BMPs for construction sub-contractor(s)
fugitive dust control, which are required for all permits and
construction activities within the San Francisco throughout the
Bay Area Air Basin. These measures would reduce duration of
fugitive dust emissions primarily during soil construction
movement and grading but also during vehicle and activities
equipment movement on unpaved project sites.
1. All exposed surfaces (e.g., parking areas,
staging areas, soil piles, graded areas, unpaved
access roads) shall be watered two times per
day.
2. All haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other
loose material offsite shall be covered.
Parkline 2 July 2025

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program



City of Menlo Park

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

PARKLINE

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

3.

All visible mud or dirt track-out onto adjacent
public roads shall be removed using wet power
vacuum street sweepers at least once per day.
The use of dry power sweeping is prohibited.
All vehicle speeds on unpaved roads shall be
limited to 15 miles per hour (mph).

All streets, driveways, and sidewalks to be paved
shall be completed as soon as possible. Building
pads shall be laid as soon as possible after
grading unless seeding or soil binders are used.
Idling times shall be minimized either by
shutting equipment off when not in use or
reducing the maximum idling time to 5 minutes
(as required by the California airborne toxics
control measure Title 13, Section 2485, of
California Code of Regulations [CCR]). Clear
signage shall be provided for construction
workers at all access points.

All construction equipment shall be maintained
and properly tuned in accordance with
manufacturer’s specifications. All equipment
shall be checked by a certified mechanic and
determined to be running in proper condition
prior to operation.

A publicly visible sign shall be posted with the
telephone number and name of the person to
contact regarding dust complaints. This person
shall respond and take corrective action, if
necessary, within 48 hours. BAAQMD’s phone
number shall also be visible to ensure
compliance with applicable regulations.

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

O3

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures ‘ Action | Timing Implementing Party ‘ Monitoring Party

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Cumulatively Considerable Net Increase in Criteria Pollutants. The Project Variant could result in a cumulative
net increase in a criteria pollutant for which the Project region is classified as a nonattainment area under an applicable federal or State
ambient air quality standard. (Impact AQ-2)
Implement Mitigation Measure AQ-1.1, Mitigation
Measure AQ-1.2, and Mitigation Measure AQ-1.3,
above.

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Cumulative Air Quality Impacts. Cumulative development could result in a significant environmental impact on
air quality; the Project Variant would not be a cumulatively considerable contributor to a significant environmental impact. (Impact C-AQ-1)

See above See above See above See above

Implement Mitigation Measure AQ-1.1, Mitigation See above See above See above See above

Measure AQ-1.2, and Mitigation Measure AQ-1.3,
above.

Noise

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Construction Noise. Construction of the Project Variant would generate a substantial temporary or permanent
increase in ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the Project in excess of standards established in a local general plan or noise ordinance or
applicable standards of other agencies. (Impact NOI-1)

Mitigation Measure NOI-1.3: Implement Noise
Reduction Plan to Reduce Construction Noise
Prior to issuance of any demolition, grading, and/or

nighttime noise standards to the extent feasible and
practical, subject to review and determination by the
Community Development Department, and (ii)
provide a note on all development plans, stating that,
during ongoing grading, demolition, and
construction, the Project Sponsor shall be
responsible for requiring contractors to implement
measures to limit construction-related noise, as set
forth in the plan and in this mitigation measure
(NOI-1.3). The plan shall also include measures to

Develop and
implement noise
reduction plan to

Prior to issuance of
any demolition,
grading, and/or

building permits for construction of the Project reduce noise during construction
Variant, the Project Sponsor and/or contractor(s) construction permits and
shall (i) develop a construction noise control plan to throughout the
reduce noise levels and demonstrate how the Project duration of
Variant will comply with Menlo Park Municipal Code construction
daytime (i.e., during non-exempt hours) and activities

Project Sponsor/
construction
contractor(s)

CDD

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM
Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party
reduce noise levels such that a 10-decibel (dB)
increase over the ambient noise level does not occur
at nearby noise-sensitive land uses to the extent
feasible and practical, as determined by the city of
Menlo Park. For concrete pouring occurring during
early-morning hours, the closest distance that
equipment for concrete pouring shall operate to
noise-sensitive land uses is 100 feet, which applies to
residential properties and the church property on
the north side of Ravenswood Avenue. Equipment
for concrete pouring shall operate no closer than 200
feet from the property line of residential properties
in the Classics of Burgess Park or Linfield Oaks
neighborhoods. These distances are based on the
anticipated locations for the concrete pouring
activities.

The plan shall demonstrate that, to the extent
feasible and practical, noise from concrete pouring
activities and emergency well construction that
occur overnight and between 6:00 a.m. and 8:00 a.m.
will comply with the applicable city of Menlo Park
noise limit of 50 A-weighted decibels (dBA) from
10:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. or 60 dBA from 7:00 a.m. to
10:00 p.m. at the nearest existing residential or
noise-sensitive land use. The plan shall also
demonstrate that, to the extent feasible and practical,
as determined by the city, noise from individual
pieces of equipment proposed for use will not exceed
the limit for powered equipment (i.e., 85 dBA Leq at
50 feet) and combined noise from construction
activities during all hours will not resultina 10 dB or
greater increase beyond the ambient noise level at
the nearest noise-sensitive land uses. Activities that
would produce noise above applicable daytime or
nighttime limits shall be scheduled only during

Parkline July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

05



06

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

normal daytime construction hours (i.e., 8:00 a.m. to
6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday). If it is determined
that a particular piece of equipment will not meet the
requirements of this mitigation measure, that
equipment shall not be used outside normal daytime
construction hours (i.e., 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m.
Monday through Friday). The plan shall be approved
by the city prior to the issuance of building permits
to confirm the precise noise minimization strategies
that will be implemented and document the
strategies that will be employed to the extent
feasible and practical.
The measures to reduce noise from construction
activity may include, but are not limited to, the
following:
e Require all construction equipment to be
equipped with mufflers and sound control devices
(e.g. intake silencers, ducts, engine enclosures,
acoustically attenuating shields, noise shrouds)
that are in good condition (i.e., at least as effective
as those originally provided by the manufacturer)
and appropriate for the equipment.

e Maintain all construction equipment to minimize
noise emissions.

e Locate construction equipment as far as feasible
from adjacent or nearby noise-sensitive
receptors.

e Stockpiling locations shall be as far as feasible
from adjacent or nearby noise-sensitive
receptors.

e Require all stationary equipment to be located
so as to maintain the greatest possible distance
from nearby existing buildings, where feasible
and practical.

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party

e Require stationary noise sources associated
with construction (e.g., generators and
compressors) in proximity to noise-sensitive
land uses to be muffled and/or enclosed within
temporary enclosures and shielded by barriers,
to the extent feasible and practical.

e Install noise-reducing sound walls or fencing
(e.g., temporary fencing with sound blankets)
around noise-generating equipment, to the
extent feasible and practical, where no
perimeter wall is provided. See also Mitigation
Measure NOI-1.2.

e Prohibit the idling of inactive construction
equipment for prolonged periods (i.e., more
than 2 minutes) during early-morning hours.

e Provide advance notification by
mailing/delivering notices to surrounding land
uses regarding the construction schedule,
including the various types of activities that
would be occurring throughout the duration of
the construction period.

e Provide the name and telephone number of an
onsite construction liaison through onsite
signage and the notices mailed/delivered to
surrounding land uses. If construction noise is
found to be intrusive to the community (i.e., if
complaints are received), the construction
liaison shall take reasonable efforts to
investigate the source of the noise and require
that reasonable measures be implemented to
correct the problem.

e Use electric motors rather than gasoline- or
diesel-powered engines to avoid noise
associated with compressed air exhaust from
pneumatically powered tools, to the extent

Parkline July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

o7



08

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

feasible and practical (as determined by the
city). Where the use of pneumatic tools is
unavoidable, an exhaust muffler on the
compressed air exhaust could be used; this
muffler can lower noise levels from the exhaust
by about 10 dB. External jackets on the tools
themselves could be used, which could achieve a
reduction of 5 dB.

e Limit the use of public address systems.

e Limit construction traffic to the haul routes
established by the city.

The Project Sponsor and/or the contractor(s) shall
obtain a permit to complete work outside the normal
daytime construction hours outlined in the Menlo
Park Municipal Code (i.e., 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m.
Monday through Friday); this may be incorporated
into the conditional development permit for the
Project Variant. Furthermore, the plan shall require
verification that construction activities will be
conducted at adequate distances or otherwise
shielded with sound barriers, as determined through
analysis, from noise-sensitive receptors when
occurring outside normal daytime construction
hours; compliance with the Menlo Park Municipal
Code will be verified through measurement.

Mitigation Measure NOI-1.2 Install Sound Barrier.
Prior to issuance of the first construction permit, a
permanent or temporary noise barrier shall be
erected along the property line immediately south of
the townhomes. The temporary barrier shall not be
removed until the barrier is no longer needed to
reduce noise from construction activities and comply
with the thresholds identified in this EIR. The barrier
shall start at Laurel Street, then continue

perpendicularly to Laurel Street along the property

Install noise barriers
along the property line
immediately south of
the townhomes

Prior to issuance of
construction permit
and ongoing during
construction

Project Sponsor/
construction

contractor(s) and
sub-contractor(s)

CDD

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

July 2025



09

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

line for a distance of approximately 330 feet. The
barrier shall continue parallel to Barron Street along
the property line for a distance of approximately 400
feet and end at Burgess Drive. The distances cited
here are preliminary and based on the preliminary
Project design. The actual distances shall be
determined in a more precise manner during the
design phase for the noise barrier. The temporary
noise barriers shall be at least 12 feet high and
constructed from a material with a minimum weight
of 2 pounds per square foot, with no gaps of
perforations. All noise control barrier walls shall be
designed to preclude structural failure due to such
factors as wind, shear, shallow soil failure,
earthquake, or erosion. The design and location of
the sound barrier shall be supported by a technical
analysis of the proposed design and installed prior to
demolition/construction. The design of the sound
barrier may be incorporated into the noise control
plan in Mitigation Measure NOI-1.3.

noise levels. (Impact NOI-3)

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Ground-borne Vibration. The Project Variant would generate excessive

ground-borne vibration or ground-borne

Mitigation Measure NOI-3.1: Vibration Control
Measures for Annoyance from Construction
Activities. Daytime construction activity involving an
excavator, or other equipment capable of generating
similar vibration levels, shall take place no closer
than 50 feet from residential or other sensitive land
uses, to the extent feasible and practical, subject to
review and approval by the Community
Development Department; equipment smaller than
an excavator may operate less than 50 feet from
residential land uses. Jackhammers shall be further
restricted, operating no closer than 30 feet from

residential land uses. The 50-foot restriction may be

Implement vibration
control measures for
daytime construction
activities involving an
excavator or other
equipment capable of
generating similar
vibration levels.

Ongoing during
daytime
construction ours

Project Sponsor/
construction
contractor(s) and
sub-contractor(s)/
project vibration
coordinator

CDD

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party

greater for equipment that results in greater
vibration levels than an excavator. Maintaining these
distances between equipment and the nearest
sensitive land uses would ensure that vibration
levels would be below a peak particle velocity (PPV)
of 0.032 inch per second (in/sec). Early-morning
construction activity involving concrete trucks shall
occur after 7:00 a.m. when the daytime threshold
from ConnectMenlo is applicable (0.032 in/sec)
rather than the nighttime threshold (0.016 in/sec).
When construction requires the use of the
aforementioned types of equipment closer to nearby
sensitive uses or before the allowable hours,
reduction measures shall be incorporated, to the
extent feasible and practical, such as the use of
smaller or less vibration-intensive equipment. The
feasibility of reduction measures shall be subject to
review and determination by the Community
Development Department. In addition, the
construction contractor shall appoint a vibration
coordinator for the Proposed Project who will serve
as the point of contact for vibration-related
complaints during construction. Contact information
for the vibration coordinator will be posted at the
Project Site and on a publicly available website for
the Proposed Project. Should complaints be received,
the vibration coordinator shall work with the
construction team to adjust activities, to the extent
feasible and practical, and reduce vibration or
reschedule activities for a less sensitive time. The
vibration coordinator shall notify the Community
Development Department of all vibration-related
complaints and actions taken to address the
complaints.

Parkline 10 July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

010



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures Action Timing ‘ Implementing Party | Monitoring Party

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Cumulative Construction Noise. Cumulative development would result in a significant environmental impact
related to construction noise; the Project Variant would be a cumulatively considerable contributor to a significant environmental impact.

(Impact C-NOI-1)

Implement Mitigation Measure NOI-1.1 and Mitigation
Measure NOI-1.2, above.

See above

See above

See above

See above

Cultural and Tribal Resources

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Historical Resources. The Project Variant would cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of
historical resources, pursuant to Section 15064.5. (Impact CR-1)

Mitigation Measure CR-1.1: Documentation. Prior
to issuance of any demolition, grading, or
construction permits for the site, the Project Sponsor
shall undertake documentation of all contributing
buildings and landscape elements of the SRI
International Campus Historic District and the three
individually eligible historic resources (Buildings
100, A, and E). The documentation shall be funded by
the Project Sponsor and undertaken by a qualified
professional who meets the Secretary of the
Interior’s professional qualification standards for
history, architectural history, or architecture (Code
of Federal Regulations, Title 36, Part 61, Appendix
A). Documentation shall be submitted to the Menlo
Park Planning Division, or a qualified historic
consultant, for review prior to issuance of demolition
permits. The documentation package created shall
consist of the items listed below:

e CR-1.1.a: Digital Photography
e (CR-1.1.b: Historical Report
e (CR-1.1.c: Site Plan and Drawings

The documentation materials shall be submitted to
the Northwest Information Center at Sonoma State
University, the repository for the California
Historical Resources Information System. The
documentation shall also be offered to state,

Prepare and provide
documentation of all
contributing buildings
and landscape
elements of the SRI
International Campus
Historic District and
the three individually
eligible historic
resources (Buildings
100, A, and E)

Prior to issuance of
any demolition,
grading, or
construction
permits for the site

Project Sponsor/
project’s qualified
professional who
meets the Secretary of
the Interior’s
professional
qualification
standards for history,
architectural history,
or architecture

CDD

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

11

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

regional, and local repositories, including the Menlo
Park Public Library, Menlo Park Historical
Association, San Mateo County History Museum,
Computer History Museum, and SRI International.
Materials will be provided in archival digital and/or
hard-copy formats, depending on the capacity and
preference of the repository. This measure would
create a collection of reference materials that would
be available to the public and inform future
research.

CR-1.1.a: Digital Photography. Digital photographs
shall be taken of all contributing buildings and
landscape elements. Photographs will capture the
overall character and setting of the eligible SRI
International Campus Historic District and the three
individually eligible historic resources (Buildings
100, A, and E). All digital photography shall be
conducted according to current National Park
Service standards, as specified in the National
Register Photo Policy Factsheet.”> The photography
shall be undertaken by a qualified professional with
demonstrated experience in documentation
photography. Large-format negatives are not
required.

Photograph views for the data set shall include:

e Atleast one photograph of each contributing
building, which may be the primary fagade or an
oblique view showing the primary facade and a
secondary facade;

e Photographs of all facades of the three
individually eligible buildings (Buildings 100, A,
and E);

e  Detail views of character-defining features of the
three individually eligible buildings (Buildings
100, A,and E);

Take digital
photographs of all
contributing buildings
and landscape
elements.

Prior to issuance of
any demolition,
grading, or
construction
permits for the site

Project Sponsor/
qualified professional
with demonstrated
experience in
documentation
photography

CDD/qualified
historic consultant

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

July 2025
12 u

012



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

e Representative interior views of the three
individually eligible buildings (Buildings 100, A,
and E); and

e Contextual views of the site and each
contributing landscape element.

All photographs shall be referenced on a
photographic key map or site plan. The
photographic key shall show the photograph
number, with an arrow to indicate the direction of
the view. Digital photographs shall be in an
uncompressed RAW file format and saved as TIFF
files. Each image shall be a minimum of 1,600 by
1,200 pixels, at 300 pixels per inch or larger, and in
color. The file name for each electronic image shall
correspond with the name in the index of
photographs and on the photograph label. If
repositories request hard copies, the photographs
shall be printed on archival paper.

Drone photographs of the site shall be taken and
saved in a digital file format on an archival DVD,
then submitted to the repositories with the
photographic documentation. The use of digital
photography and drone photography is encouraged
in CR-1.2: Interpretive Program.

CR-1.1.b: Historical Report. A written historical
narrative and report that meets Historic American

Prepare a written
historical narrative and

Prior to issuance of
any demolition,

Project Sponsor/
professional who

CDD/qualified
historic consultant

Buildings Survey (HABS) historical report guidelines | report for the three grading, or meets the Secretary of
shall be produced for the three individually eligible individually eligible construction the Interior’s
buildings. This HABS-style historical report may be buildings. permits for the site | professional
based on documentation provided in the 2022 qualification
historic resource evaluation for the site and include standards for history,
historic photographs and drawings, if available. The architectural history,
HABS-style historical report shall follow an outline or architecture
format, with a statement of significance and a
Parkline 13 July 2025

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program



014

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

description of the buildings. The HABS-style
historical report shall be submitted to the
repositories along with the historic resource
evaluation (2022), which documents the history of
the site and the historic district.

CR-1.1.c: Site Plan and Drawings. An existing-
conditions site plan shall be produced, depicting the
current configuration and spatial relationships of the
contributing buildings and landscape features. The
existing-conditions site plan shall be prepared by a
professional who meets the Secretary of the
Interior’s professional qualification standards for
architecture or historic architecture and reviewed by
the professional retained to prepare the written
history. Documentation of plantings is not required,
but a depiction of the locations and types of mature
trees, as well as designed hardscape and landscape
features, shall be included.

Reasonable efforts shall be made to locate original
drawings and/or site plans of the district and
contributing buildings from its period of significance.
If located, selected representative drawings (e.g., site
plans, elevations, sections, relevant key details) shall
be photographed or scanned at high resolution,
reproduced, and included in the dataset.

Original architectural drawings or as-built drawings
of the three individually eligible buildings proposed
for demolition shall be submitted as part of the
documentation package. Original drawings for
Buildings A and E are known to be available in the
SRI International records and therefore should be
reproduced. Reasonable efforts should be made to
locate original drawings for Building 100. If original
architectural or construction drawings of Building

100, including floor plans and elevations, cannot be

Prepare an existing-
conditions site plan

Prior to issuance of
any demolition,
grading, or
construction
permits for the site

Project Sponsor/
professional who
meets the Secretary of
the Interior’s
professional
qualification
standards for
architecture or
historic architecture

CDD/the qualified
historic consultant

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

14

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM
Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party
located, measured drawings shall be prepared,
according to HABS guidelines, by a professional who
meets the Secretary of the Interior’s professional
qualification standards for architecture or historic
architecture and reviewed by the professional
retained to prepare the written history.
Mitigation Measure CR-1.2: Interpretive Program. Develop and The interpretive Project Sponsor/ CDD (Menlo Park
The Project Sponsor, in consultation with a qualified implement an program shall be qualified historian or Planning Division)/
historian or architectural historian who meets the interpretive program developed prior to architectural historian qualified historic
Secretary of the Interior’s professional qualification for the site issuance of any who meets the consultant
standards and an experienced exhibit design permits for Secretary of the
professional, shall develop an interpretive program for demolition, grading, | Interior’s professional
the site. The interpretive program plan shall be or construction on qualification standards/
reviewed by the Menlo Park Planning Division and/or a the site. The experienced exhibit
qualified historic consultant prior to the issuance of any interpretive design professional
permits for demolition, grading, or construction on the program shall be
site. The plan shall include information regarding the fully implemented
proposed format and location of the content, along with and/or installed
information regarding the high-quality graphics and concurrent to the
written narratives that will be incorporated. The completion of
interpretive display/feature shall be fully implemented common public
and/or installed concurrent with the completion of open spaces and/or
common public open spaces and/or pathways along pathways along
Ravenswood Avenue but not later than prior to Ravenswood
issuance of the final certificate of occupancy for Avenue but not later
Parkline (Proposed Project) and inspected by Menlo than issuance of the
Park Planning Division staff members and/or a final certificate of
qualified historic consultant to confirm its adherence to occupancy
requirements of the approved interpretive program.
The Project Sponsor shall provide a robust interpretive
program with multiple permanent outdoor displays
concerning the history of SRI International. The high-
quality interpretive displays shall be installed within
the Project Site boundaries; made of durable, all-
weather materials; and positioned to allow high public
Parkline July 2025

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

15



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party

visibility and interactivity. In addition to narrative text,
the interpretative displays may include photographs,
news articles, memorabilia, and drawings. The
interpretive program may use source materials from
the historic resource evaluation or materials prepared
as part of Mitigation Measure CR-1.1 but should also
incorporate other primary and secondary sources, such
as existing oral histories, historic photographs, and
video footage where available and practicable. In
addition to interpreting the overall significance of the
SRI International campus as a historic district, the
interpretive displays shall feature information on the
individual significance of Buildings 100, A, and E,
including the specific innovations, significant persons,
and architecture associated with those buildings, as
applicable.

In addition to interpretive displays in public areas of
the site, the Project Sponsor may consider additional
means of onsite interpretation, including digital
interpretation methods (e.g., websites, mobile
applications, interpretive videos, drone footage, virtual-
or augmented-reality experiences, artwork inspired by
or related to the history of the site). Creative means of
interpretation, such as landscape and play features,
along with other means of presenting information
regarding the history and development of the site, are
encouraged.

Although the interpretive program shall include
information on the history and development of SRI
International, as well as the important persons and
innovations associated with the institution,
interpretation may also include information on
previous eras of site history, such as the residential
estate era and Dibble General Hospital era.

Parkline 16 July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

016



o17

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

Mitigation Measure CR-1.3: Relocation of SRI
Monument

The Project Sponsor, in consultation with a qualified
historian or architectural historian who meets or
exceeds the Secretary of the Interior’s qualifications
standards, and a professional conservator shall
develop and implement a relocation plan for the SRI
International Monument. The receiver site shall
retain the relationship between the SRI Monument
and the campus setting, the landscape materials, and
the immediate setting to the extent feasible. Altering
the setting and placing the SRI International
Monument along a prominent walkway axis is not
recommended as it may negatively impact the
historic character of the setting.

The SRI International Monument relocation plan
shall include:

1) Identification of a receiver site on the Project Site.

i. Description of how the receiver site reflects
the historic setting of the SRI International
Monument south of Building I, on the brick
median in the visitor parking lot west of
Building A.

ii. Specifications for the removal of the SRI
International Monument from its current
location, transport to the receiver site, and
identification of possible secure,
environmentally controlled storage location
during construction of the Project Variant.
The specifications shall include protective
measures to ensure the monument is not
damaged during removal, transport, storage,
and re-installation. The specifications shall
include a timeline for removal and storage

that will occur following the Historic

Develop and

implement a relocation

plan for the SRI
International
Monument

The SRI Monument
relocation plan shall
be prepared prior to
the issuance of any
permits for
demolition, grading,
or construction. The
relocation plan shall
be fully
implemented
and/or the SRI
Monument shall be
installed concurrent
to the completion of
common public
open spaces and/or
pathways along
Ravenswood
Avenue but not later
than issuance of the
final certificate of
occupancy

Project Sponsor/
qualified historian or
architectural historian
who meets or exceeds
the Secretary of the
Interior’s qualifications
standards/professional
conservator

CDD (Menlo Park
Planning Division)

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

17

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

American Buildings Survey (HABS)
photographic documentation and prior to the
beginning of ground-disturbing construction.
iii. Project plans or drawings that show the SRI
International Monument clearly identified on
demolition drawings as well as the receiver
site on construction plans.
The SRI International Monument relocation plan
shall be reviewed by the Menlo Park Planning
Division prior to the issuance of any permits for
demolition, grading, or construction on the Project
Site. The final SRI International Monument relocation
plan shall be submitted to the construction
superintendents and confirmation of receipt shall be
documented via email.

Mitigation Measure CR-1.4: Documentation of the
Chapel. Prior to issuance of a demolition permit for
the First Church of Christ, Scientist and Alpha Kids
Academy (Chapel buildings), the Project Sponsor
shall undertake documentation of the Chapel at 201
Ravenswood Avenue. The documentation shall be
funded by the Project Sponsor and undertaken by a
qualified professional(s) who meets the Secretary of
the Interior’s Professional Qualification Standards
for history, architectural history, or architecture
(Code of Federal Regulations, Title 36, Part 61,
Appendix A) and be submitted for review by the
Menlo Park Planning Division prior to issuance of a
demolition permit for the Chapel buildings. The
documentation package created shall consist of the
items listed below, consisting of (a) digital
photography and (b) a historical report. The
documentation materials shall be submitted to the
Northwest Information Center at Sonoma State
University, the repository for the California

Undertake
documentation of the
Chapel at 201
Ravenswood Avenue

Prior to issuance of
a demolition permit
for the First Church
of Christ, Scientist
and Alpha Kids
Academy (Chapel
buildings)

Project Sponsor/
qualified
professional(s) who
meets the Secretary of
the Interior’s
Professional
Qualification
Standards for history,
architectural history,
or architecture

CDD (Menlo Park
Planning Division)

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

18

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party
Historical Resources Information System. The
documentation shall also be offered to local
repositories, including the Menlo Park Public

Library, Menlo Park Historical Association, and San
Mateo County History Museum. Materials shall either
be provided in archival digital and/or hard copy
formats, depending on the capacity and preference of
the repository. This measure would create a
collection of reference materials that would be
available to the public and inform future research.
Although the documentation would use some of the
guidelines and specifications developed for the
Historic American Buildings Survey (HABS), the
documentation package would not need to be
delivered as HABS documentation to the Library of
Congress.

(a) Digital Photography. Digital photographs shall be
taken of the Chapel at 201 Ravenswood Avenue.
All digital photography shall be conducted
according to current National Park Service (NPS)
standards, as specified in the National Register
Photo Policy Factsheet (updated May 2013). The
photography shall be undertaken by a qualified
professional with demonstrated experience in
documentation photography. Large-format
negatives are not required. Photograph for the
data set shall include:

e Photographs of all facades
e Detailed views of character-defining features

e Representative interior views of the nave and
narthex

o Contextual views of the site, including the
courtyards at the corners of the cross plan for
the Chapel. Contextual views may include the

Parkline 19 July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

019



020

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

multi-use building, but full facade and
detailed views of the multi-use building are
not required.

(b) Historical Reports. A written historical narrative
and report that meets HABS Historical Report
Guidelines shall be produced for the Chapel at
201 Ravenswood Avenue. This HABS-style
historical report may be based on the
documentation provided in the 2024
Department of Parks and Recreation 523 form
evaluation for the property and include historic
photographs and drawings, if available. The
HABS-style historical report shall follow an
outline format, with a statement of significance
for the building and a description of the building.

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Archaeological Resources. The Project Variant could cause a substantial adverse change in the

archaeological resource, pursuant to Section 15064.

5. (Impact CR-2)

significance of an

Mitigation Measure CR-2.1: Train Workers to
Respond to the Discovery of Cultural Resources.
Prior to the start of ground-disturbing activities, the
archaeological consultant or project archaeologist
shall conduct archaeological resources sensitivity
training for workers and construction
superintendents. Training shall be required for all
construction personnel participating in ground-
disturbing construction to alert them to the
archaeological sensitivity of the area and provide
protocols to follow in the event of a discovery of
archaeological materials. The principal
archaeological consultant and project archaeologist
shall develop and distribute, for job-site posting, a
document (“ALERT SHEET”) that summarizes the
potential finds that could be exposed, the protocols
to be followed, and the points of contact to alert in

the event of a discovery. The ALERT SHEET and

Conduct archaeological
resources sensitivity
training for workers
and construction
superintendents and
develop and distribute
a document that
summarizes how to
respond to the
discovery of cultural
resources

Prior to the start of
all ground-
disturbing activities
onsite

Project Sponsor/
construction
contractor(s) and
sub-contractor(s)/
principal
archaeological
consultant/project
archaeologist

CDD

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

20

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

protocols shall be presented as part of the training.
The contractor shall be responsible for ensuring that
all workers requiring training are in attendance.
Training shall be scheduled at the discretion of the
Project Sponsor in consultation with the city. Worker
training shall be required for all contractors and sub-
contractors and documented for each permit and/or
phase of a permit that requires ground-disturbing
activities onsite.

Mitigation Measure CR-2.2: Stop Work if
Archaeological Material or Features Are
Encountered during Ground-Disturbing Activities.
If a potentially significant subsurface cultural
resource is encountered during ground-disturbing
activities, all construction activities within a 100-foot
radius of the find shall cease until a qualified
archaeologist (i.e., one who meets the Secretary of
the Interior’s professional qualifications for
archaeology or one under the supervision of such a
professional) determines whether the resource
requires further study. The archaeological consultant
shall review, identify, and evaluate cultural resources
that may be inadvertently exposed during
construction to determine if a discovery is a
historical resource and/or unique archaeological
resource under CEQA. Significant resources shall be
subject to treatment/mitigation that prevents an
adverse effect on the resource, in accordance with
PRC Section 15064.5. Mitigation could include
avoidance, preservation in place, or the scientific
removal, analysis, reporting, and curation of any
recovered cultural materials. If the discovery
constitutes a tribal cultural resource, consultation
shall be undertaken between the city and the tribe(s)
to determine appropriate treatment.

If significant
archaeological
materials and/or
cultural resources are
discovered, stop work
within a 100-foot
radius of the find and
determine whether
resource requires
further study

Initiated after the
discovery of
significant
archaeological
materials and/or
cultural resources
during construction,
with regularly
scheduled site
inspections
thereafter

Project Sponsor/
construction
contractor(s) and
sub-contractor(s)/
qualified
archaeologist

CDD

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

21

July 2025



022

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

All developers in the Project Site shall include a
standard inadvertent discovery clause in every
construction contract involving ground-disturbing
activities to inform contractors of this requirement.
Any previously undiscovered resources found during
construction activities shall be recorded on
appropriate Department of Parks and Recreation
forms and evaluated for significance in terms of
CEQA criteria by a qualified archaeologist in
accordance with Mitigation Measure CR-2.2.

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Inadvertent Disturbanc

e of Human Remains. The Project Variant could
disturbance of human remains, including those interred outside of dedicated

result in a significant impact due to the

cemeteries. (Impact CR-3)

Mitigation Measure CR-3.1: Comply with State
Regulations Regarding the Discovery of Human
Remains at the Project Site. Procedures of conduct
following the discovery of human remains citywide
have been mandated by Health and Safety Code
Section 7050.5, PRC Section 5097.98, and California
Code of Regulations Section 15064.5(e) (CEQA).
According to the provisions in CEQA4, if human
remains are encountered at a site, all work in the
immediate vicinity of the discovery shall cease and
necessary steps to ensure the integrity of the
immediate area shall be taken. The San Mateo
County Coroner shall be notified immediately. The
coroner shall then determine whether the remains
are Native American. If the coroner determines the
remains are Native American, the coroner shall
notify the NAHC within 24 hours, which will, in turn,
shall notify the person the NAHC identifies as the
MLD in connection with any human remains. Further
actions shall be determined, in part, by the desires of
the MLD. The Project Sponsor, the Project
archaeologist, and the MLD shall make all reasonable

efforts to develop an agreement for the treatment,

Comply with
procedures of conduct
following the discovery
of human remains

Initiated after the
discovery of human
remains during
construction, with
regularly scheduled
site inspections
thereafter

Project Sponsor/
construction

contractor(s) and
sub-contractor(s)

CDD/San Mateo
County Coroner/
consulting tribe(s)

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

22

July 2025



023

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

with appropriate dignity, of human remains and
associated or unassociated funerary objects,
including those associated with known and unknown
Native American burial locations (CEQA Guidelines
Section 15064.5[d]). The agreement should take into
consideration the appropriate excavation, removal,
recordation, analysis, custodianship, curation, and
final treatment and disposition of the human
remains and associated or unassociated funerary
objects. The MLD will have 48 hours to make
recommendations regarding the treatment and
disposition of the remains following notification
from the NAHC of the discovery. If the MLD does not
make recommendations within 48 hours, or the
owner does not accept the recommendation of the
MLD in accordance with Public Resources Code
5097.98(e), the owner shall, with appropriate
dignity, reinter the remains in an area of the
property secure from further disturbance.
Alternatively, if the owner does not accept the MLD'’s
recommendations, the owner or the descendent may
request mediation by the NAHC.

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Cumulative Archaeological Resources and Human Remains Impacts. Cumulative development could result in a
significant environmental impact on archeological resources and human remains; the Project Variant would not be a cumulatively
considerable contributor to any significant environmental impact. (Impact C-CR-2)

Implement Mitigation Measure CR-2.1, Mitigation
Measure CR-2.2, and Mitigation Measure CR-3.1,
above.

See above

See above

See above

See above

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

23

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures Action | Timing Implementing Party ‘ Monitoring Party

Tribal Cultural Resources

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Tribal Cultural Resources. The Project Variant could cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a
tribal cultural resource, defined in PRC Section 21074 as a site, feature, place, cultural landscape that is geographically defined in terms of the
size and scope of the landscape, sacred place, or object with cultural value to a California Native American tribe and:
a) Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources or a local register of historical resources, as defined in PRC
Section 5020.1(k), or
b) Aresource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria
set forth in subdivision (c) of PRC Section 5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of PRC Section 5024.1, the lead
agency shall consider the significance of the resource to a California Native American tribe. (Impact TCR-1)

Mitigation Measure TCR-1: Stop Work if Tribal Stop work if tribal Initiated after the Project Sponsor/ CDD/consulting
Cultural Resources Are Encountered during cultural resources are discovery of Native | contractor(s) and sub- | tribe(s)
Ground-Disturbing Activities. If Native American encountered during America cultural contractor(s)

cultural resources are encountered during ground- construction, stop work | resources during

disturbing activities, all construction activities within | within a 100-foot construction, with

a 100-foot radius of the find shall cease until an radius of the find and regularly scheduled

archaeological consultant can review, identify, and determine whether site inspections

evaluate the find to determine if the discovery could | resource requires thereafter

qualify as a tribal cultural resource, as defined in further study

Public Resources Code Section 21074. Tribal
representatives from the city’s Assembly Bill 52
notification lists shall be consulted regarding this
determination. If the discovery is determined to
qualify as a tribal cultural resource, it shall be subject
to treatment/mitigation that prevents an adverse
effect on the resource, in accordance with Public
Resources Code Section 15064.5. Mitigation shall be
determined through consultation between the city
and the tribe(s).

Implement Mitigation Measure CR-2.1, Mitigation See above See above See above See above
Measure CR-2, and Mitigation Measure CR-3.1, above.

Parkline 24 July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

024



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM
Mitigation Measures Action | Timing Implementing Party ‘ Monitoring Party

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Cumulative Tribal Cultural Resources Impacts. Cumulative development could result in a significant
environmental impact on tribal cultural resources; the Project Variant would not be a cumulatively considerable contributor to any
significant environmental impact on tribal cultural resources. (Impact C-TCR-1)

Implement Mitigation Measure TCR-1, Mitigation See above See above See above See above
Measure CR-2.1, Mitigation Measure CR-2, and
Mitigation Measure CR-3.1, above.

Biological Resources

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Special-Status Species. The Project Variant could result in a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through
habitat modifications, on any species identified as candidate, sensitive, or special-status in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations or
by the California Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. (Impact BIO-1)

Mitigation BIO-1.1: Initial Bat Habitat Survey. A Conduct an initial bat Prior to the issuance | Project Sponsor/ CDD
qualified bat biologist shall conduct an initial survey | habitat survey of all of any permits for qualified bat biologist

of all buildings and trees on the Project Site that are buildings and trees on | demolition, grading,

slated for removal to determine whether suitable the Project Site that are | or construction or

habitat for a moderate-size colony of common bat slated for removal removal of trees

species (i.e., at least 10 big brown bats or at least 20
individuals of other non-special-status species), or a
pallid bat or Townsend'’s big-eared bat colony of any
size, is present. The locations of trees with suitable
cavities and crevices, as well as any buildings with
accessible interiors or crevices (e.g., roof tiles or
other exterior features) that support suitable roost
locations, shall be identified, and potential entry and
exit locations shall be mapped. For trees and
buildings that are determined, in the qualified
biologist’s discretion, not to provide suitable habitat
for a moderate-size colony of common bat species, or
a pallid bat or Townsend'’s big-eared bat colony of
any size, no further surveys shall be required. If the
qualified biologist determines that buildings or trees
provide suitable habitat, then further surveys under
Mitigation Measures BIO-1.2 and BIO-1.3 shall be
required.

Parkline 25 July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM
Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party
Mitigation Measure BIO-1.2: Maternity Season Conduct a focused Initiated after initial | Project Sponsor/ CDD
Survey. A qualified bat biologist shall conduct a survey for roosting bat survey for qualified bat biologist
focused survey for roosting bats within all buildings | bats within all buildings or trees
and trees on the Project Site where suitable habitat buildings and trees that are identified as
was identified during the initial habitat survey, identified as suitable suitable habitat for
during the maternity season (generally March 15- habitat during the bats/prior to
August 31), and prior to the start of construction to initial habitat survey construction/during
determine the presence or absence of a maternity the maternity
colony, the species present, and an estimate of the season (generally
colony size, if present. If close inspection of potential March 15-August
roost features during the daytime is infeasible, the 31); should
focused survey shall consist of a dusk emergence construction be
survey when bats can be observed flying out of the initiated during the
roost. If work will be initiated during the maternity maternity season,
season, this survey shall be conducted 1 year prior to the survey shall
the year in which construction will occur. If a occur 1 year prior to
maternity colony is detected, the exclusion measures construction
described in Mitigation Measure BI0O-1.4, below, shall occurring
be implemented prior to March 15 of the year in
which construction occurs to ensure that bats are
excluded from the roost prior to the start of
construction.
Mitigation Measure BIO-1.3: Pre-Construction Conduct a pre- Initiated after initial | Project Sponsor/ CDD
Activity Bat Survey. A pre-construction activity survey | construction activity habitat survey and qualified bat biologist
shall be conducted for roosting bats within all buildings | survey for roosting the maternity
and trees on the Project Site that are slated for removal | bats roosting survey/7
and within which suitable habitat was identified during days prior to the
the initial habitat survey and the maternity roosting start of building
survey. The survey shall be conducted by a qualified bat demolition or tree
biologist within 7 days prior to the start of building removal for the
demolition or tree removal for the purpose of impact purpose of impact
avoidance. If building demolition and/or tree removal avoidance/if building
occurs in phases, a pre-activity survey shall be demolition and/or
conducted within 14 days prior to the demolition of tree removal occurs
each building and/or removal of each tree with suitable in phases, a pre-
Parkline July 2025

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

26



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM
Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party
roost habitat. If close inspection of potential roost activity survey shall
features during the daytime is infeasible, the focused be conducted within
survey shall include a dusk emergence survey when 14 days prior to the
bats can be observed flying out of the roost. If a demolition of each
moderate-size maternity colony of common bat species building and/or
(i.e, at least 10 big brown bats, 20 Yuma myotis, 100 removal of each tree
individuals of other non-special-status species), or a with suitable roost
pallid bat or Townsend’s big-eared bat colony of any habitat
size or any kind (i.e., a maternity or non-maternity
colony), is not detected during the survey, no additional
measures shall be required. If a moderate-size
maternity colony of common bat species (i.e., at least 10
big brown bats, 20 Yuma myotis, or 100 individuals of
other non-special-status species), or a pallid bat or
Townsend’s big-eared bat colony of any size or any
kind (i.e., a maternity or non-maternity colony), is
present, the qualified bat biologist shall identify an
appropriate disturbance-free buffer zone for the
species identified. The buffer will be maintained until
either the end of the maternity season or until a
qualified biologist determines that all young are volant
(i.e., capable of flight) to avoid the loss of dependent
young.
Mitigation Measure BIO-1.4: Bat Exclusion. If bats | Safely evict bats that Prior to removing or | Project Sponsor/ CDD
are present in a building or tree to be removed or are present in a disturbing buildings | qualified bat biologist,
disturbed, the individuals shall be safely evicted building or tree to be or trees with bat with notification to
outside the bat maternity season (approximately removed or disturbed habitats identified the California
March 15-August 31) and the winter torpor period during bat survey, Department of Fish
(approximately October 15-February 28, outside the bat and Wildlife, as
depending on weather). Bats may be evicted maternity season needed
through exclusion, as directed by a qualified (approximately
biologist, after notifying the California Department March 15-August
of Fish and Wildlife. The qualified biologist must be 31) and the winter
present for the removal of trees or structures torpor period
occupied by bats. (approximately
Parkline July 2025

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

27



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

For eviction from roost trees, trimming or removing
trees shall follow a two-step removal process
whereby limbs and branches not containing roost
habitat are removed on day 1, then the entire tree is
removed on day 2.

The disturbance or removal of structures containing,
or suspected of containing, active (non-maternity or
hibernation) or potentially active common bat roosts
shall be done in the evening and after bats have
emerged from the roost to forage. Structures shall be
partially dismantled to significantly change roost
conditions, causing bats to abandon and not return
to the roost. Removal shall be completed the
subsequent day. Alternatively, exclusion methods
may include the installation of one-way doors and/or
use of ultrasonic deterrence devices. One-way doors
and/or deterrence devices shall be left in place for a
minimum of 2 weeks, with a minimum of five fair-
weather nights with no rainfall and temperatures no
colder than 50°F.

October 15-
February 28,
depending on
weather)

Mitigation Measure BIO-1.5: Compensatory
Mitigation for Bat Habitat. If a maternity colony of
common bat species containing at least 10 big brown
bats, 20 Yuma myotis, or 100 individuals of other non-
special-status bat species, or a pallid bat or Townsend’s
big-eared bat day roost of any type (maternity or non-
maternity) or any size, is determined to be present on
the Project Site, replacement roost habitat that is
appropriate to the species shall be provided, as
determined by a qualified bat biologist. The nature of
the replacement roost habitat (e.g., the design of an
artificial roost structure) shall be determined by the
qualified bat biologist, based on the number and
species of bats detected. Ideally, the roost structure
shall be installed on the Project Site. If replacement

Provide replacement
roost habitat for bats

Prior to demolition,
as well as prior to
removing or
disturbing buildings
or trees with bat
habitats, in the
event that a
qualifying maternity
colony is present

Project
Sponsor/qualified bat
biologist

CDD

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

28

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party

habitat cannot be placed on the site, it shall be installed
no more than 100 feet from the site (or as close to the
site as feasible). The exact placement of replacement
habitat shall be determined in consultation with the
qualified bat biologist.

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Wildlife Movement and Native Wildlife Nursery Sites. The Project Variant could interfere substantially with the
movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species, or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or
impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites. (Impact BIO-2)

Mitigation Measure BIO-2.1: Avoidance and Pre- Implement avoidance Ongoing during Project Sponsor/ CDD
construction Surveys for Nesting Migratory Birds. | measures and conduct | construction.Ifitis | construction
The Project Sponsor shall implement the following pre-construction not possible to contractor(s) and
measures to avoid and minimize construction-period | surveys for nesting schedule demolition | sub-contractor(s)/
impacts on nesting birds: migratory birds and and construction qualified ornithologist
e Avoidance of the Nesting Season. To the extent activities between

feasible, the commencement of demolition and September 1 and

construction activities shall be scheduled to January 31, then

avoid the nesting season. If demolition and pre-activity surveys

construction activities are scheduled to take for nesting birds

place outside the nesting season, all potential shall be conducted;

demolition/construction impacts on nesting surveys shall be

birds protected under the Migratory Bird Treaty conducted no more

Act (MBTA) and California Fish and Game Code than 7 days prior to

will be avoided. The nesting season for most the initiation of

birds in San Mateo County extends from demolition or

February 1 through August 31. construction
e Pre-Activity/Pre-Disturbance Nesting Bird activities .for each

Surveys. If it is not possible to schedule construction phase

demolition and construction activities between

September 1 and January 31, then pre-activity

surveys for nesting birds shall be conducted by a

qualified ornithologist to ensure that no nests

will be disturbed during implementation of the

Proposed Project. Surveys shall be conducted no

more than 7 days prior to the initiation of

demolition or construction activities for each

Parkline 29 July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

029



030

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

construction phase. During the surveys, the
ornithologist shall inspect all trees and other
potential nesting habitats (e.g., trees, shrubs,
buildings) in and immediately adjacent to the
impact areas for migratory bird nests.

¢ Non-Disturbance Buffers Around Active
Nests. If an active nest is found close enough to
work areas to be disturbed by demolition or
construction activities, a construction-free buffer
zone (typically 300 feet for raptors and 100 feet
for other species) will be established around the
nest to ensure that no nests of species protected
by the MBTA and California Fish and Game Code
are disturbed during implementation of the
Proposed Project. The ornithologist shall
determine the extent of the buffer.

¢ Nesting Deterrence. If construction activities
will not be initiated until after the start of the
nesting season, all potential nesting substrates
(e.g., bushes, trees, grasses, other vegetation)
that are scheduled to be removed by the
Proposed Project may be removed prior to the
start of the nesting season (e.g., prior to February
1). This will preclude the initiation of nests in
this vegetation and prevent any potential delay
for the Proposed Project because of the presence
of active nests in these substrates.

impact. (Impact C-BIO-1)

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Cumulative Biological Resources Impacts. Cumulative development could result in a significant environmental
impact on biological resources; the Project Variant would not be a cumulatively considerable contributor to any significant environmental

Implement Mitigation Measure BIO-1.1 through
Mitigation Measure 1.5, and Mitigation Measure BIO-

2.1, above.

See above

See above

See above

See above

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

30

July 2025



031

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party ‘ Monitoring Party

Geology and Soils

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Paleontological Resources. The Project Variant could destroy a unique paleontological resource or site. (Impact

GS-5)

Mitigation Measure GS-5.1: Conduct Worker
Awareness Training. Before the start of excavation
or grading activities, the Project Sponsor shall retain
a Project Paleontologist, as defined by the Society of
Vertebrate Paleontology, who is experienced in
teaching non-specialists. The paleontologist shall
train all construction personnel who are involved
with earthmoving activities, including the site
superintendent, regarding the possibility of
encountering fossils, the appearance and types of
fossils that are likely to be seen during construction,
and proper notification procedures should fossils be
encountered. Procedures to be conveyed to workers
include halting construction within 50 feet of any
potential fossil find and notifying the Project
Paleontologist, who shall evaluate the significance of
the find.

Conduct worker
awareness training for
identification of
paleontological
resources

Prior to the start of
ground disturbing
activities

Project Sponsor/
project paleontologist

CDD

Mitigation Measure GS-5.2: Conduct Protocol and
Procedures for Encountering Paleontological
Resources. In the event that fossils or fossil bearing
deposits are discovered during ground disturbing
activities, excavations within a 50-foot radius of the
find shall be temporarily halted or diverted. Ground
disturbance work shall cease until a qualified
paleontologist determines whether the resource
requires further study. The paleontologist shall
document the discovery as needed (in accordance
with Society of Vertebrate Paleontology standards
[Society of Vertebrate Paleontology 2010]), evaluate
the potential resource, and assess the significance of
the find under the criteria set forth in CEQA

Guidelines Section 15064.5. The paleontologist shall

Conduct protocol and
procedures for
encountering
paleontological
resources

During construction
in the affected
area(s), in the event
that fossils or fossil-
bearing deposits are
discovered

Project Sponsor/
project’s qualified
paleontologist

CDD

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

31

July 2025



032

City of Menlo Park

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

PARKLINE

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

notify the appropriate agencies to determine
procedures that would be followed before
construction activities are allowed to resume at the
location of the find. If avoidance is not feasible, the
paleontologist shall prepare an excavation plan for
mitigating the effect of construction activities on the
discovery. The excavation plan shall be submitted to
the city of Menlo Park for review and approval prior
to implementation, and all construction activity shall
adhere to the recommendations in the excavation
plan.

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Cumulative Impacts Related to Paleontological Resources. Cumulative development would not result in a
significant environmental impact with mitigation on paleontological resources; the Project Variant would not be a cumulatively considerable
contributor to any significant environmental impact. (Impact C-GS-3)

Implement Mitigation Measure GS-5.1 and Mitigation
Measure GS-5.2, above.

See above

See above

See above

See above

Hydrology and Water Quality

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Water Quality. The Project Variant could violate water quality standards or waste discharge requirements or
otherwise substantially degrade surface water or groundwater quality. (Impact HY-1)

Implement Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.1 and Mitigation
Measure HAZ-2.2, below.

See below

See below

See below

See below

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Cumulative Hydrology and Water Quality Impacts. Cumulative development could result in a significant
environmental impact on hydrology and water quality; the Project Variant would not be a cumulatively considerable contributor to any

significant environmental impact. (Impact C-HY-1)

Implement Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.1 and
Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.2, below.

See below

See below

See below

See below

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

32

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures ‘ Action Timing Implementing Party ‘ Monitoring Party

Hazards and Hazardous Materials

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Upset and Accident Conditions Involving Hazardous Materials. The Project Variant could create a significant
hazard for the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous
materials into the environment. (Impact HAZ-2)

Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.1: Prepare and Prepare and implement | Prior to ground Project Sponsor/ CDD/appropriate
Implement an Environmental Site Management an ESMP for review disturbance personnel designated | regulatory agency
Plan. Prior to commencement of any ground and approval activities in the ESMP

disturbing activities, the Project Sponsor shall retain
the services of a qualified environmental engineering
firm to prepare and implement an Environmental
Site Management Plan (ESMP) for review and
approval by the appropriate regulatory agency. The
purpose of the ESMP is to protect construction
workers, the general public, the environment, and
future site occupants from subsurface hazardous
materials previously identified at the site and to
address the possibility of encountering unknown
contamination or hazards in the subsurface. The
ESMP shall summarize soil and groundwater
analytical data collected on the project site during
past investigations; identify management options for
excavated soil and groundwater, if contaminated
media are encountered during deep excavations; and
identify monitoring, irrigation, or other wells
requiring proper abandonment in compliance with
local, state, and federal laws, policies, and
regulations.

The ESMP shall include measures for identifying,
testing, and managing soil and groundwater
suspected of or known to contain hazardous
materials (including imported fill/soils, if imported
fill/soils are needed as part of project construction).
The ESMP shall: 1) provide procedures for
evaluating, handling, storing, testing, and disposing
of soil and groundwater during project excavation

Parkline 33 July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

033



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

and dewatering activities, respectively; 2) describe
required worker health and safety provisions for all
workers potentially exposed to hazardous materials
in accordance with State and federal worker safety
regulations; and 3) designate personnel responsible
for implementation of the ESMP. The ESMP shall be
prepared by a commercial environmental
engineering firm with expertise and experience in
the preparation of ESMPs and stamped by an
appropriately licensed professional. In addition, the
ESMP shall adhere to applicable oversight agency
guidance associated with the handling of the
aforementioned impacted media.

In addition, the ESMP shall establish protocols and
measures for addressing the discovery of presently
unknown environmental conditions or subsurface
structures such as underground storage tanks
(USTs), sumps, or wells, would include procedures
for evaluating, handling, storing, testing and
disposing of these unknown materials (as
applicable), and would also establish required health
and safety provisions for all workers who could be
exposed to said hazardous materials (in accordance
with state and federal worker safety regulations). If
the environmental engineering firm subsequently
identifies the need for further sampling, the Project
Sponsor shall implement this and any other
requirements identified in the ESMP.

Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.2: Require
Groundwater Monitoring and Sampling prior to
Dewatering Activity. Prior to any construction
activity with the potential to require dewatering any
ground disturbing activity, the Project Sponsor shall
measure both water levels and water quality prior to
and during dewatering, with a focus on potential

Measure and monitor
both water levels and
groundwater quality
during construction

Prior to and during
any construction
activity with the
potential to require
dewatering

Project Sponsor/
construction

contractor(s) and
sub-contractor(s)

CDD

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

34

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party

constituents of concern, based on known or
suspected water quality impacts within or near the
Project Site. The Project Sponsor shall ensure the
collection and testing of samples prior to initiating
construction activities with the potential to require
dewatering. The sampling locations shall be an
appropriate distance from the proposed dewatering
site, as determined by a geotechnical evaluation of
local groundwater and soil conditions. If
contaminated water is detected, remedial measures
to limit potential exposure to affected media and/or
contain the spread shall be implemented. Several
options can be employed (e.g., implementing onsite
treatment/remediation; disposing in the sewer
system (with any appropriate pre-treatment) or at a
hazardous materials disposal facility, depending on
type and level of contamination; tanking; or stopping
or phasing underground construction. Affected water
shall be handled with the appropriate use of personal
protective equipment (PPE) and treated so that it
complies with discharge and reporting requirements
and applicable water quality objectives or hauled
offsite for treatment and disposal at a permitted
waste treatment facility. Upon disposal of the
affected water, the Project Sponsor shall be
responsible for demonstrating to the city of Menlo
Park that the treatment and disposal requirements
set forth in this mitigation measure have been met by
providing a waste manifest or proof of a valid waste
discharge requirement (WDR) permit.

Parkline 35 July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

035



036

City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures

Action

Timing

Implementing Party

Monitoring Party

Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.3: Conduct a Hazardous
Building Materials Survey. Prior to the issuance of
any demolition permit, the Project Sponsor shall
conduct a Hazardous Building Materials Survey in
accordance with DTSC’s Preliminary Endangerment
Assessment (PEA) Guidance Manual. The survey
shall be performed by a licensed contractor at
structures that are scheduled to be demolished but
have not been surveyed previously (i.e., as part of the
2021 Limited Hazardous Materials Survey). The
Hazardous Building Materials Survey shall identify
the presence of hazardous building materials,
including asbestos-containing materials (ACMs),
lead-based paint (LBP), and polychlorinated
biphenyls (PCBs). Should this survey determine that
hazardous building materials are present, the
following actions shall be implemented by the
Project Sponsor:

e Ahealth and safety plan shall be developed by a
certified industrial hygienist for potential LBP,
asbestos, or other hazardous building material
risks present during demolition. The health and
safety plan shall then be implemented by a
licensed contractor. The health and safety plan
shall comply with federal Occupational Safety
and Health Administration (OSHA) and the
California Occupational Safety and Health
Administration (Cal/OSHA) requirements.

e Necessary approvals shall be acquired from the
city of Menlo Park and/or county (by the
licensed contractor) for specifications or
commencement of abatement activities.
Abatement activities shall be conducted by a
licensed contractor.

Conduct a Hazardous
Building Materials
Survey and implement
actions should the
survey determine that
hazardous building
materials are present

Prior to the issuance
of any demolition
permit

Project Sponsor/
licensed contractor

CDD

If hazardous
building materials
are present:
CDD/County of
San Mateo/
BAAQMD
notification

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

36

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM
Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party
e The Bay Area Air Quality Management District
(BAAQMD) shall be notified 10 days prior to
initiating demolition at structures that contain
asbestos. Section 19827.5 of the California
Health and Safety Code requires local agencies
not to issue demolition or alteration permits
until an applicant has demonstrated compliance
with the notification requirements under
applicable federal regulations regarding
hazardous air pollutants, including asbestos. In
addition:
o Asbestos shall be disposed of at a licensed
disposal facility, to be identified by the
licensed contractor.
o Thelocal office of Cal/OSHA shall be
notified of asbestos abatement activities.
o Asbestos abatement contractors shall
follow state regulations contained in 8 CCR
1529 and 8 CCR 341.6 through 341.14
where asbestos-related work would
involve 100 square feet or more of ACM.
o Asbestos removal contractors shall be
certified as such by the Contractors
Licensing Board of the State of California.
The owner of the property where
abatement is to occur shall have a
hazardous waste generator number
assigned by and registered with the
California Department of Health Services in
Sacramento.
o The contractor and hauler of hazardous
building materials shall file a hazardous
waste manifest, with details about hauling
the material from the site and disposing of
it. Pursuant to California law, the city of
Parkline 37 July 2025

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

037



City of Menlo Park

services of a qualified environmental consulting firm
to conduct a focused soil vapor investigation. The
investigation shall be conducted in the areas that are
designated for residential and office /R&D use and
shall be designed to protect building occupants from
potential long-term impacts associated with vapor
intrusion. The investigation shall provide the data
needed to determine whether long-term engineering
controls shall be needed as part of the proposed
building development. The soil vapor investigation’s
methodology and sampling program shall be
conducted by an environmental consulting firm with
applicable expertise and experience and would be
performed under any applicable oversight agency’s
current guidance. The soil vapor investigation shall
be implemented by the Project Sponsor prior to
construction of buildings on the Project Site.

If the environmental consulting firm or appropriate
regulatory agency providing oversight determines
engineering controls are required, they shall be
designed by a qualified engineer in compliance with
requirements of the appropriate regulatory agency
and/or the city of Menlo Park to address vapor
conditions by redirecting and/or minimizing soil vapor
(e.g., the February 2023 Supplemental Guidance:
Screening and Evaluating Vapor Intrusion prepared by
the California Department of Toxic Substances Control
and the California State Water Resources Control Board

that are designated for
residential and
office/R&D uses. If
engineering controls
are required, install
appropriate
engineering control
systems

consulting firm

If engineering controls
are required: qualified
engineer

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party

Menlo Park shall not issue the required

permit until the Project Sponsor has

complied with the notice requirements

described above.
Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.4: Conduct a Focused Conduct a focused soil Prior to Project Sponsor/a CDD/appropriate
Soil Vapor Intrusion Investigation. Prior to vapor intrusion construction of qualified regulatory agency
construction, the Project Sponsor shall retain the investigation in areas buildings environmental

Parkline
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

38

July 2025



City of Menlo Park

PARKLINE
MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM

Mitigation Measures Action Timing Implementing Party | Monitoring Party
or the prevailing applicable requirements at the time
the Project is implemented). The performance of the
installed vapor mitigation systems shall be confirmed
by appropriate quality assurance/quality control
inspection and test methods, as certified by the design
engineer, and the certification shall be provided to the
appropriate regulatory agency providing oversight and
city of Menlo Park as needed.

Specific engineering controls may include, but shall
not be limited to:

e Installation of subsurface migration barriers;
and/or

e Inclusion of ventilated foundations for any
proposed structures; and/or

e The use and implementation of an alternative
method or structural design to address soil gas
releases and reduce the potential for hazardous
conditions to occur.

Appropriate engineering control systems shall be

determined with concurrence, approval, and

oversight from the appropriate regulatory agency

providing oversight and shall be dependent on

building placement and construction.

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Exposure to Schools. The Project Variant could emit hazardous emissions or involve handling hazardous or
acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within 0.25 mile of an existing or proposed school. (Impact HAZ-3)

Implement Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.1, Mitigation See above See above See above See above
Measure HAZ-2.2, and Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.3,
above.

IMPACT BEING ADDRESSED: Cortese List. The Project Variant would be located on a site included on a list of hazardous materials sites
compiled pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, could create a significant hazard for the public or the environment.
(Impact HAZ-4)

Implement Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.1 and See above See above See above See above
Mitigation Measure HAZ-2.2, above.

Parkline 39 July 2025
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

039



= I
RECREATION AREA: 2.65 ACRES (LOT 9) J

ATTACHMENT P

OPEN SPACE LEGEND

198 #| E 0925f 905 S
=T O s b B
| e,
| ] i . - I k1 =
= ] = e
i i - REMDENTIL ¥ i
- . & il ] 1 u
s ! - L
——— '. |
—H ! I : =1 [
- — P PR S— . 1 L
1 e s i i | [ |
223 T gl
N { I . - — i

-

2025.06.24

PARKLINE

P1

CONCEPTUAL OPEN SPACE PLAN

EXISTING SRI OPEN SPACE

PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE OPEN SPACE (523,738 SF / 12.02 ACRES)

*MIN. REQUIRED = HALF OF 30% OF THE TOTAL SITE (64.23 AC X 30%)/2
=9.64 ACRES, PER ZONING REQUIREMENT

**EXCLUDES PUBLIC PATHS ALONG LAUREL AND RAVENSWOOD

OPEN SPACE (312,662 SF / 7.17 ACRES)

PRIVATE OFFICE OPEN SPACE ( 218,984 SF / 5.02 ACRES)

PRIVATE RESIDENTIAL OPEN SPACE, AT GRADE ( 196,020 SF, 4.5 ACRES)

PRIVATE RESIDENTIAL OPEN SPACE, TERRACE ( 26,140 SF, .6 ACRES)
*EXCLUDES ABOVE-GRADE RESIDENTIAL BALCONIES

TOTAL PROPOSED NEW OPEN SPACE = 29.9 ACRES
TOTAL PROPOSED AT GRADE OPEN SPACE = 29.3 ACRES

| SEE SHEET C3.4 FOR PROPOSED PRELIMINARY SEMINARY
£ DRIVE OFTION UNDER STUDY FOR REFERENCE

N

1"=100’

G3.04



ATTACHMENT R

POTENTIALCITY FENCED  POTENTIALCITY BIKE REPAIR SHOP PROVIDED

T | | L P 1 | ABOVE-GRADEPUMP ~ BELOW-GRADE [N RESIDENTIAL 3 BUILDING | LEGEND
i - g =L STATION & GENERATOR ~ WATER RESERVOIR !
s — - EH
= e T <z @ ###KW  NEW EMERGENCY
e e - GENERATORS (SIZE)

RAVENSWOOD AVENUE PARKLET . ###KW  EXISTING SRIEMERGENCY

GENERATORS (SIZE)

RESIDENTIAL 3

NOTES:

MENLO
CHILDREN'S LOOP R.OAD
CENTER

RESIDENTIAL1
1. EMERGENCY GENERATOR LOCATIONS ARE

H PRELIMINARY.
* CITY ENGINEER TO CONFIRM GENERATOR
LOCATION AND SIZING AT PUMP STATION.

o0k i

RESIDENTIAL 2

MENLO PARK 1 1
POLICE -8

DEPARTMENT

CITY OF MENLO | i
PARKBUILDING \
DIVISION

BUILDING P
(EXISTING)

PARKING
‘GARAGE 1

ARRILLAGA
FAMILY
‘GYMNASTICS
CENTER

£

LAUREL STREET.

PARKLINE
‘COMMONS

"SHARED PEDESTRIAN & BICYCLE CONNECTION

| | )
1 np EB H

=5 W e =T i

VELOPER TO EXTEND EXISTING
OVERED LATTICE FENCE

OFFICE
AMENITY
BUILDING

ALTERNATE LOCATION FOR
'OFFICE AMENITY GENERATOR

| BURGESS PARK

| MENLO SWIM
| AND SPORT

PARKING PARKING
‘GARAGE 3 GARAGE 2.

_T“F

{. —-—'_" SEMINARY DRIVE

ASTREET - - e "N

, P T

0 EH !
sl !
2 |
ﬁ_‘__ﬁs SHEET C3.4 FOR PROPOSED PRELIMINARY SEMINARY !
. = === _/DRIVE OPTION UNDER STUDY FOR REFERENCE.
B ==1"_ b |
l"‘— UNITED STATES L ST. I;ATRICK 'S
(1 =t EMINARY

= GEOLOGICAL Al
| SURVEY INJ! VERSITV

BUILDING S
(EXISTING)

BUILDING T
(EXISTING)

®4v

| Scale: 1"=100"-0"

BISRI SYWDIOS 0JB & romet TR LUMA 2025.06.24 CONCEPTUAL EMERGENCY GENERATORS LOCATIONS G3.07

PARKLINE

R1



ATTACHMENT S

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

! L fax: (650) 327-1653
MENLO FPARK planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS INFORMATION FORM

In order to help inform City Staff and the external reviewing agencies, the Planning Division
requires the submittal of this form, If the use permit application is approved, applicants are
required to submit the necessary forms and obtain the necessary permits from the Menlo Park
Fire Protection District, San Mateo County Environmental Health Services Division, West Bay
Sanitary District, and other applicable agencies. Please complete this form and attach
additional sheets as necessary.

1. List the types of hazardous materials by California Fire Code (CFC) classifications. This
list must be consistent with the proposed Hazardous Materials Inventory Statement
(HMIS), sometimes referred to as a Chemical Inventory. (The HMIS is a separate
submittal.)

Diesel fuel - Red dye #2

2. Describe how hazardous materials are handled, stored and monitored to prevent or
minimize a spill or release from occurring (e.g., secondary containment, segregation of
incompatibles, daily visual monitoring, and flammable storage cabinets).

Diesel fuel will be stored in an integrated belly tank. Tank will have secondary containment and
alarm monitoring within interstitial space.

If required, additional fuel for refill will be stored in a pre-manufactured flammable safety storage
unit (SSU) with secondary containment and monitoring alarms.

3. Identify the largest container of chemical waste proposed to be stored at the site.
Please identify whether the waste is liquid or solid form, and general safeguards that
are used to reduce leaks and spills.

Chemical waste from generator activities is not anticipated.

Minimal solid debris maybe generated by spill cleanup activities. In-house training, monthly
inspections, high/low alarms, and spill alarms will be implemented to mitigate any spills & debris
generation.

City of Menlo Park — Community Development Department, Planning Division Page 1 of 2
Hazardous Materials Information Form
Updated January 2015

S1



S2

4. Please explain how hazardous waste will be removed from the site (i.e. licensed
haulers, or specially trained personnel).

Any hazardous materials produced from spill cleanup activities will be collected, packaged for
disposal by licensed hazardous waste material hauler.

5. Describe employee training as it pertains to the following:

Safe handling and management of hazardous materials or wastes;
Notification and evacuation of facility personnel and visitors;
Notification of local emergency responders and other agencies;
Use and maintenance of emergency response equipment;
Implementation of emergency response procedures; and
Underground Storage Tank (UST) monitoring and release response
procedures.

Refer to attached Spill, Prevention, Control and Countermeasure Plan and Standard Operating
Procedure.
Visitors Guide, Evacuation Procedures and Site Map will be updated.

~ooooTw

6. Describe documentation and record keeping procedures for training activities.

Refer to attached Spill, Prevention, Control and Countermeasure Plan and Standard Operating
Procedure.

7. Describe procedures for notifying onsite emergency response personnel and outside
agencies (e.g. Fire, Health, Sanitary Agency-Treatment Plant, Police, State Office of
Emergency Services “OES”) needed during hazardous materials emergencies.

Refer to attached Spill, Prevention, Control and Countermeasure Plan and Standard Operating
Procedure.

8. Describe procedures for immediate inspection, isolation, and shutdown of equipment or
systems that may be involved in a hazardous materials release or threatened release.

Refer to attached Spill, Prevention, Control and Countermeasure Plan and Standard Operating
Procedure.

9. Identify the nearest hospital or urgent care center expected to be used during an
emergency.

Stanford Hospital

v:\handouts\approved\hazardous materials information form.doc

City of Menlo Park — Community Development Department, Planning Division Page 2 of 2
Hazardous Materials Information Form
Updated January 2015



Office Building 1
Generator Size: 1500 kW

S3

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING

82 dB(A) @ 1 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 1500 kW

Engine Output: 2220 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




Office Building 2
Generator Size: 1500 kW

S4

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING

82 dB(A) @ 1 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 1500 kW

Engine Output: 2220 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




Office Building 3
Generator Size: 1500 kW

S5

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING

82 dB(A) @ 1 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 1500 kW

Engine Output: 2220 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




Office Building 4
Generator Size: 1500 kW

S6

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING

82 dB(A) @ 1 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 1500 kW

Engine Output: 2220 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




Office Building 5
Generator Size: 1500 kW

S7

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING

82 dB(A) @ 1 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 1500 kW

Engine Output: 2220 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




Residential 1
Generator Size: 400 kW

S8

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING

73 dB(A) @ 7 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 400 kW

Engine Output: 605 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




Residential 2
Generator Size: 400 kW

S9

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING

73 dB(A) @ 7 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 400 kW

Engine Output: 605 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




Office Amenity Building
Generator Size: 300 kW

S10

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING
73 dB(A) @ 7 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 300 kW
Engine Output: 464 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




Residential 3
Generator Size: 250 kW

S11

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING

72 dB(A) @ 7 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 250 kW

Engine Output: 464 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




Parking Garage 1
Generator Size: 200 kW

S12

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING

74 dB(A) @ 7 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 200 kW

Engine Output: 324 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




Parking Garage 2
Generator Size: 200 kW

S13

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING

73 dB(A) @ 7 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 200 kW

Engine Output: 324 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




Parking Garage 3
Generator Size: 200 kW

S14

CITY OF

MENLO
PARK

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PLANNING DIVISION
701 Laurel Street

Menlo Park, CA 94025
phone: (650) 330-6702

fax: (650) 327-1653
planning@menlopark.org
http://www.menlopark.org

APPLICATIONS INVOLVING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS — GENERATOR SUPPLEMENT

The following information is required for hazardous materials applications that include generators.

GENERATOR PURPOSE (for example, whether it is an emergency generator dedicated to life safety
egress lighting and other life safety devices, or a standby generator to allow continued operations in the

event of a power outage)

Generator is intended to provide backup power to Emergency, Legally Required, and Optional

Standby loads during a life-safety event.

FUEL TANK SIZE (in gallons) AND FUEL TYPE

Fuel tank size: 660 gallons (approx.)
Fuel type: Diesel

NOISE RATING

73 dB(A) @ 7 meters

SIZE (output in both kW (kilowatt) and hp
(horsepower) measurements)

Power Output: 200 kW

Engine Output: 324 HP

ENCLOSURE COLOR

Green or Gray

ROUTE FOR FUELING HOSE ACCESS

75 ft max distance, direct from fueling truck to
generator fuel tank

PARKING LOCATION OF FUELING TRUCK

Building exterior at drivable surface.

FREQUENCY OF REFUELING

2 times / year

HOURS OF SERVICE ON A FULL TANK

8 hours at generator full rated load

PROPOSED TESTING SCHEDULE (including frequency, days of week, and time of day)

Monthly, Sunday, AM

ALARMS AND/OR AUTOMATIC SHUTOFFS (for leaks during use and/or spills/over-filling during

fueling, if applicable)

Fuel systems alarms and/or shutdowns: overfill, low fuel, fuel-in-rupture basin alarm.
Engine alarms and/or shutdowns: overspeed, fail start, low oil pressure, high coolant temp, etc.

OTHER APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS (please attach)

e Section showing the height of the pad, the isolation base (if there is one), the height of the generator
with the appropriate belly (fuel storage tank) and exhaust stack

e Status of required Bay Area Air Qualify Management District (BAAQMD) permit, including
confirmation of parental notification for any proposals within 1,000 feet of a school

v:\handouts\approved\hazmat - generator supplement data sheet.doc




S15

Generator Size (Genset Model)

Dimension (A)(")

Generator Section

Dimension (C) (")

1500 kW (DGGAF) 480 114
400 kW 222 113
300 kW (DQDAC) 222 113
250 kW (DQDAA) 222 113
200 kW (C200D6D) 180 114
< A" —
Engine Exhaust
Stack |_| 12"
A
Generator c"
Enclosure
Base Tank
v
Concrete Pad 8"

Section
(NTS)



1500 kW GENERATOR

Specification sheet

Diesel
Generator set

QSK50 series

engine
1135 kwW-1500 kW 60 Hz
EPA emissions

Description

Cummins® commercial generator sets are fully
integrated power generation systems providing
optimum performance, reliability and versatility
for stationary Standby and Prime Power
applications.

Features

Cummins heavy-duty engine - Rugged 4-cycle
industrial diesel delivers reliable power, low
emissions and fast response to load changes.

Alternator - Several alternator sizes offer
selectable motor starting capability with low
reactance 2/3 pitch windings, low waveform
distortion with non-linear loads and fault
clearing short-circuit capability.

Permanent Magnet Generator (PMG) - Offers
enhanced motor starting and fault clearing short
circuit capability.

Control system - The PowerCommand® digital
control is standard equipment and provides total
genset system integration including automatic
remote starting/stopping, precise frequency and
voltage regulation, alarm and status message
display, AmpSentry™ protective relay, output
metering and auto-shutdown at fault detection
and NFPA 110 Level 1 compliance.

Cooling system - Standard and enhanced
integral set-mounted radiator systems, designed
and tested for rated ambient temperatures,
simplifies facility design requirements for
rejected heat.

NFPA - The genset accepts full rated load in a
single step in accordance with NFPA 110 for
Level 1 systems.

Warranty and service - Backed by a
comprehensive warranty and worldwide
distributor network.

Continuous
Standby rating Prime rating rating Emissions compliance Data sheets
60 Hz 60 Hz 60 Hz
Model kW (kVA) kW (kVA) kW (kVA) EPA 60 Hz
DQGAE 1250 (1563) 1135 (1419) 1000 (1250) EPA Tier 2 D-3488

Our energy working for you.™
©2022 Cummins Inc. | S-1614 (07/22)

power.cummins.com



S17

Generator set specifications
Performance class

Genset models have been tested in accordance with ISO 8528-5.
Consult factory for transient performance information.

Voltage regulation, no load to full load

+ 0.5%

Random voltage variation + 0.5%
Frequency regulation Isochronous
Random frequency variation + 0.25%

Electromagnet Compatibility Performance

Emissions to EN 61000-6-2:2005
Immunity to EN 61000-6-4:2007+A1:2011

Engine specifications
Bore

159 mm (6.25in.)

Stroke

159 mm (6.25in.)

Displacement

50.3 litres (3067 in®)

Configuration

Cast iron, V 16 cylinder

Battery capacity

1800 amps minimum at ambient temperature of 0 °C (32 °F)

Battery charging alternator

55 amps

Starting voltage

24 volts, negative ground

Fuel system Cummins’ modular common rail system
Two stage spin-on fuel filter and water separator system. Stage 1 has a
Fuel filter three element 7 micron filter and stage 2 has a three element 3 micron

filter.

Air cleaner type Dry replaceable element

Lube oil filter type(s) Four spin-on, combination full flow filter and bypass filters

Standard cooling system High ambient cooling system

Alternator specifications

Design Brushless, 4 pole, drip proof, revolving field
Stator 2/3 pitch

Rotor Single bearing, flexible disc

Insulation system Class H

Standard temperature rise 125 °C standby / 105 °C prime

Exciter type Permanent Magnet Generator (PMG)

Phase rotation A (U), B (V), C (W)

Alternator cooling Direct drive centrifugal blower fan

AC waveform total harmonic distortion (THDV) < 5% no load to full linear load, < 3% for any single harmonic

Available voltages
60 Hz Line-Neutral/Line-Line

» 220/380 * 240/416
e 277/480 » 347/600

Note: Consult factory for other voltages.

e 255/440
* 2400/4160

Generator set options and accessories

Engine Alternator

e 208/240/480 V thermo-statically ¢ 80 °Crise
controlled coolant heater for ambient e 105 °C rise
above and below 4.5 °C (40 °F) e 125 °Crise

o Dual 120/208/240/480 VV 300 W lube e 150 °C rise
oil heaters « 120/240 V 300 W anti-condensation e Exhaust pyrometer

e Heavy duty air cleaner heater e Ground fault indication

o Duplex fuel filter ¢ Increased motor starting capabilites ¢ Remote annunciator panel

Control panel

e PowerCommand 3.3

o Multiple language support

¢ 120/240 V 100 W control anti-
condensation heater

Our energy working for you.™
©2022 Cummins Inc. | S-1614 (07/22)

power.cummins.com



Generator set options and accessories (continued)

Control panel

» Paralleling relay package

e Shutdown alarm relay package

¢ Audible engine shutdown alarm

o AC output analog meters
(bargraph)

(50 °C)

Exhaust system

e Industrial grade exhaust silencer

o Residential grade exhaust silencer

o Critical grade exhaust silencer

o Exhaust packages

Cooling system

« Remote cooling

e Enhanced high ambient temperature

Generator set

« Battery

o Battery charger

¢ Bottom entry chute

e Circuit breaker — skid mounted up to
3000 Amps

« Circuit breaker auxiliary and trip
contacts

¢ IBC and HCAI Certification

e In-skid AVM

¢ LV and MV entrance box

e Manual language — English, French
and Spanish

¢ Spring isolators

e 2 year warranty

« 5 year warranty

« 10 year major components warranty

Note: Some options may not be available on all models - consult factory for availability.

PowerCommand 3.3 — control system

An integrated microprocessor based generator set control
system providing voltage regulation, engine protection,
alternator protection, operator interface and isochronous
governing. Refer to document S-1570 for more detailed
information on the control.

AmpSentry — Includes integral AmpSentry protection,
which provides a full range of alternator protection
functions that are matched to the alternator provided.
Power management — Control function provides battery
monitoring and testing features and smart starting control
system.

Advanced control methodology — Three phase
sensing, full wave rectified voltage regulation, with a
PWM output for stable operation with all load types.
Communications interface — Control comes standard
with PCCNet and Modbus interface.

Service - InPower™ PC-based service tool available for
detailed diagnostics, setup, data logging and fault
simulation.

Easily upgradeable — PowerCommand controls are
designed with common control interfaces.

Reliable design — The control system is designed for
reliable operation in harsh environment.

Multi-language support

Operator panel features

Operator/display functions

¢ Displays paralleling breaker status

¢ Provides direct control of the paralleling breaker

¢ 320 x 240 pixels graphic LED backlight LCD

¢ Auto, manual, start, stop, fault reset and lamp
test/panel lamp switches

¢ Alpha-numeric display with pushbuttons

e LED lamps indicating genset running, remote start, not

in auto, common shutdown, common warning, manual
run mode, auto mode and stop

Our energy working for you.™
©2022 Cummins Inc. | S-1614 (07/22)

Paralleling control functions

o First Start Sensor™ system selects first genset to close
to bus

e Phase lock loop synchronizer with voltage matching
e Sync check relay

e Isochronous kW and kVar load sharing

e Load govern control for utility paralleling

e Extended paralleling (base load/peak shave) mode

e Digital power transfer control, for use with a breaker
pair to provide open transition, closed transition,
ramping closed transition, peaking and base load
functions.

Alternator data

e Line-to-Neutral and Line-to-Line AC volts

e 3-phase AC current

e Frequency

o kW, kVAr, power factor kVA (three phase and total)
Engine data

e DC voltage

¢ Engine speed

o Lube oil pressure and temperature

¢ Coolant temperature

e Comprehensive FAE data (where applicable)
Other data

¢ Genset model data

e Start attempts, starts, running hours, kW hours

¢ Load profile (operating hours at % load in 5%
increments)

¢ Fault history
¢ Data logging and fault simulation (requires InPower)

Standard control functions

Digital governing

e Integrated digital electronic isochronous governor
e Temperature dynamic governing

Digital voltage regulation

¢ Integrated digital electronic voltage regulator

¢ 3-phase, 4-wire Line-to-Line sensing

« Configurable torque matching

power.cummins.com



S19

Control functions

e Time delay start and cool down

¢ Real time clock for fault and event time stamping
e Exerciser clock and time of day start/stop
e Data logging

¢ Cycle cranking

e Load shed

e Configurable inputs and outputs (4)

¢ Remote emergency stop

Options

e Auxiliary output relays (2)

Standard control functions (continued)
AmpSentry AC protection

o AmpSentry protective relay

e Over current and short circuit shutdown

e Over current warning

¢ Single and three phase fault regulation

e Over and under voltage shutdown

e Over and under frequency shutdown

e Overload warning with alarm contact

¢ Reverse power and reverse Var shutdown

« Field overload shutdown

Engine protection

e Battery voltage monitoring, protection and testing
e Overspeed shutdown

o Low oil pressure warning and shutdown

¢ High coolant temperature warning and shutdown
e Low coolant level warning or shutdown

e Low coolant temperature warning

e Fail to start (overcrank) shutdown

e Fail to crank shutdown

¢ Cranking lockout

¢ Sensor failure indication

¢ Low fuel level warning or shutdown

¢ Fuel-in-rupture-basin warning or shutdown

¢ Full authority electronic engine protection

Ratings definitions

Emergency Standby Power (ESP):

Applicable for supplying power continuously to varying
electrical loads for the duration of power interruption of
a reliable utility source. Emergency Standby Power
(ESP) is in accordance with ISO 8528 and ISO 3046-
1, obtained and corrected in accordance with ISO
15550).

Limited-Time Running Power (LTP):

Applicable for supplying power to a constant electrical
load for limited hours. Limited-Time Running Power = .
(LTP) is in accordance with ISO 8528. (I . A Dimec

Prime Power (PRP): 0T [y 5l

Applicable for supplying power to varying electrical - — -

loads for unlimited hours. Prime Power (PRP) is in _J
Dim *A®

accordance with 1ISO 8528. Ten percent overload
capability is available in accordance with ISO 3046-1.

This outline drawing is for reference only. See respective model
data sheet for specific model outline drawing number.

Dim 8"

e

Data shown above represents gross engine
performance and capabilities as per ISO 3046-1,
obtained and corrected in accordance with ISO 15550.

Base Load (Continuous) Power (COP):

Applicable for supplying power continuously to a Do not use for installation design
constant load up to the full output rating for unlimited

hours. No sustained overload capability is available for

this rating. Consult authorized distributor for rating.

(Equivalent to Continuous Power in accordance with

1SO 8528 and ISO 3046-1, obtained and corrected in

accordance with 1ISO 15550).

This rating is not applicable to all generator set
models.

For more information contact your local Cummins distributor
or visit power.cummins.com

Our energy working for you.™ N

©2022 Cummins Inc. All rights reserved. Cummins is a registered trademark of Cummins Inc. PowerCommand, AmpSentry, InPower and “Our energy working for you.” are trademarks of
Cummins Inc. Other company, product, or service names may be trademarks or service marks of others. Specifications are subject to change without notice.
S-1614 (07/22)


http://power.cummins.com/

‘ Dim “A” ‘ Dim “B” ‘ Dim “C” ‘ Set weight* Set weight*

Model mm (in.) mm (in.) mm (in.) dry kg (Ibs) wet kg (Ibs)

DQGAE 6381 (251) 2285 (90) 2474 (97) 11293 (24897) 11926 (26292)

DQGAF 6381 (251) 2285 (90) 2474 (97) 11551 (25465) 12184 (26861)

Note: Weights represent a set with standard features. See outline drawings for weights ot other configurations.

Codes and standards
Codes or standards compliance may not be available with all model configurations — consult factory for availability.

This product was manufactured

1ISO 9001 in a facility whose quality

management system is certified This product is listed to UL 2200,
1ISO 14001 to 1ISO 9001 and its Health Stationary Engine Generator
Safety Environmental Assemblies.

1ISO 45001 Management Systems certified LISTED

to ISO 14001 and ISO 45001.

The Prototype Test Support
(PTS) program verifies the
performance integrity of the
generator set design. Cummins

products bearing the PTS U.S. EPA
symbol meet the prototype test
requirements of NFPA 110 for

Engine certified to Stationary
Emergency U.S. EPA New Source
Performance Standards, 40 CFR
60 subpart 11l Tier 2 exhaust
emission levels. U.S. applications
must be applied per this EPA

Level 1 systems. regulation.

All genset models are available | International The.IQE'IWefatC:ffSthpaCk&_lge_iS

as CSA certified to CSA C22.2 | Building avall,a e certifie odr selsmlph

N0.100 d application in accordance wit
- Code International Building Code.

Our energy working for you.™
S2(Q  ©2022 Cumminsinc. | S-1614 (07/22)

power.cummins.com




Generator set data sheet

Model: DQGAF
Frequency: 60 Hz
Fuel type: Diesel
kW rating: 1500 Standby
1365 Prime
1100 Continuous
Emissions level: EPA NSPS Stationary Emergency Tier 2
Exhaust emission data sheet: EDS-1111
Exhaust emission compliance sheet: EPA-1157
Sound performance data sheet: MSP-1098
Cooling performance data sheet: MCP-199
Prototype test summary data sheet: PTS-301
Standard set-mounted radiator cooling outline: A029J185
Optional set-mounted radiator cooling outline: A029P243
Optional heat exchanger cooling outline: A029P243
Optional remote radiator cooling outline: A029P245
Standby Prime Continuous
Fuel consumption | kw (kVA) kW (kVA) kW (kVA)
Ratings 1500 (1875) 1365 (1706) 1100 (1375)
Load 1/4 1/2 3/4 | Full 1/4 1/2 3/4 Full 1/4 1/2 3/4 Full
US gph 36.1 60.2 83.1 | 104.9 | 33.9 55.9 e 97.2 29.5 47.5 64.8 81.6
L/hr 136.6 | 227.9 | 3145 | 397 | 128.3 | 211.6 | 291.4 | 367.9 | 111.7 | 179.8 | 245.3 | 308.9
_ Standby Prime Continuous
Engine rating rating rating
Engine manufacturer Cummins Inc.
Engine model QSK50-G5 NR2
Configuration Cast iron, V 16 cylinder
Aspiration Turbocharged and low temperature after-cooled
Gross engine power output, kWm (bhp) 1656 (2220) 1470 (1971) 1323 (1774)
BMEP at set rated load, kPa (psi) 2192 (318) 1951 (283) 1744 (253)
Bore, mm (in.) 159 (6.25)
Stroke, mm (in.) 159 (6.25)
Rated speed, rpm 1800
Piston speed, m/s (ft/min) 9.5 (1875)
Compression ratio 15:1
Lube oil capacity, L (qt) 235 (248) 205 (216)
Overspeed limit, rpm 2100 +50
Regenerative power, kW 168
Our energy working for you.™ power.cummins.com

821 ©2022 Cummins Inc. | D-3489 (06/22)



S22

Fuel flow

Maximum fuel flow, L/hr (US gph) 912 (241)
Maximum fuel inlet restriction, kPa (in Hg) 16.9 (5)
Maximum fuel inlet temperature, °C (°F) 71 (160)

_ Standby Prime Continuous
Alr rating rating rating
Combustion air, m3/min (scfm) 134 (4715) 129 (4550) 123 (4345)
Maximum air cleaner restriction, kPa (in H20) 3.7 (15)

Alternator cooling air, m3/min (cfm) 207 (7300)

Exhaust

Exhaust flow at set rated load, m3/min (cfm) 343 (12105) 318 (11230) 292 (10297)
Exhaust temperature, °C (°F) 518 (965) 485 (905) 451 (844)
Maximum back pressure, kPa (in H20) 6.78 (27)

Standard set-mounted radiator cooling

Ambient design, °C ( °F) 45.7 (114)

Fan load, kWm (HP) 53.7 (72)

Coolant capacity (with radiator), L (US gal) 401 (106)

Cooling system air flow, m3/min (scfm)

1783 (62983)

Total heat rejection, MJ/min (Btu/min)

82.7 (78390)

| 74.4 (70535)

| 57.5 (54794)

Maximum cooling air flow static restriction, kPa (in H20) 0.12 (0.5)
Maximum fuel return line restriction kPa (in Hg) 34 (10)
Optional set-mounted radiator cooling

Ambient design, °C (°F) 56.9 (134)
Fan load, kWm (HP) 45.5 (61)
Coolant capacity (with radiator), L (US gal) 496 (131)

Cooling system air flow, m3/min (scfm)

2094 (73937)

Total heat rejection, MJ/min (Btu/min)

82.7 (78390)

| 74.4 (70535)

| 57.5 (54794)

Maximum cooling air flow static restriction, kPa (in H20)

0.12 (0.5)

Maximum fuel return line restriction, kPa (in Hg)

Our energy working for you.™
©2022 Cummins Inc. | D-3489 (06/22)

power.cummins.com



Optional heat exchanger cooling

Set coolant capacity, L (US gal)

Heat rejected, jacket water circuit, MJ/min (Btu/min)

Heat rejected, aftercooler circuit, MJ/min (Btu/min)

Heat rejected, fuel circuit, MJ/min (Btu/min)

Total heat radiated to room, MJ/min (Btu/min)

Maximum raw water pressure, jacket water circuit, kPa
(psi)

Maximum raw water pressure, aftercooler circuit, kPa (psi)

Maximum raw water pressure, fuel circuit, kPa (psi)

Maximum raw water flow, jacket water circuit, L/min
(US gal/min)

Maximum raw water flow, aftercooler circuit, L/min
(US gal/min)

Maximum raw water flow, fuel circuit, L/min (US gal/min)

Minimum raw water flow at 27 °C (80 °F) inlet temp, jacket
water circuit, L/min (US gal/min)

Minimum raw water flow at 27 °C (80 °F) inlet temp,
aftercooler circuit, L/min (US gal/min)

Minimum raw water flow at 27 °C (80 °F) inlet temp, fuel
circuit, L/min (US gal/min)

Raw water delta P at min flow, jacket water circuit, kPa
(psi)

Raw water delta P at min flow, aftercooler circuit, kPa (psi)

Raw water delta P at min flow, fuel circuit, kPa (psi)

Maximum jacket water outlet temp, °C (°F)

Maximum aftercooler inlet temp, °C (°F)

Maximum aftercooler inlet temp at 25 °C (77 °F) ambient,
OC ( OF)

Maximum fuel return line restriction, kPa (in Hg)

_ _ _ Standby Prime Continuous
Optional remote radiator cooling? rating rating rating
Set coolant capacity, L (US gal)
Max flow rate at max friction head, jacket water circuit,
L/min (US gal/min) 1893 (500)
Max flow rate at max friction head, aftercooler circuit, L/min 538 (142)

(US gal/min)

Heat rejected, jacket water circuit, MJ/min (Btu/min)

43.04 (40790)

38.83 (36800)

30.28 (28842)

Heat rejected, aftercooler circuit, MJ/min (Btu/min)

26.01 (24655)

23.33 (22110)

18.75 (17858)

Heat rejected, fuel circuit, MJ/min (Btu/min)

Total heat radiated to room, MJ/min (Btu/min) 13.3(12584.2) | 12.2(11546.2) | 10 (9508.7)
Maximum friction head, jacket water circuit, kPa (psi) 69 (10)
Maximum friction head, aftercooler circuit, kPa (psi) 48 (7)
Maximum static head, jacket water circuit, m (ft) 18.3 (60)
Maximum static head, aftercooler circuit, m (ft) 18.3 (60)
Maximum jacket water outlet temp, °C (°F) 104 (220) ‘ 100 (212) 100 (212)
l(}/laxjmum aftercooler inlet temp at 25 °C (77 °F) ambient, 49 (120)
C (°F)
Maximum aftercooler inlet temp, °C (°F) 71 (160) ‘ 66 (150) 66 (150)

Maximum fuel flow, L/hr (US gph)

Maximum fuel return line restriction, kPa (in Hg)

Our energy working for you.™
©2022 Cummins Inc. | D-3489 (06/22)

power.cummins.com

S23




S24

Weights?

Unit dry weight kgs (Ibs

11551 (25465

Unit wet weight kgs (Ibs) 12184 (26861)

Notes:

1 For non-standard remote installations contact your local Cummins representative.
2Weights represent a set with standard features. Se